Southampton

University of Southampton Research Repository

Copyright © and Moral Rights for this thesis and, where applicable, any accompanying data are retained by the author and/or other copyright owners. A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge. This thesis and the accompanying data cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the copyright holder/s. The content of the thesis and accompanying research data (where applicable) must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holder/s.

When referring to this thesis and any accompanying data, full bibliographic details must be given, e.g.

Thesis: Author (Year of Submission) "Full thesis title", University of Southampton, name of the University Faculty or School or Department, PhD Thesis, pagination.

Data: Author (Year) Title. URI [dataset]

University of Southampton

Faculty of Environmental and Life Sciences

Psychology

Exploring internet needs for the management of adolescent chronic pain: developing digital interventions in context

Volume 1 of 2

by

Anna Hurley-Wallace

ORCID ID 0000-0001-8790-1247

Thesis for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

July 2021

Abstract

Chronic pain in children and adolescents is recognised internationally as a long-term health condition, which can have a substantial impact on the quality of life of young people and their families, as well as representing a substantial economic burden across healthcare sectors. The prevalence of chronic pain in children and adolescents varies across diagnoses, age groups and genders. Primary chronic pain is often idiopathic and secondary conditions range from chronic headaches to musculoskeletal pain. The overarching aim of the current thesis is to lay the groundwork for developing a novel online intervention for the management of adolescent chronic pain. The thesis firstly outlines the problem of paediatric and adolescent chronic pain and describes current evidence-based best practices for chronic pain management. This is followed by an outline of methodological approaches to online health intervention development, including the Medical Research Council guidance for developing complex health interventions and the Person-Based Approach to developing digital health interventions. An explanation of how these approaches were used in the thesis, and rationale underpinning the chosen methods, is provided. Theoretical models pertaining to the maintenance and management of chronic pain are outlined, followed by the presentation of three papers. Paper 1 presents a review and content analysis of online interventions that have been developed for the management of paediatric and adolescent chronic pain. Findings highlight that, whilst CBT-based interventions have been largely successful, most interventions do not encompass multidisciplinary pain management. The review identifies that a UK-centric online intervention for paediatric chronic pain has not yet been developed. Paper 2 presents a needs-assessment survey of adolescents with chronic pain and their parents. This study explores needs and preferences of this population for a novel intervention. Findings draw attention to the integration of internet and social media use by young people for pain management purposes. A qualitative content analysis of survey responses reveals that adolescents would endorse a new online pain management intervention. Paper 3 presents a qualitative interview study with adolescents with chronic pain, which further explores the context of internet and social media use in young people. An inductive thematic analysis presents four themes: 'Trustworthy information, or experiences?', 'Diagnostic labels in a digital world', 'The online chronic pain community', and 'A mind and body approach to self-management.' The general discussion presents guiding principles that intervention developers and chronic pain specialists may use when creating or adapting online interventions.

Exploring internet needs for the management of adolescent chronic pain: developing digital interventions in context

Anna Hurley-Wallace 25288849

Centre for Clinical and Community Applications of Health Psychology Faculty of Environmental and Life Sciences

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Table of Contents	5
Table of Tables	. 10
Table of Figures	. 11
List of Accompanying Materials	.13
Academic Thesis: Declaration of Authorship	. 14
Acknowledgements	. 15
Definitions and Abbreviations	.16
Chapter 1 Introduction	. 17
1.1 What is chronic pain?	. 17
1.1.1 Defining 'paediatric' in healthcare and research	. 19
1.2 The problem of paediatric chronic pain	. 21
1.2.1 Prevalence of chronic pain	. 21
1.2.2 Impact of chronic pain	. 23
1.3 Adolescent chronic pain	. 25
1.3.1 Adolescence, chronic pain, and developmental psychology	. 25
1.4 Evidence-based treatments	. 27
1.4.1 Assessing pain and functional disability	. 28
1.4.2 Interdisciplinary treatments: clinical practice	. 30
1.5 Online interventions for paediatric chronic pain	. 33
1.6 Reviewing online interventions and internet use in young people with	
chronic pain	. 34
1.6.1 Systematic reviews of online interventions	. 35
1.6.2 Mobile health (m-health) in chronic pain	. 36
1.6.3 Internet use in adolescents with chronic pain	. 38
1.7 Thesis aims	. 39
1.8 Thesis: summary of chapters	. 41
Chapter 2 Methodological Approaches	. 44

2.1 Inter	vention development approaches4	4
2.1.1	Medical Research Council guidance: developing complex interventions	\$
212	The Person-Based Approach	4
2.1.2	Use of methodological approaches in the current project	7
2.2 Meth	nods5	3
2.2.1	Data collection and analysis methods	3
2.2.2	Order of studies within a mixed methods approach	4
2.3 Qua	lity in qualitative research5	5
Chapter 3	Theoretical Frameworks	9
3.1 Theo	pretical frameworks of chronic pain5	9
311	The Fear-Avoidance model of nain 5	q
3.1.2	The Interpersonal Fear-Avoidance Model	1
3.1.3	The developmental model of family and parent influences	2
3.2 The	biopsychosocial approach6	3
3.2.1	Biological domain	4
3.2.2	Psychological domain6	5
3.2.3	Social domain6	8
3.3 Sum	imary7	0
Chapter 4	Online multidisciplinary interventions for paediatric chronic pain:	
a content a	analysis7	1
4.1 Back	kground7	3
4.2 Meth	nods7	4
4.2.1	Search strategy	4
4.2.2	Inclusion and exclusion criteria7	5
4.2.3	Accessibility7	5
4.2.4	Quality Assessment7	5
4.2.5	Content analysis: development of target strategies7	6
4.2.6	Target chronic pain management strategies	7
4.2.7	Analytic approach7	1

4.3 Results	. 78
4.3.1 Included studies	. 78
4.3.2 Summary of identified interventions	. 80
4.3.3 Intervention development and evaluations of efficacy	. 81
4.4 Content Analysis	. 84
4.5 Discussion	. 88
4.5.1 Conclusions	. 92
Chapter 5 Online paediatric chronic pain management: assessing the nee	ds
of UK adolescents, and parents, using a cross-sectional survey	. 95

5.1	Bac	kground	. 97
5.2	Met	hods	. 98
:	5.2.1	Design	. 98
:	5.2.2	Participants	. 99
:	5.2.3	Survey and procedure	100
;	5.2.4	Planned analysis	102
5.3	Res	sults	103
;	5.3.1	Participant demographics	103
;	5.3.2	Use of online resources	107
;	5.3.3	Most helpful pain management techniques	110
;	5.3.4	Preferences for content and features in a new program	111
:	5.3.5	Qualitative content analysis	114
5.4	Disc	cussion	118
	5.4.1	Conclusions	121
Chap	oter 6	Trusting in the online 'community': An interview study explorin	g
inter	net u	se in young people with chronic pain	123
6.1	Bac	kground	125
6.2	Met	hods	126
	6.2.1	Study design	126
	6.2.2	Recruitment	 128
	6.2.3	Participants	129
			_,

6.2	2.4 Procedure	131
6.2	2.5 Data analysis	132
6.3 F	Results	133
6.3	3.1 Trustworthy information, or experiences?	133
6.3	3.2 Diagnostic labels in a digital world	135
6.3	3.3 The online chronic pain community	137
6.3	3.4 A mind and body approach to self-management	139
6.4 [Discussion	140
6.4	4.1 Conclusions	142
Chapte	er 7 General discussion	145
7.1 \$	Summary of findings	145
7.2 (Considering context: internet use	147
7.3 F	Recommendations for intervention developers	148
7.3	3.1 Guiding principles	148
7.3	3.2 Integrating theory	151
7.3	3.3 Behaviour Change	155
7.3	3.4 Vision for a novel intervention	156
7.4 E	Expansion of existing resources: the NHS website	156
7.4	4.1 Barriers to changing NHS resources	157
7.4	4.2 Suggested changes and additions	158
7.5 (Clinical recommendations	158
7.6 F	Future research	159
7.7 \$	Strengths and limitations	161
7.8 (Conclusions	162
Refere	nces	163
Appen	dix A Sample size calculation (Paper 2)	186
Appen	dix B Details of questionnaires administered (Paper 2)	187
B.1 F	Pain characteristics	187
B.2 H	Health-related quality of life	187
B.3 H	Healthcare use	188

B.4	Online rea	source use	188
B.5	Parental i	nformation-seeking	189
B.6	Most use	d pain management techniques	189
B.7	Needs as	sessment	190
Арре	ndix C	UK Distribution Map (Paper 2)	192
Арре	ndix D	Chronic pain screening tool (Paper 3)	193
Appe	ndix E	Demographic form (Paper 3)	195
Appe	ndix F	Semi-structured interview topic guide (Paper 3)	197
Appe	ndix G	Coding manual (Paper 3)	200

Table of Tables

Table 1. Demographic and pain characteristics for adolescent and parent participants 105
Table 2. Frequency of adolescent use of online resources and social media platforms for chronic pain management, according to adolescent and parent reports.
Table 3. Frequency of adolescent use of online resources and social media platforms for mental health management, according to adolescent and parent reports.
Table 4. Most helpful techniques to include in the content of a new online resource for managing chronic pain in adolescents, according to adolescents and parents. 112
Table 5. Participant demographic and pain characteristics: descriptive summary130
Table 6. Guiding principles for an online intervention for young people with chronic pain.
Table 7. Basic integration of identified intervention component with Behaviour ChangeTechniques (BCTs).155

Table of Figures

Figure 1. Summary visualisation of the planning stage of the Person-Based Approach (Yardley et al., 2015), as used in the current project
Figure 2. The Interpersonal Fear-Avoidance Model of Paediatric Chronic Pain (Goubert & Simons, 2013)
Figure 3. PRISMA flow diagram of the updated systematic review79
Figure 4. Percentage of final codes for all target chronic pain management strategies.85
Figure 5. Number of interventions that 'clearly' represented each chronic pain management strategy
Figure 6. Colour scale table displaying which chronic pain management strategies were 'clearly' or 'vaguely' represented, or 'absent', for each intervention87
Figure 7. Survey flow for the current study. The diagram shows the survey blocks in flow order, with the number of questions per section indicated in parentheses.
Figure 8. Parent use of online resources to help them understand or manage their adolescents' chronic pain110
Figure 9. Thematic map133

List of Accompanying Materials

This is Volume 1 of 2. Volume 2 provides the online only supplementary materials that accompany Paper 1 of this thesis.

Research data relevant to this thesis is available via the University of Southampton data repository, Pure. The following datasets are available:

- Intervention content coding for Paper 1, "Online multidisciplinary interventions for paediatric chronic pain: A content analysis". DOI: 10.5258/SOTON/D2075
- Qualtrics survey data extraction (SPSS and Excel) for Paper 2, "Online paediatric chronic pain management: assessing the needs of UK adolescents and parents, using a cross-sectional survey". DOI: 10.5258/SOTON/D2074
- Interview transcripts for Paper 3, "Trusting in the online 'community': An interview study exploring internet use in young people with chronic pain'. DOI: 10.5258/SOTON/D2073

Academic Thesis: Declaration of Authorship

I, Anna Hurley-Wallace, declare that this thesis and the work presented in it are my own and has been generated by me as the result of my own original research.

Exploring internet needs for the management of adolescent chronic pain: developing digital interventions in context

I confirm that:

- 1. This work was done wholly or mainly while in candidature for a research degree at this University;
- 2. Where any part of this thesis has previously been submitted for a degree or any other qualification at this University or any other institution, this has been clearly stated;
- 3. Where I have consulted the published work of others, this is always clearly attributed;
- 4. Where I have quoted from the work of others, the source is always given. With the exception of such quotations, this thesis is entirely my own work;
- 5. I have acknowledged all main sources of help;
- 6. Where the thesis is based on work done by myself jointly with others, I have made clear exactly what was done by others and what I have contributed myself;
- 7. Parts of this work have been published as:

Hurley-Wallace, A., Nowotny, E., Schoth, D. E., & Liossi, C. (2021). Online multidisciplinary interventions for paediatric chronic pain: A content analysis. *European Journal of Pain*, *25*(10), 2140-2154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.1827</u>

Hurley-Wallace, A., Schoth, D. E., Lilley, S., Williams, G., & Liossi, C. (2020). Online paediatric chronic pain management: assessing the needs of UK adolescents and parents, using a cross-sectional survey. *British Journal of Pain*. https://doi.org/10.1177/2049463720940341

Hurley-Wallace, A., Kirby, S., & Bishop, F.L. (2021) Trusting in the online 'community': An interview study exploring internet use in young people with chronic pain. *British Journal of Pain*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177%2F20494637211061970</u>

Signed:

Date:

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge my PhD supervisors, Dr Felicity Bishop and Dr Sarah Kirby, who have supported my academic and personal growth during the most challenging stage of my PhD journey. I would also like to acknowledge my academic supervisors from the Pain Research Laboratory, Prof Christina Liossi and Dr Daniel Schoth, who have guided me in my development as a researcher. Thank you all for believing in me.

A Jubilee +3 PhD studentship was provided by the University of Southampton to support the studies presented within this thesis. The University of Southampton also provided 4-months of additional funding to support completion of this work (COVID-19 studentship extension).

I would like to thank my external collaborators from the Pain Control Service within Great Ormond Street Hospital for their clinical research guidance, with special thanks to clinical lead Dr Glyn Williams, and Suzanne Lilley. I would also like to thank Dr Tonya Palermo and her lab from Seattle Children's Research Institute for their mentorship.

I would like to acknowledge the Pain in Child Health (PICH) consortium for accepting me onto their trainee programme, which has provided a wealth of opportunities for networking and knowledge sharing.

Lastly, I would like to attribute a personal acknowledgement to my friends Hannah Felstead and Matthew Brown, who have been completing their PhDs alongside me, and have provided unconditional emotional support to me throughout the 4-years.

Definitions and Abbreviations

CBT: Cognitive Behavioural Therapy

IASP: International Association for the Study of Pain

Interdisciplinary treatment: "Multimodal treatment provided by a multidisciplinary team collaborating in assessment and treatment using a shared biopsychosocial model and goals. For example: the prescription of an anti-depressant by a physician alongside exercise treatment from a physiotherapist, and cognitive behavioural treatment by a psychologist, all working closely together with regular team meetings (face to face or online), agreement on diagnosis, therapeutic aims and plans for treatment and review." (IASP, 2018a)

Multidisciplinary treatment: "Multimodal treatment provided by practitioners from different disciplines. For example: the prescription of an anti-depressant by a physician alongside exercise treatment from a physiotherapist, and cognitive behavioural treatment by a psychologist, all the professions working separately with their own therapeutic aim for the patient and not necessarily communicating with each other."(IASP, 2018b).

Multimodal treatment: "The concurrent use of separate therapeutic interventions with different mechanisms of action within one discipline aimed at different pain mechanisms." (IASP, 2018c).

PBA: Person-Based Approach

Chapter 1 Introduction

Pain, whether acute or chronic, is a perception, not a sensation. From an evolutionary perspective, pain is a warning that we need to alter our behaviour in order to protect ourselves from danger. However, some pain signals do not have this function. In particular, pain that is chronic or persistent can prevent people from living their lives (Ogden, 2012). The International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) defines pain as: "An unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with, or resembling that associated with, actual or potential tissue damage" (IASP, 2020). This definition is expanded upon by six key notes, emphasising that pain is always a personal experience, and that pain and nociception (the detection of painful stimuli) are different phenomena.

As psychology has been integrated into theories of pain, the role of psychological and social factors and their contribution to chronic pain has been emphasised. Psychological factors include pain-related anxiety, fear, and catastrophizing (thinking that a situation is considerably worse than it actually is), and there are many other factors that are discussed in relation to theoretical models and approaches in subsequent chapters.

Chronic pain in children and adolescents (paediatric chronic pain) presents a complex and enduring issue to researchers, healthcare professionals, and the families and friends of these young people. Complexities in paediatric chronic pain often involve social factors such as schooling and parenting, as well as biological changes that occur throughout development, which are integrated into a young person's perception and experience of pain. Early adolescence represents a key point of onset for chronic pain that may last for a lifetime. However, adolescence also presents a developmental window of opportunity for learning and consolidation of pain self-management skills. Inherently, paediatric chronic pain is an important condition to study, however complex.

1.1 What is chronic pain?

Chronic pain has been defined as persistent or recurrent pain lasting longer than threemonths by the IASP Task Force for the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11) (IASP, 2012; Treede et al., 2015). The ICD is the leading tool for coding diagnoses within healthcare systems internationally and is underpinned by the World Health Organization. This criterion of a pain duration lasting longer than three-months has been further emphasised by a systematic review investigating definitions of chronic pain in epidemiological studies (Steingrimsdottir et al., 2017). The review of epidemiological studies found that practically no two studies from separate research groups specified the same criteria for chronic pain, where one-third of studies included an assessment window of 12-months or less. Overall, the literature investigated in the review referred to a vast variety of taxonomies, durations, assessment windows, pain frequencies and intensities. The authors argue that that inconsistencies in definitions may undermine the case for chronic pain to be considered an important health condition and recommended that both clinicians and researchers align with the ICD-11 three-month definition.

Since the review by Steingrimsdottir et al. (2017), ICD-11 classifications of chronic pain have been updated to include chronic primary pain (Nicholas et al., 2019) and six secondary pain types (Treede et al., 2019). These are outlined as follows:

- Chronic primary pain. This category includes chronic pain of unknown aetiology (idiopathic chronic pain). Pain may be area-specific e.g., low back pain, irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), or widespread e.g., chronic widespread pain, fibromyalgia.
 - a. Chronic primary pain is only appropriate where pain cannot be better explained by categories 2-7 and is associated with significant emotional distress or functional disability (Nicholas et al., 2019; Treede et al., 2019).
- 2. Chronic cancer pain. Includes pain caused by cancer itself or by cancer treatments.
- 3. Chronic post-surgical or post-traumatic pain. This category describes pain that persists beyond normal healing time following a surgical procedure or tissue injury.
 - a. Chronic post-surgical pain is often neuropathic in nature (Haroutiunian et al., 2013) (see point 4).
- 4. Chronic neuropathic pain. Neuropathic pain arises from damage to the somatosensory nervous system.
 - a. Demonstration using imaging, biopsy, neurophysiological, or laboratory tests, in addition to negative or positive sensory signs, must be present for definitive identification as neuropathic.
- 5. Chronic headache or orofacial pain. This category includes including primary and secondary headaches, and orofacial pain e.g., temporomandibular disorder (TMD).

- a. Pain must be present on at least 50% of days to be classified as chronic within this category.
- 6. Chronic visceral pain. Describes pain originating from internal organs of the head and neck region and the thoracic, abdominal, and pelvic cavities. An example of chronic visceral pain is endometriosis.
- 7. Chronic musculoskeletal pain. This category describes pain arising as part of a disease process that affects the bones, joints, muscles, or related soft tissues. This includes conditions of persistent inflammation e.g., arthritis, as well as pain resulting from structural osteoarticular changes e.g., Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome(s) (EDS) or joint hypermobility syndrome(s).

Although chronic pain diagnoses are well-defined in the ICD-11 classification system, there are many cases where an individual's chronic pain may fit into two or more diagnostic categories. In these cases it is useful to refer back to the more general definition of chronic pain, which specifies any pain that has a duration of longer than three-months (IASP, 2012).

1.1.1 Defining 'paediatric' in healthcare and research

The criteria defining chronic pain can be applied to both adults and children. Paediatric chronic pain refers to persistent or recurrent pain lasting longer than three-months (IASP, 2012), which is experienced by a child or young person. Whilst this may seem conceptually simple, the extensive and internationally spanning body of research on paediatric pain varies regarding which age range is considered to be 'paediatric'. The following paragraphs outline: (1) the age at which chronic pain would be treated under paediatric services in the UK, (2) the paediatric age range as defined by clinicians and researchers in Canada and the United States (US), and (3) the issue of transitioning from paediatric to adult healthcare.

In the United Kingdom (UK), there is national-level clinical guidance on the management of chronic pain in adults over 16-years, which is provided by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE, 2021). However, the management of chronic pain in children is based on international guidance provided by the World Health Organization (World Health Organization, 2020). This international guidance is adhered to by specialist paediatric pain clinics in the UK, such as Great Ormond Street Hospital's Pain Control service. For referral into a paediatric chronic pain clinic, the young person must be 16-years or under. However, this guidance is flexible; patients aged 17 to 18-years may be accepted (Great Ormond Street Hospital, 2021).

Of particular importance to the current thesis is the extensive body of research conducted by the Canadian-led Pain in Child Health (PICH) consortium (SickKids, 2019; von Baeyer et al., 2014). In Canada, the paediatric age range is defined as 0 to 17-years-old. Research conducted with clinical samples of young people with chronic pain is hence based on this age bracket. Further, there have been collaborations between several Canadian and US hospitals on research involving young people with chronic pain. One example is the Pediatric Pain and Sleep Innovations Lab, based at Seattle Children's Hospital (Seattle Children's®, 2021). This US-based group have produced an extensive amount of research with young people with chronic pain and, similarly to the Canadian group, define 'paediatric' as 0 to 17-years-old.

Literature has further suggested that the age of adolescence extends up to a cut-off age of 24-years (Sawyer et al., 2018). Experts have argued that the transition period from childhood to adulthood extends across a greater portion of the life span than ever before, due to delayed role transitions; for example, education is completed later, and parenthood is starting later than it has historically. A definition of adolescence ranging from 10 to 24-years fits better with societal understandings of this developmental stage (Sawyer et al., 2018). Indeed, chronic pain literature agrees with this definition and outlines the period of 'older adolescence' as being of critical interest to clinicians and researchers, where transitions of independence are typically delayed (Rosenbloom et al., 2017). This can be explained using known models of paediatric chronic pain, which are outlined in Chapter 3. Nonetheless, young people in the UK are usually treated under adult healthcare services from the age of 16; and as aforementioned, there is separate guidance for the treatment of chronic pain in adults (NICE, 2021). This presents an issue to researchers in the field, as there is a period between the age of 16 to 24-years where these young people can be considered dependents from a developmental perspective, yet they are usually considered independent with regards to managing their health. The Care Quality Commission (CQC) recognise adolescence and young adulthood as an important developmental stage and have suggested specific transitional services should be available, particularly for those with complex physical health needs, from the age of 14 to 25-years-old (CQC, 2014). The report from the CQC also noted that young people, their parents, and healthcare professionals delivering their care, often did not have a good understanding of the healthcare transition process.

In this thesis, adolescence has been defined as up to 24-years. The three papers shift from a child and adolescent population (0 to 18-years) to an adolescent population (12 to 18-years). Then, the third paper shifts to focus on transitional adolescents aged 16 to 24-years.

This decision was based on insights from Paper 1 and Paper 2 and draws from the methodological frameworks used in this thesis (outlined in section 2.1).

1.2 The problem of paediatric chronic pain

The following subsections provide an overview of the prevalence of paediatric chronic pain, including differences by age and by sex, followed by outlining the impact of pain on young people. The discussion of impact includes highlighting the issue of diagnostic uncertainty, the impact that pain can have on quality of life, and the economic cost of chronic pain to wider society.

1.2.1 Prevalence of chronic pain

The most recent systematic review investigating the epidemiology of chronic pain in children and adolescents indicated that chronic pain is highly prevalent, although prevalence estimates vary substantially between studies and across pain conditions (King et al., 2011). Chronic headache may be the most common paediatric chronic pain condition. Reported prevalence for paediatric headache ranges from 8% to 83%, followed by abdominal pain (4% to 53%), musculoskeletal pain (4% to 40%), and back pain (14% to 24%) (King et al., 2011). Chronic post-surgical pain in children at 12-month follow-up has an estimated prevalence of 20% (Rabbitts et al., 2017). Factors associated with pain persisting beyond the expected physical recovery time included: pre-surgical pain intensity, child anxiety, child coping ability, and parental pain catastrophizing. Psychological factors contributing to chronic pain such as anxiety, coping and catastrophizing are discussed further in relation to theoretical models in subsequent chapters (see section 3.2.2). Notably, an update to the epidemiological review investigating the prevalence of chronic pain in children and adolescents is imminent (Tutelman et al., 2021).

1.2.1.1 Age differences

Paediatric chronic pain is known to increase with age, where chronic pain and pain-related disability peak during adolescence (Palermo et al., 2014; King et al., 2011; Roth-Isigkeit et al., 2005). For many types of chronic pain (including primary pain and musculoskeletal pain), population-based studies indicate that prevalence peaks at 14 to 15-years-old, however studies of persistent headache indicate that prevalence peaks slightly later (16 to 18-years) compared to pain of other aetiologies (Stanford et al., 2008; Lateef et al., 2009). Newer evidence investigating self-reported chronic pain in adolescence, across 42 countries, found

that 44.2% of adolescents reported chronic pain over 6-months (Gobina et al., 2019). This was based on nationally representative samples of 11, 13 and 15-year-olds. In the UK sample, 16-19% of adolescents reported experiencing multi-site chronic pain.

Whilst many cases of paediatric chronic pain are managed effectively across primary and secondary care, some patients develop complex presentations which are extremely challenging to manage effectively. An estimate of up to 3% of the paediatric population may experience severe and disabling chronic pain (Eccleston et al., 2006), which can have functional limitations that are significantly worse comparatively to other chronic health conditions seen in children (Oxford Centre for Children and Young People in Pain, 2019).

1.2.1.2 Sex differences

Across paediatric populations, females are more prone to chronic pain than males (King et al., 2011). For example, a meta-analysis of functional abdominal pain in children, which included 58 worldwide studies, found that functional abdominal pain (FAP) occurs significantly more in girls than boys (15.9% versus 11.5% respectively, pooled OR = 1.5) (Korterink et al., 2015). The meta-analysis also showed FAP was associated with anxiety and depression, stress, and traumatic life events. Further research into factors underlying sex differences in chronic pain in adolescence has found that coping strategies used by males and females are substantially different. In a sample of adolescents from Pain Management Unit at the Royal National Hospital for Rheumatic Diseases, UK, it was found that females with chronic pain more frequently engaged in social support, positive statements, and catastrophizing, however males more frequently engaged in distraction behaviours (Keogh & Eccleston, 2006). In this study, catastrophizing mediated the relationship between pain and sex. Inferentially, use of catastrophizing as a chronic pain coping strategy may be of crucial importance in understanding why young females experience more pain than males.

Notably, the difference in chronic pain prevalence between sexes is mirrored in adult reports of chronic pain, and in documented experiences of pain across life span (Keogh, 2013, 2010; Fayaz et al., 2016). More recently, the conceptualisation of gender versus sex and its impact on pain has been discussed (Boerner et al., 2018), however an in-depth discussion of gender conceptualisation is not within the scope of the current thesis.

1.2.2 Impact of chronic pain

The impact of long-term pain can be major. Even for young people who are able to manage pain very well, significant adjustments are often required to reduce pain to manageable everyday levels. Young people with chronic pain often present with high 'functional disability' across physical, psychological, and social domains (see section 1.4.1). High levels of disability reflect a poor quality of life, which often ripples through the family unit. The next subsections briefly highlight: (i) the issue of diagnostic uncertainty, (ii) the impact of chronic pain on the quality of life of young people and their families, and (ii) the economic burden that treating paediatric chronic pain poses to healthcare systems.

1.2.2.1 Diagnostic uncertainty

Perceived diagnostic uncertainty in paediatric chronic pain is a common experience, where a diagnosis of idiopathic chronic pain can lead to an endless search for a clear cause (and cure) for pain by young people and their families (Pincus et al., 2018). There may also be the perception that a diagnosis that has been given is incorrect, where, for example, the level of pain experienced appears to be disconnected from clinically active disease (Schanberg et al., 2003). In a sample of 174 adolescents with chronic pain recruited from a tertiary clinic in Canada, 31% experienced diagnostic uncertainty (Neville et al., 2020). Additionally, diagnostic uncertainty was linked to increased catastrophic thinking, which can fuel the cycle of disuse and disability, and result in increasingly poor functioning in people with chronic pain (see Fear-Avoidance model, section 3.1.1).

A qualitative study exploring perceived diagnostic uncertainty in young people with chronic pain, from UK-based physicians' perspectives, found that young peoples' search for the 'right' diagnosis often continues despite physicians' attempts to cease further diagnostic testing (Neville et al., 2021). This study found that physician's attempts to 'draw a line in the sand' were often not final, especially in the absence of a supporting multidisciplinary team. Sometimes, more medical tests were ordered in an attempt to align with the family's needs and improve the patient-physician relationship. On the other hand, some physicians felt that sharing their sense of uncertainty improved the therapeutic relationship through demonstrating humanity. Diagnostic uncertainty in young people with chronic pain is a difficult issue that requires attention in research and practice, where intolerance to uncertainty has been recently highlighted as a factor contributing to the maintenance of chronic pain and associated disability (Neville, Kopala-Sibley, et al., 2021) (see Interpersonal Fear-Avoidance Model, section 3.1.2).

1.2.2.2 Quality of life

Whether diagnosed or not, paediatric chronic pain can have detrimental impacts on the quality of life of young people and their families. Children and adolescents with chronic pain report substantially worse quality of life than their healthy peers in domains of physical and psychosocial functioning, as well as poorer performance in school and poorer relationships with peers (Dick & Riddell, 2010; Forgeron et al., 2010; Logan et al., 2008; Varni et al., 2007). Psychosocial factors, such as comorbid mood disorders (Vinall et al., 2016) and dysfunctional interpersonal relationships (Jordan et al., 2017), as well as kinesiophobia or 'fear of movement' (Al-Obaidi et al., 2000), can contribute to levels of functional disability in paediatric chronic pain. Many other factors that contribute to functional disability in chronic pain are discussed under the The biopsychosocial approach (section 3.2). Improving quality of life by reducing functional disability is a core focus of paediatric pain treatment programmes, above and beyond pain reduction (Lynch-Jordan et al., 2014).

In addition to having a negative impact on the quality of life of young people, paediatric chronic pain, particularly when complex in presentation, can also affect the family unit and individual family members. Children with chronic pain and their families report worse behavioural control, negative impacts on family cohesion and structure, an increased amount of family disturbances, and increased intra-family conflict than families without children with chronic pain (Lewandowski et al., 2010). Parents of children with chronic pain also report suffering higher levels of anxiety and depression than parents of healthy children, as well as feelings of helplessness and a lack of control (Palermo & Eccleston, 2009). Family systems are discussed further in section 3.2.3.

Adolescent chronic pain has also been associated with poor outcomes in young adulthood, such as reduced educational attainment, poor vocational functioning (e.g., lower chance of receiving benefits from an employer), and social impairments (e.g., poorer self-reported romantic relationship functioning) (Murray, Groenewald, et al., 2019). These outcomes together indicate a greater long-term risk of socioeconomic disparities in young people with chronic pain, compared to young people without chronic pain.

1.2.2.3 Economic costs

Paediatric chronic pain also presents a significant economic cost to healthcare services, families of young people with chronic pain, and to society. In addition to the healthcare service costs of treating pain itself, chronic pain adds complexity to other health and mental health conditions (Groenewald & Palermo, 2015). There has been little investigation of costs

to healthcare systems, as only two studies have evaluated the economic burden of treating paediatric chronic pain:

- 1. The cost of adolescent chronic pain to UK society has been estimated at £3840 million per annum (Sleed et al., 2005). This estimate was extrapolated from a sample of 52 families. The average cost of a complete care package for each family was estimated at £8027 per annum. This included direct costs (e.g., cost of service use and medication, and out-of-pocket expenses to the family such as complementary treatments and non-prescription medication) and indirect costs (e.g., time taken off work to attend appointments). Adolescents with non-inflammatory pain who attended a specialist pain management clinic accumulated higher costs than adolescents with inflammatory chronic pain attending rheumatology clinics (£14160 versus £4495 respectively: Z = -3.069, p < .01).
- 2. The cost of providing paediatric pain treatment in the USA has been estimated up to \$19.5 billion per annum, where a large proportion of this cost is attributable to high healthcare service use (Groenewald et al., 2014). This estimate was extrapolated from a sample of 149 young people presenting at US-based interdisciplinary pain clinics (10 to 17-year-olds). The mean total cost per participant over 12-months was \$11787 (SD = \$15809, range = \$242 \$125149). The mean cost included medical and non-medical/ out-of-pocket expenses, though 68% went towards direct medical services.

1.3 Adolescent chronic pain

As mentioned in preceding sections, adolescence represents a critical risk period for the development of chronic pain, which may last a lifetime. Many scholars have speculated why this might be, as there are a variety of complex and interrelated biological, psychological, and social factors involved. These factors are discussed in in relation to the biopsychosocial model of chronic pain in Chapter 3. Nonetheless, a discussion of why the developmental stage of adolescence is particularly unique, and how this may relate to the manifestation of chronic pain, is warranted.

1.3.1 Adolescence, chronic pain, and developmental psychology

There are a variety of developmental changes that occur in adolescence, which beyond continuing cortical maturation also encompass distinct cognitive-affective (Lau et al., 2018), and social developmental changes (Sawyer et al., 2018). In terms of cortical development, the pre-frontal cortex matures later comparatively to other regions. The pre-frontal cortex is

typically associated with complex functions such as reasoning and behavioural control (Fuster, 2002). Maturation of the pre-frontal cortex coincides with increased cognitive abilities in abstract reasoning, attentional shifting, response inhibition and processing speed (Yurgelun-Todd, 2007; Lau et al., 2018). Behaviourally, this maturation represents a marked increase in independent functioning (Spear, 2000), and is accompanied by improvements in emotional understanding and regulation, including some emotional (or 'affective') functions that research suggests are unique to adolescence. For example, recent studies on the amygdala (an area of the brain well-known to be involved in processing emotion) have consistently found adolescents are more reactive to facial expressions of emotion, compared to both adults and young children (Pfeifer & Blakemore, 2012).

In relation to chronic pain, developmental age-related changes may impact cognitive biases towards pain. It could be the case that when complex cognitive processes develop and become stable, continuous behavioural associations lead to biases in attention and interpretation (Lau et al., 2018). Such development-by-pain-by-cognitive bias interactions could also apply to pain outcomes, as age can impact catastrophizing, which in turn impacts a child or young person's experience of pain. This predictive association of age by catastrophizing on pain has been found to be strongest in adolescents with chronic pain than in younger children (Tran et al., 2015). Biases in cognition, particularly biases in interpretation (via catastrophizing) (Lau et al., 2018), can be linked with cognitive and affective components of the The Fear-Avoidance model of pain (e.g. Vlaeyen et al., 2016).

Further, a diagnosis of chronic pain at a stage in social development where the main goal is to achieve autonomy and effectively transition social roles from child to adult, presents a critical issue to adolescents (Palermo et al., 2014; Sawyer et al., 2018). Parental involvement and over-protectiveness has been associated with higher levels of disability in relation to managing chronically painful conditions such as Sickle Cell Disease (Oliver-Carpenter et al., 2011). Low levels of adolescent autonomy have also been associated with increased functional disability in cases of chronic headache (Palermo et al., 2007). This association can be matched with the The Interpersonal Fear-Avoidance Model of chronic pain, which incorporates parental factors, including over-protectiveness, into the Fear-Avoidance cycle (see section 3.1.2). However, qualitative research exploring adolescents' perspectives on how they make sense of their development in the context of chronic pain found that developmental trajectories were unique to the individual, where some trajectories were enhanced and others delayed (Jordan et al., 2018). For example, some adolescents with chronic pain appear to have developed excellent coping skills and flourish in

interpersonal interactions, despite pain. Such findings reveal challenges in drawing normative comparisons between adolescents with chronic pain.

Considering the biological, cognitive-affective, and social developmental changes that occur during the period of adolescence, it is somewhat unsurprising that adolescence represents a critical risk period for developing chronic pain. The exact cause of chronic pain is often elusive, and in many cases is the result of multiple interacting factors. However, through understanding the underlying developmental factors that may be involved, treatments that specifically address these factors can be provided. For example, though there is no direct evidence to state that CBT is more effective in adolescents than adults, it may be optimal to target cognitive biases during adolescence, whilst there is greater plasticity of cognitive functions (Cohen Kadosh et al., 2013; Lau et al., 2018). Further, encouraging selfmanagement within interventions for chronic pain may encourage greater autonomy in condition management, thereby helping to address the issue of delayed independence that is often seen in young people with chronic pain (Rosenbloom et al., 2017). Research which explored the self-management needs of adolescents with Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis (JIA) found that developing self-management skills involved 'letting go' from others who have been managing their illness (parents, healthcare professionals) (Stinson et al., 2008). It is important, however, that pain management is tailored to the individual young person, and this is reflected in the latest clinical guidance (World Health Organization, 2020).

1.4 Evidence-based treatments

The following sections outline evidence-based approaches to paediatric and adolescent chronic pain assessment and management, which combine input from multiple disciplines, including medicine, physiotherapy, psychology, and other co-disciplines such as nursing and occupational therapy (Kaiser et al., 2017). This is reflective of the biopsychosocial approach, which is based on the biopsychosocial model of health (Engel, 1977), and is the recommended best practice for the management of chronic pain in children (World Health Organization, 2020).

Briefly, the biopsychosocial approach conceptualises that a complex interaction of biological (nociceptive), affective (emotional), sociocultural, behavioural, and cognitive factors shape an individuals' pain perception (for further discussion of this approach, see section 2.2). In order to understand a child or young person's subjective experience of pain, all of these factors must be formulated in an assessment framework and grounded within dimensions

that are developmentally relevant (Liossi & Howard, 2016). For example, social roles differ substantially between a child in primary school and an adolescent in their late teens.

Paediatric pain formulation can be especially complex as parents play a key role in the management of their child's chronic pain, as well as having their own model of their child's chronic pain, which can impact the child's experience. This parent-child relationship is discussed further in relation to the Interpersonal Fear-Avoidance Model (Goubert & Simons, 2013) (section 3.1.1) and under the social domain of the biopsychosocial approach (section 3.2.3). Research indicates that mood disorders (anxiety and depression) are more prevalent in parents of children with chronic pain, compared to parents of healthy children (Palermo & Eccleston, 2009). Where poor parental mental health is apparent as part of a paediatric pain case formulation, parental mental health may also be targeted for improvement, most likely using psychological therapies, as part of the biopsychosocial approach to paediatric pain management.

Considering direct treatment approaches for young people with chronic pain, there are a variety of pain management techniques that could be applied in practice, ranging from pain education through to medical analgesia. The treatments for an individual young person are tailored based on an interdisciplinary clinical formulation (World Health Organization, 2020), and seek to address all aspects of the young person's wellbeing, considering their psychological, physical, and sociodemographic needs. This clinical guidance additionally emphasises that the combination of treatment modalities applied may differ for each individual case. Assessment of pain severity, and moreover, functional disability is essential in practice to determine the starting point for any treatment modality.

1.4.1 Assessing pain and functional disability

As explained above, pain is a subjective experience that is unique to individuals. When considering chronic pain in children and adolescents, it is important to remember that each individual's experience is subjective. Chronic pain and pain-related functional disabilities are evaluated in a variety of different ways, including the use of patient-reported outcome measures. Notably, many self-report measures for children and adolescents have a parent-report ('proxy') version.

A vast selection of visual, analogue, and numerical patient-reported outcome measures can be used to assess pain severity and intensity in children. Some examples of these assessments recommended for use in practice include the Pieces of Hurt Tool, the Faces Pain Scale, the 'Oucher', or Visual Analogue Scales (Huguet et al., 2010). Additional assessments of pain, for example mapping pain location, as would be done using the Brief Pain Inventory (BPI) (Cleeland & Ryan, 1991), are frequently used in practice to complement scale measures.

In practice, assessment of 'functional disability' (or 'quality of life') is prioritised in paediatric chronic pain, as management should address all aspects of the young person's wellbeing (World Health Organization, 2020). Assessments of functional disability encompass the physical, psychological, and social needs of patients. Chronic pain is assessed in this way because it is likely that pain severity will remain similar throughout treatment, whilst functional disability scores indicate improvements in the young person's overall pain management (Williams, 2018; Lynch-Jordan et al., 2014).

A well-known functional disability assessment is the PedsQL[™] 4.0 (Varni et al., 2003). The PedsQL[™] core assessment has four facets: physical functioning (8 items), emotional functioning (5 items), social functioning (5 items), and school functioning (5 items). Each questionnaire is tailored for children aged 5 to 7 and 8 to 12-years, or adolescents aged 13 to 18-years, and there is a parent-proxy report to match each age range, which is worded slightly differently. The only exception to this is the parent report for ages 2 to 4-years, which is a standalone parent report. The PedsQL[™] is also available in a variety of different languages, and the core assessment is regularly used by multi-modal paediatric pain services (Oxford Centre for Children and Young People in Pain, 2019; Great Ormond Street Hospital, 2018). The assessment can also be useful for assessing functional well-being in survivors of childhood cancer (Eiser et al., 2003), and hence may also be clinically useful in assessing paediatric chronic cancer-related pain, as well as pain of other aetiologies.

An additional benefit of using patient-reported outcome measures is that they can work to improve the clinician-patient relationship, as children are able to better communicate how they are feeling using self-reports (McNicholas, 2018). Using a measure such as the PedsQL[™] 4.0 may also improve clinician relationships with parents, as the proxy reports also take the parental opinion into account. However, despite the potential advantages of using validated measures to assess pain and functioning, in many clinical cases questioning the young person directly may be the key to accurate assessment of the pain condition (Middleton, 2018).

1.4.2 Interdisciplinary treatments: clinical practice

IASP define interdisciplinary treatment as a multidisciplinary team delivering collaborative, multimodal treatment, and working towards the same biopsychosocial treatment goals (IASP, 2018a). Previously, this treatment approach for chronic pain has been termed 'interdisciplinary multi-modal pain therapy'. Ideally, a team of healthcare professionals from medicine, psychology, physical therapy, and co-disciplines (often nursing or occupational therapy) backgrounds would be involved in chronic pain treatment (Kaiser et al., 2017). Only consultant doctors can make referrals to specialist paediatric pain clinics (Great Ormond Street Hospital, 2021), which in turn follow best practice guidance for the management of chronic pain in children (World Health Organization, 2020). The following paragraphs in this section outline some of the typical elements that may be included in an interdisciplinary, multimodal paediatric chronic pain treatment programme.

Treatment for paediatric chronic pain typically occurs in outpatient settings, and is focused on providing multi-modal treatment (World Health Organization, 2020), which can include physiotherapy, medication, and psychological treatment. The most commonly used psychological treatment is CBT (Miro et al., 2017). This is usually multicomponent CBT, which can be aligned with a 5-factor model of how thoughts, feelings, behaviours, and physical sensations are interlinked (Coakley & Wihak, 2017). There is no set protocol for CBT in practice, however CBT generally includes a combination of relaxation training, behavioural activation, problem solving, cognitive restructuring, and teaching coping skills (Ende et al., 2014; Liossi & Howard, 2016), and may also include teaching young people self-management practices, such as activity pacing and sleep hygiene (Rajapakse et al., 2014). Other psychological therapies available in practice, depending on the clinical expertise available, include mindfulness, hypnosis, biofeedback techniques, and acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) (Coakley & Wihak, 2017; Fisher et al., 2018). Biofeedback techniques involve actively monitoring physiological activity, such as heart rate, to increase awareness of and control over physiological processes. Notably, biofeedback is no longer recommended in the treatment of chronic pain for young people over 16-years-old (NICE, 2021); CBT and ACT are recommended for chronic primary pain.

There are a variety of safe and efficacious Complementary and Alternative Medicine (CAM) treatments that healthcare professionals may consider when treating young people with chronic pain (Evans et al., 2008). CAM encompasses both body-based and mind-body therapies, with acupuncture listed separately as an 'alternative systems' therapy. Acupuncture for chronic pain has been trialled with girls aged 6 to 18-years (Zeltzer et al.,

2002). The treatment combined acupuncture and hypnosis in a series of 6 (weekly) 20minute sessions, and was found to be feasible and acceptable, yielding significant improvements in pain intensity and functional disability. Acupuncture is also a recommended consideration for chronic pain in young people over 16-years-old (NICE, 2021). An example of body-based therapy is massage, which has been found to reduce pain and improve sleep and mood in children, particularly for JIA and fibromyalgia (Tsao & Zeltzer, 2005). Mind-body therapies include therapeutic yoga, music therapy and hypnotherapy, though the latter two options are usually utilised for procedure-related pain (Liossi et al., 2006; Caprilli et al., 2007). Notably, one mind-body technique that overlaps with psychological therapies is mindfulness. The effects of mindfulness meditation have been explored in adolescents with chronic pain (Ruskin et al., 2017). Adolescents participated in an 8-week group mindfulness programme, which was evaluated using focus groups. Overall, the intervention was found to be feasible, where adolescents expressed that they had developed a range of mindfulness skills (e.g., present-moment awareness and emotion regulation) that could be transferred to other aspects of their lives (e.g., sleep and school-related stress).

The delivery of pain education or 'pain neuroscience education' is also important in improving a patient's understanding that ongoing pain experience does not necessarily indicate that the body is in danger. Pain education can also complement CBT, as it promotes an understanding of the bi-directional relationship between pain and stress. This can also be mapped to the 5-factor model of CBT, where physical sensation is linked with the thoughts, feelings, behaviours that contribute to the overall experience of pain (Coakley & Wihak, 2017). Psychology-focused pain management programmes often call this pain 'psychoeducation'. In clinics, physiotherapy is central to the management of various musculoskeletal conditions, which often fall under the diagnostic category of chronic musculoskeletal pain (Odell & Logan, 2013). Physiotherapy treatment is often combined with exercise therapy and occupational therapy to create a holistic 'physical therapies' element within an interdisciplinary treatment approach. Alternative non-pharmacological physical therapies, such as transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) (NHS, 2019; Vance et al., 2014; Rajapakse et al., 2014), and desensitisation may also be used (Great Ormond Street Hospital, 2018; Oxford Centre for Children and Young People in Pain, 2019).

Pharmacological treatment, whilst not recommended as a standalone treatment for chronic pain (Caes, Fisher, et al., 2018), remains a vital component of any pain management service. This is because short-term pharmacological management to reduce pain intensity and severity can enable participation in other areas of pain management. For example, using medications may allow patients to engage better with psychological interventions and

make physiotherapy more tolerable. There are some key differences in the pharmacological management of pain depending on aetiology. One example is neuropathic versus nonneuropathic pain. Neuropathic pain may be treated using antidepressants such as tricyclics or serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs); this is targeted at reducing the pain response as opposed to treating anxiety or depression (Cooper, Heathcote, et al., 2017), although there may be an additional benefit of improved mental health if comorbidities are present (Hetrick et al., 2021; Ipser et al., 2009). On the other hand, non-neuropathic pain may be treated using non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and paracetamol (Cooper, Fisher, et al., 2017; Eccleston et al., 2017). Additional medication may be useful in certain cases to aid other symptoms of pain that are specific to an individual child or adolescents pain formulation, for example melatonin may be prescribed as a sleep aid (Williams, 2018).

Importantly, pharmacological guidance for the treatment of chronic pain in individuals aged 16-years-and-over has been recently updated to state that: management using medication is not recommended, with the exception of antidepressants (Carville et al., 2021). This is particularly relevant to Paper 3 (Chapter 6) of the current thesis, which is conducted with a sample of older adolescent participants.

Depending on the hospital delivering treatment, the hospital's in-house definition of a 'biopsychosocial approach', and the expertise available, interdisciplinary treatment may be delivered very differently between different services (Kaiser et al., 2017). For example, in paediatric pain services, some have a stronger focus on occupational therapy (Oxford Centre for Children and Young People in Pain, 2019), whilst others focus more on physiotherapy, including intensive in-patient rehabilitation programmes (Great Ormond Street Hospital, 2018).

1.4.2.1 Interdisciplinary treatments (in-person): current evidence

The use of interdisciplinary interventions for the treatment of paediatric chronic pain is supported by a recent review of treatments for paediatric musculoskeletal pain, which highlighted the lack of evidence supporting the use of pharmacologic treatment alone. The review also affirmed the strong evidence base for psychological treatments, and the promising yet limited support for the role of physiotherapy (Caes, Fisher, et al., 2018). Systematic reviews of interventions for paediatric chronic pain have investigated interventions combining at least two (Liossi et al., 2019) or three disciplines (Hechler et al., 2015). For interventions including two or more disciplines, significant improvements from pre to post-intervention were found for pain intensity (d = 0.42; 95% CI [0.14, 0.69]), functional

disability (d = 1.11; 95% CI [0.70, -1.51]), and depression (d = 0.36; 95% CI [0.17, 0.55]) (Liossi et al., 2019). Randomised controlled trials (RCTs) of intensive interventions including three or more disciplines found large effects for improvement in pain intensity (d = -1.19; 95% CI [-1.56, -0.82]), and disability (d = -1.47; 95% CI [-1.87, -1.07]), at 3-month follow-up (Hechler et al., 2015).

1.4.2.2 Psychological treatments (in-person): current evidence

The most commonly used psychological treatment for paediatric chronic pain is CBT (Miro et al., 2017). ACT, mindfulness, and hypnosis may also be used (Coakley & Wihak, 2017). The review by Caes, Fisher, et al. (2018) notes the strong evidence base for psychological treatments. Psychological treatments can be delivered standalone or as part of a multi- or interdisciplinary treatment programme (see definitions). The most recent meta-analytic review of face-to-face psychological therapies for children and adolescents with chronic pain (Fisher et al., 2018) included 47 studies, which were split into mixed chronic pain and headache. The review included RCTs that compared a psychological treatment, or a compound (multi- or interdisciplinary) treatment with credible primary psychological component, to another active treatment, treatment-as-usual or wait-list control. Findings showed that psychological therapies moderately improved post-treatment pain severity (SMD = -0.43, 95% CI [-0.67, -0.19], p < .01) and disability in mixed paediatric chronic pain conditions (SMD = -0.34, 95% CI [-0.54, -0.15], p < .01). Headache conditions showed improvement in pain intensity at post-treatment only (RR = 2.35 95% CI [1.67, 3.30], p < .01). Most effects were not maintained at follow-up, with the exception that children with mixed chronic pain maintained improvements in disability scores (SMD = -0.27, 95% CI [-0.49, -0.06], p < .01). Authors note the quality of studies was low, and they therefore had little confidence in the effect estimates. This review is complemented by a sister review of remotely-delivered psychological therapies (Fisher et al., 2019), which is described in section 1.6.1.

1.5 Online interventions for paediatric chronic pain

The success of interdisciplinary paediatric pain management is apparent. However, there are several barriers that make attending interdisciplinary, multimodal pain services difficult for young people and their parents. This includes time taken out of school to travel to clinics and associated financial concerns (Bender et al., 2011; Caes, Fisher, et al., 2018). For young people living outside of major cities, specialist pain services may be too far away to
travel to (Elgar & McGrath, 2003), especially in complex cases where high levels of disability are apparent.

A solution to this problem of accessibility to pain services is the provision of online interventions, which have the potential to support young people to manage chronic pain with greater autonomy and independence. Expert opinion has highlighted the expansion of digital healthcare in paediatric chronic pain, with emerging interest in mobile health (Richardson et al., 2020). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including closure of in-person clinics, redistribution of healthcare staff to acute care services, and 'stay at home' guidance, has led to rapidly increased implementation of online modalities in the clinical treatment of paediatric chronic pain. Since the beginning of 2020, online modalities of care have been increasingly used to support the self-management of adolescents with chronic pain, where appropriate (Eccleston et al., 2020). Additionally, online interventions offer a format that children and adolescents of the 'digital native' generation can associate with (Bolton et al., 2013). The majority of young children and 99% of adolescents (under 16-years) are already online (Ofcom, 2017a, 2019). Similarly, 98% of the older adolescent population (16 to 24-year-olds) use the internet (Ofcom, 2020). There are, however, some limitations to using online interventions in clinical practice, particularly in paediatric care. This is discussed further in Paper 1 (see section 4.5).

Nonetheless, no online interventions that specifically target adolescents or young people have been developed in a UK healthcare context. The CQC note that transitional healthcare services should be targeting young people between the ages of 14 and 25-years, and it is important that specifically targeted services are available for young people with complex physical health needs (CQC, 2014). To develop an online (or 'digital') intervention for young people with chronic pain, their physical, psychosocial, and developmental needs must be considered. This warrants the use of established intervention development frameworks that (i) consider the complexity of chronic pain as a condition, including the complex nature of interdisciplinary treatment, and (ii) maintain a user-centred approach that carefully considers young people's needs. These development frameworks, and their use in the current thesis, are explained in the proceeding Methodological Approaches chapter (Chapter 2).

1.6 Reviewing online interventions and internet use in young people with chronic pain

The first stage of the Medical Research Council (MRC) framework, and the Person-Based Approach (PBA) to digital health intervention development (described in 2.1), involve

conducting literature review(s). The MRC framework seeks to gain an understanding of any similar interventions that have been developed and/or trialled (MRC, 2008), whereas the purpose of reviewing within the PBA is to collate studies that help to identify contextual issues, barriers, and facilitators, relevant to intervention development for the population of interest (Morrison et al., 2018).

Although Paper 1 (Chapter 3) presents a review, there are other systematic reviews that have been conducted in the area of online paediatric chronic pain management, which must also be considered in light of developing novel interventions. Additionally, other research that is of importance to contextual understanding prior to developing an online intervention, has been conducted in this area. The next sections provide a narrative overview of: (1) findings from other systematic reviews that have been conducted, (2) research relating to the expansion of mobile health in chronic pain, and (3) other research on internet use in adolescents with chronic pain.

1.6.1 Systematic reviews of online interventions

An in-depth review of existing online multidisciplinary interventions for paediatric and adolescent chronic pain, focusing on the content they include and development approaches used, is provided in Chapter 4 (Hurley-Wallace et al., 2021). The term 'multidisciplinary' is used in this paper, as there has been discussion between academics as to whether online interventions can be truly interdisciplinary, as this would involve collaboration between clinicians. However, the term interdisciplinary is used throughout the current thesis, as these interventions are indeed working towards the same biopsychosocial treatment goals (individual treatment modalities are not evaluated separately) (IASP, 2018a).

As aforementioned, there are other important systematic reviews, including meta-analyses that have been conducted, in the area of online paediatric pain management. These reviews focus on: (i) the availability of online assessment tools and interventions for paediatric pain (Higgins et al., 2018), and (ii) the efficacy of online psychological interventions for paediatric chronic pain (Fisher et al., 2019). The following paragraphs provide a summary of these two reviews.

A systematic review of the availability of 'e-health' tools (computer and app-based tools) for paediatric pain, including pain assessment tools and digital/ online pain management interventions, identified a total of 53 tools that had been developed. These tools were intended for a range of conditions, including acute procedure-related, cancer-related,

disease-specific, postoperative, or chronic pain (Higgins et al., 2018). Twenty-six e-health tools focused on chronic pain conditions, and 15 of these were focused specifically on chronic pain management. Assessment tools and interventions were delivered using a mixture of technologies, including computers, mobiles, and other electronic devices. In terms of availability, only 13 tools out of 53 tools were found to be available to patients or the public. Time, infrastructure, and funding were highlighted as the main barriers to implementing e-health tools that had been developed by researchers.

The efficacy of online psychological approaches to paediatric chronic pain management has been investigated (Fisher et al., 2019). Similarly to its sister review of face-to-face interventions (Fisher et al., 2018), the online interventions in this review were required to primarily deliver psychological treatment and contain recognisable psychotherapeutic content. Studies were RCTs, and the intervention aim had to be on improving pain outcomes and functional disability (or both), as opposed to improving mood (Fisher et al., 2019). This review found 10 studies, which were split into mixed chronic pain and headache. All of the studies delivered CBT. No beneficial effects were found post-treatment for mixed chronic pain and there was a lack of follow-up data. For headache, there was a significant reduction in headache severity at post-treatment only (RR: 2.02, 95%CI [1.35, 3.01]). Authors highlighted findings were likely due to low quality evidence, and that more high quality studies in this field are needed to increase confidence in the use of online psychological interventions for young people with chronic pain.

1.6.2 Mobile health (m-health) in chronic pain

Expert opinion has highlighted emerging interest in m-health in the field of paediatric chronic pain (Richardson et al., 2020). The shift towards m-health has been explored in the adult pain literature, where online interventions targeting paediatric populations have only been adapted for mobile use in the last 1-2 years.

A critical appraisal of the content of currently available pain mobile apps (adults) has been conducted by Lalloo et al. (2015), finding that apps identified had not incorporated input from healthcare professionals in the field, and had not been tested for effectiveness. Another quality review of smartphone applications for pain management supports this evaluation, finding that apps had been developed with little input from healthcare professionals and required more rigorous testing to evaluate outcomes (Portelli & Eldred, 2016). These are important findings, highlighting that m-health applications for chronic pain tend not to follow intervention development guidance, and are often developed commercially.

There are two online, multimodal paediatric chronic pain interventions cited in Paper 1 (Chapter 4) of this thesis that have released trials of their mobile versions since the last update of the systematic review. Hence, these trials of the mobile versions of iCanCope and WebMAP are summarised under the next subsection.

1.6.2.1 M-health in paediatric chronic pain

First, iCanCope with Pain[™] (Stinson et al., 2014) has recently placed increased emphasis on trialling of its m-health components. iCanCope is a self-management intervention, wherein the original program architecture included predominantly computer-based, as well as app-based components. Most recently, iCanCope has been developed as a smartphonebased app and has been successfully piloted in adolescents with JIA, indicating that implementation via a paediatric rheumatology clinic was feasible (Lalloo et al., 2019; Lalloo et al., 2020). Preliminary findings indicated clinically meaningful reductions in pain intensity (more than 1 scale point), thus indicating a future trial investigating effectiveness should be pursued.

Second, a key intervention that has recently adapted from being primarily computer-based to being mobile-based is the multimodal CBT intervention, WebMAP (or WebMAP2) (Palermo et al., 2009; Palermo et al., 2016). A multicentre RCT of the computer-based version of WebMAP has been conducted with 273 adolescents aged 11 to-17-years (Palermo et al., 2016). The intervention produced several beneficial effects, including significantly improved activity limitation (Child Activity Limitations Interview; CALI) (Palermo et al., 2004) from baseline to 6-month follow-up for the treatment group, compared to an internet-education-only group (p = .03, effect size (d) = -0.25). These findings indicate high efficacy. Several secondary analyses of the data from the multicentre RCT of WebMAP have been conducted (Law et al., 2018; Murray, de la Vega, et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2019).

Nonetheless, this successful intervention has now been adapted for mobile use (WebMAP mobile) and evaluated separately using a stepped-wedge cluster randomised trial (Palermo et al., 2020). The aim of the trial was to evaluate real-world usage and effectiveness of the intervention. Findings indicated that adolescents who used WebMAP perceived greater improvement in their pain condition at post-treatment (d = 0.54, p <.05) and 3-month follow-up (d = 0.44, p < .05), compared to the usual care group. Higher engagement with the intervention was associated with significant reductions in pain intensity and disability (CALI), which was maintained at follow-up (d = -0.57, p = <.05 and d = -0.38, p < .05, respectively) (Palermo et al., 2020). The research team used RE-AIM, a public health impact framework (Dzewaltowski et al., 2004) to evaluate implementation outcomes. These findings indicated

that providers had positive attitudes about the helpfulness of the self-management focused digital intervention, with intentions to endorse the intervention, and all stakeholders found the treatment acceptable.

The trialling of WebMAP is a good example of iterative intervention development over several years, where the recent trial focusing on real-world usage in the mobile version (Palermo et al., 2020) is imperative to the intervention's future success. This recent trial shows the importance of measuring engagement when trialling of online interventions in young people with chronic pain, as engagement was related to therapeutic outcomes.

1.6.3 Internet use in adolescents with chronic pain

Related to online interventions, researchers in paediatric chronic pain are beginning to acknowledge and investigate internet use for chronic pain education and pain management. This is arguably an important context for developing online interventions, as interventions must be able to be engaging and impactful comparatively to online resources that are already being used. As stated prior, adolescents and young adults of the current generation are heavy internet users (Ofcom, 2019, 2020), hence internet use should be considered as a vitally important context. The PBA emphasises the importance of understanding context when developing digital health interventions (Yardley et al., 2016; Yardley et al., 2015), and this has been echoed in recent guidance based on expert consensus (O'Cathain et al., 2019). In relation to adolescent chronic pain, only one relevant study of internet use has been conducted.

A scoping review and content analysis has specifically investigated YouTube videos that include adolescents with chronic pain (Forgeron et al., 2019). The search returned 18 videos, which primarily covered multidisciplinary and alternative treatments, although little detail was provided in the videos. The videos also discussed the impact of pain on daily life, and moreover, there was an overarching message in the comments section that adolescents with chronic pain are 'not alone'. This is a clear reflection that adolescents are using YouTube as a platform for social support, rather than purely for information-seeking about pain or pain management. Crucially, this thesis adds to current knowledge of adolescent internet and social media use in relation to chronic pain management.

1.7 Thesis aims

The overarching aim was to lay the groundwork for developing a novel online intervention for the management of adolescent chronic pain. This was served by the following 6 aims and associated objectives:

- Chapter 1: To summarise appropriate methodological approaches to online health intervention development and explain why particular approaches and methods were selected for use in the current thesis. Objectives included:
 - To provide an overview of the Medical Research Council guidance and Person-Based approach and explain why these approaches were used in the current thesis, as opposed to alternatives.
 - b. To describe the data collection and analysis methods chosen for the papers presented in the current thesis and explain why these methods were employed, in this particular order, as opposed to alternatives.
 - c. To provide a brief commentary on how quality is demonstrated in qualitative research.
- Chapter 2: To summarise theoretical models of chronic pain and provide an overview of the biopsychosocial approach to chronic pain assessment and management. Objectives included:
 - a. To summarise theoretical models of chronic pain onset and maintenance and discuss how these models can be applied to adolescence.
 - b. To provide an overview of the biopsychosocial approach to chronic pain assessment and management, with reference to paediatric and adolescent research that has been conducted in each domain (biological, psychological, social.)
- 3) Paper 1: To review and critically evaluate the content of online interventions that have been developed for the management of child and adolescent chronic pain. Objectives included:
 - a. To identify which multidisciplinary chronic pain management strategies are reflected within the content of existing online multidisciplinary interventions for paediatric chronic pain management.
 - b. To map the content of existing online interventions for paediatric chronic pain to evidence-based clinical guidelines for multidisciplinary pain management and evaluate how well each chronic pain management strategy is addressed by the identified interventions.

- c. To summarise and evaluate the development approaches used by the identified interventions and provide practical recommendations for intervention development teams.
- 4) Paper 2: To identify the needs of adolescents in the UK for a new online chronic pain management intervention. Objectives included:
 - a. To investigate which online resources adolescents currently use to manage chronic pain and mental health.
 - b. To investigate which online resources parents use to help them understand their child's chronic pain
 - c. To investigate which interdisciplinary techniques adolescents with chronic pain consider most helpful.
 - d. To investigate what content and features adolescents and parents would like to see in a new online chronic pain management intervention.
- 5) Paper 3: To explore the experiences of adolescents with chronic pain when seeking information about chronic pain using the internet. This included experiences of searching the internet using search engines (e.g., Google), health information websites (e.g., the NHS website), and social media (Facebook, YouTube, Instagram). Objectives included:
 - a. To explore adolescents' experience of chronic pain management strategies, including pain management techniques and advice provided by healthcare professionals, self-management strategies, and any internet resources that have helped facilitate this.
 - b. To explore which resources adolescents believe have been the most helpful, and/or may have been potentially helpful for managing chronic pain, if available.
 - c. To understand why certain resources are viewed as especially helpful for managing pain, or are noticeably popular, and why young people turn to these resources as opposed to, or as adjunctive to, in-person or online alternatives.
- 6) To discuss findings from the research studies presented in the current thesis and provide recommendations for researchers and clinicians in the field of adolescent chronic pain management.
 - a. To summarise the findings presented in papers 1, 2 and 3.
 - b. To discuss findings in the context of other research that has been conducted on internet use with adolescents with chronic pain.
 - c. To propose recommendations (guiding principles) for clinicians and researchers to help guide online intervention development for UK-based adolescents and young adults with chronic pain.

- d. To reflect on how theoretical models could be utilised by development teams seeking to develop an online intervention for adolescent chronic pain.
- e. To suggest improvements to the NHS website based on the needs of young people with chronic pain that have been identified.
- f. To provide recommendations for clinicians working with 16 to 24-year-olds with chronic pain, based on findings from papers 2 and 3.
- g. To identify potential areas of future research in adolescent chronic pain management.
- h. To reflect on the strengths and limitations of the current thesis.

1.8 Thesis: summary of chapters

The introduction to this thesis (Chapter 1) has presented relevant background on chronic pain in paediatric and adolescent populations (up to 24-years) and discussed approaches to pain management as used in clinical practice. The need for online interventions for young people with chronic pain was discussed. A narrative review was used to provide an overview of systematic reviews that have been conducted in this area and summarise relevant existing literature relating to internet use in adolescents with chronic pain.

Chapter 2 presents the methodological approaches used in this thesis. This includes the intervention development approaches drawn upon, as well as a discussion of the research methods that were utilised to match these approaches. Descriptions of the intervention development approaches used, and potential alternative approaches are provided, alongside a rationale as to why the Person-Based Approach was selected as a central approach for this project. The initial vision for the online intervention this thesis lays the groundwork for, and how this changed, is described. The methods used within this thesis are explained and alternatives are briefly discussed. The order of studies, in-line with the selected approaches and methods, is rationalised. The chapter finishes with a commentary on how quality is assessed in qualitative research.

Chapter 3 presents theoretical models and approaches that are relevant to the management of chronic pain in young people. First, the Fear-Avoidance and Interpersonal Fear-Avoidance Models of chronic pain onset and maintenance are summarised. A discussion of how these models can be applied to adolescents with chronic pain is provided. The developmental model of family and parent influences in paediatric chronic pain is also explained. Second, the biopsychosocial approach to chronic pain assessment and management is summarised, with reference to paediatric and adolescent research that has been conducted in each domain (biological, psychological, social).

Paper 1 (Chapter 4) reviews existing online interventions that have been developed for paediatric and adolescent chronic pain and closely evaluates the content included in each. Across interventions, physiotherapy and non-pharmacological physical therapies were the least well represented chronic pain management strategies. The review identified that no interventions for paediatric chronic pain have been developed in a UK context, and that self-management and CBT-based interventions targeting adolescents have been largely successful (Hurley-Wallace et al., 2021). The review also found that only one intervention, developed in Canada, had utilised a user-based development approach.

An investigation of the needs of adolescents with chronic pain in the UK was pursued in Paper 2 (Chapter 5) (Hurley-Wallace et al., 2020). In this mixed-methods paper, needs for a novel online intervention were assessed by surveying UK-based adolescents (self-report for 16 to 18-year-olds) and parents (parent-proxy report for 12 to 15-year olds). Descriptive summaries of online resources use (for chronic pain management, and mental health management) are provided, as well as barriers and facilitators to using a new intervention, as identified by adolescents and parents. The survey also presents a qualitative content analysis to explore initial thoughts on a new online program for chronic pain management. Findings highlights a new resource would be endorsed by UK-based adolescents. The survey also identified a knowledge gap surrounding young people's use of online resources for pain management.

In Paper 3 (Chapter 6), population-level contextual internet and social media use are explored using qualitative interviews with older adolescents (16 to 24-year olds). A reflexive thematic analysis was conducted, which identified four key themes. Three of the themes were strongly interrelated: 'Trustworthy information, or experiences?', 'Diagnostic labels in a digital world', and 'The online chronic pain community'. The last theme, 'A mind and body approach to self-management', was indirectly related to the community theme. A discussion of findings is presented, focusing on clinical implications and application to intervention development.

A general discussion is presented in Chapter 7, which begins by summarising findings from papers 1, 2 and 3. The discussion follows to provide recommendations for researchers and clinicians in the field of adolescent chronic pain management. Guiding principles for intervention developers are outlined, and potential integration of theory (and which ones) into the design of a new intervention is discussed. Areas for future research are highlighted, and the strengths and limitations of the current thesis are reflected upon.

Chapter 2 Methodological Approaches

This chapter provides (i) an overview of the intervention development approaches used in the current thesis, including a discussion of potential alternative approaches, (ii) a description of the methods selected for use in the papers presented in the current thesis, including an explanation of why these methods were chosen, (iii) rationale as to why the chosen methods were employed in this particular order, and (iv) a brief discussion on how quality is demonstrated in qualitative research.

2.1 Intervention development approaches

A variety of frameworks and approaches can be applied to the development of interventions aimed at improving health (O'Cathain et al., 2019). Recent guidance has highlighted the importance of clarity in the reporting of intervention development studies in health research, which includes specifying the development approach that is being used (Duncan et al., 2020).

The current project draws from guidance provided by the Medical Research Council (MRC) for developing complex healthcare interventions (Craig et al., 2008; MRC, 2008). As recommended for complex health interventions (O'Cathain et al., 2019), the MRC 'development' stage guidance is supplemented with detailed guidance from the Person-Based Approach (PBA) to developing digital health-related interventions (Yardley et al., 2015). The subsections that follow provide: (i) an overview of the MRC guidance, (ii) an overview of the PBA, including research examples from projects that have utilised this approach, and (iii) an explanation of how these approaches were used in the current project, including a brief explanation of alternative intervention development approaches, and how these could be used synchronously or separately.

2.1.1 Medical Research Council guidance: developing complex interventions

The MRC guidance on developing and evaluating complex interventions outlines four key stages: development, feasibility and piloting, evaluation, and implementation. An intervention is considered complex when it contains several interactive components. There are several dimensions of complexity, which are outlined in Box 2 of the MRC guidance (MRC, 2008; Craig et al., 2008). Moreover, there are several implications of complexity that can impact

development and evaluation. For example, lack of impact may reflect implementation failure, rather than indicating ineffectiveness. The following section focuses on the aspects of this guidance that relate specifically to the development of health interventions. Initially, the MRC guidance suggests six questions to ask oneself when developing an intervention aimed at improving health (Box 1 of MRC guidance) (MRC, 2008, p. 4):

- "Are you clear about what you are trying to do: what outcome you are aiming for, and how you will bring about change?
- Does your intervention have a coherent theoretical basis?
- Have you used this theory systematically to develop the intervention?
- Can you describe the intervention fully, so that it can be implemented properly for the purposes of your evaluation, and replicated by others?
- Does the existing evidence ideally collated in a systematic review suggest that it is likely to be effective or cost effective?
- Can it be implemented in a research setting, and is it likely to be widely implementable if the results are favourable?"

There are then three actions outlined for developing complex interventions, which should be completed before moving to any piloting or evaluation, to establish that the intervention is likely to have a worthwhile effect (Craig et al., 2008). In brief, these are:

- Identifying existing evidence about similar interventions, including conducting a systematic review if relevant.
- Identifying and developing theory about the process of change, which can be supplemented by new primary research where necessary.
- Modelling the process and outcomes through iterative design and refinement. This might also include prior economic evaluation. Any identified weaknesses can be refined at this stage, though if weaknesses are detrimental, it may be the case that a full scale evaluation should not be pursued.

Whilst the MRC guidance is a good starting point for developing health interventions, particularly as it also outlines what makes an intervention 'complex', the 'development' stage is markedly brief, and requires supplementation with more detailed approaches to help guide intervention design and development (O'Cathain et al., 2019). This rationale was affirmed in intervention development guidance that was formulated based on an expert consensus study (O'Cathain et al., 2019), which utilised reviews and qualitative interviews with people from development teams to create a framework of actions (intended for consideration by

intervention developers). Involvement of stakeholders, including users of the intervention, was highlighted in the action points, as was undertaking primary data collection, understanding context, and use of theory.

2.1.2 The Person-Based Approach

The PBA (Yardley et al., 2015) provides specific guidance for the development of digital health-related behaviour change interventions. The approach provides a detailed description of how qualitative feedback from intervention stakeholders (for example patients, patients' families, and healthcare professionals) can be integrated iteratively into online interventions in three stages: planning, optimisation, and evaluation (Morrison et al., 2018). The planning stage focuses on collecting qualitative and mixed-methods research data, which can provide rich data on factors that impact engagement in potential users. The planning stage also recommends conducting a scoping review and, if appropriate, a systematic literature review. This can help to identify which barriers, facilitators and contextual issues have been reported by published studies conducted with the target population. Following the planning stage, guiding principles are formulated. These specify design objectives and key features of an intervention that will help to achieve these objectives (Morrison et al., 2018; Yardley et al., 2015). Guiding principles are intended to support engagement with intervention content by outlining core elements that should be included in the intervention design. The next stage of the PBA is optimisation. In this stage, interventions are modified based on user-feedback. Finally, the implementation and evaluation stages employ mixed-methods research to conduct process evaluations and understand individuals' experiences of a 'full' intervention.

In the process of intervention development, there is also recognition that the knowledge and expertise of healthcare professionals working in the area is important (Blandford et al., 2018). This expertise is often integrated through co-design of intervention content, sometimes called a partnership approach (O'Cathain et al., 2019). Healthcare professionals can also be identified as intervention stakeholders, using the PBA. Therefore, some aspects of intervention content that are developed can be non-dependent on user-views, and instead based on clinical expertise. Use of co-design was considered initially in the current project, however, this became less important as the project was adapted to focus on intervention planning only (see section 2.1.3.2).

The current thesis draws from the planning stage of the PBA to explore the context from which a UK-based online intervention for young people with chronic pain might be developed. To date, no such intervention has been developed in a UK context. It is arguable

Chapter 2: Methodological Approaches

that the needs of adolescents in the UK may differ compared to adolescents in other western countries, such as the USA and Canada, based on their experiences of NHS healthcare and their experiences of chronic pain in different social contexts (Viner et al., 2012). Developing a deep understanding of target users' psychosocial context is central to the PBA (Yardley et al., 2015). There is also consensus among experts internationally that: (a) understanding context is important when developing complex healthcare interventions using any framework (O'Cathain et al., 2019), and (b) successful design of online interventions demands a user-centred approach (Yardley et al., 2016). Indeed, conducting qualitative research can provide population-level insights that may impact whether an intervention is successful or not (O'Cathain et al., 2019).

An important part of the psychosocial context that must be considered when developing an online intervention for adolescents with chronic pain is their use of the internet for seeking information about pain management. This is particularly important because adolescents are 'digital natives' (Ofcom, 2017a, 2019; Bolton et al., 2013). To be successful, any new intervention will need to be able to integrate with, and be equally as engaging as, online resources that are already being used. Similar qualitative research, drawing from the planning stage of the PBA, has investigated carers' experiences of using the internet to seek information about childhood eczema (Santer et al., 2015). The study followed previous qualitative research, which explored carers' experiences of managing childhood eczema in relation to treatment adherence (Santer et al., 2013). Arguably, understanding both the online and offline context of managing any health condition is important in shaping guiding principles for any digital health intervention.

Other research has utilised the PBA to explore the adolescents' values surrounding diet and physical activity, in light of developing health interventions (Strömmer et al., 2021). Qualitative interviews were conducted with adolescents aged 13 and 14-years. Thematic analysis found that the need to be healthy was not a strongly held priority by adolescents, and that improving health was only pursued if improvements could be achieved without compromising other things that they consider to be important, such as schoolwork and hobbies.

2.1.3 Use of methodological approaches in the current project

As described at the beginning of this section on intervention development approaches, the MRC guidance was supplemented with more detailed guidance from the PBA to determine the intervention development approach for the current project.

Chapter 2: Methodological Approaches

Nonetheless, there are a variety of alternative approaches to intervention development which may be used to enrich the MRC guidance (O'Cathain et al., 2019). This could include theory and evidence-based frameworks such as the Behaviour Change Wheel (BCW) (Michie et al., 2011; Michie et al., 2014) or the Theoretical Domains Framework (French et al., 2012). The guidance by O'Cathain et al. (2019) noted that theory-based interventions have been examined in a systematic review of reviews and were not found to be more effective than non-theory-based interventions (Dalgetty et al., 2019). However, theory use should still be considered, as long as supporting evidence of theory-effectiveness is clear.

The BCW is an important framework that could potentially be used, independently of other approaches (e.g., the PBA, or the MRC guidance), to develop an online intervention for young people with chronic pain, as the intervention would require young people to change their behaviour (Michie et al., 2011). A guide to designing interventions using the BCW has also been developed by Michie et al. (2014). According to the BCW, the first part of designing an intervention is understanding the target health condition and identifying which behaviours need to change. With regards to chronic pain, theoretical approaches are wellestablished, and the biopsychosocial approach underpins evidence-based interdisciplinary care. There is also some emphasis on stakeholder input in the BCW; the current thesis utilises some of the methods mentioned by Michie et al. (2014), including conducting interviews with young people. Because of this overlap, there is not necessarily a need to supplement the BCW with another user-centred approach such as the PBA.

A central framework for identifying target behaviours using the BCW is the COM-B model, which highlights three essential conditions for any behaviour to occur: capability, opportunity and motivation (Michie et al., 2014). One or more of these elements must be changed to successfully adjust behaviour for an individual, a group, or a population. Notably the components of the COM-B can also be integrated into an interview schedule; this is a key difference between conducting stakeholder interviews using the BCW verses the PBA, although both approaches recommend open-ended questions and an interpretative analytic approach.

The main reason the BCW was not central to the current project is because the BCW aligns better with changes to general health behaviours, which do not necessarily require input from medicine. In addition, the BCW is primarily a public health approach to intervention design, whereas the PBA is a psychology-based approach to development.

Alternatively, as in the current project, user-centred approaches, such as in the PBA (Yardley et al., 2015), may be employed, or any combination of published approaches may

be used. The PBA is a psychology-based approach to intervention development, and thus has been central to the current research project. This approach was selected because it focuses on the psychosocial context of the person using the intervention, and how this may impact the health-related behavioural changes that the intervention is aiming to achieve. Improving chronic pain management requires a variety of behavioural changes, thus it is important to understand contextual factors that may hinder or support these changes. The PBA can also be easily integrated with psychological theories relevant to illness management, as well as with behavioural change techniques (BCTs), as is explained in the general discussion chapter of this thesis. Although the PBA is person-centred, the mechanisms of behaviour change that underpin digital health-related interventions remain important (Yardley et al., 2015).

2.1.3.1 Use of the PBA in the current project

The focus of the current project is on the planning stage of online intervention development, given that an in-depth exploration of psychosocial context had not yet been pursued for this UK-based target group. The exploration of context deepened as the project progressed, where Paper 2 in particular identified the use of a huge variety of online resources by young people for pain management. A summary of how the planning stage of PBA was used in this thesis, to formulate guiding principles, is provided in Figure 1.

Paper 1: Review and content analysis of multidisciplinary online interventions

- Interventions intended for patients with chronic pain <18years-old.
- Critical review of current interventions compared to evidence-based guidelines for chronic pain management.
- Indentified CBT-based interventions as a good starting point for interdisciplinary interventions.
- •Indication for adolescentdirected self-management interventions.

Paper 2: Survey-based needs assessment

12 to 18-year-olds with chronic pain.
Self-report for 16 to 18-years

- Parent-proxy for 12 to 15-yearsAsked about use of online resources
- for chronic pain management.
- Asked about barriers and facilitators to the use of a new resource.
 Explored what adolescents, and
- parents, would like to see in a new online resource.
- •Qualitative content analysis of text responses.
- •Idea of a 'pain toolbox'.
- Indication of need for an intervention promoting independence in pain management.

Guiding principles

Paper 3: Qualitative interview study exploring internet use

- •16 to 24-year-olds with chronic pain.
- •Further explored psychosocial context of internet and social media use for pain management.
- •Indication for the develpment of a self-management intervention with a community element.
- •Identified diagnosis as being important for online health information-seeking.

Figure 1. Summary visualisation of the planning stage of the Person-Based Approach (Yardley et al., 2015), as used in the current project.

In-line with the PBA, guiding principles are developed following the planning stage of development. Thus, guiding principles intended for intervention developers in the field of adolescent chronic pain are presented in the discussion chapter of the current thesis (see 7.3.1). These principles consist of the intervention design objectives and the key features of the intervention that will help to meet these aims (Yardley et al., 2015). Suggestions of how relevant psychological theories (and which ones) could be integrated into the development of interventions for adolescent chronic pain, in light of findings from the current thesis, are also discussed (see 7.3.2).

2.1.3.2 A flexible approach to intervention planning

Another point raised in the guidance developed by O'Cathain et al. (2019), was that developers often hold strong beliefs about the need for an intervention at the start of the process. It is important that intervention developers are open to change, which may include

steps forward or backwards in the process. The next two subsections describe in detail what the vision for the intervention was, as well as how this changed, and why.

2.1.3.3 Initial vision for the intervention

The initial vision for the intervention for the current project was relatively vague, though the first thought was that this would be a web-based intervention, rather than app-based, because it would have contained a lot of content from several disciplines. As discussed in the introduction to this thesis, the gold standard of care in paediatric chronic pain is multi- or interdisciplinary, and so collaboration with specialists in chronic pain from medicine, nursing, and physiotherapy backgrounds (alongside the psychology team) was sought out to develop initial content ideas. The initial hope was that healthcare professionals would be involved in co-designing the intervention, after interviews with adolescents and parents had been completed. The collaboration was with the Pain Control Service at Great Ormond Street Hospital, where the behavioural target group were initially 12 to 17-year-olds. For this population, it was decided that development of some mirroring content for parents would also be important. In purely paediatric or younger adolescent populations, parental opinions are important to explore, as parents play a critical role in pain management at home, which is often overlooked (Palermo & Eccleston, 2009).

The physiotherapy and nursing team suggested creating physiotherapy videos for use within an online intervention; the addition of physiotherapy videos is also supported by research into interdisciplinary treatment options for paediatric chronic pain (Caes et al., 2018). In relation to patient safety, it was intended that information on medications and medical devices was to be outlined by the specialist clinicians only, and not informed by user views. Aside from this, the hope was that qualitative research with young patients and families attending the Pain Control Service would guide the first draft of content for the online intervention as the project progressed.

2.1.3.4 Adapting the project to situational changes: a new vision

Unfortunately, the collaborative project was halted due to the closure of the service during the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. Because of this, the project had to be reconceptualised; this involved stepping back to focus on the planning stage of the PBA, rather than moving forward with content development and optimisation. This was decided due to the PhD timeline (and uncertainty surrounding funding extensions) and the lack of healthcare professional support available to co-design content. The mixed methods survey presented in Paper 2 was initially a background project, with the qualitative work at the forefront, in-line

Chapter 2: Methodological Approaches

with the PBA and MRC guidance. Where qualitative interviews were not feasible within a hospital collaboration, findings from the survey were drawn upon to determine a new direction for the project. Quantitative findings from the survey revealed that 16 to 18-year-olds were using a vast array of online resources for pain management, and the qualitative content analysis also indicated that interventions including social support and encouraging self-management would be preferred. Thus, the qualitative study (Paper 3) was adapted to further explore the context of internet use in chronic pain, with the behavioural target group adjusted to this transitional care group of 16 to 18-year-olds. The development of content for parents was also dropped given new evidence (discussed in Paper 1), indicating that interventions with mirroring parent-facing content do not yield significant improvements in pain and disability in adolescents over 15-years (Murray, de la Vega, et al., 2019).

Young people in the UK are usually treated for chronic pain in accordance with adult healthcare guidance from age 16-years (NICE, 2021; Great Ormond Street Hospital, 2021). Context was therefore explored in relation to self-management in Paper 3, reflecting increased independence in condition management. Looking more closely at this age group and the literature on the age of adolescence (Sawyer et al., 2018), as well as CQC guidance on transitional healthcare for young people with complex physical health conditions (CQC, 2014), the behavioural target group was expanded up to 24-years.

The vision for the modality by which the intervention would be delivered also changed throughout the project. This started off as being a potentially 'open to all' online resource for young people with chronic pain, and their parents. This then changed, on clinician advice, to the development of an adjunctive resource for use within the Pain Control Service. When the project was reconceptualised, as described above, focus reverted back to an 'open' resource. However, the general discussion in the current thesis also proposes the potential for delivery via primary care services, based on insights from the qualitative interviews.

Lastly, over the course of the 4-years, the digital landscape has changed rapidly, and it is now clear that an online intervention developed for this target group would be best delivered in the form of a mobile application. As per the narrative review in the introduction, internationally-based interventions that are already successful are now being adapted from being web-based to being app-based (Palermo et al., 2020). The vision for a novel intervention for 16 to 24-year-olds with chronic pain, which is based on the guiding principles developed using insights from all three papers, is presented in section 7.3.4.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Data collection and analysis methods

The methods for all papers were carefully selected to follow the recommendations of the PBA. The use of a review and content analysis in Paper 1 stemmed from knowledge of the existing review by Higgins et al. (2018), which captured all of the relevant e-health interventions that have been developed in the field of paediatric pain. This same review search terms and databases were used, with adjustments to inclusion criteria to reflect interventions intended for chronic (rather than acute or procedure-related) pain. Indeed, the MRC guidance stipulates to conduct a systematic review if necessary (MRC, 2008; Craig et al., 2008), however, evaluation of interventions that had been developed did not present process evaluations, so there was no feasible way to map content to outcomes.

A survey design was used in Paper 2 to gage initial thoughts on a novel intervention from target users, as no investigation had been done into this topic previously. Qualitative content analysis methodology (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008) was selected to analyse the open response question, which asked adolescents and parents their initial thoughts about a new online program to help with chronic pain. The analysis took a conventional approach to content analysis where coding categories were derived directly from the text data; this is the most appropriate approach when existing research on a phenomenon is limited (Hsieh & Shannon, 2005). Quantitative analyses were also conducted to gain a clearer descriptive picture of which resources were being used for pain management, as well as mental health management (due to high comorbidity of mood disorders in chronic pain, discussed in 3.2.2).

Semi-structured, individual interviews were used in Paper 3 to collect qualitative data. An interview guide was used to ensure topics explored during interviews were consistent with the aims of the research. However, a semi-structured guide is considered flexible enough such that interviewees may direct the conversation to related topical issues, which can then also be explored as appropriate. Semi-structured interviews were chosen for this study because interviews were intended to be steered by the research question (Willig, 2013b), and encourage storytelling about specific experiences of seeking chronic pain information online. Additionally, data from semi-structured interviews is compatible with reflexive thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2019a), which was selected as the analytic technique for this study.

Qualitative data analysis followed the six stages of (reflexive) thematic analysis, as outlined by Braun and Clarke (2006). This included reading and re-reading interview transcripts, then systematically generating qualitative codes, using an inductive, data-driven approach. Data was coded in meaning units (Joffe & Yardley, 2004). Existing codes were iterated throughout the coding process, and notes about interesting features of the whole dataset were made throughout, as well as referring back to interview field notes. Once the coding manual had been finalised, codes were collated into clusters of meaning to create candidate themes (Braun et al., 2019). Candidate themes were tested out in relation to the dataset and research objectives, then expanded upon using quotes to evidence claims. Triangulation with the research supervisory team was done to ensure the overall fit of themes to the coded dataset. Themes were iterated, a thematic map was created, and theme names were finalised. The study report includes the use of quotes to evidence claims.

2.2.1.1 Alternative methods

A systematic review and subset meta-analysis exploring the effectiveness of online interventions in paediatric chronic pain was also considered for Paper 1. However, there are other reviews in this area that report efficacy of online interventions in paediatric and adolescent chronic pain in this way, and the current authors updated this review in the 2nd year of the PhD research project timeline (Fisher et al., 2019). As such, a review focusing on the efficacy of online interventions would not have added to current knowledge.

Focus groups were also considered as a data collection method for the qualitative study, however the research question was centred around individual experiences of internet use, for a wide variety of pain conditions, and the interaction among participants was not considered a data source of interest (Willig, 2013b). Focus group dynamics also have potential to cause distress in group members, particularly given the sensitive nature of chronic pain as a topic. Potential distress in an online focus group setting was additionally highlighted by the PPI group, thereby ruling out focus groups.

2.2.2 Order of studies within a mixed methods approach

As discussed in 'A flexible approach to intervention planning', the order of studies was adapted from conducting the qualitative study first, due to reconceptualization of the project following the impact COVID-19 on conducting this work. Mainly, the closure of the Great Ormond Street Pain Control Service. Initially, the qualitative study and the mixed methods survey were being conducted synchronously with the review study, in-line with the PBA. As shown in Figure 1, although the target group has been adjusted upwards to focus on older adolescents, all three studies contributed to the guiding principles presented in the general discussion (Chapter 7). It was also necessary to reconceptualise the qualitative study after the initial project plan was interrupted. This included re-gaining ethical approval via a new application for a new target user group; this was absolutely necessary due to the uncertainty of when the hospital clinic would reopen, in the context of a global pandemic. By chance, the review of interventions presented in Paper 1 contains a majority of interventions that are targeted at adolescents, and therefore, these insights remain useful for the development of guiding principles for a 16 to 24-year-old target group. Because of the way the survey was designed for Paper 2, with 16 to 18-year-olds self-reporting, the insights from the qualitative content analysis also relate to this older age group.

In summary, and as in Figure 1, these studies should be considered as contributing together to the formation of guiding principles, rather than as a sequence of studies that leads to the insights found in the qualitative interviews in Paper 3. Focusing on the psychosocial context of internet use in Paper 3 aligns with the PBA. Whilst the focus of the interview study changed slightly based on insights from Papers 1 and 2, it also became clear that the interview questions needed adapting as a more thorough understanding of the PBA was gained throughout the course of PhD learning.

2.3 Quality in qualitative research

Demonstrating quality in qualitative research is markedly different compared to how quality is assessed in quantitative work. Where qualitative research is interpretative, such as in reflexive thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2019a), constructs such as reliability and replicability are inappropriate, as the researcher offers just one of many interpretations of a phenomena (Yardley, 2000). Hence, when conceptualising and conducting a qualitative research study, it is important to ask oneself several questions about how the research demonstrates quality. This can be done by ensuring the research adheres to one of the available quality of reporting checklists, such as the JARS-qualitative (Levitt et al., 2018), CASP or COREQ (Tong et al., 2007), which have recently been summarised and discussed in an editorial by the British Journal of Health Psychology (Shaw et al., 2019). The JARS-qualitative was recommended as a robust way of assessing the quality of qualitative research, which is applicable across different qualitative methods and epistemological stances. The JARS-qualitative checklist was utilised in the interview study presented in Paper 3 of the current thesis.

Chapter 2: Methodological Approaches

Yardley (2000) also provided an in-depth discussion of the issue of quality in qualitative research, outlining four key characteristics of good qualitative research, which are adaptable to a variety of different methods and stances. First, 'sensitivity to context' refers to exploring knowledge that already exists and developing a robust conceptual and theoretical (if appropriate) understanding of the phenomena, prior to undertaking the research itself. In addition, qualitative researchers should consider the context of the work, such as social and cultural settings and potential ethical issues. Another important consideration is the relationship between the researcher and the participant, as well as the recruitment strategy and how this may affect respondents. Qualitative analyses should also include some reflection on the context of the study, especially if there is unexpected or unique data - this should be thoroughly thought through and discussed in the study report. Second, the characteristic of 'commitment and rigour' is important. This considers the researchers engagement with the research, as well as their competence and skill. For example, it should be clear that the researcher has been immersed in the data, and the analysis is not superficial. Rigour also includes triangulation of the researcher's interpretation with others' interpretations. Third, 'transparency and coherence' stipulates that the researcher should be able to demonstrate clearly how they got from point A to B, such as proving a coding manual as a supplement to a thematic analysis, for example. There should also be an open reflection in the research report on how researcher's viewpoint (including their context and epistemological standpoint) impacted the qualitative analysis. Lastly, the fourth characteristic 'impact and importance' asks in which ways the research enriches our understanding and emphasises a consideration of the scope of the impact. For example, gualitative researchers should consider who is it important to present the findings to, and whether this can impact change to policy or practices.

The characteristics of good qualitative research outlined above (Yardley, 2000) are reflected in the aforementioned quality checklists for qualitative research. However, this demonstration of quality look vastly different between reports of different qualitative methods. For example, demonstrating quality in a framework analysis would look different to how quality is demonstrated in a thematic analysis. Even within types of thematic analysis, there are styles such as 'codebook' style thematic analysis, which would require less information about the perspective on an individual researcher (as this is usually done in a team), although greater consideration is needed regarding how the 'codebook' is developed (Braun & Clarke, 2021), and this must be reported clearly. This is an example of where some qualitative methods are less interpretative than others, with one of the most interpretative approaches being Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis (IPA) (Smith, 1996), and the least interpretative being 'coding reliability' thematic analysis, which is considered to have quantitative underpinnings (Braun & Clarke, 2021; Braun et al., 2019).

Chapter 3 Theoretical Frameworks

3.1 Theoretical frameworks of chronic pain

This chapter seeks to summarise theoretical models of chronic pain and provide an overview of the biopsychosocial approach to chronic pain assessment and management. First, this chapter summarises the Fear-Avoidance and Interpersonal Fear-Avoidance Models, which are models of chronic pain onset and maintenance that can be applied to childhood and adolescence. The developmental model of family and parent influences in chronic pain is also explained. Second, this chapter provides an overview of the biopsychosocial approach to chronic pain assessment and management, with reference to paediatric and adolescent research that has been conducted in biological, psychological, and social domains.

3.1.1 The Fear-Avoidance model of pain

The Fear-Avoidance (FA) model, originally referred to as an 'exaggerated model of pain perception' (Lethem et al., 1983), explains that both pain sensation and an individual's emotional reaction contribute to pain perception. The FA model highlights that fear of pain represents a key emotional component of pain perception, where there are two coping responses available: confrontation or avoidance (Lethem et al., 1983). In updated terminology this is known as approach or avoidance coping, where avoidance coping strategies leads to maintenance and exacerbation of fear, and therefore maintenance of pain. On the other hand, using approach coping strategies allows for a rational assessment of the pain experience, which is likely to result in effective rehabilitation.

The most well-known model of FA is was developed by Vlaeyen and Linton (2000). In this model, pain catastrophizing (i.e., when pain is interpreted at threatening) leads to a vicious cycle of fear-avoidance, negative affect, and pain. This results in further catastrophizing, thereby continuing the cycle. The most recent version of the FA model for chronic pain has been outlined by Vlaeyen et al. (2016), where it has been argued that the model needed to be related to the experience of chronic pain and the cycle of pain-related disability (Crombez et al., 2012). This latest version of the FA model starts with nociception (physiological response to a pain stimulus), followed by the experience of pain. Catastrophizing then leads to pain-related fear, resulting in avoidance and/or hypervigilance (increased awareness and attention towards pain). This then leads to interference with valued life activities (or 'pain interference'), negative affect (e.g., depression), and disuse of the painful area. Disuse is

likely to result in increased pain and disability; combined with negative affect and declines in other areas of functioning (e.g., psychosocial) the experience of pain is likely to worsen as the cycle continues (Vlaeyen et al., 2016). This model helps to explain how pain can become chronic in nature, as well as how chronic pain is maintained - through a continuous cycle of fear and avoidance.

3.1.1.1 The FA model in children

The FA model has been investigated with application to children and adolescents using multiple structural equation models. This investigation used a cross-sectional sample of 350 young people aged 8 to 17-years, recruited from a multidisciplinary pain clinic. Measures included child-reported pain intensity, pain catastrophizing, pain-related fear, functional disability, and depressive symptoms. Findings indicated that pain severity predicted pain catastrophizing, which predicted pain-related fear, which predicted avoidance, which predicted functional disability (Simons & Kaczynski, 2012). Analyses found that this model, predicting functional disability, was a good fit for children and adolescents. However, developmental differences were apparent between older and younger children in the study. Pain-related fears had a high impact on avoidance of activities for adolescents (13 to 17-years), compared to younger children (8 to 12-years). There was also a stronger indirect relationship between catastrophizing and activity avoidance for adolescents, compared to younger children. Pain duration had a greater influence in the model for younger children, compared to adolescents, where shorter pain duration was associated with higher pain intensity.

The FA model is applicable to children and adolescents, however developmental differences in cognition and emotion must be considered when this theory is applied in a clinical context. Additional research provides some indication that developmental age-related changes impact cognitive biases in relation to chronic pain. In particular, age can impact catastrophizing, which in turn impacts a child or young person's experience of pain; this predictive association of age by catastrophizing on pain was found to be strongest in adolescents with chronic pain than in younger children (Tran et al., 2015; Lau et al., 2018). This insight can be matched with findings from Simons and Kaczynski (2012). Cognitive biases are more likely to develop with increasing cortical maturity in adolescence, which explains why cognitions about pain (pain-related fears and catastrophizing) may have more influence on the maintenance of chronic pain in adolescence.

3.1.2 The Interpersonal Fear-Avoidance Model

Of key relevance to the current thesis, Goubert and Simons (2013) have outlined the Interpersonal Fear Avoidance Model (IFAM) of pain in children and young people, which incorporates additional family systems factors. Parents play an important role in shaping their child's experience of pain; the IFAM is an extended Fear-Avoidance model that includes parent cognitive, affective, and behavioural factors, which are widely theorised to impact child pain and disability outcomes.

The IFAM is depicted in Figure 2. In the centre of the model is the FA cycle experienced by a child or young person; this is an adaption of the vicious cycle described in the model by Vlaeyen and Linton (2000). Around the outer edge of the IFAM are the parents' perceptions of their child's pain, as well as impacts of a child's pain on parents, where the direction of the arrows shows where these impacts on parents' feedback into the child's FA cycle. For example, child pain catastrophizing is interpreted through both a child's pain expression and through a parent's own lens of catastrophic thinking. Parental pain catastrophizing can then lead to fear, and thereby result in protective behaviours towards the child. Protectiveness may then potentially lead to greater functional disability if this limits the child's activities. Parents are also prone to getting caught in their own cycle of avoidance and activity restriction, as a consequence of their child's chronic pain (Simons, 2016).

Chapter 3: Theoretical Frameworks



Figure 2. The Interpersonal Fear-Avoidance Model of Paediatric Chronic Pain (Goubert & Simons, 2013)

A recent longitudinal examination of the IFAM (Neville, Kopala-Sibley, et al., 2021) has also investigated the roles of parent and child intolerance to uncertainty as factors in the model. Intolerance to uncertainty (parent and child) was found to contribute to increased pain interference (increased child disability/ declines in child functioning) via parent protectiveness, and the child's pain catastrophising and pain-related fears.

3.1.3 The developmental model of family and parent influences

A developmental model conceptualising family and parent influences on paediatric chronic pain and disability has also been outlined (Palermo et al., 2014). In this conceptualisation, developmental factors involved a child's perception and response to pain (physiological, psychological, social, and emotional changes) have a bi-directional impact on both familylevel functioning, and parent-level functioning. Interruptions to family functioning are also theorised to have a bi-directional impact on the functional disability of parents (Palermo et

Chapter 3: Theoretical Frameworks

al., 2014). As such, the parents' emotions and behaviours can impact both family-level and child-level functioning. In this model, changes to the developmental goals of the child can change the goals of the family system. In particular, the transition to independence that occurs during adolescence is often delayed in chronic pain (Rosenbloom et al., 2017), thereby impacting the functioning of the family as a unit. For example, research on sickle-cell disease has indicated that parents tend to play a significant role in managing their child's healthcare into young adulthood (Oliver-Carpenter et al., 2011). This developmental conceptualisation of chronic pain is supported by a systematic review, which found that adolescents with chronic pain have poorer family functioning was indicated by less cohesion, less organisation and more intra-family conflict (Lewandowski et al., 2010). This developmental model reveals complex cycle of impact that often begins with pain, where many types of chronic pain conditions tend to cluster in families (Palermo et al., 2014).

Indeed, both the developmental model and the IFAM overlap substantially with Family Systems Theory, which stipulates that families are an interactive collection of subsystems; changes in one subsystem influence changes in all others (Guite et al., 2018; Kazak, 1989). The concept of 'chronic pain contagion' in family units, as outlined by Simons et al. (2016), also compliments developmental models that consider the family-level factors involved in chronic pain. At first glance a biological concept, chronic pain contagion argues that chronic pain in children can result in brain circuit changes, leading to stressful parent-child interactions or suffering that is jointly experienced. These continuous stressful interactions result in deviations to the parent's neural processes, which are then reflected by physiological, behavioural, and emotional changes in the caregiver. The concept of chronic pain contagion is particularly useful in explaining changes in parental behaviours and functioning, which occur initially as an empathetic response to their child's pain.

3.2 The biopsychosocial approach

Practices in child and adolescent chronic pain are centred around the biopsychosocial model of health and illness (Engel, 1977), which marked a shift in healthcare practices away from a purely medical model of health. Historically, medical models have had the tendency to dichotomise chronic pain as being of either functional or physical origin; this is unhelpful as categorising pain as biological in this way may result in a treatment plan which is unimodal and will likely be unsuccessful (Liossi & Howard, 2016). The biopsychosocial approach conceptualises that a complex interaction of biological (nociceptive), affective (emotional), sociocultural, behavioural, and cognitive factors shape an individual's pain perception. This model is particularly useful when considering chronic pain, as emerging research indicates that our experiences of social pain (for example alienation, rejection or bullying) are underpinned by neurobiological substrates which overlap with the same substrates that underlie physical pain (Eisenberger, 2012). Hence, biological, social and affective factors are intertwined to shape our experience of pain, and chronic pain of any aetiology should not be considered as a purely physiological or psychological phenomenon (Liossi & Howard, 2016).

3.2.1 Biological domain

3.2.1.1 Pain neuroscience

Nociception refers to the biological nature of the sensory nervous system's response to harmful stimuli; whether this be due to injury, illness, or a treatment or procedure that has the potential to harm the body. When sensory nerve cells ('nociceptors') are stimulated, they produce neurochemical signals that relay information to the brain, triggering physiological and behavioural responses which, in combination, create an acute (short-term) pain response.

However, in cases of chronic pain this usually acute response to harmful stimuli becomes persistent. Indeed, IASP have noted in recent definition of pain that nociception and pain are not the same phenomena (IASP, 2020). Research has shown that the development and maintenance of chronic pain involves long-term changes in multiple central and peripheral neural networks, creating a complex interaction in which the pain neuromatrix or 'pain matrix' brain network (Melzack, 1999) is accessed during nociceptive processing. This is, however, far from a single centre of pain. A meta-analysis of neuroimaging data collected during acute pain experiences has shown the pain response involves widespread activation of multiple cortical and subcortical regions, including the thalamus, insular and prefrontal cortices (Apkarian et al., 2005). Other areas are also involved, and exactly which areas are active depends on other interacting factors that shape the pain experience, such as cognition and mood. Conceptually, this can be envisioned as a pain signature that is entirely unique to an individual person at a particular moment in time (Tracey & Mantyh, 2007; Liossi & Howard, 2016).

Across chronic pain conditions, the brain regions that are engaged during emotional states tend to become more involved in processing pain as chronicity increases (e.g., Hashmi et al., 2013). These regions differ from those that are usually involved in processing the sensory component of pain. It is thought that this is related to cognitive and emotional problems commonly experienced in chronic pain (Liossi & Howard, 2016), which are described in subsequent sections of the current chapter. The developmental changes that occur during adolescence and the impact these changes have on cognitive-affective processes relating to chronic pain are outlined in section 1.3.1.

3.2.1.2 Biological factors

Other elements of an individual's medical history may influence the onset and maintenance of chronic pain. These include medications and past treatments, genetic predisposing factors such as joint hypermobility, posture and muscle strength, inflammatory disease markers, among other factors that can vary drastically between individuals (Liossi & Howard, 2016).

Arguably, one of the most important contributing factors to chronic pain is sleep. There is a growing body of evidence to support the link between sleep disorders and physical, psychological and social development (Roberts et al., 2001; Roberts et al., 2002), including the development of mood disorders (Kanstrup et al., 2014) and increased disability in adolescents with chronic pain (Palermo et al., 2008). Pain can directly affect sleep by prolonging onset and interrupting sleep states, where pain (headache) intensity has been positively correlated with sleep disturbances in children and adolescents (Miller et al., 2003; Gilman et al., 2007). Bi-directionally, it has been found that sleep deprivation produces hyperalgesia (Kundermann et al., 2004), though such findings have only been seen in healthy adults. There is also a complex interaction between sleep, pain, and mood. One study of children aged 7 to 17-years found that negative affect partially mediates the relationship between poor sleep quality and increased pain, and poor sleep quality and functional disability (Evans et al., 2017).

3.2.2 Psychological domain

Many of the psychological factors involved in paediatric chronic pain maintenance have already been discussed in the previous section on The Fear-Avoidance model of pain (section 3.1.1), including cognitive factors such as attention and interpretation biases, and catastrophizing (Lau et al., 2018). The following sections primarily discuss the relationship between chronic pain and mood disorders in young people, and further explain the specific cognitions involved in chronic pain.

3.2.2.1 Mood disorders and emotional functioning

High comorbidity of anxiety and depression is seen in various types of paediatric chronic pain. The prevalence of co-occurring mental health disorders (including anxiety, depression, behaviour disorders, substance use disorders, and eating disorders) in adolescents with chronic pain has been found to be as high as 26% in a large US national cohort study (Tegethoff et al., 2015). There is also a shared neurobiology between chronic pain and mental health conditions, which may partially explain high comorbidity (Vinall et al., 2016)

In a large sample of children and adolescents attending a multidisciplinary pain clinic, approximately 11% were found to have clinically significant anxiety. Anxiety symptom scores were elevated within several dimensions, where 27% of the sample reported clinically significant physiological anxiety, 15% reported clinically significant worrying and 14% reported clinically significant social anxiety (Simons et al., 2012). This study also found anxiety to be associated with increased functional disability in paediatric chronic pain patients. A similar study that investigated children and adolescents recruited from an interdisciplinary chronic pain clinic found that 31% of young people met the clinical criteria for diagnosis of an anxiety disorder, with females reporting higher anxiety than males overall (Tran et al., 2016). Further research using semi-structured diagnostic interviews has indicated that more than 80% of chronic pain patients meet criteria for an anxiety disorder (Liakopoulou-Kairis et al., 2002; Jastrowski Mano, 2017).

Other research has shown that there are significant differences in anxiety and depressive symptoms (emotional functioning) between sub-groups of paediatric pain patients. One study investigating young people with juvenile fibromyalgia versus chronic migraine using the PedsQL[™] found that juvenile fibromyalgia patients had significantly higher symptoms of both depression and anxiety, whereas young people with chronic migraines had better emotional functioning, but experienced decreased school functioning (Kashikar-Zuck et al., 2013). Review of school-related anxiety in paediatric chronic pain further highlights that roughly a third of patients show anxiety-related school avoidance (Khan et al., 2015) and that absenteeism is particularly high compared to young people with other chronic health conditions (Palermo, 2000). More generally, anxiety is a predictor of difficulties with concentration and keeping up at school, hence it is unsurprising that comorbid anxiety and paediatric chronic pain create a high-risk for impaired school functioning (Jastrowski Mano, 2017).

Earlier research on paediatric chronic headaches has noted sex differences in the relationship between mood disorders and chronic pain, where girls with depression and

anxiety disorders were found to have a greater prevalence of headaches, compared to girls who were not diagnosed with a mood disorder. In boys, the presence of conduct disorder (antisocial behaviour) was significantly associated with higher headache prevalence, however there were no significant associations found between headaches and mood disorders (Egger et al., 1998).

The relationship between chronic pain and mood disorders in young people does not imply that mental health diagnoses cause chronic pain or vice versa; mood and pain influence each other bi-directionally. However, a national study of chronic pain and comorbid mental disorders and adolescent pain (Tegethoff et al., 2015) showed that, chronologically, mental health disorders tended to precede the onset of chronic pain, and specifically affective disorders were predictive of any type of chronic pain or headache.

3.2.2.2 Cognitions

Cognitions that are essential to the assessment and treatment of chronic pain include pain catastrophizing and pain-related coping (Liossi & Howard, 2016). Pain catastrophizing is characterised by rumination about pain, negatively-biased thoughts, and magnification of problems, where presentations of catastrophizing are usually situation-dependent (Sullivan et al., 2001). Catastrophizing in children has been found to be distinct to anxiety (Tran et al., 2015), and is a strong predictor of pain and functional disability in paediatric chronic pain. CBT is an effective treatment for childhood and adolescent anxiety disorders (Fisher et al., 2014; James et al., 2015); hence, using CBT techniques to reduce anxiety may provoke the additional benefit of reduced catastrophizing, resulting in reduced pain. CBT can also be used to directly address pain catastrophizing in children and adolescents.

Improving coping skills is a key focus of psychological treatment for paediatric chronic pain (Liossi & Howard, 2016), and teaching coping skills falls within the remit of CBT. Employing multi-component CBT techniques (see Ehde et al., 2014) represents a form of secondary control coping i.e., making a purposeful effort to self-regulate when under stress (Skinner et al., 2003). ACT and distraction techniques can also be useful for improving secondary control coping. Secondary control coping strategies are associated with an overall reduction in affective symptoms and physiological complaints in children with chronic pain (Dufton et al., 2011), comparably to using primary control coping strategies such as isolating and catastrophizing.

3.2.3 Social domain

Psychological and social factors are often inseparable in the biopsychosocial formulation of complex conditions such as chronic pain. Family and parent factors in relation to their child's chronic pain are re-visited in this section, and the impact of adverse childhood experiences is discussed in relation to chronic pain onset. Lastly, the nature of interpersonal and peer relationships in chronic pain, and how young people with pain process social interactions is discussed.

Family and parent influences contributing the onset and maintenance of chronic pain have been explained using The Interpersonal Fear-Avoidance Model (IFAM) (section 3.1.2) (Goubert & Simons, 2013), and the developmental model of chronic pain (section 3.1.3) (Palermo et al., 2014). Both of the aforementioned models can be related back to Family Systems Theory, such that when a young person experiences chronic pain, there are consequences for the whole family unit (Kazak, 1989). The impact of a child or adolescents' chronic pain within their family unit is often reflected in the mental health of their parents, as they report suffering higher levels of anxiety and depression compared to parents of healthy children (Palermo & Eccleston, 2009). There is also some evidence that chronic pain is more common in children whose parents have chronic pain. One study, conducted with data from 5370 adolescents and young adults, found increased odds of adolescent nonspecific and multi-site chronic pain when both parents reported chronic pain (Hoftun et al., 2013). Together, these findings show the bi-directional impact of chronic pain between children and parents within family units.

Adverse childhood experiences, or cumulative trauma throughout childhood and adolescence, can influence the development of chronic pain and associated mood disorders (Vinall et al., 2016). Research has found that young people with chronic pain reported cumulatively more stressful life events than pain-free peers, and this was associated with elevated symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Noel et al., 2016). In this cohort, increased PTSD symptoms were common and negatively impacted functional disability. Other research has found specific childhood adverse events (abuse, parental psychopathology, and early parental loss) to be significantly associated with the development of painful medical conditions (Sachs-Ericsson et al., 2017). Low-level anxiety and mood disorders partially moderated the relationship between adverse childhood events and painful conditions. Such research shows the clear overlap between social contextual factors and psychological factors in young people with chronic pain.

Chapter 3: Theoretical Frameworks

Many young people with chronic pain struggle with social interactions and feel misunderstood by others in their social world. As well as their parents/caregivers, this includes their friends and classmates. A systematic review of social functioning in children and adolescents with chronic pain (Forgeron et al., 2010) found that adolescents with chronic pain (Forgeron et al., 2010) found that adolescents with chronic pain were reported to have fewer friends, were perceived as less likeable and more isolated, and were subjected to more peer victimisation compared to healthy peers. More recent research examining peer victimisation in adolescents with chronic pain found that daily peer victimisation had a negative impact on next-day activity limitations, which was mediated by negative mood (Fales et al., 2019). This research clearly shows the link between psychological and social factors in chronic pain maintenance.

Regarding social information processing in adolescents with chronic pain, research has found that adolescents with chronic pain are more likely to interpret non-supportive social interactions with close friends as more distressing, compared to peers without pain. Further, they tend to endorse supportive friendship interactions, and are likely to expect social support from friends (Forgeron et al., 2011). Considering adolescents' perspectives on social interactions, a qualitative synthesis of interpersonal relationships in adolescent chronic pain found discrepancies between adolescents' and others' perception of the impact of pain on daily life (Jordan et al., 2017). Although the impact of chronic pain on relationships was largely unfavourable, some relationships were strengthened through overcoming challenges associated with living with chronic pain. Future research on specific factors that reduce or enhance interpersonal relationships in young people with chronic pain is warranted.

To complete this section on social and psychosocial factors that contribute to chronic pain in young people, it is important to recognise that an important part of adolescents' social world is social media and the internet. Young people of generation Y (born after 1981) have been termed 'digital natives' (Bolton et al., 2013), and indeed generation Z (born after 1995) use the internet more than any generation before (Ofcom, 2019, 2020). Very little is known about interactions between young people with pain on social media, though there has been agreement between academics that research with young people often misses out this important aspect of their daily lives (Caes, Jones, et al., 2018). The current thesis addresses this in Paper 3 (Chapter 6) which seeks to contribute to knowledge on internet use for chronic pain and pain management information-seeking in young people.
3.3 Summary

First, this chapter discussed the FA and IFAM models, which relate to chronic pain onset and maintenance. The explanation of these models has focused on their application to chronic pain in children and adolescents, where the IFAM, as well as the developmental model, are of particular relevance in paediatric chronic pain research. Second, this chapter provided an overview of the biopsychosocial approach to chronic pain assessment and management. The biological domain discussed the neuroscience of pain and chronic pain, as well as biological factors that should be considered when working with young people with chronic pain. The psychological domain provided an explanation of comorbid mood disorders commonly seen in young people with chronic pain, outlined cognitions that are likely to be present, and how these cognitions might be addressed in practice. The social domain described family and parent influences in chronic pain with reference to Family Systems Theory. The impact of adverse childhood experiences and the nature of interpersonal relationships in young people with chronic pain was also discussed. Internet use was additionally highlighted as an important part of psychosocial context for chronic pain management in young people.

Chapter 4 Online multidisciplinary interventions for paediatric chronic pain: a content analysis

This study was published 'Online Open' in the European Journal of Pain in 2021.

https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.18271

Hurley-Wallace, A. L.¹, Nowotny, E.², Schoth D. E.¹, & Liossi, C.¹²

¹Pain Research Laboratory, School of Psychology, University of Southampton, Highfield, Southampton, UK; ² Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK.

Corresponding author: Ms. Anna Hurley-Wallace

Manuscript category: original manuscript

Funding: This work was supported by a University of Southampton Jubilee +3 PhD Scholarship awarded to Ms. Hurley-Wallace.

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Significance: This content analysis of online interventions for paediatric chronic pain highlights the need for multidisciplinary practices in pain management to be translated into online interventions. Improving the availability of pain management resources is essential for many families who cannot attend specialist pain clinics, particularly in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. There is potential for new resources, as well as for established resources, to be further developed to deliver a broader range of pain management content.

¹ Supplementary tables (tableS1, S2, S3, S4 and S5) for this manuscript (Chapter 3) are provided in Volume 2 of this thesis.

Abstract

Background: Many online interventions for paediatric chronic pain have been developed and evaluated. In accordance with the biopsychosocial model, the recommended treatment approach for chronic pain is multidisciplinary. Despite this, multidisciplinary components within existing online interventions have not been examined. The objective of the present review was to summarise and evaluate the content of existing online interventions for paediatric chronic pain by mapping intervention content to evidence-based guidelines for chronic pain management.

Methods: Interventions were identified using an updated systematic review. Nine chronic pain management strategies that reflect evidence-based guidance for multidisciplinary chronic pain management were defined by the authors, examples of which include 'pain education', 'activity pacing' and 'physiotherapy'. Identified interventions were then coded against the target strategies. These codes were compiled descriptively to provide an overview of how well each chronic pain management strategies.

Results: Thirty-five articles, relating to 13 unique interventions for paediatric chronic pain management were identified; few encompassed a complete multidisciplinary approach. Many CBT-based interventions included multidisciplinary elements. Across interventions, physiotherapy and non-pharmacological physical therapies were the least represented chronic pain management strategies.

Conclusions: The content analysis revealed a lack of online interventions encompassing complete multidisciplinary pain management. It is important that new interventions for paediatric chronic pain management are evidence-based and reflect current best practice guidelines. Established intervention development approaches should be utilised and include a process evaluation to help identify which intervention components are effective in which contexts.

4.1 Background

Paediatric chronic pain is prevalent (King et al., 2011; Gobina et al., 2019). As understanding of chronic pain has shifted to a biopsychosocial model, the recommended assessment and management approach is multidisciplinary, with equal focus on biological, psychological and social factors (Liossi & Howard, 2016; World Health Organization, 2020). Intensive interdisciplinary treatment, where clinicians from multiple disciplines work collaboratively towards the same biopsychosocial treatment goals (IASP, 2018a), can significantly improve functional disability (Harrison et al., 2019). Indeed, multidisciplinary treatment for chronic pain aims to improve the quality of life of children and adolescents by attending to all aspects of their development and wellbeing (World Health Organization, 2020). Many multidisciplinary interventions have been developed and evaluated. However, multidisciplinary components within online interventions have not been examined.

Systematic reviews have investigated face-to-face interventions for paediatric chronic pain combining at least two (Liossi et al., 2019) or three disciplines (Hechler et al., 2015). Randomised controlled trials (RCTs) of intensive interventions including three or more disciplines found large improvements in pain intensity, and disability, at 3-month follow-up (Hechler et al., 2015). Interventions including two or more disciplines showed significant improvements pre to post-intervention for pain intensity and functional disability (Liossi et al., 2019). Despite benefits of face-to-face interventions, there are barriers to attending pain services for children and parents, including school absence and financial costs of travel (Bender et al., 2011; Caes, Fisher, et al., 2018). One solution is to provide online interventions.

The efficacy of online psychological approaches to paediatric chronic pain management has been investigated (Fisher et al., 2019). This systematic review found 10 studies, which were split into mixed chronic pain and headache. No beneficial effects were found post-treatment for mixed pain and there was a lack of follow-up data. For headache, there was a significant reduction in headache severity at post-treatment only. Authors highlighted findings were likely due to low quality evidence (Fisher et al., 2019). Another systematic review of the availability of 'e-health tools' for paediatric pain, including pain assessment tools and online/ digital pain management interventions (Higgins et al., 2018) identified 53 tools, including 26 tools for chronic pain. Thirteen tools out of 53 were available to patients, with barriers including time and funding. Despite this, a survey of adolescents and parents indicated that new, accessible online pain management interventions would be welcomed (Hurley-Wallace et al., 2020).

Internet use has rapidly increased over the past several years, especially since the introduction of smartphones in 2009/ 2010 (Ofcom, 2017b). Recent statistics indicate that 93% of 8 to 11-year-olds go online for more than 13-hours a week, and 99% of 12 to 15-year-olds for more than 20-hours (Ofcom, 2019). Expert opinion recently highlighted the expansion of digital healthcare in paediatric chronic pain, with emerging interest in mobile health (Richardson et al., 2020). Therefore, it is important that available online resources for paediatric chronic pain reflect evidence-based pain management practices, with the aim to encompass current best practice recommendations for multidisciplinary chronic pain management in children (World Health Organization, 2020). The current study evaluates which existing interventions reflect multidisciplinary chronic pain management strategies, with a focus on individual multidisciplinary components, which has not previously been investigated. Recommendations for the improvement and expansion of online pain management interventions are provided based on the findings of the current study. Such recommendations are timely given the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, where online resources have become integral to chronic pain management (Eccleston et al., 2020).

This study aimed to 1) identify which multidisciplinary chronic pain management strategies are reflected within the content of existing online multidisciplinary interventions for paediatric chronic pain management, 2) map the content of existing online interventions for paediatric chronic pain to evidence-based clinical guidelines for multidisciplinary pain management, and evaluate how well each chronic pain management strategy is addressed by the identified interventions, 3) summarise and evaluate the development approaches used by the identified interventions, and provide practical recommendations for current and future intervention development teams.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Search strategy

A previous systematic review of e-health tools for paediatric pain (Higgins et al., 2018) was updated for the period 3rd May 2017 to 1st April 2020, using the same search terms and databases (tableS5). Additional inclusion and exclusion criteria were added in-line with the aims of the current study. The systematic review by Higgins et al. (2018) reviewed e-health tools for paediatric pain assessment and/or management and paired this with a survey completed by the authors of the identified tools, regarding the availability of each tool. As the current study investigated pain management interventions only, the inclusion and exclusion

criteria were adjusted accordingly to exclude pain assessment tools. The previous review chose to use a 10-year timeline, given rapid changes in technology outlined above. Hence, the current study updated the search from the time-point selected by the previous review, in-line with this rationale.

4.2.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria were: 1) the article described an empirical study, written in English and published from 1st January 2007 to 1st April 2020, 2) the article described the development of an online intervention for paediatric chronic pain management*, and/ or evaluated its use in the target population, 3) the intervention was studied in children and adolescents aged 0 to 18-years (sample median age less than 19-years), or their parents/ caregivers, 4) interventions were intended for the management of chronic pain lasting three-months or longer, 5) interventions either contained content from two or more disciplines or contained multi-component CBT.

Exclusion criteria were: 1) interventions were intended for pain assessment, 2) interventions were intended for the management of acute pain only, 3) interventions were targeted for use by adults, aged 19-years or over, that were not parents/ guardians of children with chronic pain, 4) interventions did not have set content (e.g., peer support platforms).

*A chronic pain management intervention was defined as any form of intervention which targeted a chronic pain condition, as listed in the ICD-11 (Treede et al., 2019; Treede et al., 2015), with the aim to reduce pain intensity or improve pain-related functional disability.

4.2.3 Accessibility

All authors/ intervention owners of identified interventions were contacted via email to request access to the intervention online on 25th March 2019. Authors were sent an additional reminder 2-weeks later, on 8th April 2019. Where access was not provided to online content, intervention content was evaluated based on descriptions from available published works.

4.2.4 Quality Assessment

Interventions were assessed for descriptive report and evaluation quality using the Criteria for Reporting the Development and Evaluation of Complex Interventions in healthcare, revised (CReDECI2) (Möhler et al., 2015). The CReDECI2 contains 13-items pertaining to

the quality of reporting for development (4-items), feasibility (1-item), and evaluation (8items) stages of the research, with reference to any published article that has described, developed, or evaluated the intervention in question. The checklist is completed by adding a reference example next to each item, indicating the publication(s) and/ or page number(s) where an example of each criterion can be found. The full checklist of items is provided in tableS3.

4.2.5 Content analysis: development of target strategies

The target chronic pain management strategies used in the content analysis were developed by the research team, drawing from the treatment guidelines for paediatric pain management in the UK, as outlined by the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (RCPCH, 2018) and guided by clinical expertise from two paediatric pain psychologists in the research team (CL and EN). The RCPCH course is one of only two resources that adopts a biopsychosocial approach to chronic pain management and is freely available to professionals (Hurley-Wallace, Wood, et al., 2018). A biopsychosocial approach to the management of chronic pain in children is the recommended best practice. Any combination of physical, psychological, or pharmacological interventions should be tailored to the individual child and their family, rather than to the pain type (World Health Organization, 2020). The selected guideline from the RCPCH is a clinician-directed e-learning course entitled 'Pain Management' (https://rcpch.learningpool.com). The alternative resource is the Canadian online paediatric pain curriculum (SickKids, 2019), which includes similar topics, with the addition of pain in paediatric palliative care and ethical considerations for children with pain (https://www.sickkids.ca/en/care-services/centres/pain-centre/#oppc).

The RCPCH course is selected to guide the target strategies for this content analysis as it covers a wider range of specific psychological and physical therapies and has a stronger focus on chronic pain, compared to the Canadian resource. In the RCPCH course, chronic pain management strategies are outlined broadly under 'psychological and physical therapies' (Liossi et al., 2015), and 'pharmacology and prescribing' (Zarnegar et al., 2015) in modules four and five of the 'Pain Management' course, respectively. A full breakdown of the course modules is outlined in Box 1 of the report by Hurley-Wallace, Wood, et al. (2018).

An advantage of drawing from the RCPCH course is that analyses can be used to investigate whether evidence-based chronic pain management strategies, outlined in clinician-directed courses, are mirrored in online patient-directed interventions. This represents an assessment of knowledge translation from research to practice (Scott et al., 2012), as the clinician-directed course is based on research evidence and established theoretical frameworks in paediatric chronic pain management.

4.2.6 Target chronic pain management strategies

Interventions were coded for nine target chronic pain management strategies, as follows:

- 1. Pain education, including psycho-education
- 2. Goal-setting, including SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, realistic, and timed) goals
- 3. Sleep hygiene (or sleep routine)
- 4. School support
- 5. Multi-component CBT
- 6. Activity pacing, including e-diaries and symptom tracking
- 7. Physiotherapy
- 8. Non-pharmacological physical therapies e.g., massage, desensitisation, TENS (transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation), thermal analgesia
- 9. Medications (evidence-based pharmacological advice or advice from clinician)

4.2.7 Analytic approach

The current study utilised a similar approach to a recent content analysis of pain neuroscience education on YouTube (Heathcote et al., 2019). In this study, each chronic pain management strategy was evaluated for each intervention. To evaluate how well each pain management strategy was represented, content codes were assigned ordinal ratings (0 = 'no, this strategy is absent', 1 = 'yes, this strategy is vaguely represented', 2= 'yes, this strategy is clearly represented'). Coding was performed by two separate individuals, using a spreadsheet (Microsoft Excel), which was pre-piloted by the research team. The two coders included one PhD student specialising in chronic pain research (AHW) and one clinical psychologist specialising in paediatric chronic pain management (EN).

There was a possibility for a total of 117 matched codes for all nine chronic pain management strategies across 13 interventions. Raw scores from the coders resulted in 107 matched codes; a high level of agreement was present between the two raters (K = 0.86). As the level of agreement was high, all discrepancies (n = 10) were discussed between the two coders to reach 100% consensus. This data was then analysed by i) providing a descriptive summary of all the final agreed codes as an overview of representation across the dataset, and ii) graphically presenting the number of interventions that addressed each strategy 'clearly'.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Included studies

Ninety records cited by the previous review of e-health tools (Higgins et al., 2018) were screened for inclusion/ exclusion by AHW. From the previous review, 26 articles were included in the current study. 666 new records were identified through electronic database searching, covering the review update period 3rd May 2017 to 1st April 2020, and by hand-searching reference lists of records identified through database searching. New records were screened for inclusion/ exclusion by AHW, and full-texts were then assessed for eligibility by AHW and DS. Nine new articles were identified in the review update, resulting in a total of 35 included articles, relating to 13 unique interventions.

All included articles are summarised within the evaluation of intervention development approaches and efficacy (tableS2). Only one new intervention was identified (Cunningham et al., 2018), where 12 out of 13 interventions were identified in the previous version of the review. A PRISMA flow diagram of the updated review is provided in Figure 3 (Stovold et al., 2014).



Figure 3. PRISMA flow diagram of the updated systematic review.

4.3.2 Summary of identified interventions

Thirteen unique interventions met the eligibility criteria for this content analysis. The content of each of the interventions, including the number of modules, the structure of the intervention, overall duration, appearance, and mode of delivery, including human support offered (if any) is outlined in tableS1. The primary study reference for the intervention description and hyperlink to the study is also included, where available.

Four of the interventions found were developed in the United States (Palermo et al., 2016; Cunningham et al., 2018; Donovan et al., 2013; McCormick et al., 2010). Two interventions were from Canada (Stinson et al., 2010b; Stinson et al., 2014). Two were from Sweden (Lalouni et al., 2017; Flink et al., 2016), and two were from The Netherlands (Voerman et al., 2015; Armbrust et al., 2015). The remaining interventions were developed in Spain (Nieto et al., 2015), Germany (Trautmann & Kröner-Herwig, 2010), and Taiwan (Yeh et al., 2013).

A variety of chronic pain conditions were addressed in these interventions; mixed chronic pain was addressed by four interventions (Voerman et al., 2015; Flink et al., 2016; Stinson et al., 2014; Palermo et al., 2016). One intervention was aimed at recurrent headache (Trautmann & Kröner-Herwig, 2010), and one at migraines (Donovan et al., 2013). Two interventions focused on juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) (Stinson et al., 2010b; Armbrust et al., 2015). Two interventions addressed functional abdominal pain (Cunningham et al., 2018; Nieto et al., 2015), one targeted pain associated with gastrointestinal disorders (Lalouni et al., 2017), one intervention looked specifically at irritable bowel disease (McCormick et al., 2010), and one intervention was aimed at dysmenorrhea (Yeh et al., 2013).

4.3.2.1 Accessibility

Eight authors (62%) responded to the request for access; online access was granted by four authors, and additional transcripts and information were provided by two of these authors. Two authors advised that the best description of the intervention in English was provided in the article already found, and one author could not allow access outside of the research team. One author responded advising that the website had been decommissioned. Two authors were uncontactable (email address not recognised) and the remaining three authors did not respond.

4.3.2.2 Quality assessment

CReDECI2 checklists for all interventions that were included in the content analysis are available (tableS3), and a colour scale visualisation is provided (tableS4). Overall, the

assessments of reporting quality indicated that 11 out of 13 (85%) of the interventions had been evaluated in either a pilot or large-scale RCT (tableS2). Though almost every article mentioned that online interventions can be cost-effective, only one intervention (no specific name) (Lalouni et al., 2017) presented a breakdown of financial costs for personnel, materials, or other development costs. This intervention, which targeted different types of abdominal pain, was evaluated for cost-effectiveness using healthcare cost estimates in US dollars within two separate trials (Sampaio et al., 2019; Lalouni et al., 2019). Only one intervention underwent a process evaluation (Murray, de la Vega, et al., 2019) according to available published works, though many captured usability data.

The content of each of the interventions, including the number of modules, the structure of the intervention, overall duration, appearance, and mode of delivery, including human support offered (if any) is outlined in tableS1. The primary study reference for the intervention description and hyperlink to the study is also included, where available.

4.3.3 Intervention development and evaluations of efficacy

Details of the development process for each intervention, including the development approach and theoretical frameworks used, any professional input, development team details, and details of user-feedback are outlined in tableS2. This table includes 35 studies that report on the development or evaluate the efficacy of the 13 included interventions.

4.3.3.1 Theoretical frameworks

Most of the interventions included in the content analysis did not reference theoretical frameworks explicitly; however, many did include components pertaining to well-known frameworks. Eleven (85%) of the identified interventions used multimodal CBT, including elements of mindfulness (tableS2). The internet intervention for functional gastrointestinal disorders (Bonnert et al., 2014; Bonnert et al., 2016; Lalouni et al., 2017), used CBT and mindfulness, with the addition of exposure-based therapy techniques, and behavioural analysis using an Antecedent-Behaviour-Consequence model, which was specific to the intervention (see Bonnert et al., 2014). The Health Promotion Model (Srof & Velsor-Friedrich, 2006), stemming from Social Cognitive Theory (Bandura, 1977), were referenced to support the use of CBT within the Rheumates@Work intervention (Lelieveld et al., 2010; Armbrust et al., 2015). Notably, iCanCope™ was the only intervention that presented a 'theoretical rationale' section distinctly in published works (Stinson et al., 2014). Both iCanCope™ and Web-MAP referenced CBT in combination with Social Learning Theory, which can be

theoretically related to children's pain behaviours as a result of parent behavioural modelling (Palermo et al., 2014; Palermo et al., 2016; Stinson et al., 2014). Web-MAP also mentioned integration of Family Systems Theory from the second iteration (Web-MAP2), which a well-known theory that can be used to explain pain-focused family patterns of behaviour (Lewandowski et al., 2007).

4.3.3.2 Development approaches

Only one intervention referenced an established development approach (O'Cathain et al., 2019); this was the user-centred design approach, outlined in the development study for iCanCope with Pain[™] (Stinson et al., 2014). This intervention was developed with input from focus groups with adolescents and health care professionals, followed by individual interviews with adolescents. Within the same research group, 'Teens Taking Charge' adopted an iterative qualitative approach to development by using a mixture of individual interviews (Stinson et al., 2008) and think-aloud interviews with adolescents in separate studies (Stinson et al., 2010a). However, no specific approach was referenced for 'Teens Taking Charge'.

4.3.3.3 Evaluations of efficacy

The current study focuses on evaluating the content of online interventions for paediatric chronic pain, and the development approaches used. Meta-analytic reviews of the efficacy of psychological approaches to online paediatric chronic pain management (Fisher et al., 2019), and in-person interdisciplinary interventions (Hechler et al., 2015; Liossi et al., 2019) have been published elsewhere. Efficacy evaluations, however, remain an important part of developing complex health interventions (final stage of development), according to Medical Research Council (MRC) guidance (O'Cathain et al., 2019). A summary of evaluation studies for the two most rigorously trialled interventions identified in the current study is included below.

The intervention which has undergone the most rigorous testing in terms of randomised controlled trials (RCTs) is Web-MAP2, which is a multimodal CBT-based online intervention. The earliest RCT evaluated the first iteration of the intervention (Web-MAP) (Palermo et al., 2009). The latest iteration, Web-MAP2, was first mentioned in published work referencing an ongoing multicentre RCT (Palermo et al., 2015). The multicentre RCT of Web-MAP2 used a parallel-groups design, in which one group received the Web-MAP2 intervention, and the other received internet-delivered education (Palermo et al., 2016). Findings from 273 adolescents aged 11 to 17 years produced a number of beneficial effects, including a

significantly improved functional disability from baseline to 6-month follow-up for the Web-MAP2 treatment group, comparatively to internet education. There were also significant improvements in sleep outcomes, and significant reductions in parent miscarried and parental protective behaviours for the Web-MAP2 group. Overall findings indicated a high level of efficacy. Several secondary analyses of the data from the main Web-MAP2 trial have been conducted (Law et al., 2018; Murray, de la Vega, et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2019).

Teens Taking Charge, an online intervention for managing JIA, has also undergone rigorous trialling. An initial pilot RCT of 'Teens Taking Charge' found significantly better post-treatment outcomes in the experimental group, who received an internet-based intervention for JIA (Stinson et al., 2010b). The experimental group had a lower average weekly pain intensity, however there were no significant differences between-groups for functional disability, self-efficacy, adherence, or stress in the internet intervention group compared to the control group, who had received a telephone-delivered attention control intervention. This intervention has since been evaluated in a multisite RCT, comparing the self-management program with an online education-only program over 12-weeks (Connelly et al., 2019). The main outcomes for the study were pain intensity, pain interference and functional disability, and outcomes were also assessed at 6-month and 12-month follow-up. Participants in both groups showed small, yet significant improvement in the main outcomes, with no significant between-group differences. Predictors of pain and functioning were also analysed, finding that self-efficacy, disease knowledge, anxiety and depression were significant predictors for both groups.

Other trials include iCanCope with Pain[™], which targets mixed chronic pain, and has been tested in a parallel groups RCT. Only the mobile symptom-tracking app was investigated (Lalloo et al., 2019), finding that pain-related variables were stable over time (55 days) and adherence to symptom-tracking was moderate-high. The 'Move It Now' self-management intervention for adolescents with mixed chronic pain (Voerman et al., 2015) found pain intensity, general behaviour, mental health, family activities all significantly improved during the intervention; this investigation was intended to be an RCT however the design was altered to within-participants due to high attrition rates. The only study included in the content analysis that investigated dysmenorrhea undertook a non-randomised controlled trial to investigate the effectiveness of auricular acupressure combined with internet interactive instruction (Yeh et al., 2013). This study found that the internet intervention with auricular acupressure was significantly better at improving pain and menstrual distress post-intervention compared to acupressure alone.

4.4 Content Analysis

A compilation of all the content codes is presented in Figure 4. Final agreed scores from the two coders are available in Figure 6. Across all the interventions and chronic pain management strategies, 47% of the agreed codes were 'yes, clearly represented', 13% of the codes were 'yes, vaguely represented', and 40% were 'no, absent' (Figure 4). The only chronic pain management strategy that was represented ('clearly' or 'vaguely') by all of the interventions was pain education or psycho-education. The chronic pain management strategy that well represented across the interventions was physiotherapy, which was only referenced in two interventions, followed by non-pharmacological physical therapies, which was referenced in three interventions.

Figure 5 displays the number of interventions that achieved the highest possible score for each chronic pain management strategy. In these cases, an agreement was reached between the two coders that the target chronic pain management strategy was 'clearly' represented. The most 'clearly' addressed strategies were pain education and CBT; there were no codes for 'vaguely' for CBT. Physiotherapy, non-pharmacological physical therapies, and medications were the least 'clearly' represented. Medications were coded as 'vaguely' represented most frequently (five out of 13).



Figure 4. Percentage of final codes for all target chronic pain management strategies.



Figure 5. Number of interventions that 'clearly' represented each chronic pain management strategy.

All codes for all included interventions are displayed in Figure 6; all of the interventions addressed at least two chronic pain management strategies clearly. One intervention clearly represented all nine strategies; this was 'Teens Taking Charge' for adolescents with JIA (Stinson et al., 2010b). The majority of interventions (69%) represented between four and five strategies clearly in their content. The interventions that addressed five strategies clearly were Web-MAP (Palermo et al., 2016; Palermo et al., 2009), iCanCope[™](Stinson et al., 2014), the website for adolescents with migraine (Donovan et al., 2013), and Rheumates@Work (Armbrust et al., 2015; Lelieveld et al., 2010).

Chapter 4/ Paper 1

Chronic pain management strategies	1. Pain education/ psycho- education	2. SMART goals / goal-setting	3. Sleep hygiene	4. School support	5. Multi- component CBT	6. Activity pacing/ tracking	7. Physiotherapy	8. Non- pharmacological physical therapies	9. Medications (evidence - based advice)
Intervention									
ADAPT									
CBT for children with gastrointestinal disorders (no specific name)									
Customized CBT for adolescents with pain (no specific name)									
DARWeb									
Rheumates@Work									
Move It Now									
iCanCope with Pain™									
Website for dysmenorrhea (no specific name)									
Web-based skills training for adolescents with migraine (no specific name)									
Teens Taking Charge									
CBT with 6-week online skill review for IBD (no specific name)									
Self-help for paediatric recurrent headache (no specific name)									
Web-MAP/ Web-MAP2									
Coding 2. Yes, this strate Key: clearly represented	egy is 1. Ye	s, this strategy is	0. No, this	strategy is absent	t				

Figure 6. Colour scale table displaying which chronic pain management strategies were 'clearly' or 'vaguely' represented, or 'absent', for each intervention.

4.5 Discussion

The current review and content analysis found 13 online interventions for paediatric chronic pain management, with 35 studies relating to development and trialling of these interventions. The content analysis indicated that whilst many online paediatric chronic pain interventions included content from several disciplines, there were few that encompassed a complete multidisciplinary approach (IASP, 2018a; World Health Organization, 2020) to paediatric chronic pain management. There was limited translation from evidence-based clinical guidelines (RCPCH, 2018) to online chronic pain management interventions. Specifically, there was a lack of physiotherapy content within interventions reviewed, as well as non-pharmacological physical therapies. There was also a lack of content on sleep hygiene, and medications were vaguely addressed.

Chronic pain management strategies that were the most commonly represented by identified interventions were pain education and multi-modal CBT, where all interventions included pain education, and 12 out of 13 included elements of CBT. Of the interventions that were labelled as CBT-based, including Web-MAP (Palermo et al., 2009; Palermo et al., 2016) and the unnamed internet intervention for abdominal pain (Lalouni et al., 2017), several of the other multidisciplinary strategies were also covered, such as school support and goal setting (Figure 6). Hence, in terms of encompassing a biopsychosocial approach in online interventions for chronic pain, established CBT-based interventions may serve as a good base from which to expand on content to include medication and physical therapies, if appropriate. There was a significant proportion of abdominal and gastrointestinal-related pain interventions (31%), including the most recently developed intervention (Cunningham et al., 2018); this is likely a reflection of high prevalence of paediatric functional abdominal pain, where meta-analyses have estimated a global pooled prevalence of 13.5% (Korterink et al., 2015). Whilst tailoring to a pain condition may be useful in some contexts, current best practice guidelines recommend a biopsychosocial, multidisciplinary approach to paediatric chronic pain management in general (World Health Organization, 2020). An example of tailoring to a specific pain condition whilst also embodying a multidisciplinary approach is provided by 'Teens Taking Charge' (Connelly et al., 2019; Stinson et al., 2010a). This intervention encompassed all target chronic pain management strategies, as defined by the current study, and was specific to JIA (https://teens.aboutkidshealth.ca/jiateenhub).

It may be beneficial for intervention development teams to consider whether online interventions that target a specific pain condition or focus on a specific technique (such as CBT) could be extended to incorporate a broader range of content on physical, psychological, and pharmacological components of pain management. This may be a costeffective way to further develop online interventions such that they can be applied across a broader range of chronic pain conditions, rather than developing new interventions for specific conditions from scratch. An example of this is Web-MAP, which has been trialled for mixed chronic pain and headache (Palermo et al., 2016; Law et al., 2015). Further, online multidisciplinary interventions for chronic pain may be especially useful in adolescent populations, as the current adolescent generation are native internet users, with 99% of 12to 15-year-olds accessing online content for more than 20-hours a week (Ofcom, 2019).

The rapid development of evidence-based online interventions is warranted in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, which has resulted in further reduced access to specialist pain services in-person. Though many existing services have recently introduced online clinics, online interventions have the potential to support clinics as complementary resources by creating more flexible pain management plans and encouraging self-management (Eccleston et al., 2020). There has also been suggestion that the prevalence of chronic pain may increase as a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic (Clauw et al., 2020), hence improving the availability of multidisciplinary interventions may become very important. However, the extent to which multidisciplinary pain management can be delivered online is highly dependent on patient needs. Online self-management of chronic pain should only be recommended to paediatric patients following assessment by a multidisciplinary team (Liossi & Howard, 2016), and formulation of a treatment plan that includes online intervention in an appropriate way. Parts of clinical assessment can be conducted remotely, as has been done throughout the COVID-19 pandemic (Eccleston et al., 2020). Additionally, there are treatment components that cannot be feasibly delivered online, such as tailored physiotherapy, and this may explain the finding of a lack of physiotherapy content in the current review. Although, as shown by 'Teens Taking Charge' (Connelly et al., 2019; Stinson et al., 2010a), high quality video examples of basic physiotherapy exercises can be included in online interventions.

Three interventions identified in the current study included peer support in the form of online groups or message boards (Yeh et al., 2013; Donovan et al., 2013; Stinson et al., 2014). Though peer support is not a treatment, it is a critical element of the social domain of the biopsychosocial approach (Liossi & Howard, 2016), and youth with chronic pain often struggle to form strong friendships (Forgeron et al., 2011). There is potential for encouraging peer support through use of online interventions, especially for adolescents, for whom social media is a core part of their daily lives (Ofcom, 2019). Recent research investigating the internet needs of adolescents with chronic pain and their parents has also highlighted social media as a resource that adolescents use to help with pain management (Hurley-Wallace et

al., 2020). The exact pattern of usage of popular social media platforms, such as Instagram, and how it relates to pain management in this population is unknown, though warrants investigation in future research. One peer support platform that has been developed in an academic setting and applied successfully in adolescent chronic pain is iPeer2Peer, which was originally developed for JIA (Ahola Kohut et al., 2016; Stinson et al., 2016). The programme provides training for 'peer mentors' (16 to 25-year-olds) on a variety of topics, then mentors connect with adolescents using Skype calls.

Eight out of 13 interventions contained parent-facing content, which either directly mirrored or complimented the child or adolescent-facing content (tableS1). Theoretical models, such as the Interpersonal Fear-Avoidance Model (Simons & Kaczynski, 2012; Goubert & Simons, 2013), and research (Palermo et al., 2007; Simons et al., 2008; Logan et al., 2012; Palermo et al., 2014) have emphasised that parental factors play an important role in paediatric chronic pain maintenance. In relation to Web-MAP2 (Palermo et al., 2016), the effects of adolescent-parent agreement of treatment goals has been investigated (Fisher, Bromberg, et al., 2017). Whilst participating in the Web-MAP2 intervention, 122 adolescent-parent pairs were asked to select two treatment goals. Pairs that chose the same goals had reduced pain intensity post-treatment, which was maintained at follow-up. The strongest effect of goal agreement on pain intensity was found for physical activity goals (Fisher, Bromberg, et al., 2017). The success of incorporating of parent-facing modules in terms of improving treatment outcomes is likely to depend on the individual case of chronic pain. Current best practice for the management of chronic pain in children states that treatment should be child and family-centred (World Health Organization, 2020). However, whether parent-facing content is included may also depend on the target age range for the online intervention, as adolescents aged 15-years and up do not seem to benefit as much from this type of intervention (Murray, de la Vega, et al., 2019). There is also the option of providing the online intervention to the child or adolescent with adjunctive in-person parent or family-based therapy, though little guidance exists on how to adapt interventions for paediatric chronic pain to be developmentally appropriate (Palermo et al., 2014).

One of the interventions identified in the current study, 'Teens Taking Charge', contained a 'looking forward' component, consisting of guidance on vocational prospects for young people, as well as information about transitioning into adult healthcare (Stinson et al., 2010b; Stinson et al., 2010a). Similarly, the iCanCope[™] design included a section on 'transition readiness'. Transition from paediatric to adult care can be challenging for young people; research on JIA indicates that the perceived quality of healthcare during transitional stage is low (Shaw et al., 2007), and that an ideal programme would address psychosocial and educational/vocational needs (Shaw et al., 2004). From a developmental perspective, adolescents with chronic pain may struggle with vocational prospects as a result of poor school functioning, however more research on specific health systems factors that impact chronic pain treatment in older adolescents is needed (Rosenbloom et al., 2017). Research has identified a trend between paediatric chronic pain and psychiatric disorder lifetime prevalence (Campo et al., 2001). Cohort studies have also found that chronic pain and fatigue severity predicts impaired social functioning in adulthood (Westendorp et al., 2016). Part of the solution to this issue could be to bridge the paediatric-to-adult healthcare transition by providing continuation of multidisciplinary pain management to older adolescents online.

Overall, underpinning well-established theoretical frameworks were integrated in the majority of interventions reviewed, though many of the development papers did not explicitly reference these. Theoretical frameworks can be important in the implementation of evidence into practice as outlined by the Theoretical Domains Framework (French et al., 2012). However, basing intervention content on an underlying theoretical framework does not necessarily result in improved intervention effectiveness, as shown by a review of reviews (Dalgetty et al., 2019). In accordance with the MRC guidance (O'Cathain et al., 2019), it is recommended that stakeholder feedback is incorporated into the intervention development process. This can be done by supplementing development frameworks such as the Person-Based Approach (Yardley et al., 2015) (PBA). The PBA seeks to integrate stakeholder insights from intervention design through to evaluation. The development teams from iCanCope with Pain[™] (Stinson et al., 2014) and 'Teens Taking Charge' (Stinson et al., 2010b) incorporated user feedback. However, there was a lack of specification of the development approaches being used, with only iCanCope stating 'user-centred'. New guidance on reporting intervention development studies has been released and can be used as a reference point for development teams (Duncan et al., 2020).

Considering the efficacy trials of the interventions included in the current study (tableS2) in relation to the content analysis of interventions, none of the interventions underwent a formal process evaluation, as revealed by the quality assessment (tableS3). Process evaluations are an evaluation of the intervention implementation process (Möhler et al., 2015) and seek to examine the impact of specific intervention mechanisms and contexts on participant outcomes, with an aim to gain insight into what parts of the intervention are effective, for whom and under what conditions (Craig et al., 2008; Bonell et al., 2012). Only one included intervention carried out any form of process evaluation (Murray, de la Vega, et al., 2019; Palermo et al., 2009), though this was an evaluation of contextual factors rather than intervention mechanisms .Consequentially, it was not possible to evaluate which content components relate to improvements in which outcomes, such as pain severity and

functioning (Craig et al., 2008; Bonell et al., 2012). The secondary analysis of RCT data from Web-MAP2 explored who benefitted from treatment at 12-month follow-up (Murray, de la Vega, et al., 2019). An important finding was that pain-related disability improved over time for adolescents aged 11-14 years, compared to adolescents aged 15 -17 years, for whom there was no significant benefit of the intervention compared to the control group. Such findings emphasise the importance of complimenting RCTs with process evaluation, especially where no additional benefit of treatment was found (Law et al., 2015; Trautmann & Kröner-Herwig, 2010; Connelly et al., 2019). Further guidance on conducting process evaluations of complex interventions is provided by the MRC (Moore et al., 2015). For data analysis, a key recommendation includes integrating process data (for example, data about usage or context) into outcomes datasets, to explore whether effects differ by contextual moderators, and test hypothesised mediators. Pre-planning of how process data will be collected alongside outcome data in evaluation studies of online interventions is recommended.

Several limitations can be noted. Firstly, only studies published in the English language were included. This analysis does not include interventions that are only reported in non-English publications, which could vary in content due to cultural differences in approaches to chronic pain management (Perry et al., 2019). Secondly, as the current review is an update of an existing review which followed the same methodology, a protocol of the current review was not registered prior to commencement. Lastly, only four interventions were accessible online, therefore it is likely that evaluations of content were more accurate for these interventions, compared to those that were evaluated using published descriptions.

4.5.1 Conclusions

Multidisciplinary content included in existing online interventions for paediatric chronic pain management was evaluated with reference to evidence-based guidelines. The content analysis revealed a lack of online interventions which cover all aspects of multidisciplinary pain management. There is scope for existing online interventions that focus on a specific pain condition, or technique (such as CBT), to be further developed to include a broader range of content. Further development of existing online interventions is warranted in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, to ensure multidisciplinary pain management content can be accessed from home. It is equally important that new interventions being produced are evidence-based and reflect current best practice guidelines. New interventions should aim to incorporate insights from children and adolescents with chronic pain, and their families, using a robust development approach. Pre-planning of process evaluation is recommended to allow investigation of which intervention components are effective for which users and in which contexts.

Acknowledgements: We would like to thank all of the development teams that provided access permissions to their online interventions for the purpose of this study.

Author contributions: All authors discussed the results and commented on the manuscript. AHW, CL and DS formulated the aims and approach of this study. AHW and EN conducted coding for the content analysis. The first draft of the manuscript was written by AHW. Chapter 4/ Paper 1

Chapter 5 Online paediatric chronic pain management: assessing the needs of UK adolescents, and parents, using a crosssectional survey

This study was published open access in the British Journal of Pain in 2020.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2049463720940341

Hurley-Wallace, A.¹, Schoth D. E.¹. Lilley S.², Williams G.², & Liossi, C.¹²

¹Pain Research Laboratory, School of Psychology, University of Southampton, Highfield, Southampton, UK; ² Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK.

Corresponding author: Ms. Anna Hurley-Wallace

Declaration of Conflicting Interest: The Authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Funding: This work was supported by funding from UoS, through a Jubilee PhD studentship to AHW.

Ethical approval: Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the UoS Psychology Department Ethics Committee (Reference: 48723)

Acknowledgements: We would like to thank Chloe Barrett for her assistance in advertising this study.

Abstract

Background: Adolescent chronic pain is prevalent, and interdisciplinary treatment is recommended. Although it is well known that technology is a key part of adolescents' daily lives, there have not been any online, interdisciplinary interventions developed for adolescents with chronic pain in a UK healthcare context. Little is known about how adolescents currently use online resources to manage chronic pain, or what guidance they seek.

Methods: Ninety-five participants from the community answered this mixed-methods, online survey (adolescent n = 54, parent n = 41), which assessed the needs of UK-based adolescents for a new online chronic pain management resource.

Results: Findings indicated that at the time of the survey adolescents frequently used social media platforms, such as Instagram, for chronic pain management. Desired techniques for a new interdisciplinary resource for adolescents included 'advice on explaining chronic pain to others' (86.7% of adolescents), sleep hygiene (82.2% of adolescents), though access to a range of pain management techniques was desired. Qualitative results indicated endorsement of a new programme by adolescents and parents.

Conclusions: Adolescents and parents had a positive outlook towards the development of a UK-specific online resource to help manage chronic pain. Such an intervention should aim to be made accessible via the NHS. Adolescent use of social media platforms to seek support for chronic pain requires further exploration in future research.

5.1 Background

Paediatric chronic pain is an internationally recognised problem; recent estimates indicate 13.2% to 33.8% of adolescents experience multi-site chronic pain, including 16-19% of UK-based adolescents (Gobina et al., 2019). Paediatric chronic pain is often complex and can considerably impair a young persons' physical, social, emotional and school functioning (Dick & Riddell, 2010; Forgeron et al., 2010). Mental health comorbidities, including anxiety and mood disorders, are prevalent and can hinder recovery in children and adolescents with chronic pain (Vinall et al., 2016; Fisher, Heathcote, et al., 2017; Kashikar-Zuck et al., 2008; Blaauw et al., 2014; Cunningham et al., 2016). An interdisciplinary approach to paediatric chronic pain management is recommended (Liossi & Howard, 2016; Rajapakse et al., 2014), and evidence shows interdisciplinary treatments can improve functional outcomes (Hechler et al., 2015; Liossi et al., 2019). However, many families do not have access or cannot travel long-distances to clinics (Elgar & McGrath, 2003). Self-management using online, remotely-delivered, interventions can reduce the number of clinic visits.

A review of psychological interventions to child and adolescent chronic pain showed remotely delivered cognitive-behavioural therapy (CBT) is described positively by patients, with some evidence for reduced pain severity post-treatment for headache but not for mixed chronic pain (Fisher et al., 2019). Another review of the availability of e-health tools for paediatric pain identified 53 tools (Higgins et al., 2018), 12 of which were intended for chronic pain management. Online adolescent chronic pain programs successfully developed in the United States (US) and Canada include WebMAP (Palermo et al., 2016) and iCanCope[™] respectively (Stinson et al., 2014; Lalloo et al., 2019). There has not however been an interdisciplinary multi-modal intervention developed for adolescent chronic pain in a UK context.

Insights from adolescents in the UK are important as their needs may differ based on their experiences of healthcare, along with their experiences of chronic pain in various social contexts (Viner et al., 2012). For example, in the UK, the NHS offers free access to chronic pain management programmes following GP referral, whereas in the USA insurance companies review requests for specialist consultation (Cucchiaro et al., 2017). At a population-level, adolescents may identify a range of different priorities and problems which require different solutions to successfully implement an intervention in the real-world (O'Cathain et al., 2019). Understanding the needs of this population and gathering their views as potential users of a new resource reflects the MRC guidance for developing complex interventions, and integrates the Person-Based Approach (Yardley et al., 2015). It is also intuitive to consider parents as stakeholders in development under these frameworks.

Chapter 5/ Paper 2

Whilst it is well-recognised that adolescents are native internet users (Ofcom, 2019), and social media platforms are a critical part of their daily lives (Caes, Jones, et al., 2018), little is known about online resources that adolescents use to manage chronic pain, as well as comorbid mental health issues (Vinall et al., 2016). Understanding adolescents' current use of online resources for these purposes is another important part of the context in which adolescents with chronic pain will potentially use a new resource (O'Cathain et al., 2019). Research investigating healthy adolescents' use of online resources for acute pain management identified that adolescents experienced anxiety around their use, including pain-related anxiety and a mistrust of content (Henderson et al., 2014). The use of online resources for pain management has not been investigated in adolescents with chronic pain.

Considering adolescent use of social media for chronic pain management, a scoping review of support-seeking on YouTube found 18 videos targeting adolescents with chronic pain (Forgeron et al., 2019). Most content covered multidisciplinary and alternative treatments, consistent with interdisciplinary approaches. The videos had 936 comments, and the main message was 'you are not alone'. These comments indicate many adolescents with chronic pain go online for peer support, and also reflect reports that 12 to 15 year-olds turn first to YouTube for content that is important to them (Ofcom, 2017a).

Exactly what guidance adolescents with chronic pain seek online remains unclear. There is also little indication which online resources are being used except YouTube. Adolescent usage and preferences must be explored to create a viable real-world solution (O'Cathain et al., 2019). This study conducted a needs assessment for a UK-based online, interdisciplinary intervention for managing adolescent chronic pain. The study aimed to investigate (i) which online resources adolescents currently use to manage chronic pain and mental health, (ii) which online resources parents use to help them understand their child's chronic pain, (iii) which interdisciplinary techniques adolescents with chronic pain consider most helpful, (iv) what content and features adolescents and parents would like to see in a new online chronic pain management intervention, and (v) if reporting high online resource use predicts overall positive outlook, versus negative outlook, towards a new intervention.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Design

The study was an online cross-sectional survey using Qualtrics[®], including a mixture of closed and open-ended questions.

5.2.2 Participants

This was a UK-wide survey of adolescents aged 16 to 18 years and older with chronic pain and parents of adolescents aged 12 to 18 years. The survey was not distributed directly to 12 to 15-year-olds, as this would have required additional consent from parents. Whilst not impossible to attain, the research team decided that a dual consenting process would overcomplicate this study for participants and negatively impact recruitment. Hence, to avoid complication and maintain anonymity, the survey pathways were separated into 16 to 18year olds self-reporting and parents reporting for the 12 to 18 age range. A power calculation was conducted, producing a target sample size of 385 (Appendix A).

For adolescents, inclusion criteria were: 1) aged 16 to 18-years, 2) currently experiencing pain of any aetiology which has lasted \geq 3-months (Treede et al., 2015) and exclusion criteria: 1) aged \leq 15-years or \geq 19-years, 2) pain lasting less than 3-months total duration, 3) chronic pain had not been formally diagnosed by a healthcare professional.

For parents, inclusion criteria were: 1) parents/ guardians of adolescents aged 12 to 18years, 2) adolescent pain of any aetiology that has lasted \geq 3-months (Treede et al., 2015) and exclusion criteria: 1) parents of children aged \leq 11-years or \geq 19-years, 2) adolescent pain has lasted less than 3-months.

5.2.2.1 Recruitment

The survey was accessible via an open survey link from 30th May 2019 to 14th October 2019, and advertised UK-wide using posters, social media (Twitter, Facebook, and LinkedIn), relevant charities, patient (or parent) organisations, online forums, and 'letters' to 93 local newspapers.

Initial screening questions were used to ensure that only adolescents or parents who indicated that they met the inclusion criteria could proceed with the survey. A first-stage screening question (on the consent form) ensured all participants were \geq 16 years old; this question also served as a branch to the adolescent or parent version of the survey. A second-stage of screening was used to clarify that the young people in question had a chronic pain condition with a duration of \geq 3-months. Qualtrics validation ensured that participants who did not select a valid criterion could not continue the survey and were politely asked to exit.

5.2.3 Survey and procedure

There were 78 questions split between two branches: adolescent and parent versions. Questions in the two branches mirrored each other. The survey took approximately 30 minutes to complete. Participants could return to previous questions and could save the survey and return to complete it within 7-days. If no activity was registered for 7-days, the response was recorded as partially completed. The survey flow is represented in Figure 7.



Figure 7. Survey flow for the current study. The diagram shows the survey blocks in flow order, with the number of questions per section indicated in parentheses.

Chapter 5/ Paper 2

Full questionnaire details are provided in Appendix B. Pain diagnoses were collected using the categories outlined for the ICD-11 (Treede et al., 2015), intensity was assessed using items from the Brief Pain Inventory (BPI) (Cleeland & Ryan, 1991). Pain duration was also collected. Health-related quality of life (HRQL) was assessed using the PedsQL[™] 4.0 (Varni et al., 2003; Varni et al., 2001). Current resource use and needs assessment questions were developed specifically for this study.

5.2.4 Planned analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS version 26. Multiple responses analyses were performed to descriptively summarize participants' use of online resources for chronic pain and mental health, as well as for preferred content and features (n, %). Pearson Chi-Square tests were used to explore differences between adolescents and parents in reported resource use and preferred content. Where between-group differences were significant, pairwise comparisons were adjusted using a Bonferroni correction. Note that Chi-Square tests performed on multiple response data are exploratory as opposed to confirmatory (Gray & Kinnear, 2012).

For most helpful pain management techniques, participants were asked to rank their top three out of a selection of 19. Responses left empty were considered tied for last place. Missing values were allocated a score of 11.5 in SPSS (mean score of the remaining available ranks [4+5+6...+19/16]). A rank score was calculated to ascertain the top ranked pain management techniques for adolescents and parent respondents, separately. Lower scores indicate higher ranking.

Independent t-tests were used to compare feature and design preferences between adolescents and parents for scale variables. Categorical responses were compared using Pearson Chi-Square, or Fisher's Exact Test where >20% of cell counts were <5.

Because 74 out of 78 participants that answered the qualitative question (95%) were positive towards the development of an online intervention, planned logistic regressions to identify predictors of preference became obsolete.

5.2.4.1 Qualitative exploration

To explore initial ideas and opinions that adolescents and parents had about a UK-based online chronic pain management program, a content analysis was conducted on the first question in the needs assessment: '*what are your initial thoughts about creating a new online resource that could help young people/ you manage chronic pain*?'. Responses were

first exported to Nvivo 12 and cross-tabulated with demographic data, regarding whether the participant was an adolescent or parent, their sex, and age (QSR International Pty Ltd, 2012). The content analysis used an inductive approach, in which sentences were the units of analysis (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008). Open coding, followed by categorisation into generic categories and sub-categories was conducted by AH (PhD student researching paediatric chronic pain). Categories are labelled with content-characteristic words (Dey, 2003; Elo & Kyngäs, 2008).

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Participant demographics

A total of 95 UK-based participants, including 54 adolescents and 41 parents, completed this survey.

One-hundred and forty-five individuals accessed the survey, of which 112 completed it. Sixty-one adolescents and 48 parents provided their geographical location. The majority of these were valid UK postcode districts (81.2%) covering multiple regions (England, Wales, Scotland) (see Appendix C. UK Distribution Map). Participants that entered a numeric area code, which appeared to be from outside the UK, were excluded from analyses (n = 17). Participants that did not enter any location data were included. These participants met screening criteria for chronic pain, and any contributions remained potentially useful. There were eight matched postcodes by district, four of which were cross-matches between the parent and adolescent groups. These matches may or may not have been adolescent-parent dyads. As this was unknown, no additional measures were taken to account for this in data analyses.

Participant demographic and pain characteristic information from the UK sample is displayed in Table 1. Most adolescents were aged 17 (n = 20) or 18 (n = 21) years old. Participating parents and guardians were most commonly in the 36 to 55 years age category (95.1%). Most adolescents identified as girls (94.4%). There were three boys, and one person did not identify with any gender category. All of the parents in this sample were women.

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) scores indicated that the sample were of varied socioeconomic status. The IMD ranks every neighbourhood in England from 1 (most deprived area) to 32844 (least deprived area). Neighbourhoods in Wales are ranked from 1 to 1909, and Scotland from 1 to 6976. Eighty participants in this sample were from England (IMD; M = 16521), two were from Wales (IMD; M = 967), and seven from Scotland (IMD; M =

Chapter 5/ Paper 2

4796). IMD rank scores for this sample ranged from 1388 out of 32844 (10% most deprived in England) to 32472 out of 32844 (10% least deprived in England) (Ministry of Housing, 2019).

The most frequent pain type reported by adolescents and parents was musculoskeletal (MSK) pain (77.8% and 92.7%, respectively). One parent selected cancer pain. The majority of adolescents had been experiencing chronic pain for longer than a year, according to adolescent self-reports (96.3%) and parent-proxy reports (95.2%). The most commonly selected pain duration for both respondent groups was five-years or longer (adolescents = 46.3%, parents = 48.7%). The HRQL total score for this sample of adolescents with chronic pain (self-reported M = 30.14, SD = 12.85) was low compared to other recent studies of adolescents with chronic pain (Yetwin et al., 2018) (self-reported M = 58.71, SD = 21.58), t(90) = -7.79, p < .001; and very low compared to a healthy 15-year-old sample (Lam et al., 2013) (self-reported M = 84.70, SD = 12.70), t(335) = -27.52, p < .001.

	Adolescents (n = 54)	Parents (n = 41)		
Age: 16 years (n) (%)	13 (24.1)			
Age: 17 years (n) (%)	20 (37.0)			
Age: 18 years (n) (%)	21 (38.9)			
Age: 18 to 35 years (n) (%)		1 (2.4)		
Age: 36 to 55 years (n) (%)		39 (95.1)		
Age: > 55 years (n) (%)		1 (2.4)		
<u>Birth sex (n) (%)</u>				
Male	3 (5.6)	0 (0)		
Female	51 (94.4)	41 (100)		
<u>Gender (n) (%)</u>				
Man	2 (3.7)	0 (0)		
Woman	51 (94.4)	41 (100.0)		
Transgender	0 (0)	0 (0)		
Does not identify as a man,	1 (1.9)	0 (0)		
woman, or transgender				
Chronic pain type ^a				
(adolescent) (n) (%)				
Primary pain	31 (57.4)	21 (51.2)		
Cancer pain	0 (0)	1 (2.4)		
Post-surgical pain (PSP)	1 (1.9)	1 (2.4)		
Neuropathic	8 (14.8)	4 (9.8)		
Headache/ orofacial	19 (35.2)	9 (22.0)		
Visceral	7 (13.0)	5 (12.2)		
Musculoskeletal (MSK)	42 (77.8)	38 (92.7)		
Pain duration (adolescent) (n)				
(%)				
\geq 3-months	2 (3.7)	1 (2.4)		
≥ 6-months	0 (0)	1 (2.4)		
≥ 1-vear	15 (27.8)	6 (14.6)		
≥ 3-years	12 (22.2)	13 (31.7)		
≥ 5-years	25 (46.3)	20 (48.8)		

Table 1. Demographic and pain characteristics for adolescent and parent participants.
Chapter 5/ Paper 2

Pain intensity - BPI	Adolescents (n = 51)	Parent-proxy (n = 41)
(adolescent) (M) (SD)		
Worst in last 24 hours	7.02 (1.33)	6.59 (1.69)
Least in last 24 hours	3.84 (1.77)	4.24 (2.46)
On average	5.59 (1.37)	5.51 (1.33)
Current healthcare use	Adolescents (n = 50)	Parent report (n = 40)
(attending an NHS pain		
management service (n) (%)		
Yes	11 (22.0)	9 (22.5)
No	39 (78.0)	31 (77.5)
<u>HRQL – PedsQL™ (0-100),</u>	Adolescents (n = 48)	Parent-proxy (n = 38)
<u>(M, SD)</u>		
Psychosocial summary	33.82 (14.57)	36.62 (14.70)
Emotional scale	31.98 (17.19)	38.03 (19.33)
Social scale	42.29 (20.50)	38.46 (20.17)
School scale	27.19 (17.01)	33.21 (18.33)
Physical summary	23.24 (13.47)	26.07 (17.30)
Total score	30.14 (12.85)	32.95 (14.44)

^a Participants could select multiple categories for chronic pain type; percentages indicate percent of individual cases that selected the option.

5.3.2 Use of online resources

Descriptive information about frequency of various resources used to manage chronic pain and mental health is summarised in Table 2 and Table 3. Many participants selected multiple online resources for both chronic pain and mental health management. The most frequently selected response by adolescents was that they did not use any websites or apps for pain management (50.0%). The most frequently selected resource by adolescents for managing chronic pain was Instagram (n = 20), although this was not reflected in the parent responses for adolescent Instagram use (n = 5). The majority of parent participants (74.3%) indicated their child did not use any websites or apps for pain management. Exploratory comparison between adolescents and parents did not reveal a significant difference in multiple response entries for chronic pain resources, $\chi^2(8) = 15.30$, p = .054.

For mental health management, the most frequent response from adolescents and parents was that the adolescent did not use any websites or apps for mental health management (50.0% and 62.9%, respectively). The top three most selected resources for mental health management by adolescents were Instagram (n = 16), Headspace (n = 10), and YouTube (n = 9). These selections were not mirrored by the selections made by parents regarding their children's usage. Adolescent and parent multiple response entries for mental health resources, however, were not significantly different upon statistical exploration, $\chi^2(10) = 16.58$, p = .084.

 Table 2. Frequency of adolescent use of online resources and social media platforms for chronic pain management, according to adolescent and parent reports.

Chronic pain resources	Adolescents (n = 48), n (%)	Parents (n = 35), n (%)
Does not use websites/ apps	24 (50.0)	26 (74.3)
Instagram	20 (41.7)	5 (14.3)
YouTube	13 (27.1)	6 (17.1)
Facebook	8 (16.7)	4 (11.4)
Online forum	5 (10.4)	2 (5.7)
Uses a different website/ app	4 (8.3)	2 (5.7)
Twitter	4 (8.3)	3 (8.6)
Reddit	1 (2.1)	0 (0)
MeeTwo	0 (0)	0 (0)
PainBytes	0 (0)	0 (0)

Note: Participants could select multiple resources; percentages indicate percent of individual cases that selected the option. Resources are listed in descending frequency of selection by adolescents.

Table 3. Frequency of adolescent use of online resources and social media platforms for mental health management, according to adolescent and parent reports.

Mental health resources	Adolescents (n = 46), n (%)	Parents (n = 35), n (%)
Does not use websites/ apps	23 (50.0)	22 (62.9)
Instagram	16 (34.8)	2 (5.7)
Headspace	10 (21.7)	6 (17.1)
YouTube	9 (19.6)	4 (11.4)
Calm	6 (13.0)	3 (8.6)
Online forum	5 (10.9)	1 (2.9)
Facebook	4 (8.7)	1 (2.9)
Young Minds	2 (4.3)	1 (2.9)
Uses a different website/ app	1 (2.2)	2 (5.7)
Twitter	1 (2.2)	1 (2.9)
Reddit	0 (0)	0 (0)
MeeTwo	0 (0)	0 (0)

Note: Participants could select multiple resources; percentages indicate percent of individual cases that selected the option. Resources are listed in descending frequency of selection by adolescents.

The survey also investigated parent use of online resources to aid their understanding of their child's chronic pain. As shown in Figure 8, 45.9% of the parents that responded to this question used Facebook as an information resource. Seconding this was use of online forums (37.8%). In the alternative response box, two parents advised that they have used Ehlers-Danlos websites (<u>https://www.ehlers-danlos.org/</u>) as an information resource, and one parent indicated they used the NHS website (<u>https://www.nhs.uk/</u>).



Figure 8. Parent use of online resources to help them understand or manage their adolescents' chronic pain.

5.3.3 Most helpful pain management techniques

The top three highest ranked chronic pain management techniques for adolescent respondents (n = 49), were pacing (M rank = 5.9, SD = 4.7), medication (M rank = 6.3, SD = 5.0), and rest (M rank = 6.9, SD = 4.8). Hypnosis and mindfulness were tied for last place within the adolescent group (M rank = 11.5), indicating that none of the adolescents ranked these techniques in their top three. The top three highest ranked chronic pain management techniques by parents (n = 36) were pacing (M rank = 5.9, SD = 4.6), rest (M rank = 7.2, SD = 4.9), and physiotherapy (M rank = 7.5, SD = 4.9). None of the parents ranked biofeedback or exposure therapy in their top three (M rank = 11.5).

5.3.4 Preferences for content and features in a new program

Descriptive information regarding the chronic pain management techniques that adolescents and parents indicated they believed would be helpful to include in a new online resource is summarised in Table 4. Many participants selected multiple pain management techniques, although 'advice on pacing daily activities' was the most frequently selected by parents (86.1%), followed by 'methods to improve sleep (80.6%). The most frequently selected option by adolescents was 'advice on explaining chronic pain to others (e.g., friends and family)' (86.7%), followed by 'methods to improve sleep' (82.2%). Exploratory comparison between adolescent and parent multiple responses revealed a significant between-groups difference in preferences for content, $\chi^2(19) = 33.49$, p = .021. Pairwise comparisons using a Bonferroni correction indicated significant differences (p < .003) for hypnosis and guided imagery, where both options were more frequently selected by parents.

Table 4. Most helpful techniques to include in the content of a new online resource for managing chronic pain in adolescents, according to adolescents and parents.

Pain management technique*	Adolescents (n = 45), n (%)	Parents (n = 36), n (%)
Advice on explaining chronic	39 (86.7)	26 (72.2)
pain to others		
Methods to improve sleep	37 (82.2)	29 (80.6)
Advice on pacing daily activities	34 (75.6)	31 (86.1)
Advice on transitioning from		
'paediatric' to adult healthcare	34 (75.6)	25 (69.4)
Guidance on pain medications	33 (73.3)	19 (52.8)
Pain education	32 (71.1)	20 (55.6)
Advice on pacing for		
exercise/ sports	30 (69.2)	22 (61.1)
Support for returning to school	30 (66.7)	22 (61.1)
Physiotherapy examples	28 (62.2)	18 (50.0)
Examples of other physical pain management techniques	27 (60.0)	23 (63.9)
Massage techniques	22 (48.9)	15 (41.7)
Relaxation and breathing	21 (46.7)	19 (52.8)
Challenging negative thoughts	20 (44.4)	26 (61.9)
Mindfulness/ meditation	19 (42.2)	21 (58.3)
Biofeedback	19 (42.2)	12 (33.3)

Exposure therapy	16 (35.6)	12 (33.3)
Art therapy	10 (22.2)	15 (41.7)
Guided imagery/ visualisation	5 (11.1)	12 (33.3)
Hypnosis	3 (6.7)	9 (25.0)

Note: Participants could select multiple options; percentages indicate percent of individual cases that selected the option. Items are listed in descending frequency of selection by adolescents.

Other techniques mentioned by adolescents in the optional text entry box included music therapy (n = 2), connecting with others with chronic pain (n = 2), and help with everyday tasks (n = 2). Parents mentioned occupational therapy (n = 1), other CAM techniques (n = 2), and the potential for an online peer support platform for adolescents (n = 2).

5.3.4.1 Functional features and design

Regarding program structure, the majority of adolescent and parent respondents selected they would prefer a 'flexible structure', where they could choose which sections they wanted to use (86.7% and 77.1%, respectively). However, when examining between-groups differences for all of the available choices for structure (see Appendix B) there was a statistically significant difference between which choices adolescents and parents selected, two-tailed Fisher Exact p = .030. The option that differed between respondent groups was 'I do not mind how the resource is structured', where 2% of adolescents selected this option compared to 20% of parents. Regarding preference for having professional support whilst using the intervention (1 = definitely yes to 5 = definitely not), for telephone support, there was a significant difference in preference between adolescent and parent participants, t(78)= 2.07, p = .042, where adolescents preferred to have telephone support (M = 3.56, SD = 1.08) comparatively to parents (M = 3.06, SD = 1.06). For online professional support, there were no significant differences in preference between adolescents and parents, t(78) = -1.31, p = .195 (M = 2.09, SD = 1.00 and M = 2.37, SD = .91, respectively). With regard to whether a theme would be appealing or not (response options = 'yes', 'maybe', or 'no'), the most common adolescent response was 'maybe' (48.9%), and similarly 'maybe' was the

most common response from parent respondents (40.0%). There was no significant difference between adolescent and parent responses; $\chi^2(2) = 2.08$, p = .403.

The importance of linking an online pain management program to a hospital or clinic (1 = extremely important to 5 = not at all important) was indicated by adolescent participants to be 'moderately' important (M = 3.04, SD = 1.19). There was no significant difference between adolescent and parent responses to the hospital link question, t(78) = .90, p = .371. The majority of adolescent responses to the question of whether they would prefer video demonstrations of techniques to include a healthcare professional, or a 'teenage' patient (there was also an option for no preference), indicated that they would prefer a patient (42.2%). Parent respondents also indicated that they would prefer a patient in video examples (65.7%); no significant between groups differences were indicated; $\chi^2(2) = 4.67$, p = .106. For whether people in video examples should be 'male, 'female' or 'no preference', 'no preference' was most frequently selected (adolescents = 80.0%, parents = 94.3%), and none of the respondents in either group selected 'male'. Adolescent and parent responses were not significantly different, Fisher Exact p = .101. Regarding what the ethnicity of the person/ people displayed in any video examples should be, the majority of respondents selected no preference (adolescents = 93.3%, parents = 85.7%), where the only other response that was selected was mixed/multiple ethnic groups (adolescents = 6.7%, parents = 14.3%). 'White', 'Asian' and 'Black/African/Caribbean' were not selected by any respondents, and there was no significant difference between respondent groups, two-tailed Fisher Exact p = .288.

5.3.4.2 Barriers and facilitators to using a new program

Considering facilitators, two adolescents commented they would like an online program to include reminders, and barriers mentioned included levels of pain and fatigue, as well as the program having too much text, or taking too long to work through. The parent comments emphasised to make sure the program was not patronising or condescending, which was also echoed in comments from two adolescent participants. One parent commented that a barrier to adolescent use might be monitoring, either by the hospital, school, or parents.

5.3.5 Qualitative content analysis

Seventy-eight respondents (adolescents, n = 45; parents, n = 33) answered the initial needs assessment question, '*what are your initial thoughts about creating a new online resource that could help young people/ you manage chronic pain*?' The adolescent group that answered this question included 1 male and 44 females, and the parent group included 33

females only. The majority of the adolescent group were aged 17 years (42.2%) and the majority of parents were aged between 36 and 55 years (93.9%).

Four generic categories were identified within the data, where the main overarching category can be considered as 'opinions about a new online resource for young people with chronic pain', derivative of the research question itself. Categories and sub-categories were condensed from 91 codes identified from the qualitative dataset of responses from both adolescent and parent participants.

An exploratory subgroups analysis was conducted using the generic categories to compare responses from adolescents and parents. All four categories remained clear within parent and adolescent groups. The category that responses were most frequently classified under was 'good idea', with 17 responses from adolescents grouped under this category, and 21 responses from parents. Adolescents commented more frequently on age-specificity compared to parents (n = 13, and n = 4, respectively).

5.3.5.1 Category 1: Good idea

Participant responses were most frequently classified to this category (n = 38), representing the opinion that an online program for managing chronic pain in adolescents was generally a 'good', 'great' or 'excellent' idea, and that participants would be interested in such a program.

A56: "I think a new online resource that could help young people with chronic pain is a brilliant idea." (Adolescent, 17 years, female)

Two respondents touched on the notion that it would be a good idea to link to NHS services, however there were not enough comments made about this for 'NHS linking' to be considered a sub-category alone.

There was also an element of excitement throughout these comments, indicated by use of superlatives (e.g., 'amazing', 'fantastic'). A few of the adolescents used the word 'cool' to indicate excitement.

5.3.5.2 Category 2: Helpful

Thirty-five responses were classified under 'helpful'. This included synonyms of helpful; the other key word used was 'useful'. An example is quoted below. Some comments eluded that adolescents would try anything, rather than showing enthusiasm specifically towards a new resource (see A41). Overall, the comments were positive.

A45: "I think it'd be very useful as finding out how to deal with chronic pain is very difficult." (Adolescent, 18 years, female)

A41: "Anything to help even a few people." (Adolescent, 17 years, female).

5.3.5.2.1 Sub-category: Improving accessibility

This sub-category gave a sense that an online program would be helpful because it would create a way for adolescents to access help independently. The majority of these comments were from parents.

A23: *"I think it would help a lot of young people get the help they deserve.*" (Parent, 36 to 55 years, female)

A104: "... Ease of access from home. Not reliant on GP referral etc. - self ownership/ management." (Parent, 36 to 55 years, female)

5.3.5.2.2 Sub-category: Increasing others' understanding

A few of the participants' initial comments revealed a preference for something within a new resource that could help other people understand the chronic pain experience. This is exemplified in the below quote.

A10: "Could be useful about helping those without chronic pain to understand." (Adolescent, 18 years, female)

5.3.5.3 Category 3: Adolescent-specific

The need for an age-specific resource for adolescents came through strongly. This category was exemplified well by one of the adolescent participants.

A33: "It would be fantastic as there are very little resources for people my age in my area." (Adolescent, 17 years, female)

5.3.5.3.1 Sub-category: Non-patronising

Within the adolescent-specific category, a few comments were made about ensuring a new program is not patronising. One participant highlighted whether an intervention is patronising or not depends on the group it is targeting.

A64: "*It could be good but only if it is targeted appropriately e.g., not patronising.*" (Adolescent, 16 years, female)

A42: "It can come across offensive because people with chronic pain have tried a lot." (Adolescent, 17 years, female)

5.3.5.3.2 Sub-category: Connectedness

Under connectedness, there were comments about the need for something to help adolescents feel less alone, and about generally connecting with other adolescents who are going through a similar experience. This could be labelled as peer support; however, there was a clear emphasis on knowing people are there empathetically, rather than seeking advice. There were additionally a couple of comments made on social media integration as a way of establishing connections (see example quote A46).

A81: "... a good idea so that they can compare and make friends with others who understand." (Parent, 36 to 55 years, female)

A46: "*It would be beneficial; using social media platforms would be good for that.*" (Adolescent, 16 years, female)

5.3.5.4 Category 4: Concerns

Whilst there were few concerns or negative comments made (n = 12), it is important that negative comments be acknowledged in light of developing an online intervention. Some respondents made comments that were too vague to interpret exactly what the concern was.

A30: "*It's a good idea as long as it's good, well-meaning and doesn't do harm.*" (Adolescent, 18 years, female)

These types of comments could not be categorised under a specific sub-header. Many of these responses were juxtaposed, such as the comment by participant A30. Outside of more general comments, an underlying concern was the relevance of intervention content.

5.3.5.4.1 Sub-category: Content relevance

Concerns about the relevance of the content in an online resource for adolescent chronic pain management were evident. These included comments about the broad range of chronic pain conditions, and that different people manage differently. Participants also commented on tangible support over self-management.

A101: "Not sure if really helpful – [a] lot of resources, no idea of reality - need practical help and a life." (Parent, 36 to 55 years, female)

A98: "Would need to be wide-ranging to cover different causes of pain; could make it unwieldy to use." (Parent, 36 to 55 years, female)

5.4 Discussion

The aim of this study was to conduct a UK wide needs assessment for an online, interdisciplinary intervention for paediatric chronic pain management, the results of which offer valuable insight into the needs of adolescents regarding online chronic pain management. Even though the survey was conducted in the UK, the results can inform aspects of the development of online interventions in other western countries.

Considering online resources used to manage chronic pain and mental health issues, the majority of adolescents and parents indicated adolescents did not use online resources for either purpose. This is surprising given positive evaluations of mindfulness-based apps such as Headspace (Mani et al., 2015; Economides et al., 2018; Howells et al., 2016). Only 10 adolescents indicated they used Headspace, and one indicated 'Calm' (another commercially available app). Social media resources were selected much more frequently by adolescents than parents, possibly because parents are generationally less familiar with social media and do not necessarily know the resources their children use (Ofcom, 2019). Whilst psychological factors play a key role in the maintenance of paediatric chronic pain (Liossi & Howard, 2016; Simons et al., 2012), there seems to be low endorsement of available psychology-based tools to manage concurrent mental health issues.

Prior research reveals adolescents often access YouTube for important information, and specifically for chronic pain information (Ofcom, 2017a; Forgeron et al., 2019). The present results support this as 27% of adolescents indicated they use YouTube as a support resource. However, this study highlighted Instagram as another important resource for chronic pain, selected by 42% of adolescents. Whilst Instagram originated as a platform for uploading still photographs, the latest versions (2020) allow uploads of video content (up to 1 minute) and for direct messages between users. Additional video content can be uploaded by business users to Instagram TV. Mirroring the previous investigation of YouTube content (Forgeron et al., 2019), Instagram content on adolescent chronic pain warrants further exploration. It is concerning that the current lack of a trusted online resource for adolescent chronic pain management may lead to adolescents accessing content that is not evidence-based or accurate, which could perpetuate problems. Recent media reports note insufficient monitoring of harmful, self-injury promoting social media content, despite efforts to eradicate it (BBC News, 2019). A solution may be the creation of an evidence-based resource for adolescent chronic pain that can be made accessible via the NHS or a linked service.

Considering parent use of online resources to help them understand their child's chronic pain, findings indicated 46% use Facebook as a support resource. This is another area of interest concerning whether information shared on Facebook groups is evidence-based. The second most used resource by parents was online forums. This supports previous investigations of parental online communication on forums for paediatric Complex Regional Pain Syndrome (CRPS) for informational and empathetic support (Navarro et al., 2018). It is possible that parents in the present study of mixed chronic pain used forums for similar reasons. Only one parent used the NHS website as an information resource, which may indicate an increased need for empathetic support over informational.

Interdisciplinary pain management techniques (not online) ranked as the most helpful differed somewhat between adolescents and parents. Medication was ranked as the second most helpful intervention by adolescents but was not highly ranked by parents. This may indicate medication use in older adolescents is high, despite a lack of evidence that pharmacological interventions are effective as a standalone treatment for chronic pain (Caes, Fisher, et al., 2018; Eccleston et al., 2019; Cooper, Fisher, et al., 2017; Cooper, Heathcote, et al., 2017; Eccleston et al., 2017). Pacing was the top ranked technique by both groups, and rest was also ranked in the top three for both groups. The majority of this sample were not attending a specialist pain clinic at the time of the survey, which may explain why medication and rest were ranked high, whilst psychological treatments were ranked low. Psychological techniques are less likely to be cited by healthcare professionals working outside of specialist chronic pain services (Hurley-Wallace, Wood, et al., 2018). However, data on whether participants attended a specialist clinic in the past was not collected.

Regarding preferred chronic pain management techniques adolescents and their parents wanted to see in a new program, many adolescents selected 'advice on explaining chronic pain to others' (87%). This may be because adolescents with chronic pain often struggle with social functioning (Forgeron et al., 2010; Forgeron et al., 2011; Eccleston et al., 2008), and are at increased risk of peer victimisation compared to healthy peers (Forgeron et al., 2010). Whilst it would be useful to include social advice in a new online program, this finding may reflect a need for community and school-based interventions that target peer understanding.

Most participants indicated they wanted access to 'methods to improve sleep' (82% of adolescents and 80% of parents), reflecting prior research findings that 54% of adolescents with chronic pain report insomnia symptoms (Palermo et al., 2011). In relation to online interventions, currently available CBT-based chronic pain management has not been found to significantly improve sleep outcomes in adolescents (Fales et al., 2015). Researchers

from this study suggested that, as reductions in pain and disability were not associated with improved sleep, poor sleep is likely fuelled by a variety of factors. Content on improving sleep requires more focus in new programs; examples of sleep hygiene techniques for adolescents are available in the wider literature (Kotagal & Pianosi, 2006).

Concerning preferred interdisciplinary techniques for a new resource, the majority of participants selected several techniques out of the 19 available to select. Clearly, access to a range of techniques is desired, though it is debateable how many techniques can feasibly be included in one online resource. This need for choice of techniques is similar to the concept of a 'pain toolbox', which is successfully utilised in CBT-based online interventions for adolescent chronic pain (Palermo et al., 2016).

Whilst qualitative responses lacked depth, four clear categories were identified. The first two categories ('good idea' and 'helpful') were expressed strongly by both adolescent and parent respondents, indicating an overall positive outlook towards online modalities of pain management. New, evidence-based, targeted resources for chronic pain self-management are likely to be welcomed by adolescents and parents.

One pertinent response from the adolescent qualitative data was that there is nothing agespecific available. There is a clear need for resources aimed at adolescents, which is not patronising, and allows them to connect in a similar way to social media. Social media is a critical part of adolescent's lives and different platforms are used for different purposes (Caes, Jones, et al., 2018). The current study indicates adolescents are seeking a platform that is specific to chronic pain. Recent reports of YouTube use in 12 to 15 year-olds note that 52% use vloggers as a source of online content and inspiration (Ofcom, 2019). An important part of chronic pain management for some adolescents may be through following others with painful conditions. Interactive, peer support platforms have been successfully developed for paediatric chronic pain and arthritis (iPeer2Peer) (Ahola Kohut et al., 2016; Stinson et al., 2016) as standalone programs. A pilot study of iPeer2Peer, including 28 adolescents with chronic pain, found those who completed the series of 10 Skype-based calls with a peer mentor significantly improved their coping abilities and self-management skills (Ahola Kohut et al., 2016). There is potential for elements of peer support to be integrated within interdisciplinary programs, which may help adolescents to feel more connected and supported in their self-management.

This need for an adolescent-specific resource may also highlight a lack of acknowledgement that adolescents and children have different needs. Previous research on health informationseeking found adolescents with pain seek information online as a way of assuming

independence over their health (Henderson et al., 2014). Promisingly, the focus of online interventions that have been developed for adolescents with chronic pain in the US and Canada has been on self-management (Lalloo et al., 2019; Stinson et al., 2014; Palermo et al., 2016). The overarching message is that adolescence represents a unique stage of physical, social, and emotional development (Sawyer et al., 2018; Spear, 2000; Pfeifer & Blakemore, 2012), and interventions should be targeted appropriately.

Several study limitations should be noted. Firstly, the target sample size was not met, and therefore quantitative, descriptive results are unlikely to be generalizable to the wider population of UK-based adolescents with chronic pain, and only representative of respondents (Kelley et al., 2003). There were no implications of sample size for the qualitative content analysis. The content analysis answered the intended research question regarding adolescent and parent opinions towards a new online resource, thereby meeting the informational needs of the study (Bengtsson, 2016). Secondly, whilst it is expected an adolescent chronic pain sample would contain more girls than boys based on prevalence statistics (King et al., 2011), 94% of the adolescent sample were girls. Data regarding the sex of the adolescents that parents were responding about was not collected. As such, these findings should not be generalised to adolescent boys.

5.4.1 Conclusions

The results of the current study indicate that use of online resources and social media for managing chronic pain is common in adolescents, with many turning to Instagram and YouTube for content and support. Overall, development of a new online resource for chronic pain was endorsed by adolescents and parents, with a need for connectedness and age-specific content emphasised. Access to a range of interdisciplinary techniques is desired. New online interventions for adolescents in the UK should aim to be accessible via the NHS as an evidence-based resource. Novel research exploring how adolescents use social media platforms to manage chronic pain and seek support is recommended.

Chapter 6 Trusting in the online 'community': An interview study exploring internet use in young people with chronic pain

This study has been submitted for consideration by the British Journal of Pain (July 2021).

Hurley-Wallace, A.¹, & Kirby, S.¹ Bishop, F.L.¹

¹ Psychology Department, University of Southampton, United Kingdom

Corresponding author: Ms Anna Hurley-Wallace

Declaration of Conflicting Interest: The Authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Funding: This work was supported by funding from UoS, through a Jubilee PhD studentship to AHW.

Ethical approval *(include full name of committee approving the research and if available mention reference number of that approval)*: Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the UoS Psychology Department Ethics Committee (Reference: 56803).

Acknowledgements: We would like to thank the members of the PPI team involved in this research for their assistance and advice. We would like to thank all of the interviewees for sharing their personal experiences.

Abstract

Background: Chronic pain in young people is prevalent in the UK. Young people are digital natives, yet there has not been any online intervention developed in a UK context to help them manage chronic pain. Key to understanding the context in which young people engage with online interventions is better understanding their internet use for chronic pain management. The overarching aim of this study was to explore young peoples' experiences of searching for information about chronic pain using the internet. This included experiences of using search engines (e.g., Google), health information websites (e.g., the NHS website), and social media (e.g., Facebook, Instagram).

Methods: Semi-structured interviews were conducted with young people aged 16 to-24years-old (n = 24), online, via Microsoft Teams. The study was advertised online and via patient partner charities. Interview data was analysed using reflexive thematic analysis.

Results: Participants presented with a variety of chronic pain conditions, including joint hypermobility syndrome (n = 6), chronic headache and/or migraine (n = 4), and fibromyalgia (n = 3). Four themes were generated: 'Trustworthy information, or experiences?', 'Diagnostic labels in a digital world', 'The online chronic pain community', and 'A mind and body approach to self-management'. Young people trust advice from others in their online community, and having a diagnostic label helps them find relevant pain management strategies and support networks online.

Conclusions: This study is the first qualitative exploration of internet use in UK-based young people with chronic pain. Findings highlight the importance of considering internet use when developing new online interventions for young people with pain and that internet use, particularly social media use, is an important psychosocial consideration in pain management. Young people should be encouraged to verify practical pain management techniques found online with their doctor and be empowered in the safe use of appropriate psychology-based self-management resources.

6.1 Background

Chronic pain in adolescence is a globally recognised problem (Swain et al., 2014; Global Burden of Disease Pediatrics Collaboration et al., 2016; Tutelman et al., 2021; King et al., 2011). In the UK, 16-19% of adolescents experience multi-site chronic pain (Gobina et al., 2019), which is associated with considerable functional disability (Dick & Riddell, 2010; Forgeron et al., 2010). Interdisciplinary treatment (IASP, 2018a) reflects a biopsychosocial approach to chronic pain management and is recommended in practice for adolescents and young adults (Liossi & Howard, 2016; Caes, Fisher, et al., 2018; Carville et al., 2021). Adolescence has recently been defined as up to 24-years-old, which reflects later social development (Sawyer et al., 2018). Indeed, during 'late adolescence' the impact of chronic pain is likely to result in delayed independence (Rosenbloom et al., 2017). Despite this, UK-based adolescents aged 16-years and over are considered independent with regards to healthcare (CQC, 2014).

Online interventions for adolescents with chronic pain (Palermo et al., 2016; Grasaas et al., 2019) are increasingly used to support self-management and reduce strain on clinical services. In context of the COVID-19 pandemic, increasing access to evidence-based content for pain self-management, through technology, has become important (Eccleston et al., 2020). A recent trial of one such intervention, WebMAP (Palermo et al., 2009), indicated that higher adolescent engagement with the intervention was associated with significant reductions in pain and disability (Palermo et al., 2020).

There has not been a multimodal, interdisciplinary online intervention developed for UKbased adolescents with chronic pain. Needs of adolescents in the UK may differ to adolescents in other western countries, based on their experiences of National Health Service (NHS) healthcare and experiences of chronic pain in different social contexts (Viner et al., 2012; CQC, 2014). Understanding context is important when developing complex healthcare interventions and qualitative research can provide insights into population-level factors that may impact intervention success (O'Cathain et al., 2019). Experts agree that successfully designing online interventions demands a user-centred approach (Yardley et al., 2016). The Person-Based Approach (PBA) (Yardley et al., 2015) provides an overview of how qualitative feedback from intervention stakeholders can be integrated into online interventions throughout development (Morrison et al., 2018). The first stage (planning) focuses on conducting qualitative and mixed-methods research to understand the context in which users will engage with a novel intervention.

When developing online interventions for adolescents with chronic pain a key contextual consideration is how adolescents use the internet already in relation to chronic pain and pain management. This is important because adolescents aged 16 to-24 are heavy internet users; 95% have a social media profile and 98% use the internet (Ofcom, 2020). Prior qualitative research has explored use of online resources for pain management in adolescents without chronic pain (Henderson et al., 2014). Three themes were highlighted: drivers of internet use, barriers, and anxiety around use. Anxieties included mistrust in the quality of online content, and some adolescents linked pain severity to their decision of whether to seek help in-person. Further, mixed-methods survey-based research has identified social media platforms, such as Instagram and YouTube, as important resources in chronic pain management for adolescents aged 16 to 18-years in the UK (Hurley-Wallace et al., 2020). However, pain-related internet use among older adolescents with chronic pain has not been explored qualitatively. Such research can provide insights into which resources are already being used, and why. This research may reveal certain elements of pain management are not sought out or are already covered by existing resources.

The aim of this study was to explore the experiences of older adolescents (16 to 24-yearolds) with chronic pain when searching for information about chronic pain using the internet. This included experiences of searching the internet using search engines (e.g., Google), health information websites (e.g., the NHS website), and social media platforms (Facebook, YouTube, Instagram). Objectives were: (i) to explore young peoples' experience of chronic pain management strategies, including pain management techniques and advice provided by healthcare professionals, self-management strategies, and any internet resources that have helped facilitate this, (ii) to explore which resources young people believe have been the most helpful, and/or may have been potentially helpful for managing chronic pain, if available, and (iii) to understand why certain resources are viewed as especially helpful for managing pain, or are noticeably popular, and why young people turn to these resources as opposed to, or as adjunctive to, in-person or online alternatives.

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Study design

This study used semi-structured, individual interviews. Interviews were intended to be steered by the research question (Willig, 2013b), and flexibly encourage talk about participants' experiences.

Interviews were conducted online using Microsoft (MS) Teams (Microsoft, 2021) during the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. Participants also attended an initial online 'screening' interview. This familiarised interviewees with the software, addressed any concerns (e.g., data protection), and screened participants for eligibility.

This study was conducted from a critical realist epistemological standpoint. Critical realist epistemology suits the exploratory nature of the study objectives. Participant experiences were considered as approximations of reality, underpinned by existing social and psychological constructs (Willig, 2013a). AHW's role as an interviewer was anti-authoritative, viewing participants as experts on their own condition, only shifting to the 'outsider' role when clarifying health/medical terminology. Interviews were analysed using an inductive approach to reflexive thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2019a).

This article adheres to Qualitative Design Reporting Standards (JARS-Qual) (American Psychological Association) (Levitt et al., 2018).

6.2.1.1 Researcher description

AHW is a PhD student specialising in adolescent chronic pain research (3-years' experience) at the University of Southampton. AHW has an academic background in Health Psychology and has personal experience of chronic musculoskeletal pain diagnosed in young adulthood. AHW's academic and personal background was explained briefly to all participants during screening. This may have enhanced rapport and encouraged storytelling during interviews. Personal experience may also have influenced data analysis, improving data immersion, and leading to theme development through an empathetic lens.

6.2.1.2 Patient and Public Involvement (PPI)

A PPI group was recruited, via the University Hospital Southampton and Applied Research Collaboration (Wessex), to assist throughout the study. The group consisted of three individuals aged 16, 22, and 27 years, who experienced, or had experienced, chronic pain throughout adolescence. They attended bi-monthly meetings on MS Teams to discuss aspects of the project and responded to WhatsApp queries. Contributions and selected illustrative changes included: reviewing the research protocol and study advertisements (which resulted in mentioning 'social media' in study advertisements), offering suggestions for the recruitment strategy, and piloting the interview topic guide (which resulted in swapping the order of sections 3 and 4).

6.2.2 Recruitment

This study was approved by the University of Southampton Psychology Ethics Committee (reference: 56803).

This study used convenience and purposive sampling. Specific ages and chronic pain types that were underrepresented in the sample were targeted after the guide target of 16 interviews had been met. Recruitment occurred from 8th September 2020 until 9th December 2020. The study was advertised online, via relevant charities and through a sixth-form college. Participants were offered £20 shopping e-vouchers for their time.

Online advertising included social media platforms Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, Reddit, and LinkedIn (including Facebook and Instagram paid advertisements). Call for Participants (<u>https://www.callforparticipants.com/</u>) was used to co-ordinate social media advertising. Relevant charities were identified by AHW and the PPI group. The Hypermobility Syndromes Association (HMSA) (<u>https://www.hypermobility.org/</u>) was identified as a patient partner prior to the start of the study. Fibromyalgia Action UK (FMAUK) (<u>https://www.fmauk.org/</u>) were contacted following ethical approval. Both charities advertised the study via their respective websites and social media pages. AHW had personal contact with one UK-based sixth-form college. The study advert was circulated via email from the gatekeeper.

Potential participants that expressed interest were asked to provide their email address, were emailed the participant information sheet, and were invited to a 'screening' interview. The participant information sheet explained how to access MS Teams.

6.2.2.1 Eligibility

Inclusion criteria: (i) 16 to 24 years old (Sawyer et al., 2018), (ii) bodily pain lasting 3-months or longer total duration, (iii) chronic pain condition, including pain conditions listed on the chronic pain screening tool (Appendix D), or any other chronic pain condition diagnosed by a healthcare professional, as listed in the ICD-11 (Nicholas et al., 2019; Treede et al., 2019), (iv) permanent residence in the UK (target group for exploring internet use in a UK context), (v) access to the internet for the online call, (vi) ability to communicate in fluent, spoken English.

Participants with any type of self-reported chronic pain were eligible for inclusion in this study. Eligibility did not require a diagnosis of chronic pain by a healthcare professional, though clinically diagnosed conditions were noted. The research team had no prior relation to the study participants.

6.2.3 Participants

Twenty-four UK-based participants (median age: 21 years, range: 16 to 24 years) were interviewed. A summary of participant characteristics is presented in Table 5. An additional four individuals were screened. One did not meet age criteria, one did not attend interview, and two were screened and added to the wait-list during purposive sampling; no responses were received when later followed-up.

	Number of participants	% Participants in each category
Age (years)		
16	1	4.2
17	2	8.3
18	2	8.3
19	2	8.3
20	1	4.2
21	5	20.8
22	1	4.2
23	3	13.5
24	7	29.2
Chronic pain type ^a		
Primary	13	54.2
Cancer-related	0	0
Post-traumatic	3	13.5
Neuropathic	0	0
Headache and orofacial	4	16.7
Visceral	1	4.2
Musculoskeletal	9	37.5
Pain duration		
≥ 3-months	1	4.2
≥ 6-months	2	8.3
≥ 1-year	3	13.5
≥ 3-years	6	25.0
≥ 5-years	12	50.0
Gender		
Female	21	87.5
Male	1	4.2
Gender variant/ non-	2	8.3
conforming		

 Table 5. Participant demographic and pain characteristics: descriptive summary

^a Pain types defined using ICD-11 criteria for chronic primary pain and secondary pain types (Nicholas et al., 2019; Treede et al., 2019). Five participants presented with two or more pain types.

Twenty out of 24 participants had a specific diagnosis, and two had idiopathic chronic pain (investigations ongoing). Two self-diagnosed participants were interviewed. Thirteen participants met criteria for primary chronic pain, and five participants presented with two or more pain types (Table 1). Specific diagnoses varied greatly, including joint hypermobility syndrome (n = 6), chronic headache and/or migraine (n = 4), fibromyalgia (n = 3), Ehlers-Danlos Syndromes (n = 2), endometriosis (n = 1), and rheumatoid arthritis (n = 1).

This study initially aimed to interview approximately 16 individuals as a guide to achieve meaning saturation (Hennink et al., 2016). However, the decision to stop recruiting was flexible, where AHW made an interpretative decision about when to stop coding and start generating themes (Braun & Clarke, 2019b). The main factor in this decision was high coding saturation observed between interviews with 16 to 17-year-olds versus 18 to 24-year-olds, following purposive sampling of younger participants, after high initial interest from older participants. However, as has been noted by others, reflexive thematic analysis cannot reach a fixed end point; new meanings are always possible (Low, 2019).

6.2.4 Procedure

Interviews were conducted by AHW, online using MS Teams. All potential participants attended an initial screening interview, and eligible participants were invited to a research interview at a later date. Participants could choose to use video, or not, as best suited their preferences.

Screening interviews lasted for approximately 10-minutes. This study used a verbal consent form, which was recorded at the beginning of the screening; the remainder of the screening was not recorded, to allow participants to become acquainted with the researcher and the online setting. Participants were screened using the demographic questions and chronic pain screening tool developed for this study (Appendix D, Appendix E).

For the research interview, participants were invited to attend an MS Teams meeting at a mutually agreed time. Participants were greeted, and audio/ video consent was re-checked upon starting the recording. Interviews lasted for between 16 minutes and 72 minutes (M length = 35 minutes). The interview followed a semi-structured guide (Appendix F), and field notes were taken afterwards. At the end of the interview, the recording was stopped, participants were debriefed verbally and given opportunity to ask further questions. A written debriefing statement was emailed with the study reward after the interview.

6.2.4.1 Interview topic guide

An interview topic guide (Appendix F) was developed to ensure topics explored during interviews were consistent with the research objectives. Questions were asked in order by default; however, the order was used flexibly where participants naturally covered later topics. Topics that were initially skipped were returned to later on in the interview. Any other relevant topics that were brought into conversation by participants were explored as appropriate.

6.2.4.2 Recording and data transformation

Interview data collected in this study was initially reviewed by AHW using the video/audio recording and basic transcript, which is automatically generated in MS Teams (Microsoft, 2021). Video recordings were used to finalise field notes. Audio recordings were then extracted, and video recordings were destroyed. Audio-only recordings were pseudonymised, then sent to an external provider for transcription. Names, locations, and other identifying features were removed during professional transcription. Pseudonyms are used to present quotes in the results section of this paper.

6.2.5 Data analysis

Data collected in this study was analysed by AHW using an inductive approach to reflexive thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2019a). Data was interpreted from a critical realist epistemological standpoint (Willig, 2013a). As such, the focus of the analysis was on interpretation of meaning in context.

Data analysis followed the six stages of thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006). AHW read and re-read interview transcripts, and re-listened to the audio data, comparing this with field notes, and adding further notes as needed. Finalised transcripts were imported to NVivo 12 (QSR International Pty Ltd, 2012). AHW then systematically generated codes, using an inductive, data-driven approach. Data was coded in meaning units and included in vivo codes. Existing codes were iterated throughout the coding process, and NVivo 'memos' were used to make notes about interesting features of the whole dataset.

Once coding was complete (coding manual provided in Appendix G), AHW searched for themes. Codes were collated into clusters of meaning to create candidate themes (Braun et al., 2019). Candidate themes were tested out in relation to the dataset and research objectives, then expanded upon using quotes to evidence claims. Themes were reviewed by FB and AHW to ensure overall fit to the coded dataset. Themes were iterated, a thematic

map was created, and theme names and details were finalised. Lastly, the research team created this report (first draft by AHW).

6.3 Results

Four themes were generated: 'Trustworthy information, or experiences?', 'Diagnostic labels in a digital world', 'The online chronic pain community', and 'A mind and body approach to self-management'. Figure 10 presents a thematic map.



Figure 9. Thematic map.

6.3.1 Trustworthy information, or experiences?

The theme 'Trustworthy information, or experiences?' encompasses how adolescents and young adults use the internet to seek information about chronic pain and pain management. As might be expected within a group of young people who have grown up in a rapidly changing digital world, a variety of resources were talked about. Young people talked about using 'trusted' or 'trustworthy' health information resources, combined with information shared from an experiential viewpoint online, to shape their understanding of pain and pain management. In most cases, they turned to the internet first, before seeking advice in-person.

"The first thing I did was Google, so the NHS resources, and from there I found the Hypermobility Syndromes Association, and then I found the Facebook support groups, which have been so, so useful." – Cameron

How individuals reached the conclusion that resources were trustworthy was a central discussion. Young people described the NHS website as trustworthy because it is tied to the UK healthcare system, and they generally trust the healthcare system. Other information resources that were trusted included (i) charity-run websites, which were often linked via the NHS, and (ii) health information websites that presented information from academic sources.

"... the only ones I really use are like the EDS [Ehlers-Danlos Syndromes] website, NHS website, just the kind of main ones that I know I can trust, because I don't want to be feeding myself false information." - Laurie

"I find the Fibromyalgia Action UK Facebook quite helpful sometimes, and they have really interesting articles about new ways of dealing with it." – Cameron

Young people also sought information about chronic pain using videos posted by 'professionals' on YouTube. Here, there was discussion about ensuring the 'professional' was credible and "*actually qualified as what they're claiming to be*," (Eden). Young people believed they could make informed choices about who to watch and listen to.

A key reason for diverting away from the NHS website, highlighted by several interviewees, was that it was lacking in detailed information on chronic pain and that the treatment options offered were 'basic' or 'generic'. In reference to fibromyalgia, participants described the NHS website *"missing a lot out"* (Alex) and providing nothing new. Many interviewees were inclined towards seeking pain management methods that they had not tried before, rather than re-trying any options listed by the NHS.

"... in terms of treatment and stuff, I don't think it's updated very recently and it's a very one road type approach to treatment, so it just like your typical pharmaceutical approach, your physio. I mean there are alternative approaches as well." – Jamie

Beyond health information-seeking, the internet was also used to search for experientiallybased advice on pain management, which was highly valued and generally trusted. Deciding who, and how much, to trust online was a complex process; this is discussed in greater depth in 'The online chronic pain community' theme (Figure 10). This trust in experience was, however, also present in relation to non-community platforms, such as blogs and forums.

"I would scroll through the pages on Google, looking for... not so much doctors or web page stuff, I wanted to see more what people had to say about it. It did take a while because I had to go through so many different pages just to find people that were relevant to what I had." – Erin

In trusting others online, participants considered factors such as online identity, accuracy of experiential accounts, as well as advertising and 'influencing'. Pain management strategies suggested online were sometimes verified for accuracy with a healthcare professional inperson:

"Obviously, at the end of the day, these are all just strangers on the internet, so yeah, take everything they say with a pinch of salt but it's nice to know that they're out there and they have advice of what you could ask your own doctor." – Harley

'Trustworthy information, or experiences?', is linked with 'Diagnostic labels in a digital world', where others' advice seemed to be more readily trusted if they had an online identity that clearly featured chronic pain.

6.3.2 Diagnostic labels in a digital world

This theme emphasises a core message from young people with pain: relevant online information and support groups for chronic pain cannot be found without knowing what to look for.

A diagnosis of chronic pain was perceived as being crucial for ensuring accurate information about pain management strategies could be sourced online. This was typically emphasised in relation to information-seeking using internet searches (e.g., Google). Young people highlighted that once a diagnosis is made, this changes their internet search history, which becomes 'tailored' to the diagnosis.

"I mean my own search history has changed since I was diagnosed, because I just never knew anything, like I hadn't even heard of it." – Alex

This focus on information-seeking around diagnosis links to a broader issue seen in young people with chronic pain, where experiences of diagnostic uncertainty are common. In synchrony with the rapidly changing digital world, this diagnostic search has become intertwined with internet use, where the diagnostic label becomes the search term.

Searching for a diagnostic label and 'pre-diagnosis' internet searching may fuel each other bi-directionally. Young people spoke of attempting to prompt a diagnosis from their doctor by 'researching' the suspected condition before appointments.

"I found obviously the NHS page and just reading all the symptoms and it was just all adding up and "could it be something like this?" because it's not like you can get a blood test for it and the doctors could just miss it. So, I booked an appointment, and I didn't mention the

fibromyalgia because I didn't want to put something in the doctor's head that might not be the case, but when I went to the doctor, I said about all my symptoms and the first thing he said was, "fibromyalgia"." – Dylan

Participants compared searching based on a specific diagnosis to searching symptoms. The latter resulted in anxiety-provoking, worst-case scenarios appearing in the search results. Obtaining a diagnostic label ensures appropriate information resources can be found online and prevents escalation of symptom-based internet searching.

"I think obviously it's better once you get a diagnosis because... when you're just searching like "pelvic pain", "bad periods", everything is coming up, it's like, "You have cancer" and everything and you're like, "Oh my god!" but now you actually know what it is, it's a lot better because you can like search around your diagnosis" - Frankie

Though the diagnostic label was often initially typed into internet searches to find accurate pain management information, the purpose of the search often shifted towards seeking experiential advice. Individuals were drawn towards online blogs and forums, as well as reading and listening to other young people's experiences of chronic pain on social media platforms. 'Diagnostic labels in a digital world' has a different meaning in context of seeking support from others with lived experience; the diagnostic label becomes part of an online identity. For example, the label itself may be present in an Instagram or Twitter handle or may be used as a hashtag (#) to validate the pain condition.

"I feel more valid by the fact that it's a condition, beforehand you wouldn't go on Instagram and just search like "pain" but if you follow people who have got like EDS [Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome] and people talk about that stuff." – Toni

Engaging with social media, whether liking a video or sharing your own story, requires an online identity. Participants expressed the belief that having an online identity featuring chronic pain is essential for online group membership. The structure of social media may have contributed to such beliefs, where diagnostic labels are used to identify the group and its members. One young person spoke about membership of a 'general' group for pain, but legitimised the group by referring to those members who had a diagnostic label:

"I'm part of, not one of the official groups but one that's got quite a lot of members, people that have got hypermobility syndromes, EDS and people like that. And they have been so supportive when it comes to seeking help, and they're often a lot more knowledgeable than regular people would be." – Cameron

Young people also touched on the idea that *"some people get very competitively ill"* (in vivo code – Toni), in that they may challenge others' diagnoses online. Such challenges may increase the perceived need for a diagnostic label.

"It can be quite draining just seeing people all the time being like, "Well I've got this" or, "I've got that" or downplaying people's pain, being like, "No, you haven't got that, yours isn't as bad as mine", that can be quite, I don't want to say "toxic" but it's not very good." – Jamie

6.3.3 The online chronic pain community

'The online chronic pain community' highlights that young people believe the online resource that has been the most helpful to them for managing chronic pain is the Instagram 'community' of young people with chronic pain. Interviewees talked about using Instagram to seek information to help them understand chronic pain, and to seek practical pain management and empathetic support from others with lived experience. When accessing the online chronic pain community for pain management purposes, information-seeking and support-seeking became inseparable.

Being part of an online 'community' came across as distinctly different from being part of a user-group. Accessing forums was centred around information-seeking, rather than interpersonal interactions between users. Whereas, in online communities, interpersonal exchanges of empathetic support and advice between individuals was central.

"I just have learned a lot, especially about pain and the different kinds of pain as well and it's really nice because I can relate with other people, so they'll be like "I'll have this and this" and then you sit there and think "oh my gosh yeah, that's how I feel as well, that's how my body's feeling", that's really amazing, that's probably been the best thing so far, this little Instagram community I've found." - Dylan

Some individuals talked about using Instagram to branch out to YouTube and blogs for the purpose of reading or listening to another young person's lived experience of chronic pain. Sometimes this was purposed as seeking advice, however sometimes reading experiences of others from the 'community' was enmeshed with helping the young person feel less alone with pain.

"Mainly social media and online, like the NHS website, because you do feel so alone, you want to find if there's anyone dealing with the same thing and then if they're having any successful methods of relieving it." – Laurie

Thinking about the online communities outside of Instagram, there were suggestions that a safe space for young people with chronic pain to interact is needed. These suggestions were not specific to the pain condition, with emphasis that across conditions, the experience of being a young person with pain is shared.

"... it would have been helpful to have a community of, like a safely accessible, because I was only so young, safe accessible sort of forums and sort of support group discussion type things for younger people experiencing it." – Eden

Establishing an online community as 'safe' inherently links to the theme 'Trustworthy information, or experiences?' (Figure 9). The issue of online safety prompts questions about whether the person contributing to the community can be trusted; the accuracy of their online identity, and motivations for sharing information or advice. The above quote (Eden) emphasises that online safety is especially important in younger adolescence. Nonetheless, advice based on lived experience of chronic pain is embraced by young people in online communities.

Initial formation of online communities, and subsequent trust in online communities, may be fuelled by the underlying belief that the real-world perceives *"young people shouldn't have pain"* (Cameron), which was distinctly noticeable throughout interviews. Young people conveyed that their experiences of chronic pain are misunderstood by others in their social world and 'dismissed' by healthcare professionals.

"Lots of family members have told me, "Oh, you're so young, you shouldn't have these issues, you're so youthful, this is the prime of your life, why can't you go and do this stuff?" and I'm like, "I physically can't, my body won't let me" this is a point of contention between me and my dad." – Harley

"I don't really like to talk about it with people because they don't really get it, and then I just feel really invalidated. I guess maybe a bit like alone from it? Yeah. Maybe a bit cut off from my friends." – Charlie

Family members and friends who experience pain were favoured when seeking in-person advice and support. Joining an online community may similarly help validate the experience of pain and its impact on quality of life. It is unlikely that advice based on lived experience of chronic pain will be rejected or questioned, because there is a great deal of shared empathy surrounding these experiences.

"... the fact that all of us on the community have some kind of pain, we all kind of have that basic knowledge of what that's like, and I don't think there's that many people with

EDS and I feel like, to separate people with different things, even though we all have chronic pain, I think it would just make things complicated." – Laurie

There is a clear link to diagnostic labelling here, where an online identity that includes chronic pain remains important to be embraced into the 'community'. Though, as per the quote from Laurie, and unlike 'official' groups (e.g., charity-led Facebook groups), there is less focus on specific diagnoses on Instagram. This online community is likely to continue growing as these young people act together to provide validation and support for each other.

Interestingly, some advice from members of the community drew from evidence-based information and analogies used in multimodal pain treatment, such as 'spoon theory' (used to explain fatigue) and use of Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation (TENS) (Vance et al., 2014).

"I learn a lot off [of] other people and I know a lot of people who I follow are in pain management, and they've got, they obviously see therapists and whatnot and so yeah, I guess that's how they've learned, and they've put all their stuff on." – Dylan

However, though intending to be helpful, some suggestions encouraged pain acceptance to the point of giving-up on functional improvements. For example, 'balancing' activities included accepting full-time employment was not realistic. This misconstrues how pacing would be used in clinical practice; pacing should be a stepped-progression towards improved functioning (Rajapakse et al., 2014).

6.3.4 A mind and body approach to self-management

This theme encapsulates how young people use the internet to facilitate nonpharmacological pain self-management strategies. Specifically, young people talked about their use of the internet to improve any combination of their mood, sleep, and physical activity levels as part of a general effort to manage chronic pain.

This theme can be indirectly connected to 'The online chronic pain community', as interviewees that were heavily engaged with social media talked about self-management in terms of what they had learnt from online communities.

"... especially fibro and IBS, I've recently learned they're so, so interlinked with one another and even how both of those are interlinked with how stressed you are, how much sleep you get, how active you are..." – Dylan

Resources used to target mood and sleep that were mentioned frequently included mindfulness apps, Calm (<u>https://www.calm.com/</u>) and Headspace (<u>https://www.headspace.com/</u>), and YouTube. Young people identified that commercial apps can be expensive. Once the free components of commercial apps had been exhausted, YouTube was generally favoured for mindfulness, meditations, and other relaxation resources.

Young people also used YouTube to participate in online yoga. YouTube yoga was talked about noticeably more than any other exercise technique. Aside from these classes being free and doubling as relaxation, an important context for the current study was the COVID-19 pandemic. It is likely that YouTube yoga became the most practical low-impact exercise choice for many people under 'stay at home' guidance.

"I tried to do some yoga during lockdown and then walking my dog, if it's not been too much, on days where the pain in my legs is more prevalent, my parents have taken my dog out for a walk instead of me, so I've tried to opt for a more easy form of yoga, just to kind of stretch and still do some exercise that isn't too strenuous. - Skye

One individual pointed out that exercising at home, using online resources, avoids feeling embarrassed about one's exercise ability. This links to the belief discussed in 'The online chronic pain community', that *"young people shouldn't have pain"* (Cameron). In this case the experience being misunderstood by others' is the impact of chronic pain on exercise participation.

"... everyone talks about things like do some strengthening activities like yoga or Pilates but when you're in pain, you don't feel like doing that so if there's particular key aspects you could just do at home, or try to build up to without having the pressure of anyone else looking at you." – Billie

6.4 Discussion

This qualitative interview study explored internet and social media use by 24 older adolescents with chronic pain. Objectives included exploring information-seeking surrounding chronic pain, resources that have helped facilitate pain management, which resources have been the most helpful, and why. Three closely interlinked themes were generated: 'Trustworthy information, or experiences?', 'Diagnostic labels in a digital world', and 'The online chronic pain community'. A fourth theme 'A mind and body approach to selfmanagement' was also identified and linked indirectly to the community theme (Figure 9).

The theme 'Trustworthy information, or experiences?' revealed that non-professional advice on pain management was sought out frequently. There was a strong sense of trust in others' lived experience of chronic pain, which was expanded upon in the online community theme. Trusting advice given online is a complex issue, given that 16 to 24-year-olds are more likely than the average adult to agree that people should be able to post on social media anonymously, hiding their identity (Ofcom, 2020). This indicates young people are likely to take advice given by others online, regardless of legitimacy. Further, coining a diagnostic label for chronic pain seemed to increase trust. These are 'strangers on the internet', therefore advice should always be checked with a healthcare professional. Relaying this message to young people can be difficult, as the tendency to believe online health misinformation is dependent on the individual and the context (Scherer & Pennycook, 2020). Clinicians working in primary care may be best positioned to prompt young people to be cautious about taking advice found online. This may serve as a protective measure at the peak of internet searching; when pain is first labelled as chronic, and when patients are placed on waiting-lists for multimodal or psychological therapies.

Within the theme 'Diagnostic labels in a digital world', young people portrayed a high focus on obtaining a diagnosis, and this was intertwined with internet use. Often the diagnostic label becomes the internet search term, handle, or hashtag, and can shape the young person's online identity. This extends findings from other qualitative research exploring diagnostic uncertainty in young people with chronic pain. Diagnostic uncertainty was experienced by nearly one third of adolescents in one study, and a diagnosis of idiopathic chronic pain is often not accepted (Neville et al., 2019; Neville et al., 2020). Adolescents often embark on a search for the 'right' diagnosis that continues for several years, despite physicians' attempts to cease further diagnostic testing (Neville, Noel, et al., 2021). A key question for future research is to what extent social media, which requires labels inherently in its structure, is fuelling young people's search for a diagnosis with chronic pain.

The current study found that young people with pain turn to 'The online chronic pain community' partly because they feel misunderstood by others in their social world. This mirrors findings from previous research, that adolescents with chronic pain are likely to interpret non-supportive social interactions with close friends as more distressing, and that they tend to endorse, and expect, social support from friends (Forgeron et al., 2011). Similarly, a qualitative synthesis of interpersonal relationships in adolescent chronic pain found discrepancies between adolescent's and other's perception of the impact of pain on daily life (Jordan et al., 2017). Young people in this study talked about feeling 'dismissed' by healthcare professionals, and this may further contribute to their search for validation and empathy through the online 'community'. An interpretative case study, which investigated the
Chapter 6/ Paper 3

appropriation of Instagram for adults with chronic illness (Isika et al., 2020), similarly highlighted that emotional support exchanges and validation contribute to the appropriation of Instagram for illness management. However, content moderation on social media remains a pressing issue (Harris, 2021; Scherer & Pennycook, 2020); it is important to remind young people to remain vigilant of health misinformation and not to endorse online advice solely based on shared empathy.

Internet use represents an important context for engagement with digital interventions; understanding context from users' point of view can impact intervention success (O'Cathain et al., 2019; Yardley et al., 2016; Yardley et al., 2015). Findings from the current study illuminate three points that should be considered by developers of online interventions for 16 to-24-year-olds with chronic pain. First, young people emphasise the importance of online communities to support everyday pain management, hence adding a community platform or message board within interventions may improve engagement. Second, it is important that novel online interventions and resources are linked via a trusted source such as the NHS website. Third, young people are open to all types of chronic pain being addressed within the same platform; they identify that the overall experience of chronic pain requires addressing, rather than specific conditions.

Limitations include that the sample did not represent young people with cancer-related or neuropathic pain, and disproportionality represented participants of female sex (only one male was interviewed). Nonetheless, a range of chronic pain conditions were represented. Two individuals who did not identify with a male or female gender were interviewed in this study; it is important the experiences of LGBTQA+ young people are included in chronic pain research, especially where intervention is intended for use across genders.

6.4.1 Conclusions

This study is the first qualitative exploration of internet use in UK-based young people with chronic pain; this is an important topic given the rapid expansion of digital healthcare over the past few years. This study highlights the importance of considering internet use in context of developing new online interventions for young people with chronic pain, and the importance of considering young people's internet use in clinical practice. Findings showed that young people tend to trust advice from others whom they consider to be part of their online community. Clinicians working with young people with chronic pain should advise them to check pain management strategies others suggest online with their doctor. Findings also revealed that having a diagnostic label helps young people find relevant support networks and appropriate pain management online. Lastly, young people acknowledge the

Chapter 6/ Paper 3

link between pain and mood; they use a variety of online resources for mindfulness, and yoga. Clinicians should empower young people in the safe use of available resources to facilitate chronic pain self-management, as appropriate.

7.1 Summary of findings

Findings from the three papers presented in this thesis are summarised in numerical order, starting with the review and content analysis of online interventions for paediatric chronic pain (Chapter 4/ Paper 1), followed by the needs-assessment survey targeting adolescents (Chapter 5/ Paper 2), and then the thematic analysis exploring internet use in older adolescents (Chapter 6/ Paper 3).

Interdisciplinary content included in existing online interventions for paediatric chronic pain management was evaluated with reference to UK evidence-based guidelines in Paper 1 (Hurley-Wallace et al., 2021). The content analysis identified 13 interdisciplinary online interventions that have been developed internationally, revealing a lack of interventions covering all aspects of pain management in-line with an interdisciplinary, biopsychosocial approach. Existing online interventions that focus on a specific pain condition, or therapeutic technique (such as CBT), have potential to be further developed to include a broader range of content. This may include content such as videos of basic physiotherapy exercises. Further development of existing online interventions is warranted in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, to ensure interdisciplinary pain management content can be accessed from home. None of the interdisciplinary interventions for chronic pain identified in the review had been developed in the UK or evaluated in UK paediatric samples.

Many of the interventions included in the content analysis were targeted at adolescents, including an exemplary intervention for JIA which encompassed all nine of the target chronic pain management strategies identified by the research team ('Teens Taking Charge' (Connelly et al., 2019; Stinson et al., 2010a)). Adolescents represent an important target group for online pain self-management interventions, as they are heavy internet users and self-management may support their developmental transition to independence. It is important that new interventions being developed reflect current best practice guidelines for patient-centred, interdisciplinary pain management (World Health Organization, 2020). New interventions should seek to incorporate insights from children and adolescents with chronic pain, and their families, using a robust development approach such as the PBA (Yardley et al., 2015). Process evaluations of interventions should be pre-planned to allow investigation of which intervention components are effective for which users and in which contexts (Moore et al., 2015).

The survey presented in Paper 2 (Hurley-Wallace et al., 2020) conducted a needsassessment for a new, UK-based, online intervention for adolescents with chronic pain. Ninety-five participants completed the online survey (54 adolescents and 41 parents), where 16 to 18-year-olds self-reported and parents reported on behalf of 12 to 15-year-olds (parent proxy). Findings highlighted adolescents aged 16 to 18-years commonly use online resources and social media for managing chronic pain; many adolescents turn to Instagram and YouTube for content and support. A suggested solution to avoid potentially harmful online content was to create a freely available, NHS-linked, resource for adolescents with chronic pain. Quantitative findings additionally indicated that online access to a range of interdisciplinary pain management techniques is desired. Some barriers and facilitators to using a new intervention for chronic pain management were also identified. Barriers included levels of pain and fatigue determining engagement with an online program, as well as the program having too much text, or taking too long to work through. Parent comments emphasised the need to ensure the program was not condescending, which was echoed in comments from adolescents.

A content analysis was conducted on written responses to the survey question, 'What are your initial thoughts about creating a new online resource that could help young people/ you manage chronic pain?'. Responses indicated a new online resource for chronic pain would be endorsed by adolescents and parents. Needs for online connectedness and age-specific content were emphasised. Research exploring how adolescents use social media to seek pain management support was recommended.

Paper 3 presented a thematic analysis of semi-structured interviews conducted with 24 young people (16 to 24-year-olds, UK-based) with chronic pain. Findings highlighted the importance of considering internet and social media use as integral in the long-term management of pain. Four themes were generated using an inductive approach to reflexive thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2019a): 'Trustworthy information, or experiences?', 'Diagnostic labels in a digital world', 'The online chronic pain community', and 'A mind and body approach to self-management'. The first three themes were interlinked, conveying that young people are likely to trust advice from others whom they consider to be part of their online community. Obtaining a clear diagnostic label helps them find relevant online communities, as labels are an inherent structure of social media. In reference to the self-management theme, young people acknowledge the bi-directional relationship between pain and mood and should be empowered in the safe use of mindfulness, meditation, and other similar relaxation apps.

The thematic analysis also highlighted three key points for intervention developers to consider when designing an intervention for chronic pain management for 16 to 24-year-olds. First, young people turn to online communities to support everyday pain management, hence adding a community element to interventions may improve engagement. Second, novel online interventions and resources should be linked to a trusted source such as the NHS website. Third, young people identify that the experience of being a young person with chronic pain is shared, regardless of specific diagnoses. Hence, they are open to all types of chronic pain being addressed within one platform.

7.2 Considering context: internet use

The recommendations made in subsequent sections of this discussion must be considered in relation to findings from previous research. There has been relatively little research on internet use in young people with chronic pain. In general, usage statistics are presented by commercial companies (Ofcom, 2019, 2020). However, reports that provide usage statistics do not clarify why certain groups use certain platforms, and for which purposes. Each of the papers presented in thesis has been introduced by acknowledging that young people of the current generation are native internet users (Bolton et al., 2013). Although they are experts in the digital world, until this point, research has not thought to directly ask young people with chronic pain what they are using and why. Echoing the PBA (Yardley et al., 2015), internet use for chronic condition management is an important psychosocial context that must be considered when developing online interventions for young people and provide insights into how novel interventions might fit with resources that are already being used. Only one other study has investigated social media use in this population (Forgeron et al., 2019).

The point that online chronic communities are important for emotional support and validation of chronic pain (Paper 3) builds on findings from a scoping review which investigated YouTube as a platform for social support (Forgeron et al., 2019). Adolescents with chronic pain were found to be engaging in interpersonal, supportive interactions with other adolescents with chronic pain in video comments sections. A strong sense of shared empathy was emphasised with the overarching message 'you are not alone!'. The review investigating how adolescents with chronic pain use YouTube searched for relevant videos using the terms 'youth' and 'teens', hence there is no certainty of the age range these findings are relevant to. It may be that young people's preference of online platform for seeking and providing social support varies with age, or that preferred platforms for seeking social support simply vary with the everchanging digital landscape. Considering the latter,

the way that young people interact online is likely dependent on which platform is most popular at the time. Research in the area of internet use must keep pace with the changing digital world, and the temporal context of individual studies be considered, especially when developing novel online interventions.

7.3 Recommendations for intervention developers

The following subsections outline: (i) guiding principles that may be used by intervention development teams seeking to create (or adapt) interventions for adolescents with chronic pain, (ii) how relevant theories could be integrated into a novel intervention for adolescents with chronic pain, with suggestions for specific theories that could be integrated, and (iii) how behaviour change techniques could be integrated in the design of a novel intervention.

7.3.1 Guiding principles

As discussed in Chapter 1, the PBA stipulates that the planning stage of development should lend to the formation of guiding principles that can be utilised by intervention development teams going forward (Yardley et al., 2015). Guiding principles specify design objectives, which are mapped to suggested key features of an intervention that will help meet these objectives. The design objectives outline what the intervention must achieve in order to address target users' needs and improve overall engagement with the intervention (Morrison et al., 2018). Alongside gaining qualitative insights, the planning stage of complex intervention development may also include examination of relevant theory and evidence from other trials (Yardley et al., 2015). Therefore, the following guiding principles (Table 6) are outlined based on insights illuminated by this thesis. These principles relate to the identified target user-group of 16 to 24-year-olds with chronic pain (all types), who are eligible for NHS (UK-based) healthcare.

Intervention design objectives	Key features	Relevant paper(s) or findings principles are inferred from	
To help young people to independently manage chronic pain into adulthood.	Intervention should develop skills that facilitate self- management of chronic pain. Examples may include goal- setting (SMART goals), activity pacing, cognitive skills to address catastrophizing, mindfulness, and relaxation strategies.	Paper 1: Identified that parent- integrated interventions are not as successful for older adolescents.	
		Paper 1: Highlighted key components that have been included in successful interventions (e.g., CBT components).	
		Paper 2: Content analysis Category 2, 'Helpful'; Sub- category: 'Improving accessibility'.	
		Thesis introduction/ narrative review: CQC guidance on provision of transitional services for young people with complex physical needs (up to age 24).	
To reassure young people that the resource they are using is evidence- based and trustworthy.	Ensure the intervention in is clearly linked or endorsed by a trusted body, such as the NHS. Ensure information provided within the intervention is clearly referenced.	Paper 1: It is important to ensure multimodal, interdisciplinary resources can be mapped to the evidence-base (which can be done using guidance for best practice).	
		Paper 2: Linking an online resource to a service/ clinic was 'moderately' important.	
		Paper 3: 'Trustworthy information, or experiences?' theme. Young people trust the NHS website but feel it is too 'basic.'	
To enable young people to share their experiences of chronic pain in a safe online space.	Add a community platform to the intervention, such as a community feed, forum, or message board, which is accessible by all participants.	Paper 2: Instagram highlighted as a key resource (42% used this for pain management). The content analysis highlighted the need for 'connectedness.' Monitoring of potentially harmful	

Table 6. Guiding principles for an online intervention for young people with chronic pain.

	A healthcare professional trained in chronic pain management should monitor the community platform. Establishment of community rules to ensure online safety. This should include a function that enables young people to report or flag content and comments that they believe breach these rules.	content also highlighted in discussion. Paper 3: 'The online chronic pain community' theme. Ensuring online safety also links with 'Trustworthy information, or experiences?'
To acknowledge the impact of chronic pain on the daily lives of young people.	Provision of examples and vignettes that are representative of young people's daily experiences with pain. Focus on improving areas of functioning that are specifically relevant to young people, such as education and work, and interpersonal relationships. Provision of content that acknowledges and addresses the emotional impact of living with chronic pain. This could include psychological components from, for example, CBT and ACT.	Paper 2: Most wanted content in a new resource was 'advice on explaining chronic pain to others' (interpersonal relationships). Paper 3: 'The online chronic pain community' theme. Experiences of chronic pain as a young person asserted as being different to older people. Young people turn to online because in- person interpersonal relationships are often poor. Paper 3: 'A mind and body approach to self-management.' Young people acknowledge the need for psychological components in pain management. Thesis introduction/ narrative review: CBT and ACT are recommended in the most recent guidance for managing chronic pain in over 16's (NICE).

Barriers and facilitators to using a new program were also briefly explored in Paper 2. Barriers included levels of pain and fatigue interrupting engagement, and the program having too much text, taking too long, or being condescending. These barriers and facilitators can be considered in the full intervention design through integration of behavioural analysis. Indeed, guiding principles are not intended to replace the underpinning theoretical model of how intervention components map onto behaviour change techniques (see Behaviour Change, section 7.3.3) (Yardley et al., 2015).

Guiding principles are outlined to summarise key features that are central to achieving the intervention objectives, which can be easily referred back to throughout the intervention development process. The target group for which the intervention should be designed has been clearly identified as: 16 to 24-year-olds with chronic pain (all types), who are eligible for NHS (UK-based) healthcare. In designing the first draft of an intervention for chronic pain self-management, it is also important to also consider how theoretical models (and which ones) could be integrated. This would represent a combination approach (person-based and theory-based) to intervention development (O'Cathain et al., 2019).

7.3.2 Integrating theory

The planning stage of the PBA focuses on understanding the user-group and the psychosocial context in which users will engage with the intervention (Yardley et al., 2015). However, research teams in other areas of health (e.g., reducing transmission of cold and flu (see Yardley et al., 2010)) have integrated health psychology theories such as the Theory of Planned Behaviour (Ajzen, 1991) into intervention design and development alongside initial qualitative insights from the target population.

Thinking about the findings from the papers presented in this thesis, there is potential to integrate health psychology theories relevant to managing chronic pain in young people. As stated in Paper 1 (Hurley-Wallace et al., 2020), it is important that new interventions being developed encompass interdisciplinary pain management. Therefore, the biopsychosocial approach, which underpins interdisciplinary pain management, is an essential integration for any chronic pain management intervention. In addition, the thematic analysis presented in Paper 3 can be interpreted through the lens of The Common-Sense Model (CSM) (Leventhal et al., 2003), and may be considered as a suitable theory for integration in a novel chronic pain intervention (see section 7.3.2.2).

The IFAM (Goubert & Simons, 2013), which was presented in section 3.1.2, is not suggested for integration within a self-management program for transitional adolescents. This is because the guiding principles presented are relevant to young people aged 16-years and over. This population are considered adults with regards to their healthcare; therefore, a new intervention would focus on self-management and promotion of independence. Additionally, findings from the review and content analysis (Paper 1) highlighted that existing parent-integrated online interventions for chronic pain, are not as effective for older adolescents aged 15-years and over (Murray, de la Vega, et al., 2019).

In the following subsections, findings from Papers 2 and 3, which pertain to the views and opinions of adolescent participants, are aligned with (i) the biopsychosocial approach, which stems from The Biopsychosocial Model (Engel, 1977), and (ii) the CSM (Leventhal et al., 2003). These two models are proposed for integration in the development of a novel intervention for the self-management of chronic pain in young people.

7.3.2.1 The biopsychosocial approach

Looking first at insights from young people that took part in the interview study (Paper 3), findings indicated that they understand pain management as a 'mind-body' approach, and that they often turn to social media for advice and support for chronic pain management. This maps to the biopsychosocial approach, where use of the internet represents an important psychosocial context for pain management. The 'mind-body' view of long-term pain management indicates an awareness of needing to engage in both physical and psychological pain management techniques to reduce the impact of chronic pain. Young people's engagement with mindfulness resources, and their awareness of the relationship between pain and mood, is indicative that psychological techniques are likely to be viewed as acceptable within an interdisciplinary intervention.

Whilst the online chronic pain community was important to many of the young people interviewed in Paper 3, they generally emphasised the importance of having a social support network both online and offline. The online world and the offline world are not separate entities; the two things knit together, and this is also evident within the diagnostic labels theme from the thematic analysis. From the survey (Paper 2), the most desired strategy in a new online resource was 'advice on explaining chronic pain to others.' The qualitative content analysis also indicated a clear need for resources which allow adolescents to connect in a similar way to social media. Again, this emphasises that social support in an online intervention is very important to adolescents, however, this does not replace the need for stronger interpersonal relationships in-person.

Findings from the survey also pointed towards adolescents wanting a resource similar to a 'pain management toolbox', where they can access a variety of resources and choose which they want to use. Overall, an intervention that incorporates biological, psychological, and social pain management techniques is likely to be endorsed by young people over the age of 16, as it fits with their needs and can be conveniently accessed.

7.3.2.2 The Common-Sense Model

Findings from the interview study (Paper 3) can be interpreted through the lens of the CSM of self-regulation of health and illness (Leventhal et al., 2003). The following paragraphs explain this interpretation using the CSM and propose the CSM as a relevant model that could be integrated in the design of an intervention for young people with chronic pain.

The first three themes presented in the thematic analysis were strongly interlinked: 'Trustworthy information, or experiences?' and 'Diagnostic labels in a digital world' and 'The online chronic pain community'. The diagnostic labelling theme, and particularly the question of why identity and labelling are so important to young people with chronic pain, resonates particularly strongly with the CSM.

The CSM proposes a parallel system of coping with illness threat using both active cognitive processing and emotional control. According to the CSM, the first step in dealing with chronic illness involves developing illness representations, or 'lay' beliefs about the condition (Hale et al., 2007; Nerenz & Leventhal, 1983). Five domains of illness representations are described: identity, timeline, cause, consequences, and control. As novel information is integrated with existing schemas, illness representations can broaden from being encompassed by one or two domains to all five (Leventhal et al., 2003). It has been argued, with regard to identity, that people like to have a label for their symptoms, and in this case a label for chronic pain, to legitimize their symptoms (Hale et al., 2007). As per the thematic analysis from Paper 3, engaging with social media requires an online identity, and young people indeed felt more 'valid' coining their diagnostic label when seeking support online. This may branch from diagnostic uncertainty experienced by adolescents in real life (see section 1.2.2.1) (Neville et al., 2019; Neville et al., 2020).

The importance placed on the diagnostic label may also relate to the control domain of the CSM. Beliefs about whether pain can be kept under control and the extent to which the individual plays a role in this are an inherent to self-management. Indeed, young people relayed the belief that they have more control over their pain management through identifying what the condition is, as this enables them to find accurate treatment information when searching online. Nonetheless, when turning to social media resources, diagnostic labels appear to shift purpose towards legitimization of the pain condition.

Illness representations (i.e., identity and control) are expected to influence subsequent coping efforts (Hale, 2007). Clarifying illness representations, and subsequent treatment representations are essential in developing successful action plans for illness management (Leventhal et al., 2016); in this case chronic pain management. For example, interventions

targeting adolescents with chronic pain could consider clarifying the characteristics of the condition (managing illness representations), before then clarifying how the impact of pain can be monitored to understand if treatment modalities are working (managing treatment representations). However, treatment representations are influenced by a number of other interrelated factors beyond illness representations alone.

The original CSM (Leventhal et al., 2003) emphasises that coping efforts (e.g., pain management strategies) are constantly appraised and modified. The dynamic model of treatment perceptions (Yardley et al., 2001) proposed that concrete treatment representations are influenced by four dimensions of appraisal: past experiences of treatment (including cost and convenience), perceived changes in symptoms, perceived competence of the healthcare professional, and past experiences with the healthcare professional in question (Yardley et al., 2001; Bishop et al., 2008). Indeed, as discussed under the chronic pain community theme in the qualitative study presented (Paper 3), young people felt generally dismissed by healthcare professionals, and in the interviews overall there was a sense that past experiences of treatment were negative, where young people seemed to constantly search for new pain management strategies on the internet. These young people have negative treatment expectations relating to primary care in particular, where trial-and-error action plans for pain management are perceived as unsystematic guess work. This process of trial-and-error seems to be continued by young people using treatment information they find online, which is arguably more convenient and less emotionally taxing than contacting their GP. This links back to the previous point: that interventions for young people chronic pain should endeavour to manage treatment expectations and help them create realistic action plans for long-term pain management. This involves also understanding and accepting that chronic pain will not go away i.e., managing illness representations especially around timeline and control. Once treatment outcomes are appraised positively by young people, this will halt the cycle of treatmentseeking, which many young people seem to be stuck in. Some further treatment modification is likely over time; however, treatment expectations must be reframed to encourage acceptance of pain chronicity.

Overall, the convenience of online intervention maps well to the CSM, and it also makes sense to include a section of pain education that addresses how chronic pain can be labelled (or remain labelled as simply 'chronic pain'). Drawing from the CSM, interventions may also include content that encourages acceptance that pain is going to remain chronic (ACT component), and a component that helps young people create realistic action plans for pain management (e.g., SMART goals). Indeed, ACT is a core recommendation within recent guidance for chronic pain management in over 16's (NICE, 2021). Thus, the CSM can

be considered a suitable theoretical framework for an online intervention that would need to sit in a broader biopsychosocial framework, in order to align with clinical practice.

7.3.2.2.1 The CSM and mind-body pain management

The CSM can also be used to understand the endorsement of mind-body self-management, such as yoga, which was identified in the thematic analysis (Paper 3). This can be helpful in considering how better engagement with recommended pain management strategies can be facilitated in the population of young people with chronic pain (both in-person and online). The aforementioned dimensions of treatment representations can be integrated into a dynamic extended CSM (Bishop et al., 2008). This model has been applied to the use of CAM, finding that treatment appraisals (perceptions of therapist and difficulties travelling to appointments) were associated with ongoing CAM use. It is likely that yoga is appraised positively by young people, and thus continued, because it is: (a) practical with regard to ability to practice from home, (b) perceived to have the dual positive effect on improving pain, as well as mood, (c) perceived that the teacher/ therapist is competent. The dynamic extended CSM could be tested in future research in relation to yoga participation.

7.3.3 Behaviour Change

As an intervention for chronic pain management will require young people to make long-term changes to their behaviour, integration of specific Behaviour Change Techniques (BCTs) (Michie et al., 2013) will be essential to intervention design. The guiding principles presented (which may change with further qualitative research) provide design objectives and suggested features. However, in order to ensure the intervention addresses relevant areas of behaviour change, identified features (components) can be mapped to relevant BCTs and outcomes, using a logic model (Morrison et al., 2018). Table 7 provides a simple example drawing from the key features suggested in Table 6.

Intervention component	BCTs	Processes	Outcomes
Skill development: goal -setting (SMART goals).	1.1: Goal setting (behaviour)	Setting physical activity goals that are specific, measurable, achievable, realistic, and timed (SMART).	Improved physical functioning.
	1.4: Action planning		Improved mood.
	1.5: Review behaviour goal(s)		Increased confidence in self-management

Table 7. Basic integration of identified intervention component with Behaviour Change Techniques (BCTs).

Reviewing SMART goals.

Hypothesised mediators could also be added between process and outcomes. In practice, when drawing a logic model for all of the intervention components, they will likely overlap on several BCTs and outcomes. Behaviour Change Theory is psychology-based, and hence the integration of BCTs would also be useful in terms of clarifying exactly which psychological (cognitive and behavioural) techniques are going to be utilised in the intervention. This is important because it is apparent that CBT-based online interventions for chronic pain have been largely successful with adolescents (Hurley-Wallace, Schoth, et al., 2018). Complete logic models usually have a complex web of BCTs and processes, which map onto a smaller number of outcomes. The guiding principles are there to be referred back to at any point to ensure the core objectives of the intervention are not getting lost in the design process.

7.3.4 Vision for a novel intervention

At the end-stage of intervention planning, a set of guiding principles have been developed, although, it is also important to have a vision of what a self-management intervention for 16 to 24-year-olds would look like, and how it would be delivered. To halt the cycle of trial-anderror treatment, as conceptualised in relation to the CSM, an intervention for young people with chronic pain would best be delivered via primary care, at the point of referral to a waitlist for specialist chronic pain services. Ideally, given young people's aptitude for digital technology, this would look something like an interdisciplinary pain toolbox, with a community messaging platform built in. Interestingly, the concept of a 'pain toolbox' was identified in the discussion section of Paper 1 of this thesis. Nonetheless, this remains a valid idea to enable young people to develop better self-management skills for chronic pain, whilst being able to talk about their experiences with similar others. It is imperative that the scenarios and examples within such an intervention address issues faced by young people in particular, in-line with the guiding principles that have been presented (Table 6).

7.4 Expansion of existing resources: the NHS website

Findings from Paper 3 of this thesis clearly showed that the NHS website is a highly trusted resource and is well-known to young people in the UK. However, the study also highlighted the need for the NHS website to include more detailed information on chronic pain in general, and particularly on fibromyalgia. Young people wanted more information on

available treatment options, including CAM therapies and how they could access psychological treatments that deal specifically with chronic pain conditions (see Appendix G: coding manual). The subsequent paragraphs discuss (i) barriers that may prevent implementation of some of the changes desired by young people, and (ii) changes and additions to the NHS website that could address the need for more detailed information.

7.4.1 Barriers to changing NHS resources

There are barriers that make implementing some of the changes to NHS resources, desired by young people, difficult. In the UK, individual Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are responsible for the design of local health services, and each local service for adult chronic pain may be structured differently, depending on the expertise available. For example, within Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT), some services have expanded to offer tailored treatment for patients with medically unexplained symptoms (Geraghty & Scott, 2020), such as primary chronic pain (Nicholas et al., 2019), via self-referral. Recent research has indicated that the evidence-base for treatment of conditions such as chronic pain under IAPT services is mixed, and services remain heavily focussed on mental health outcomes (Geraghty & Scott, 2020). Hence, as well as access to psychological services for pain varying across areas of the UK, there is also an ongoing discussion surrounding appropriation of these services for conditions such as chronic pain – even if young people say they want to engage with pain-specific psychological therapies.

Within clinical guidance for the management of chronic pain, it remains that not all treatments are suitable for everyone; a person-centred approach is recommended for both children and adults (NICE, 2021; World Health Organization, 2020). Part of the reason that the NHS website may seem vague is because most healthcare advice should be discussed with a healthcare professional before implementation. Young people recognised this in interviews, however many of those interviewed in study 3 seemed to prefer to solely use the internet to seek help and guidance with chronic pain. The issue of treatment suitability is especially pertinent with regards to advice on medications and non-pharmacological physical treatments. Indeed, recent guidance on the pharmacological management of chronic pain has reversed to state that only antidepressants should be used in the management of chronic primary pain, and that specialist advice needs to be sought for young people aged 16 and 17-years (NICE, 2021). The guidance provided by NICE justifies this by explaining that the licenced alternatives (including paracetamol and NSAIDs) for chronic pain have shown limited effectiveness for chronic pain. The British Pain Society have disputed this guidance on pharmacological management as not reflecting clinical practices or current

evidence (Kmietowicz, 2021). Thus, individualised multimodal treatment plans require discussion with a healthcare professional, as opposed to blanket guidance being provided on all modalities of treatment that are available.

7.4.2 Suggested changes and additions

Despite barriers to adjusting the information on chronic pain provided on the NHS website, there remains a general lack of information available on chronic pain. This requires addressing to help young people recognise when pain is becoming chronic, and moreover provide them with multimodal, evidence-based advice on chronic pain management. This issue could be partially addressed by creating, and providing links to, trustworthy pain education and pain management resources. These links could be provided under a separate header of 'pain management for young people'. A new, comprehensive pain management intervention for young people in the UK could be linked via the NHS here. Nonetheless, correspondence with a trained healthcare professional remains important. One solution to ensure clinical advice is sought first may be to provide a self-management resource that young people can sign-up to via their GP. This ensures that any necessary referrals can be made, that medication use can be discussed, and confirms that a self-management program is appropriate for the individual. In addition, open links to more detailed resources on pain education could be provided, so that young people can freely explore and understand more about chronic pain in the knowledge that they are not feeding themselves false information (Paper 3). Notably, a content analysis of pain neuroscience education on YouTube only found one video that adequately addressed all of the pain neuroscience target concepts that had been developed by experts (Heathcote et al., 2019). Further, only 10% of videos they found were linked to a reputable source. Adding reputable, linked resources for pain management and pain education may reduce young people's need to information-seek using unvalidated resources. This is an important insight from Paper 3, which found the main reason young people with chronic pain turn away from the NHS site is because the information is 'basic'.

7.5 Clinical recommendations

It is likely that young people with chronic pain will be seen by a range of healthcare professionals of different specialties, different levels, and in different types of services (Kaiser et al., 2017; NICE, 2021). The main aim of this thesis was to provide guidance to intervention development teams seeking to develop an online intervention for chronic pain in adolescence. However, the qualitative interview study (Paper 3) provided rich data on how

young people experience chronic pain and pain management, both online and offline. The study highlighted the clear importance of internet use for pain self-management and support in 16 to 24-year-olds.

The following recommendations are made in relation to internet use and are intended for consideration by healthcare professionals of any level, who may find themselves working with a young person who is experiencing chronic pain of any aetiology:

- The internet is a core part of young people's daily lives, and they are highly likely to be using a combination of health-information resources and/or social media as part of their pain self-management. Social media-based communities of young people with chronic pain must be recognised as a psychosocial factor in the assessment and management of chronic pain and should be asked about when creating a young person's pain management plan.
- It is important to encourage young people with chronic pain to check any treatment advice they find, or are offered, online with a registered healthcare professional.
- Facilitation of pain self-management using 'mind-body' online resources, including mindfulness, meditation, yoga, and others, should be empowered in safe use.
- Young people with chronic pain often feel dismissed by healthcare professionals. It remains important to reassure them that their pain is valid, and that some modality of treatment or advice can be offered (whether medication, psychological therapies, physical therapies, or otherwise (NICE, 2021)).

7.6 Future research

The overarching aim of the current thesis was to lay the groundwork for developing a novel online intervention for the management of adolescent chronic pain. The guiding principles presented earlier in this discussion provide clear objectives for intervention development teams seeking to design an intervention for 16 to 24-year-olds with chronic pain. Further research could usefully qualitatively explore barriers and facilitators that may impact the intended behavioural changes being targeted by an intervention for chronic pain management. The guiding principles may be adjusted based on any new research insights about barriers and facilitators to behaviour change, as relevant to the target group. The PBA is an iterative approach to intervention development, which outlines how stakeholder feedback can be integrated throughout planning, optimisation, and evaluation (Yardley et al., 2015; Morrison et al., 2018). Hence, once the initial design of an intervention has been

drafted (which could potentially also involve co-design), further research will be needed to test out components of the intervention, investigate acceptability and usability, explore the overall user experience, and evaluate outcomes, as well as behaviour change processes.

Whilst the groundwork for developing an online intervention for chronic pain selfmanagement in 16 to 24-year-olds has been laid out, more qualitative research is needed to further explore the psychosocial context of younger adolescents (12 to 15-year-olds) with chronic pain prior to designing a UK-based online intervention for this group. Such an intervention is likely to include components intended for both young people and their parents, as has been exemplified by the US-based intervention WebMAP (Palermo et al., 2020; Palermo et al., 2016). In particular, use of the internet and online resources, and how this relates to pain management, requires exploration to ensure the success of a novel intervention for this paediatric population.

As well as exploring internet use, the interviews conducted in the qualitative study (Paper 3) asked young people about their experiences of chronic pain management in general. This was part of the warm-up section, and to help contextualise internet use within the interview topic guide. Whilst the thematic analysis presented in Paper 3 focused on the overarching aim of exploring internet use, the interview data could also be analysed with a view to explore young people's experiences of healthcare for chronic pain management in general. Indeed, experiences of pain management appear not to have been explored in academic research with young people aged 16 to 24-years-old in the UK. However, there have been several qualitative studies conducted with adults with chronic pain that specifically relate to self-management (Devan et al., 2018). This older adolescent age group is of particular interest given that this is a stage of transition to independence, in healthcare (CQC, 2014), as well as other social contexts (Rosenbloom et al., 2017; Sawyer et al., 2018).

Also related to Paper 3, many references to the COVID-19 pandemic were made in the interviews conducted, though this was not the focus of the thematic analysis. Similarly, the interview data could be re-analysed with a view to understanding the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on young people with chronic pain. A few codes were identified and labelled with COVID-19 in the coding manual (Appendix G). There were also codes generated such as 'You can't replace seeing a doctor in-person' and 'Online physiotherapy', which link to healthcare service adaptions made during COVID-19 and the impact of these adaptions (positive and negative) on people with chronic pain.

Paper 2 and Paper 3 presented within the current thesis highlighted an ongoing problem in the area of paediatric chronic pain: the underrepresentation of boys with chronic pain in

research. Ninety-four percent of the adolescent survey sample were girls, and only one young male participant was interviewed in the qualitative study of internet use. Whilst it is true that chronic pain is more prevalent in girls and women (Keogh, 2013; King et al., 2011), this is not as drastic as the 95% versus 5% split seen in the current thesis. This is an important issue that requires addressing in future research, and especially within qualitative research. Reflecting on the interview with the one male participant (Paper 3), underlying beliefs about pain and use of healthcare services provided a different context from which to explore internet use, compared to participants of female sex at birth.

The qualitative study presented in this thesis could also be adapted to target a male-only sample, as the findings of the study presented did not capture young men's experiences. Researchers may consider that young men may prefer to be interviewed by someone they feel they can relate to, or is similar to them, particularly on sensitive topics such as chronic pain. A male interviewer may be preferred, though the low recruitment of young men may have been due to any number of other factors, such as the way the study is framed in advertising. It would be potentially useful for PPI teams to include male patient representatives when conducting research with young people with chronic pain.

7.7 Strengths and limitations

This thesis has several strengths. The three papers presented have encompassed several methods, including reviewing, surveying, and conducting qualitative interviews. Reviewing and primary data collection adhere to the selected intervention development approaches i.e., the PBA and the MRC guidance (Yardley et al., 2015; Craig et al., 2008; MRC, 2008). Moreover, the papers presented in this thesis work together in coherent sequence to meet the overarching aim of the thesis: to lay the groundwork for developing a novel online intervention for the management of adolescent chronic pain. The sequence of papers shows an iterative and flexible approach to intervention planning (O'Cathain et al., 2019), where each research study is informed by findings from the previous. Further, a combination of data analysis techniques was used, including a variety of descriptive quantitative analyses in Paper 1 and Paper 2, as well as qualitative content and thematic analyses in Paper 2 and Paper 3. Two of the papers presented are peer-reviewed, published works. The interview study was re-designed following the impact of COVID-19 and was successful in exploring internet and social media use in young people with chronic pain. The interview study also utilised a PPI group, which was integral to its success. Insights from all three papers represent valuable and novel contributions to the field of adolescent chronic pain management, which are especially important as the digital world continues to advance.

Limitations of each individual paper are presented in their relevant chapters. However, the thesis as a whole has two main limitations. First, adjusting the sample age upwards iteratively to focus on self-management of chronic pain resulted in turning focus away from the paediatric adolescent group (12 to 15-year-olds). This group remain an important group to study in future research, however, are notoriously difficult to access. Healthcare professionals working with these younger adolescents would be best placed to conduct research with them. Second, the guiding principles developed are based on the interpretation of an individual researcher. As such, these principles will need refining with input from a multidisciplinary team of researchers and healthcare professionals.

7.8 Conclusions

The findings from this thesis lead to the following conclusions, which include research and clinical practice implications:

- Intervention developers should consider the guiding principles presented in this thesis as a base from which to develop novel interventions. A multimodal, interdisciplinary chronic pain management intervention for young people is yet to be developed for use in the UK.
- 2. It is imperative that interventions developed for young people with chronic pain draw from the biopsychosocial approach (or a biopsychosocial model) for chronic pain management. Another theory that may be useful in guiding intervention design is the Common-Sense Model (Leventhal et al., 2003). In particular, managing illness representations about chronic pain (using pain education and/or ACT components), and managing treatment representations (using action planning such as SMART goals) may help to halt and reframe the cycle of trial-and-error treatment that many young people find themselves in.
- 3. The internet is an important psychosocial context in the assessment and management of chronic pain. Internet use should be considered and actively asked about when creating treatment plans for young people with pain. This may be relevant to clinicians working with adolescents in paediatric clinics, as well as clinicians working with young people under adult healthcare.

References

- Ahola Kohut, S., Stinson, J. N., Ruskin, D., Forgeron, P., Harris, L., van Wyk, M., Luca, S., ... (2016). iPeer2Peer program: a pilot feasibility study in adolescents with chronic pain. *PAIN*, 157(5), 1146-1155. doi:10.1097/j.pain.000000000000496
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Human* Decision Processes, 50(2), 179-211. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T</u>
- Al-Habib, D., Alhaidar, F., Alzayed, I., & Youssef, R. (2019). Consistency of child self-reports with parent proxy reports on the quality of life of children with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder in Riyadh, 2016. *Journal of Family and Community Medicine*, 26(1), 9-16. doi:10.4103/jfcm.JFCM_19_18
- Al-Obaidi, S. M., Nelson, R. M., Al-Awadhi, S., & Al-Shuwaie, N. (2000). The role of anticipation and fear of pain in the persistence of avoidance behavior in patients with chronic low back pain. *Spine*, 25(9), 1126-1131.
- Apkarian, A. V., Bushnell, M. C., Treede, R.-D., & Zubieta, J.-K. (2005). Human brain mechanisms of pain perception and regulation in health and disease. *European Journal of Pain, 9*(4), 463-484. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2004.11.001</u>
- Armbrust, W., Bos, J. J. F. J., Cappon, J., van Rossum, M. A. J. J., Sauer, P. J. J., Wulffraat, N., van Wijnen, V. K., ... (2015). Design and acceptance of Rheumates@Work, a combined internet-based and in person instruction model, an interactive, educational, and cognitive behavioral program for children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Pediatric Rheumatology, 13*(1), 31. doi:10.1186/s12969-015-0029-5
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological review, 84*(2), 191.
- Bazzano, A. N., Anderson, C. E., Hylton, C., & Gustat, J. (2018). Effect of mindfulness and yoga on quality of life for elementary school students and teachers: Results of a randomized controlled school-based study. *Psychology Research and Behavior Management, 11.* doi:10.2147/PRBM.S157503
- BBC News. (2019). Instagram eating disorder content 'out of control'. Retrieved December 16, 2019, from <u>https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-47637377</u>
- Bender, J. L., Radhakrishnan, A., Diorio, C., Englesakis, M., & Jadad, A. R. (2011). Can pain be managed through the Internet? A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *PAIN*, 152(8), 1740-1750. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2011.02.012
- Bengtsson, M. (2016). How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. *NursingPlus Open, 2*, 8-14. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001</u>
- Bishop, F. L., Yardley, L., & Lewith, G. T. (2008). Treatment appraisals and beliefs predict adherence to complementary therapies: a prospective study using a dynamic extended self-regulation model. *British Journal of Health Psychology, 13*(Pt 4), 701-718. doi:10.1348/135910707x249570
- Blaauw, B. A., Dyb, G., Hagen, K., Holmen, T. L., Linde, M., Wentzel-Larsen, T., & Zwart, J.-A. (2014). Anxiety, depression and behavioral problems among adolescents with

recurrent headache: the Young-HUNT study. *The Journal of Headache and Pain, 15*(1), 38. doi:10.1186/1129-2377-15-38

- Blandford, A., Gibbs, J., Newhouse, N., Perski, O., Singh, A., & Murray, E. (2018). Seven lessons for interdisciplinary research on interactive digital health interventions. *Digit Health, 4*, 2055207618770325. doi:10.1177/2055207618770325
- Boerner, K. E., Chambers, C. T., Gahagan, J., Keogh, E., Fillingim, R. B., & Mogil, J. S. (2018). Conceptual complexity of gender and its relevance to pain. *PAIN*, *159*(11), 2137-2141. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001275
- Bolton, R. N., Parasuraman, A., Hoefnagels, A., Migchels, N., Kabadayi, S., Gruber, T., Loureiro, Y. K., ... (2013). Understanding Generation Y and their use of social media: a review and research agenda. *Journal of service management*.
- Bonell, C., Fletcher, A., Morton, M., Lorenc, T., & Moore, L. (2012). Realist randomised controlled trials: A new approach to evaluating complex public health interventions. *Social Science & Medicine*, 75(12), 2299-2306. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.08.032</u>
- Bonnert, M., Ljótsson, B., Hedman, E., Andersson, J., Arnell, H., Benninga, M. A., Simrén, M., ... (2014). Internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy for adolescents with functional gastrointestinal disorders — An open trial. *Internet Interventions*, 1(3), 141-148. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.invent.2014.07.002</u>
- Bonnert, M., Olén, O., Lalouni, M., Benninga, M. A., Bottai, M., Engelbrektsson, J., Hedman, E., ... (2016). Internet-Delivered Cognitive Behavior Therapy for Adolescents With Irritable Bowel Syndrome: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *The American Journal Of Gastroenterology*, *112*, 152. doi:10.1038/ajg.2016.503

https://www.nature.com/articles/ajg2016503#supplementary-information

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3*(2), 77-101. doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019a). Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health, 11*(4), 589-597. doi:10.1080/2159676X.2019.1628806
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019b). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 1-16. doi:10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). Can I use TA? Should I use TA? Should I not use TA? Comparing reflexive thematic analysis and other pattern-based qualitative analytic approaches. *Counselling and Psychotherapy Research, 21*(1), 37-47. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/capr.12360</u>
- Braun, V., Clarke, V., Hayfield, N., & Terry, G. (2019). Thematic Analysis. In P. Liamputtong (Ed.), Handbook of Research Methods in Health Social Sciences (pp. 843-860). Singapore: Springer Singapore.
- Caes, L., Fisher, E., Clinch, J., & Eccleston, C. (2018). Current Evidence-Based Interdisciplinary Treatment Options for Pediatric Musculoskeletal Pain. *Current Treatment Options in Rheumatology*. doi:10.1007/s40674-018-0101-7

- Caes, L., Jones, A., & Jordan, A. (2018). Engaging use of social media as a research tool to capture the daily life experiences of young people with chronic pain. *Evidence Based Nursing*, *21*(4), 91. doi:10.1136/eb-2018-102980
- Campo, J. V., Di Lorenzo, C., Chiappetta, L., Bridge, J., Colborn, D. K., Gartner, J. C., Gaffney, P., ... (2001). Adult Outcomes of Pediatric Recurrent Abdominal Pain: Do They Just Grow Out of It? *PEDIATRICS*, *108*(1), e1. doi:10.1542/peds.108.1.e1
- Caprilli, S., Anastasi, F., Grotto, R. P. L., Abeti, M. S., & Messeri, A. (2007). Interactive Music as a Treatment for Pain and Stress in Children During Venipuncture: A Randomized Prospective Study. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*, 28(5).
- Carville, S., Constanti, M., Kosky, N., Stannard, C., & Wilkinson, C. (2021). Chronic pain (primary and secondary) in over 16s: summary of NICE guidance. *BMJ : British Medical Journal, 373*, n895. doi:10.1136/bmj.n895
- Chen, A. T., Swaminathan, A., Kearns, W. R., Alberts, N. M., Law, E. F., & Palermo, T. M. (2019). Understanding User Experience: Exploring Participants' Messages With a Web-Based Behavioral Health Intervention for Adolescents With Chronic Pain. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 21(4), N.PAG-N.PAG. doi:10.2196/11756
- Clauw, D. J., Häuser, W., Cohen, S. P., & Fitzcharles, M.-A. (2020). Considering the potential for an increase in chronic pain after the COVID-19 pandemic. *PAIN*, *161*(8), 1694-1697. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001950
- Cleeland, C. S., & Ryan, K. (1991). The brief pain inventory. Pain Research Group, 143-147.
- Coakley, R., & Wihak, T. (2017). Evidence-Based Psychological Interventions for the Management of Pediatric Chronic Pain: New Directions in Research and Clinical Practice. *Children, 4*(2), 9.
- Cochran, W. G. (1977). Sampling techniques (3rd ed.). New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Cohen Kadosh, K., Linden, D. E., & Lau, J. Y. (2013). Plasticity during childhood and adolescence: innovative approaches to investigating neurocognitive development. *Developmental Science*, *16*(4), 574-583. doi:10.1111/desc.12054
- Connelly, M., Schanberg, L. E., Ardoin, S., Blakley, M., Carrasco, R., Chira, P., Hayward, K., ... (2019). Multisite randomized clinical trial evaluating an online self-management program for adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 44*(3), 363-374. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsy066
- Cooper, T. E., Fisher, E., Anderson, B., Wilkinson, N. M. R., Williams, D. G., & Eccleston, C. (2017). Paracetamol (acetaminophen) for chronic non-cancer pain in children and adolescents. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(8). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD012539.pub2
- Cooper, T. E., Heathcote, L. C., Clinch, J., Gold, J. I., Howard, R., Lord, S. M., Schechter, N., ... (2017). Antidepressants for chronic non-cancer pain in children and adolescents. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(8). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD012535.pub2
- CQC. (2014). From the pond into the sea: Children's transition to adult health services. Retrieved from https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/CQC_Transition%20Report.pdf

- Craig, P., Dieppe, P., Macintyre, S., Michie, S., Nazareth, I., & Petticrew, M. (2008). Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. *BMJ : British Medical Journal, 337*, a1655. doi:10.1136/bmj.a1655
- Crombez, G., Eccleston, C., Van Damme, S., Vlaeyen, J. W., & Karoly, P. (2012). Fearavoidance model of chronic pain: the next generation. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, *28*(6), 475-483. doi:10.1097/AJP.0b013e3182385392
- Cucchiaro, G., Schwartz, J., Hutchason, A., & Ornelas, B. (2017). Chronic Pain in Children: A Look at the Referral Process to a Pediatric Pain Clinic. *International journal of pediatrics, 2017*, 8769402-8769402. doi:10.1155/2017/8769402
- Cunningham, N. R., Jagpal, A., Tran, S. T., Kashikar-Zuck, S., Goldschneider, K. R., Coghill, R. C., & Lynch-Jordan, A. M. (2016). Anxiety Adversely Impacts Response to Cognitive Behavioral Therapy in Children with Chronic Pain. *The Journal of Pediatrics, 171*, 227-233. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.01.018</u>
- Cunningham, N. R., Nelson, S., Jagpal, A., Moorman, E., Farrell, M., Pentiuk, S., & Kashikar-Zuck, S. (2018). Development of the Aim to Decrease Anxiety and Pain Treatment for Pediatric Functional Abdominal Pain Disorders. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology & Nutrition, 66*(1), 16-20. doi:10.1097/MPG.00000000001714
- Dalgetty, R., Miller, C. B., & Dombrowski, S. U. (2019). Examining the theory-effectiveness hypothesis: A systematic review of systematic reviews. *British Journal of Health Psychology, 24*(2), 334-356. doi:10.1111/bjhp.12356
- Devan, H., Hale, L., Hempel, D., Saipe, B., & Perry, M. A. (2018). What Works and Does Not Work in a Self-Management Intervention for People With Chronic Pain? Qualitative Systematic Review and Meta-Synthesis. *Physical Therapy*, *98*(5), 381-397. doi:10.1093/ptj/pzy029
- Dey, I. (2003). Qualitative data analysis: A user friendly guide for social scientists: Routledge.
- Dick, B. D., & Riddell, R. P. (2010). Cognitive and School Functioning in Children and Adolescents with Chronic Pain: A Critical Review. *Pain Research and Management*, 15(4), 238-244. doi:10.1155/2010/354812
- Donovan, E., Mehringer, S., & Zeltzer, L. K. (2013). Assessing the Feasibility of a Web-Based Self-Management Program for Adolescents With Migraines and Their Caregivers. *Clin Pediatr (Phila), 52*(7), 667-670. doi:10.1177/0009922812447679
- Dufton, L. M., Dunn, M. J., Slosky, L. S., & Compas, B. E. (2011). Self-reported and laboratory-based responses to stress in children with recurrent pain and anxiety. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 36*(1), 95-105. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsq070
- Duncan, E., Cathain, A., Rousseau, N., Croot, L., Sworn, K., Turner, K. M., Yardley, L., ... (2020). Guidance for reporting intervention development studies in health research (GUIDED): an evidence-based consensus study. *BMJ Open, 10*(4), e033516. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2019-033516
- Dzewaltowski, D. A., Glasgow, R. E., Klesges, L. M., Estabrooks, P. A., & Brock, E. (2004). RE-AIM: Evidence-based standards and a web resource to improve translation of research into practice. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 28*(2), 75. doi:10.1207/s15324796abm2802_1

References

- Eccleston, C., Blyth, F. M., Dear, B. F., Fisher, E. A., Keefe, F. J., Lynch, M. E., Palermo, T. M., ... (2020). Managing patients with chronic pain during the COVID-19 outbreak: considerations for the rapid introduction of remotely supported (eHealth) pain management services. *PAIN*, *161*(5), 889-893. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001885
- Eccleston, C., Bruce, E., & Carter, B. (2006). Chronic pain in children and adolescents. *Paediatric Nursing, 18*(10), 30-33. doi:10.7748/paed.18.10.30.s21
- Eccleston, C., Cooper, T. E., Fisher, E., Anderson, B., & Wilkinson, N. M. R. (2017). Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) for chronic non-cancer pain in children and adolescents. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(8). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD012537.pub2
- Eccleston, C., Fisher, E., Cooper, T. E., Grégoire, M.-C., Heathcote, L. C., Krane, E., Lord, S. M., ... (2019). Pharmacological interventions for chronic pain in children: an overview of systematic reviews. *PAIN*, *160*(8).
- Eccleston, C., Wastell, S., Crombez, G., & Jordan, A. (2008). Adolescent social development and chronic pain. *European Journal of Pain, 12*(6), 765-774. doi:10.1016/j.ejpain.2007.11.002
- Economides, M., Martman, J., Bell, M. J., & Sanderson, B. (2018). Improvements in Stress, Affect, and Irritability Following Brief Use of a Mindfulness-based Smartphone App: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Mindfulness, 9*(5), 1584-1593. doi:10.1007/s12671-018-0905-4
- Egger, H. L., Angold, A., & Costello, E. J. (1998). Headaches and Psychopathology in Children and Adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 37*(9), 951-958. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199809000-00015</u>
- Ehde, D. M., Dillworth, T. M., & Turner, J. A. (2014). Cognitive-behavioral therapy for individuals with chronic pain: efficacy, innovations, and directions for research. *American Psychologist, 69*(2), 153-166. doi:10.1037/a0035747
- Eisenberger, N. I. (2012). The pain of social disconnection: examining the shared neural underpinnings of physical and social pain. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 13*, 421. doi:10.1038/nrn3231
- Eiser, C., Vance, Y. H., Horne, B., Glaser, A., & Galvin, H. (2003). The value of the PedsQLTM in assessing quality of life in survivors of childhood cancer. *Child: Care, Health and Development, 29*(2), 95-102. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2214.2003.00318.x
- Elgar, F. J., & McGrath, P. J. (2003). Self-administered psychosocial treatments for children and families. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *59*(3), 321-339. doi:doi:10.1002/jclp.10132
- Elo, S., & Kyngäs, H. (2008). The qualitative content analysis process. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *6*2(1), 107-115. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x
- Engel, G. (1977). The need for a new medical model: a challenge for biomedicine. *Science*, *196*(4286), 129-136. doi:10.1126/science.847460
- Erbilgin Gün, S., & Kilincaslan, A. (2018). Quality of Life Among Children and Adolescents With Tourette Disorder and Comorbid ADHD: A Clinical Controlled Study. *Journal of Attention Disorders, 23*(8), 817-827. doi:10.1177/1087054718772158

- Evans, S., Djilas, V., Seidman, L. C., Zeltzer, L. K., & Tsao, J. C. I. (2017). Sleep Quality, Affect, Pain, and Disability in Children With Chronic Pain: Is Affect a Mediator or Moderator? *The Journal of Pain, 18*(9), 1087-1095. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2017.04.007
- Evans, S., Tsao, J. C. I., & Zeltzer, L. K. (2008). Paediatric Pain Management: Using Complementary and Alternative Medicine. *Reviews in pain, 2*(1), 14-20. doi:10.1177/204946370800200104
- Fales, J. L., Murphy, L. K., Rights, J. D., & Palermo, T. M. (2019). Daily peer victimization experiences of adolescents with and without chronic pain: Associations with mood, sleep, pain, and activity limitations. *The Journal of Pain*. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2019.05.016
- Fales, J. L., Palermo, T. M., Law, E. F., & Wilson, A. C. (2015). Sleep Outcomes in Youth With Chronic Pain Participating in a Randomized Controlled Trial of Online Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy for Pain Management. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 13(2), 107-123. doi:10.1080/15402002.2013.845779
- Fayaz, A., Croft, P., Langford, R. M., Donaldson, L. J., & Jones, G. T. (2016). Prevalence of chronic pain in the UK: a systematic review and meta-analysis of population studies. *BMJ Open, 6*, e010364. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010364
- Fisher, E., Bromberg, M. H., Tai, G., & Palermo, T. M. (2017). Adolescent and parent treatment goals in an Internet-delivered chronic pain self-management program: Does agreement of treatment goals matter? *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *42*(6), 657-666.
- Fisher, E., Heathcote, L. C., Eccleston, C., Simons, L. E., & Palermo, T. M. (2017). Assessment of Pain Anxiety, Pain Catastrophizing, and Fear of Pain in Children and Adolescents With Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 43*(3), 314-325. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsx103
- Fisher, E., Heathcote, L. C., Palermo, T. M., Williams, A. C. d. C., Lau, J., & Eccleston, C. (2014). Systematic review and meta-analysis of psychological therapies for children with chronic pain. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *39*(8), 763-782. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsu008
- Fisher, E., Law, E. F., Dudeney, J., Eccleston, C., & Palermo, T. M. (2019). Psychological therapies (remotely delivered) for the management of chronic and recurrent pain in children and adolescents. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(4). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011118.pub3
- Fisher, E., Law, E. F., Dudeney, J., Palermo, T. M., Stewart, G., & Eccleston, C. (2018). Psychological therapies for the management of chronic and recurrent pain in children and adolescents. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(9). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003968.pub5
- Flink, I. K., Sfyrkou, C., & Persson, B. (2016). Customized CBT via internet for adolescents with pain and emotional distress: A pilot study. *Internet Interventions, 4*, 43-50. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.invent.2016.03.002</u>
- Forgeron, P. A., King, S., Stinson, J. N., McGrath, P. J., MacDonald, A. J., & Chambers, C. T. (2010). Social Functioning and Peer Relationships in Children and Adolescents with Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review. *Pain Research and Management, 15*(1), 27-41. doi:10.1155/2010/820407

- Forgeron, P. A., McGrath, P., Stevens, B., Evans, J., Dick, B., Finley, G. A., & Carlson, T. (2011). Social information processing in adolescents with chronic pain: My friends don't really understand me. *PAIN*, *152*(12), 2773-2780. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2011.09.001
- Forgeron, P. A., McKenzie, E., O'Reilly, J., Rudnicki, E., & Caes, L. (2019). Support for My Video is Support for Me: A YouTube Scoping Review of Videos Including Adolescents With Chronic Pain. *The Clinical Journal of Pain, Publish Ahead of Print.* doi:10.1097/ajp.0000000000693
- French, S. D., Green, S. E., O'Connor, D. A., McKenzie, J. E., Francis, J. J., Michie, S., Buchbinder, R., ... (2012). Developing theory-informed behaviour change interventions to implement evidence into practice: a systematic approach using the Theoretical Domains Framework. *Implementation Science*, 7(1), 38. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-7-38
- Fuster, J. M. (2002). Frontal lobe and cognitive development. *Journal of Neurocytology*, *31*(3), 373-385. doi:10.1023/A:1024190429920
- Geraghty, K., & Scott, M. J. (2020). Treating medically unexplained symptoms via improving access to psychological therapy (IAPT): major limitations identified. *BMC Psychology*, *8*(1), 13. doi:10.1186/s40359-020-0380-2
- Gilman, D. K., Palermo, T. M., Kabbouche, M. A., Hershey, A. D., & Powers, P. A. S. W. (2007). Primary Headache and Sleep Disturbances in Adolescents. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain, 47*(8), 1189-1194. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4610.2007.00885.x</u>
- Global Burden of Disease Pediatrics Collaboration, Kyu, H. H., Pinho, C., Wagner, J. A., Brown, J. C., Bertozzi-Villa, A., Charlson, F. J., ... (2016). Global and National Burden of Diseases and Injuries Among Children and Adolescents Between 1990 and 2013: Findings From the Global Burden of Disease 2013 Study. *JAMA Pediatrics, 170*(3), 267-287. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.4276
- Gobina, I., Villberg, J., Välimaa, R., Tynjälä, J., Whitehead, R., Cosma, A., Brooks, F., ...
 (2019). Prevalence of self-reported chronic pain among adolescents: Evidence from 42 countries and regions. *European Journal of Pain, 23*(2), 316-326. doi:10.1002/ejp.1306
- Goubert, L., & Simons, L. E. (2013). Cognitive styles and processes in paediatric pain. In Oxford textbook of paediatric pain (pp. 95-101).
- Grasaas, E., Fegran, L., Helseth, S., Stinson, J. N., Martinez, S., Lalloo, C., & Haraldstad, K. (2019). iCanCope With Pain: Cultural Adaptation and Usability Testing of a Self-Management App for Adolescents With Persistent Pain in Norway. *JMIR Research Protocols, 8*(6), e12940. doi:10.2196/12940
- Gray, C. D., & Kinnear, P. R. (2012). IBM SPSS statistics 19 made simple. In (pp. 145-160): Psychology Press.
- Great Ormond Street Hospital. (2018, November 16). Paper presented at the 13th Paediatric Pain Symposium, Oxford, UK.
- Great Ormond Street Hospital. (2021). Refer a patient to the Pain Control service. Retrieved July 3, 2021, from <u>https://www.gosh.nhs.uk/health-professionals/refer-patient-pain-control-service/</u>

References

- Groenewald, C. B., Essner, B. S., Wright, D., Fesinmeyer, M. D., & Palermo, T. M. (2014). The Economic Costs of Chronic Pain Among a Cohort of Treatment-Seeking Adolescents in the United States. *The Journal of Pain, 15*, 925-933. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2014.06.002
- Groenewald, C. B., & Palermo, T. M. (2015). The price of pain: the economics of chronic adolescent pain. *Pain Management, 5*(2), 61-64. doi:10.2217/pmt.14.52
- Guite, J., Russell, B., Homan, K., Tepe, R., & Williams, S. (2018). Parenting in the Context of Children's Chronic Pain: Balancing Care and Burden. *Children*, *5*(12), 161.
- Hale, E. D., Treharne, G. J., & Kitas, G. D. (2007). The Common-Sense Model of selfregulation of health and illness: how can we use it to understand and respond to our patients' needs? *Rheumatology*, 46(6), 904-906. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kem060
- Haroutiunian, S., Nikolajsen, L., Finnerup, N. B., & Jensen, T. S. (2013). The neuropathic component in persistent postsurgical pain: A systematic literature review. *PAIN*, 154(1), 95-102. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2012.09.010</u>
- Harris, G. (2021). Combating the spread of health misinformation on social media. *British Journal of Healthcare Management*, 27(1), 40-42. doi:10.12968/bjhc.2020.0128
- Harrison, L. E., Pate, J. W., Richardson, P. A., Ickmans, K., Wicksell, R. K., & Simons, L. E. (2019). Best-Evidence for the Rehabilitation of Chronic Pain Part 1: Pediatric Pain. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 8(9), 1267.
- Hashmi, J. A., Baliki, M. N., Huang, L., Baria, A. T., Torbey, S., Hermann, K. M., Schnitzer, T. J., ... (2013). Shape shifting pain: chronification of back pain shifts brain representation from nociceptive to emotional circuits. *Brain, 136*(9), 2751-2768. doi:10.1093/brain/awt211
- Heathcote, L. C., Pate, J. W., Park, A. L., Leake, H. B., Moseley, G. L., Kronman, C. A., Fischer, M., ... (2019). Pain neuroscience education on YouTube. *PeerJ*, 7, e6603. doi:10.7717/peerj.6603
- Hechler, T., Kanstrup, M., Holley, A. L., Simons, L. E., Wicksell, R., Hirschfeld, G., & Zernikow, B. (2015). Systematic Review on Intensive Interdisciplinary Pain Treatment of Children With Chronic Pain. *PEDIATRICS*, 136(1), 115-127. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-3319
- Henderson, E. M., Keogh, E., & Eccleston, C. (2014). Why go online when you have pain? A qualitative analysis of teenagers' use of the Internet for pain management advice. *Child Care Health Dev, 40*(4), 572-579. doi:10.1111/cch.12072
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Marconi, V. C. (2016). Code Saturation Versus Meaning Saturation: How Many Interviews Are Enough? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(4), 591-608. doi:10.1177/1049732316665344
- Hetrick, S. E., McKenzie, J. E., Bailey, A. P., Sharma, V., Moller, C. I., Badcock, P. B., Cox, G. R., ... (2021). New generation antidepressants for depression in children and adolescents: a network meta-analysis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(5). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD013674.pub2
- Higgins, K. S., Tutelman, P. R., Chambers, C. T., Witteman, H. O., Barwick, M., Corkum, P., Grant, D., ... (2018). Availability of researcher-led eHealth tools for pain assessment and management: barriers, facilitators, costs, and design. *PAIN Reports, 3*(Suppl 1), e686. doi:10.1097/PR9.0000000000686

- Hoftun, G. B., Romundstad, P. R., & Rygg, M. (2013). Association of parental chronic pain with chronic pain in the adolescent and young adult: family linkage data from the HUNT Study. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *167*(1), 61-69. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.422
- Howells, A., Ivtzan, I., & Eiroa-Orosa, F. J. (2016). Putting the 'app' in Happiness: A Randomised Controlled Trial of a Smartphone-Based Mindfulness Intervention to Enhance Wellbeing. *Journal of Happiness Studies, 17*(1), 163-185. doi:10.1007/s10902-014-9589-1
- Hsieh, H.-F., & Shannon, S. E. (2005). Three Approaches to Qualitative Content Analysis. *Qualitative Health Research, 15*(9), 1277-1288. doi:10.1177/1049732305276687
- Huguet, A., Stinson, J. N., & McGrath, P. J. (2010). Measurement of self-reported pain intensity in children and adolescents. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 68(4), 329-336. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2009.06.003</u>
- Hurley-Wallace, A., Nowotny, E., Schoth, D. E., & Liossi, C. (2021). Online multidisciplinary interventions for paediatric chronic pain: A content analysis. *European Journal of Pain, 00*, 1-15. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.1827</u>
- Hurley-Wallace, A., Schoth, D. E., Howard, R., Anderson, A. K., Zeltzer, L., & Liossi, C.
 (2018). Chronic pain prevalence and quality of life in survivors of paediatric cancer: A systematic review. Manuscript in preparation.
- Hurley-Wallace, A., Schoth, D. E., Lilley, S., Williams, G., & Liossi, C. (2020). Online paediatric chronic pain management: assessing the needs of UK adolescents and parents, using a cross-sectional survey. *British Journal of Pain*, 2049463720940341. doi:10.1177/2049463720940341
- Hurley-Wallace, A., Wood, C., Franck, L. S., Howard, R. F., & Liossi, C. (2018). Paediatric pain education for health care professionals. *PAIN Reports, Latest Articles*.
- IASP. (2012). Classification of Chronic Pain, Second Edition (Revised).
- IASP. (2018a). IASP Terminology: Interdisciplinary treatment. Retrieved April 29, 2019, from <u>https://www.iasp-</u> pain.org/Education/Content.aspx?ItemNumber=1698#Interdisciplinarytreatment
- IASP. (2018b). IASP Terminology: Multidisciplinary treatment. Retrieved April 29, 2019, from <u>https://www.iasp-</u>pain.org/Education/Content.aspx?ItemNumber=1698#Multidisciplinarytreatment
- IASP. (2018c). IASP Terminology: Multimodal treatment. Retrieved April 29, 2019, from <u>https://www.iasp-</u> pain.org/Education/Content.aspx?ItemNumber=1698#Multimodaltreatment
- IASP. (2020). IASP Terminology: Pain. Retrieved June 15, 2021, from <u>https://www.iasp-pain.org/Education/Content.aspx?ItemNumber=1698&navItemNumber=576#Pain</u>
- Ipser, J. C., Stein, D. J., Hawkridge, S., & Hoppe, L. (2009). Pharmacotherapy for anxiety disorders in children and adolescents. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(3). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD005170.pub2
- Isika, N., Mendoza, A., & Bosua, R. (2020). *"I need to compartmentalize myself": Appropriation of Instagram for chronic illness management.* Paper presented at the Proceedings of the Australasian Computer Science Week Multiconference, Melbourne, VIC, Australia. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3373017.3373040</u>

- James, A. C., James, G., Cowdrey, F. A., Soler, A., & Choke, A. (2015). Cognitive behavioural therapy for anxiety disorders in children and adolescents. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(2). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD004690.pub4
- Jastrowski Mano, K. E. (2017). School Anxiety in Children and Adolescents with Chronic Pain. *Pain Research and Management, 2017*, 8328174-8328174. doi:10.1155/2017/8328174
- Joffe, H., & Yardley, L. (2004). Content and thematic analysis. *Research methods for clinical and health psychology, 56*, 68.
- Jordan, A., Family, H., & Forgeron, P. (2017). Interpersonal relationships in adolescent chronic pain: A qualitative synthesis. *Clinical Practice in Pediatric Psychology*, *5*(4), 303-318. doi:10.1037/cpp0000215
- Jordan, A., Noel, M., Caes, L., Connell, H., & Gauntlett-Gilbert, J. (2018). A developmental arrest? Interruption and identity in adolescent chronic pain. *PAIN Reports, 3*, e678. doi:10.1097/pr9.000000000000678
- Kaiser, U., Treede, R. D., & Sabatowski, R. (2017). Multimodal pain therapy in chronic noncancer pain-gold standard or need for further clarification? *PAIN*, *158*(10), 1853-1859. doi:10.1097/j.pain.0000000000000002
- Kalapurakkel, S., Carpino, E. A., Lebel, A., & Simons, L. E. (2015). "Pain Can't Stop Me": Examining Pain Self-Efficacy and Acceptance as Resilience Processes Among Youth With Chronic Headache. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 40*(9), 926-933. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsu091
- Kanstrup, M., Holmström, L., Ringström, R., & Wicksell, R. K. (2014). Insomnia in paediatric chronic pain and its impact on depression and functional disability. *European Journal of Pain, 18*(8), 1094-1102. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1532-2149.2013.00450.x</u>
- Kashikar-Zuck, S., Parkins, I. S., Graham, T. B., Lynch, A. M., Passo, M., Johnston, M., Schikler, K. N., ... (2008). Anxiety, Mood, and Behavioral Disorders Among Pediatric Patients With Juvenile Fibromyalgia Syndrome. *The Clinical Journal of Pain, 24*(7), 620-626. doi:10.1097/AJP.0b013e31816d7d23
- Kashikar-Zuck, S., Zafar, M., Barnett, K. A., Aylward, B. S., Strotman, D., Slater, S. K., Allen, J. R., ... (2013). Quality of life and emotional functioning in youth with chronic migraine and juvenile fibromyalgia. *The Clinical Journal of Pain, 29*(12), 1066-1072. doi:10.1097/AJP.0b013e3182850544
- Kazak, A. E. (1989). Families of chronically ill children: a systems and social-ecological model of adaptation and challenge. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 57(1), 25-30. doi:10.1037//0022-006x.57.1.25
- Keller, S., Bann, C. M., Dodd, S. L., Schein, J., Mendoza, T. R., & Cleeland, C. S. (2004). Validity of the Brief Pain Inventory for Use in Documenting the Outcomes of Patients With Noncancer Pain. *The Clinical Journal of Pain, 20*(5), 309-318.
- Kelley, K., Clark, B., Brown, V., & Sitzia, J. (2003). Good practice in the conduct and reporting of survey research. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 15(3), 261-266. doi:10.1093/intqhc/mzg031
- Keogh, E. (2010). Sex differences in chronic pain. Paper presented at the 2nd Annual Meeting of the Faculty of Pain.

- Keogh, E. (2013). Sex Differences in Pain Across the Life Course. In *Handbook of Pain and Palliative Care* (pp. 347-366).
- Keogh, E., & Eccleston, C. (2006). Sex differences in adolescent chronic pain and painrelated coping. *PAIN*, *123*(3), 275-284. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2006.03.004
- Khan, K. A., Tran, S. T., Jastrowski Mano, K. E., Simpson, P. M., Cao, Y., & Hainsworth, K.
 R. (2015). Predicting Multiple Facets of School Functioning in Pediatric Chronic Pain. *The Clinical Journal of Pain, 31*(10), 867-875. doi:10.1097/AJP.00000000000181
- King, S., Chambers, C. T., Huguet, A., MacNevin, R. C., McGrath, P. J., Parker, L., & MacDonald, A. J. (2011). The epidemiology of chronic pain in children and adolescents revisited: A systematic review. *PAIN*, *152*, 2729-2738. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2011.07.016
- Kmietowicz, Z. (2021). Doctors raise concerns about NICE guidelines on chronic primary pain. *BMJ : British Medical Journal,* 373, n942. doi:10.1136/bmj.n942
- Korterink, J. J., Diederen, K., Benninga, M. A., & Tabbers, M. M. (2015). Epidemiology of Pediatric Functional Abdominal Pain Disorders: A Meta-Analysis. *PLoS One, 10*(5), e0126982. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0126982
- Kotagal, S., & Pianosi, P. (2006). Sleep disorders in children and adolescents. *BMJ : British Medical Journal, 332*(7545), 828. doi:10.1136/bmj.332.7545.828
- Kotrlik, J., & Higgins, C. (2001). Organizational research: Determining appropriate sample size in survey research appropriate sample size in survey research. *Information technology, learning, and performance journal, 19*(1), 43.
- Kundermann, B., Spernal, J., Huber, M. T., Krieg, J.-C., & Lautenbacher, S. (2004). Sleep Deprivation Affects Thermal Pain Thresholds but Not Somatosensory Thresholds in Healthy Volunteers. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *66*(6).
- Lalloo, C., Harris, L. R., Hundert, A. S., Berard, R., Cafazzo, J., Connelly, M., Feldman, B. M., ... (2020). The iCanCope pain self-management application for adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Rheumatology*, 60(1), 196-206. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keaa178
- Lalloo, C., Hundert, A., Harris, L., Pham, Q., Campbell, F., Chorney, J., Dick, B., ... (2019). Capturing Daily Disease Experiences of Adolescents With Chronic Pain: mHealth-Mediated Symptom Tracking. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth, 7*(1), e11838. doi:10.2196/11838
- Lalloo, C., Jibb, L. A., Rivera, J., Agarwal, A., & Stinson, J. N. (2015). "There's a Pain App for That": Review of Patient-targeted Smartphone Applications for Pain Management. *The Clinical Journal of Pain, 31*(6), 557-563. doi:10.1097/AJP.00000000000171
- Lalouni, M., Ljótsson, B., Bonnert, M., Hedman-Lagerlöf, E., Högström, J., Serlachius, E., & Olén, O. (2017). Internet-Delivered Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Children With Pain-Related Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders: Feasibility Study. *JMIR mental health, 4*(3), e32-e32. doi:10.2196/mental.7985
- Lalouni, M., Ljotsson, B., Bonnert, M., Ssegonja, R., Benninga, M., Bjureberg, J., Hogstrom, J., ... (2019). Clinical and Cost Effectiveness of Online Cognitive Behavioral Therapy in Children With Functional Abdominal Pain Disorders. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, *17*(11), 2236. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2018.11.043</u>

- Lam, K. C., Valier, A. R. S., Bay, R. C., & McLeod, T. C. V. (2013). A unique patient population? Health-related quality of life in adolescent athletes versus general, healthy adolescent individuals. *Journal of athletic training, 48*(2), 233-241. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-48.2.12
- Lateef, T. M., Merikangas, K. R., Jianping, H., Kalaydjian, A., Khoromi, S., Knight, E., & Nelson, K. B. (2009). Headache in a National Sample of American Children: Prevalence and Comorbidity. *Journal of Child Neurology*, *24*(5), 536-543. doi:10.1177/0883073808327831
- Lau, J. Y. F., Heathcote, L. C., Beale, S., Gray, S., Jacobs, K., Wilkinson, N., & Crombez, G. (2018). Cognitive Biases in Children and Adolescents With Chronic Pain: A Review of Findings and a Call for Developmental Research. *The Journal of Pain, 19*(6), 589-598. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2018.01.005</u>
- Law, E. F., Beals-Erickson, S. E., Noel, M., Claar, R., & Palermo, T. M. (2015). Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial of Internet-Delivered Cognitive-Behavioral Treatment for Pediatric Headache. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain, 55*(10), 1410-1425. doi:doi:10.1111/head.12635
- Law, E. F., Groenewald, C. B., Zhou, C., & Palermo, T. M. (2018). Effect on health care costs for adolescents receiving adjunctive internet-delivered cognitive-behavioral therapy: Results of a randomized controlled trial. *The Journal of Pain*. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2018.03.004
- Lelieveld, O. T. H. M., Armbrust, W., Geertzen, J. H. B., de Graaf, I., van Leeuwen, M. A., Sauer, P. J. J., van Weert, E., ... (2010). Promoting physical activity in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis through an internet-based program: Results of a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Arthritis Care & Research*, 62(5), 697-703. doi:doi:10.1002/acr.20085
- Lethem, J., Slade, P. D., Troup, J. D. G., & Bentley, G. (1983). Outline of a fear-avoidance model of exaggerated pain perception—I. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 21(4), 401-408. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-7967(83)90009-8</u>
- Leventhal, H., Brissette, I., & Leventhal, E. A. (2003). The common-sense model of selfregulation of health and illness. In *The self-regulation of health and illness behaviour* (pp. 42-65). New York, NY, US: Routledge.
- Leventhal, H., Phillips, L. A., & Burns, E. (2016). The Common-Sense Model of Self-Regulation (CSM): a dynamic framework for understanding illness self-management. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *39*(6), 935-946. doi:10.1007/s10865-016-9782-2
- Levitt, H. M., Bamberg, M., Creswell, J. W., Frost, D. M., Josselson, R., & Suárez-Orozco, C. (2018). Journal article reporting standards for qualitative primary, qualitative metaanalytic, and mixed methods research in psychology: The APA Publications and Communications Board task force report. In (Vol. 73, pp. 26-46). US: American Psychological Association.
- Lewandowski, A. S., Palermo, T. M., Stinson, J. N., Handley, S., & Chambers, C. T. (2010). Systematic review of family functioning in families of children and adolescents with chronic pain. *The Journal of Pain, 11*(11), 1027-1038. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2010.04.005
- Lewandowski, W., Morris, R., Draucker, C. B., & Risko, J. (2007). CHRONIC PAIN AND THE FAMILY: THEORY-DRIVEN TREATMENT APPROACHES. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing, 28*(9), 1019-1044. doi:10.1080/01612840701522200

- Liakopoulou-Kairis, M., Alifieraki, T., Protagora, D., Korpa, T., Kondyli, K., Dimosthenous, E., Christopoulos, G., ... (2002). Recurrent abdominal pain and headache. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *11*(3), 115-122.
- Liossi, C., & Howard, R. F. (2016). Pediatric Chronic Pain: Biopsychosocial Assessment and Formulation. *PEDIATRICS, 138*, e20160331. doi:10.1542/peds.2016-0331
- Liossi, C., Johnstone, L., Lilley, S., Caes, L., Williams, G., & Schoth, D. E. (2019). Effectiveness of interdisciplinary interventions in paediatric chronic pain management: a systematic review and subset meta-analysis. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bja.2019.01.024</u>
- Liossi, C., Mallard, S., & Gray, S. (2015). Psychological and Physical Therapies in Chronic Pain Management. In RCPCH (Ed.), Pain Management. RCPCH Compass. Retrieved from <u>https://rcpch.learningpool.com/course/view.php?id=126</u>.
- Liossi, C., White, P., & Hatira, P. (2006). Randomized clinical trial of local anesthetic versus a combination of local anesthetic with self-hypnosis in the management of pediatric procedure-related pain. *Health Psychology, 25*(3), 307-315. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.25.3.307
- Logan, D. E., Simons, L. E., & Carpino, E. A. (2012). Too sick for school? Parent influences on school functioning among children with chronic pain. *PAIN*, *153*(2), 437-443. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2011.11.004</u>
- Logan, D. E., Simons, L. E., Stein, M. J., & Chastain, L. (2008). School impairment in adolescents with chronic pain. *The Journal of Pain, 9*(5), 407-416. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2007.12.003
- Low, J. (2019). A Pragmatic Definition of the Concept of Theoretical Saturation. *Sociological Focus*, *5*2(2), 131-139. doi:10.1080/00380237.2018.1544514
- Lynch-Jordan, A. M., Sil, S., Peugh, J., Cunningham, N., Kashikar-Zuck, S., & Goldschneider, K. R. (2014). Differential changes in functional disability and pain intensity over the course of psychological treatment for children with chronic pain. *PAIN*, 155, 1955-1961. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2014.06.008
- Mani, M., Kavanagh, D. J., Hides, L., & Stoyanov, S. R. (2015). Review and Evaluation of Mindfulness-Based iPhone Apps. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth, 3*(3), e82-e82. doi:10.2196/mhealth.4328
- McCormick, M., Reed-Knight, B., Lewis, J. D., Gold, B. D., & Blount, R. L. (2010). Coping skills for reducing pain and somatic symptoms in adolescents with IBD. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases, 16*(12), 2148-2157. doi:10.1002/ibd.21302
- McNicholas, J. (2018, November 16). *Patient Reported Outcome Tools (PROMS).* Paper presented at the Great Ormond Street Hospital 13th Paediatric Pain Symposium, London, UK.
- Melzack, R. (1999). From the gate to the neuromatrix. PAIN, 82, S121-S126.
- Michie, S., Atkins, L., & West, R. (2014). The behaviour change wheel. A guide to designing interventions. 1st ed. Great Britain: Silverback Publishing, 1003-1010.
- Michie, S., Richardson, M., Johnston, M., Abraham, C., Francis, J., Hardeman, W., Eccles, M. P., ... (2013). The behavior change technique taxonomy (v1) of 93 hierarchically clustered techniques: building an international consensus for the reporting of

behavior change interventions. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 46*(1), 81-95. doi:10.1007/s12160-013-9486-6

- Michie, S., van Stralen, M. M., & West, R. (2011). The behaviour change wheel: a new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. *Implementation Science*, *6*, 42. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-6-42
- Microsoft. (2021). Microsoft Teams. Retrieved from <u>https://www.microsoft.com/en-gb/microsoft-teams/group-chat-software</u>
- Middleton, J. (2018, November 16). *Pain Assessment.* Paper presented at the Great Ormond Street Hospital 13th Paediatric Pain Symposium, London, UK.
- Miller, V. A., Palermo, T. M., Powers, S. W., Scher, M. S., & Hershey, A. D. (2003). Migraine Headaches and Sleep Disturbances in Children. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain, 43*(4), 362-368. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1526-4610.2003.03071.x</u>
- Ministry of Housing, C. a. L. G. (2019). *The English Indices of Deprivation 2019 Frequently Asked Questions*. United Kingdom Retrieved from <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm</u> <u>ent_data/file/853811/IoD2019_FAQ_v4.pdf</u>.
- Miro, J., McGrath, P. J., Finley, G. A., & Walco, G. A. (2017). Pediatric chronic pain programs: current and ideal practice. *PAIN Reports*, 2(5), e613. doi:10.1097/PR9.0000000000613
- Möhler, R., Köpke, S., & Meyer, G. (2015). Criteria for Reporting the Development and Evaluation of Complex Interventions in healthcare: revised guideline (CReDECI 2). *Trials, 16*(1), 204. doi:10.1186/s13063-015-0709-y
- Moore, G. F., Audrey, S., Barker, M., Bond, L., Bonell, C., Hardeman, W., Moore, L., ...
 (2015). Process evaluation of complex interventions: Medical Research Council guidance. *BMJ : British Medical Journal, 350*, h1258. doi:10.1136/bmj.h1258
- Morrison, L., Muller, I., Yardley, L., & Bradbury, K. (2018). The person-based approach to planning, optimising, evaluating and implementing behavioural health interventions. *The European Health Psychologist, 20*(3), 464-469.
- Motamed-Gorji, N., Qorbani, M., Nikkho, F., Asadi, M., Motlagh, M. E., Safari, O., Arefirad, T., ... (2019). Association of screen time and physical activity with health-related quality of life in Iranian children and adolescents. *Health And Quality Of Life Outcomes*, *17*(1), 2. doi:10.1186/s12955-018-1071-z
- MRC. (2008). Developing and evaluating complex interventions: new guidance. Retrieved April 8, 2019, from <u>www.mrc.ac.uk/complexinterventionsguidance</u>
- Murray, C. B., de la Vega, R., Loren, D. M., & Palermo, T. M. (2019). Moderators of internetdelivered cognitive-behavioral therapy for adolescents with chronic pain: Who benefits from treatment at long-term follow-up? *The Journal of Pain*. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2019.10.001
- Murray, C. B., Groenewald, C., De la Vega, R., & Palermo, T. M. (2019). Long-term impact of adolescent chronic pain on young adult educational, vocational, and social outcomes. *PAIN*, *161*, 1. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001732
- Navarro, K., Wainwright, E., Rodham, K., & Jordan, A. (2018). Parenting young people with complex regional pain syndrome: an analysis of the process of parental online

communication. *PAIN Reports, 3*(Suppl 1), e681. doi:10.1097/pr9.000000000000681

- Nerenz, D. R., & Leventhal, H. (1983). Self-regulation theory in chronic illness. In *Coping* with chronic disease: Research and applications (pp. 13-37).
- Neville, A., Jordan, A., Beveridge, J. K., Pincus, T., & Noel, M. (2019). Diagnostic Uncertainty in Youth With Chronic Pain and Their Parents. *The Journal of Pain*, *20*(9), 1080-1090. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2019.03.004
- Neville, A., Jordan, A., Pincus, T., Nania, C., Schulte, F., Yeates, K. O., & Noel, M. (2020). Diagnostic uncertainty in pediatric chronic pain: nature, prevalence, and consequences. *PAIN Reports, 5*(6), e871. doi:10.1097/pr9.00000000000871
- Neville, A., Kopala-Sibley, D. C., Soltani, S., Asmundson, G. J. G., Jordan, A., Carleton, R. N., Yeates, K. O., ... (2021). A longitudinal examination of the interpersonal fear avoidance model of pain: the role of intolerance of uncertainty. *PAIN*, *162*(1), 152-160. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000000000000
- Neville, A., Noel, M., Clinch, J., Pincus, T., & Jordan, A. (2021). 'Drawing a line in the sand': Physician diagnostic uncertainty in paediatric chronic pain. *European Journal of Pain*, 25(2), 430-441. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eip.1682</u>
- NHS. (2019). TENS (transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation). Retrieved March 7, 2019, from <u>https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/transcutaneous-electrical-nerve-stimulation-tens/</u>
- NICE. (2021). Chronic pain (primary and secondary) in over 16s: assessment of all chronic pain and management of chronic primary pain (NG193). In *NICE guideline*.
- Nicholas, M., Vlaeyen, J. W. S., Rief, W., Barke, A., Aziz, Q., Benoliel, R., Cohen, M., ... (2019). The IASP classification of chronic pain for ICD-11: chronic primary pain. *PAIN*, 160(1), 28-37. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001390
- Nieto, R., Hernandez, E., Boixados, M., Huguet, A., Beneitez, I., & McGrath, P. (2015). Testing the Feasibility of DARWeb: An Online Intervention for Children With Functional Abdominal Pain and Their Parents. *The Clinical Journal of Pain, 31*(6), 493-503. doi:10.1097/AJP.00000000000199
- Noel, M., Wilson, A. C., Holley, A. L., Durkin, L., Patton, M., & Palermo, T. M. (2016). Posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in youth with vs without chronic pain. *PAIN*, 157(10), 2277-2284. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000000642
- O'Cathain, A., Croot, L., Duncan, E., Rousseau, N., Sworn, K., Turner, K. M., Yardley, L., ... (2019). Guidance on how to develop complex interventions to improve health and healthcare. *BMJ Open, 9*(8), e029954. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2019-029954
- O'Cathain, A., Croot, L., Sworn, K., Duncan, E., Rousseau, N., Turner, K., Yardley, L., ... (2019). Taxonomy of approaches to developing interventions to improve health: a systematic methods overview. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies, 5*(1), 41. doi:10.1186/s40814-019-0425-6
- Ofcom. (2017a). Children and Parents: Media Use and Attitudes Report.
- Ofcom. (2017b). Internet use and attitudes. In 2017 Metrics Bulletin.
- Ofcom. (2019). Children and Parents: Media Use and Attitudes Report 2018.
References

- Ofcom. (2020). Adults' Media Use and Attitudes Report 2020. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ofcom.org.uk/___data/assets/pdf_file/0031/196375/adults-media-use-and-attitudes-2020-report.pdf</u>
- Ogden, J. (2012). Health Psychology: A Textbook: A textbook: McGraw-Hill Education (UK).
- Oliver-Carpenter, G., Barach, I., Crosby, L. E., Valenzuela, J., & Mitchell, M. J. (2011). Disease Management, Coping, and Functional Disability in Pediatric Sickle Cell Disease. *Journal of the National Medical Association, 103*(2), 131-137. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0027-9684(15)30262-5</u>
- Oxford Centre for Children and Young People in Pain. (2019, March 27). *We need to talk about chronic pain.* Paper presented at the Managing Chronic Pain in Children and Adolescents: OxCYP, Oxford, UK.
- Palermo, T. M. (2000). Impact of recurrent and chronic pain on child and family daily functioning: A critical review of the literature. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics, 21*(1), 58-69. doi:10.1097/00004703-200002000-00007
- Palermo, T. M., de la Vega, R., Murray, C., Law, E., & Zhou, C. (2020). A digital health psychological intervention (WebMAP Mobile) for children and adolescents with chronic pain: results of a hybrid effectiveness-implementation stepped-wedge cluster randomized trial. *PAIN*, *161*(12), 2763-2774. doi:10.1097/j.pain.000000000001994
- Palermo, T. M., & Eccleston, C. (2009). Parents of children and adolescents with chronic pain. *PAIN, 146*(1-2), 15-17. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2009.05.009
- Palermo, T. M., Fonareva, I., & Janosy, N. R. (2008). Sleep quality and efficiency in adolescents with chronic pain: relationship with activity limitations and health-related quality of life. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 6(4), 234-250. doi:10.1080/15402000802371353
- Palermo, T. M., Law, E. F., Fales, J., Bromberg, M. H., Jessen-Fiddick, T., & Tai, G. (2016). Internet-delivered cognitive-behavioral treatment for adolescents with chronic pain and their parents: a randomized controlled multicenter trial. *PAIN*, *157*(1), 174-185. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000000348
- Palermo, T. M., Law, E. F., Zhou, C., Holley, A. L., Logan, D., & Tai, G. (2015). Trajectories of change during a randomized controlled trial of internet-delivered psychological treatment for adolescent chronic pain: how does change in pain and function relate? *PAIN*, 156(4), 626-634. doi:10.1097/01.j.pain.0000460355.17246.6c
- Palermo, T. M., Putnam, J., Armstrong, G., & Daily, S. (2007). Adolescent autonomy and family functioning are associated with headache-related disability. *The Clinical Journal of Pain, 23*(5), 458-465. doi:10.1097/AJP.0b013e31805f70e2
- Palermo, T. M., Valrie, C. R., & Karlson, C. W. (2014). Family and parent influences on pediatric chronic pain: a developmental perspective. *American Psychologist, 69*(2), 142-152. doi:10.1037/a0035216
- Palermo, T. M., Wilson, A. C., Lewandowski, A. S., Toliver-Sokol, M., & Murray, C. B. (2011). Behavioral and psychosocial factors associated with insomnia in adolescents with chronic pain. *PAIN*, *152*(1), 89-94. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2010.09.035
- Palermo, T. M., Wilson, A. C., Peters, M., Lewandowski, A., & Somhegyi, H. (2009). Randomized controlled trial of an Internet-delivered family cognitive-behavioral

therapy intervention for children and adolescents with chronic pain. *PAIN, 146*(1), 205-213. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2009.07.034</u>

- Palermo, T. M., Witherspoon, D., Valenzuela, D., & Drotar, D. D. (2004). Development and validation of the Child Activity Limitations Interview: a measure of pain-related functional impairment in school-age children and adolescents. *PAIN*, 109(3), 461-470. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2004.02.023</u>
- Perry, M., Shahidullah, J. D., & Lynch, M. K. (2019). Moving towards cultural competence in the treatment of pediatric chronic pain.
- Pfeifer, J. H., & Blakemore, S.-J. (2012). Adolescent social cognitive and affective neuroscience: past, present, and future. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, *7*(1), 1-10. doi:10.1093/scan/nsr099
- Pincus, T., Noel, M., Jordan, A., & Serbic, D. (2018). Perceived diagnostic uncertainty in pediatric chronic pain. *PAIN*, *159*(7), 1198-1201. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001180
- Portelli, P., & Eldred, C. (2016). A quality review of smartphone applications for the management of pain. *British Journal of Pain, 10*(3), 135-140. doi:10.1177/2049463716638700
- QSR International Pty Ltd. (2012). NVivo qualitative data analysis software.
- Qualtrics. (2019). Sample Size Calculator. Retrieved Dec 17, 2019, from https://www.qualtrics.com/blog/calculating-sample-size/
- Rabbitts, J. A., Fisher, E., Rosenbloom, B. N., & Palermo, T. M. (2017). Prevalence and Predictors of Chronic Postsurgical Pain in Children: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *The Journal of Pain, 18*, 605-614. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2017.03.007
- Rajapakse, D., Liossi, C., & Howard, R. F. (2014). Presentation and management of chronic pain. *Archives Of Disease In Childhood, 99*(5), 474-480. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2013-304207
- RCPCH. (2018). RCPCH Compass: Online learning for child health. Retrieved March 14, 2019, from <u>https://rcpch.learningpool.com/login/index.php</u>
- Richardson, P. A., Harrison, L. E., Heathcote, L. C., Rush, G., Shear, D., Lalloo, C., Hood, K., ... (2020). mHealth for pediatric chronic pain: state of the art and future directions. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, 1-11. doi:10.1080/14737175.2020.1819792
- Roberts, R. E., Ramsay Roberts, C., & Ger Chen, I. (2002). Impact of insomnia on future functioning of adolescents. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 53*(1), 561-569. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00446-4</u>
- Roberts, R. E., Roberts, C. R., & Chen, I. G. (2001). Functioning of Adolescents With Symptoms of Disturbed Sleep. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 30*(1), 1-18. doi:10.1023/A:1005230820074
- Roma, M., Marden, C. L., Flaherty, M. A. K., Jasion, S. E., Cranston, E. M., & Rowe, P. C. (2019). Impaired Health-Related Quality of Life in Adolescent Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome: The Impact of Core Symptoms. *Frontiers In Pediatrics*, 7(26). doi:10.3389/fped.2019.00026
- Rosenbloom, B. N., Rabbitts, J. A., & Palermo, T. M. (2017). A developmental perspective on the impact of chronic pain in late adolescence and early adulthood: implications

for assessment and intervention. *PAIN, 158*(9), 1629-1632. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000000888

- Roth-Isigkeit, A., Thyen, U., Stöven, H., Schwarzenberger, J., & Schmucker, P. (2005). Pain among children and adolescents: restrictions in daily living and triggering factors. *PEDIATRICS*, *115*(2), e152-e162.
- Ruskin, D., Harris, L., Stinson, J., Kohut, S. A., Walker, K., & McCarthy, E. (2017). "I Learned to Let Go of My Pain". The Effects of Mindfulness Meditation on Adolescents with Chronic Pain: An Analysis of Participants' Treatment Experience. *Children*, *4*(12). doi:10.3390/children4120110
- Sachs-Ericsson, N. J., Sheffler, J. L., Stanley, I. H., Piazza, J. R., & Preacher, K. J. (2017). When Emotional Pain Becomes Physical: Adverse Childhood Experiences, Pain, and the Role of Mood and Anxiety Disorders. *Journal of Clinical Psychology, 73*(10), 1403-1428. doi:doi:10.1002/jclp.22444
- Sampaio, F., Bonnert, M., Olen, O., Hedman, E., Lalouni, M., Lenhard, F., Ljotsson, B., ... (2019). Cost-effectiveness of internet-delivered cognitive-behavioural therapy for adolescents with irritable bowel syndrome. *BMJ Open, 9*(1), e023881. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023881
- Santer, M., Burgess, H., Yardley, L., Ersser, S. J., Lewis-Jones, S., Muller, I., Hugh, C., ... (2013). Managing childhood eczema: qualitative study exploring carers' experiences of barriers and facilitators to treatment adherence. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *69*(11), 2493-2501. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12133</u>
- Santer, M., Muller, I., Yardley, L., Burgess, H., Ersser, S. J., Lewis-Jones, S., & Little, P. (2015). 'You don't know which bits to believe': qualitative study exploring carers' experiences of seeking information on the internet about childhood eczema. *BMJ Open, 5*(4), e006339. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006339
- Sawyer, S. M., Azzopardi, P. S., Wickremarathne, D., & Patton, G. C. (2018). The age of adolescence. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, *2*(3), 223-228. doi:10.1016/s2352-4642(18)30022-1
- Schanberg, L. E., Anthony, K. K., Gil, K. M., & Maurin, E. C. (2003). Daily pain and symptoms in children with polyarticular arthritis. *Arthritis & Rheumatism, 48*(5), 1390-1397. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/art.10986</u>
- Scherer, L. D., & Pennycook, G. (2020). Who Is Susceptible to Online Health Misinformation? *American journal of public health, 110*(S3), S276-S277. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2020.305908
- Scott, S. D., Albrecht, L., O'Leary, K., Ball, G. D. C., Hartling, L., Hofmeyer, A., Jones, C. A., ... (2012). Systematic review of knowledge translation strategies in the allied health professions. *Implementation Science*, *7*(1), 70. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-7-70
- Seattle Children's®. (2021). Pediatric Pain and Sleep Innovations Lab. Retrieved from <u>https://www.seattlechildrens.org/research/centers-programs/child-health-behavior-and-development/labs/pediatric-pain-and-sleep-innovations-lab/</u>
- Shaw, K. L., Southwood, T. R., McDonagh, J. E., & Group, o. b. o. t. B. P. R. (2004). Transitional care for adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a Delphi study. *Rheumatology, 43*(8), 1000-1006. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keh216

- Shaw, K. L., Southwood, T. R., McDonagh, J. E., the British Society of, P., & Adolescent, R. (2007). Young people's satisfaction of transitional care in adolescent rheumatology in the UK. *Child: Care, Health and Development, 33*(4), 368-379. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2214.2006.00698.x
- Shaw, R. L., Bishop, F. L., Horwood, J., Chilcot, J., & Arden, M. A. (2019). Enhancing the quality and transparency of qualitative research methods in health psychology. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 24(4), 739-745. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjhp.12393</u>
- SickKids. (2019). Pain in Child Health. Retrieved Febuary 28, 2019, from http://www.sickkids.ca/PICH/activities/index.html
- Simons, L. E. (2016). Fear of pain in children and adolescents with neuropathic pain and complex regional pain syndrome. *PAIN, 157 Suppl 1*, S90-97. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000000377
- Simons, L. E., Claar, R. L., & Logan, D. L. (2008). Chronic pain in adolescence: parental responses, adolescent coping, and their impact on adolescent's pain behaviors. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 33*(8), 894-904. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsn029
- Simons, L. E., Goubert, L., Vervoort, T., & Borsook, D. (2016). Circles of engagement: Childhood pain and parent brain. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 68*, 537-546. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.06.020</u>
- Simons, L. E., & Kaczynski, K. J. (2012). The Fear Avoidance model of chronic pain: examination for pediatric application. *The Journal of Pain, 13*(9), 827-835. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2012.05.002
- Simons, L. E., Sieberg, C. B., & Claar, R. L. (2012). Anxiety and impairment in a large sample of children and adolescents with chronic pain. *Pain Research and Management*, *17*(2), 93-97.
- Skinner, E. A., Edge, K., Altman, J., & Sherwood, H. (2003). Searching for the structure of coping: A review and critique of category systems for classifying ways of coping. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129(2), 216-269. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.129.2.216
- Slater, S. K., Kashikar-Zuck, S. M., Allen, J. R., LeCates, S. L., Kabbouche, M. A., O'Brien, H. L., Hershey, A. D., ... (2012). Psychiatric comorbidity in pediatric chronic daily headache. *Cephalalgia*, 32(15), 1116-1122. doi:10.1177/0333102412460776
- Sleed, M., Eccleston, C., Beecham, J., Knapp, M., & Jordan, A. (2005). The economic impact of chronic pain in adolescence: Methodological considerations and a preliminary costs-of-illness study:. *PAIN*, *119*, 183-190. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2005.09.028
- Smith, J. A. (1996). Beyond the divide between cognition and discourse: Using interpretative phenomenological analysis in health psychology. *Psychology & Health, 11*(2), 261-271. doi:10.1080/08870449608400256
- Spear, L. P. (2000). The adolescent brain and age-related behavioral manifestations. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 24*(4), 417-463. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-7634(00)00014-2</u>
- Srof, B. J., & Velsor-Friedrich, B. (2006). Health promotion in adolescents: A review of Pender's health promotion model. *Nursing Science Quarterly, 19*(4), 366-373.

- Stanford, E. A., Chambers, C. T., Biesanz, J. C., & Chen, E. (2008). The frequency, trajectories and predictors of adolescent recurrent pain: A population-based approach. *PAIN*, 138(1), 11-21. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2007.10.032</u>
- Steingrimsdottir, O. A., Landmark, T., Macfarlane, G. J., & Nielsen, C. S. (2017). Defining chronic pain in epidemiological studies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PAIN*, *158*(11), 2092-2107. doi:10.1097/j.pain.000000000000000009
- Stinson, J. N., Ahola Kohut, S., Forgeron, P., Amaria, K., Bell, M., Kaufman, M., Luca, N., ... (2016). The iPeer2Peer Program: a pilot randomized controlled trial in adolescents with Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. *Pediatric Rheumatology*, *14*(1), 48. doi:10.1186/s12969-016-0108-2
- Stinson, J. N., Lalloo, C., Harris, L., Isaac, L., Campbell, F., Brown, S., Ruskin, D., ... (2014). iCanCope with Pain[™]: User-Centred Design of a Web- and Mobile-Based Self-Management Program for Youth with Chronic Pain Based on Identified Health Care Needs. *Pain Research and Management, 19*(5). doi:10.1155/2014/935278
- Stinson, J. N., McGrath, P., Hodnett, E., Feldman, B., Duffy, C., Huber, A., Tucker, L., ... (2010a). Usability testing of an online self-management program for adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *12*(3), e30. doi:10.2196/jmir.1349
- Stinson, J. N., McGrath, P. J., Hodnett, E. D., Feldman, B. M., Duffy, C. M., Huber, A. M., Tucker, L. B., ... (2010b). An internet-based self-management program with telephone support for adolescents with arthritis: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *The Journal of Rheumatology*, *37*(9), 1944-1952. doi:10.3899/jrheum.091327
- Stinson, J. N., Toomey, P. C., Stevens, B. J., Kagan, S., Duffy, C. M., Huber, A., Malleson, P., ... (2008). Asking the experts: Exploring the self-management needs of adolescents with arthritis. *Arthritis Care & Research*, *59*(1), 65-72. doi:doi:10.1002/art.23244
- Stovold, E., Beecher, D., Foxlee, R., & Noel-Storr, A. (2014). Study flow diagrams in Cochrane systematic review updates: an adapted PRISMA flow diagram. *Systematic Reviews, 3*(1), 54. doi:10.1186/2046-4053-3-54
- Strömmer, S., Shaw, S., Jenner, S., Vogel, C., Lawrence, W., Woods-Townsend, K., Farrell, D., ... (2021). How do we harness adolescent values in designing health behaviour change interventions? A qualitative study. *British Journal of Health Psychology, n*/a(n/a). doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjhp.12526</u>
- Sullivan, M. J. L., Thorn, B., Haythornthwaite, J. A., Keefe, F., Martin, M., Bradley, L. A., & Lefebvre, J. C. (2001). Theoretical Perspectives on the Relation Between Catastrophizing and Pain. *The Clinical Journal of Pain, 17*(1), 52-64.
- Swain, M. S., Henschke, N., Kamper, S. J., Gobina, I., Ottová-Jordan, V., & Maher, C. G. (2014). An international survey of pain in adolescents. *BMC Public Health*, 14(1), 447. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-447

Taherdoost, H. (2017). Determining Sample Size; How to Calculate Survey Sample Size.

Tan, G., Jensen, M. P., Thornby, J. I., & Shanti, B. F. (2004). Validation of the brief pain inventory for chronic nonmalignant pain. *The Journal of Pain*, 5(2), 133-137. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2003.12.005</u>

- Tegethoff, M., Belardi, A., Stalujanis, E., & Meinlschmidt, G. (2015). Comorbidity of Mental Disorders and Chronic Pain: Chronology of Onset in Adolescents of a National Representative Cohort. *The Journal of Pain, 16*(10), 1054-1064. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2015.06.009
- Tong, A., Sainsbury, P., & Craig, J. (2007). Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care, 19*(6), 349-357. doi:10.1093/intqhc/mzm042
- Tracey, I., & Mantyh, P. W. (2007). The Cerebral Signature for Pain Perception and Its Modulation. *Neuron*, *55*(3), 377-391. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2007.07.012</u>
- Tran, S. T., Jastrowski Mano, K. E., Anderson Khan, K., Davies, W. H., & Hainsworth, K. R. (2016). Patterns of anxiety symptoms in pediatric chronic pain as reported by youth, mothers, and fathers. *Clinical Practice in Pediatric Psychology, 4*(1), 51-62. doi:10.1037/cpp0000126
- Tran, S. T., Jastrowski Mano, K. E., Hainsworth, K. R., Medrano, G. R., Anderson Khan, K., Weisman, S. J., & Davies, W. H. (2015). Distinct Influences of Anxiety and Pain Catastrophizing on Functional Outcomes in Children and Adolescents With Chronic Pain. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 40(8), 744-755. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsv029
- Trautmann, E., & Kröner-Herwig, B. (2010). A randomized controlled trial of Internet-based self-help training for recurrent headache in childhood and adolescence. *Behaviour Research and Therapy, 48*(1), 28-37. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2009.09.004</u>
- Treede, R. D., Rief, W., Barke, A., Aziz, Q., Bennett, M. I., Benoliel, R., Cohen, M., ... (2019). Chronic pain as a symptom or a disease: the IASP Classification of Chronic Pain for the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11). *PAIN*, *160*(1), 19-27. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001384
- Treede, R. D., Rief, W., Barke, A., Aziz, Q., Bennett, M. I., Benoliel, R., Cohen, M., ... (2015). A classification of chronic pain for ICD-11. *PAIN*, *156*(6), 1003-1007. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000000160
- Tsao, J. C. I., & Zeltzer, L. K. (2005). Complementary and Alternative Medicine Approaches for Pediatric Pain: A Review of the State-of-the-science. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2, 602927. doi:10.1093/ecam/neh092
- Tutelman, P. R., Langley, C. L., Chambers, C. T., Parker, J. A., Finley, G. A., Chapman, D., Jones, G. T., ... (2021). Epidemiology of chronic pain in children and adolescents: a protocol for a systematic review update. *BMJ Open*, *11*(2), e043675. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2020-043675
- Vance, C. G. T., Dailey, D. L., Rakel, B. A., & Sluka, K. A. (2014). Using TENS for pain control: the state of the evidence. *Pain Management*, 4(3), 197-209. doi:10.2217/pmt.14.13
- Varni, J. W., Burwinkle, T. M., Seid, M., & Skarr, D. (2003). The PedsQL[™] 4.0 as a Pediatric Population Health Measure: Feasibility, Reliability, and Validity. *Ambulatory Pediatrics, 3*(6), 329-341. doi:10.1367/1539-4409(2003)003<0329:tpaapp>2.0.co;2
- Varni, J. W., Limbers, C. A., & Burwinkle, T. M. (2007). Impaired health-related quality of life in children and adolescents with chronic conditions: a comparative analysis of 10 disease clusters and 33 disease categories/severities utilizing the PedsQL 4.0 Generic Core Scales. *Health And Quality Of Life Outcomes, 5*, 43. doi:10.1186/1477-7525-5-43

- Varni, J. W., Seid, M., & Kurtin, P. S. (2001). PedsQL[™] 4.0: Reliability and Validity of the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory[™] Version 4.0 Generic Core Scales in Healthy and Patient Populations. *Medical Care, 39*(8), 800-812.
- Varni, J. W., Shulman, R. J., Self, M. M., Nurko, S., Saps, M., Saeed, S. A., Bendo, C. B., ... (2015). Symptom Profiles in Patients With Irritable Bowel Syndrome or Functional Abdominal Pain Compared With Healthy Controls. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 61(3).
- Vinall, J., Pavlova, M., Asmundson, G. J., Rasic, N., & Noel, M. (2016). Mental health comorbidities in pediatric chronic pain: a narrative review of epidemiology, models, neurobiological mechanisms and treatment. *Children, 3*(4), 40. doi:10.3390/children3040040
- Viner, R. M., Ozer, E. M., Denny, S., Marmot, M., Resnick, M., Fatusi, A., & Currie, C. (2012). Adolescence and the social determinants of health. *The Lancet, 379*(9826), 1641-1652. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60149-4</u>
- Vlaeyen, J. W., Crombez, G., & Linton, S. J. (2016). The fear-avoidance model of pain. *PAIN*, 157(8), 1588-1589. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000000574
- Vlaeyen, J. W., & Linton, S. J. (2000). Fear-avoidance and its consequences in chronic musculoskeletal pain: a state of the art. *PAIN*, *85*(3), 317-332. doi:10.1016/s0304-3959(99)00242-0
- Voerman, J. S., Remerie, S., Westendorp, T., Timman, R., Busschbach, J. J. V., Passchier, J., & de Klerk, C. (2015). Effects of a Guided Internet-Delivered Self-Help Intervention for Adolescents With Chronic Pain. *The Journal of Pain, 16*(11), 1115-1126. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2015.07.011</u>
- von Baeyer, C. L., Stevens, B. J., Chambers, C. T., Craig, K. D., Finley, G. A., Grunau, R. E., Johnston, C. C., ... (2014). Training highly qualified health research personnel: the pain in Child Health consortium. *Pain Research and Management, 19*(5), 267-274.
- Westendorp, T., Verbunt, J. A., Remerie, S. C., de Blécourt, A. C. E., van Baalen, B., & Smeets, R. J. E. M. (2016). Social functioning in adulthood: Understanding long-term outcomes of adolescents with chronic pain/fatigue treated at inpatient rehabilitation programs. *European Journal of Pain*, 20(7), 1121-1130. doi:10.1002/ejp.836
- Williams, G. (2018, November 16). *Chronic Pain: Management & Pharmacology.* Paper presented at the Great Ormond Street Hospital 13th Paediatric Pain Symposium, London, UK.
- Willig, C. (2013a). Epistemological bases for qualitative research. In Introducing Qualitative Research in Psychology (pp. 14-22). Maidenhead, UNITED KINGDOM: McGraw-Hill Education. Retrieved from <u>http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/soton-</u> ebooks/detail.action?docID=1220260.
- Willig, C. (2013b). Qualitative research design and data collection. In Introducing Qualitative Research in Psychology (pp. 23-38). Maidenhead, UNITED KINGDOM: McGraw-Hill Education. Retrieved from http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/soton-ebooks/detail.action?docID=1220260.
- Winger, A., Kvarstein, G., Wyller, V. B., Ekstedt, M., Sulheim, D., Fagermoen, E., Småstuen, M. C., ... (2015). Health related quality of life in adolescents with chronic fatigue

syndrome: a cross-sectional study. *Health And Quality Of Life Outcomes, 13*, 96-96. doi:10.1186/s12955-015-0288-3

- World Health Organization. (2020). Guidelines on the management of chronic pain in children. In. Geneva.
- Yardley, L. (2000). Dilemmas in qualitative health research. *Psychology & Health, 15*(2), 215-228. doi:10.1080/08870440008400302
- Yardley, L., Miller, S., Teasdale, E., & Little, P. (2010). Using Mixed Methods to Design a Web-based Behavioural Intervention to Reduce Transmission of Colds and Flu. *Journal of Health Psychology, 16*(2), 353-364. doi:10.1177/1359105310377538
- Yardley, L., Morrison, L., Bradbury, K., & Muller, I. (2015). The person-based approach to intervention development: application to digital health-related behavior change interventions. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *17*(1), e30. doi:10.2196/jmir.4055
- Yardley, L., Sharples, K., Beech, S., & Lewith, G. (2001). Developing a Dynamic Model of Treatment Perceptions. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 6(3), 269-282. doi:10.1177/135910530100600301
- Yardley, L., Spring, B. J., Riper, H., Morrison, L. G., Crane, D. H., Curtis, K., Merchant, G. C., ... (2016). Understanding and Promoting Effective Engagement With Digital Behavior Change Interventions. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *51*(5), 833-842. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.015
- Yeh, M. L., Hung, Y. L., Chen, H. H., Lin, J. G., & Wang, Y. J. (2013). Auricular acupressure combined with an internet-based intervention or alone for primary dysmenorrhea: a control study. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2013, 316212. doi:10.1155/2013/316212
- Yetwin, A. K., Mahrer, N. E., John, C., & Gold, J. I. (2018). Does Pain Intensity Matter? The Relation between Coping and Quality of Life in Pediatric Patients with Chronic Pain. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing, 40*, 7-13. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2018.02.003</u>
- Yurgelun-Todd, D. (2007). Emotional and cognitive changes during adolescence. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *17*(2), 251-257. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2007.03.009</u>
- Yürümez, E., & Kiliç, B. (2013). Relationship Between Sleep Problems and Quality of Life in Children With ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders, 20.* doi:10.1177/1087054713479666
- Zarnegar, R., Clinch, J., Chawla, R., & Jayaseelan, S. (2015). Pharmacology and Prescribing in Paediatric Pain Management. In RCPCH (Ed.), Pain Management. RCPCH Compass. Retrieved from <u>https://rcpch.learningpool.com/course/view.php?id=126</u>.
- Zeltzer, L. K., Tsao, J. C. I., Stelling, C., Powers, M., Levy, S., & Waterhouse, M. (2002). A Phase I Study on the Feasibility and Acceptability of an Acupuncture/Hypnosis Intervention for Chronic Pediatric Pain. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 24(4), 437-446. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0885-3924(02)00506-7</u>

Appendix A Sample size calculation (Paper 2)

A target sample size was calculated to estimate how many participants would be required to produce results that accurately represent the UK-based adolescents with chronic pain. Primary aims of the study were to find out which online resources adolescents and parents currently use to manage chronic pain and mental health issues, and what content and features adolescents and parents would like to see in a new online intervention. As these were categorical selections, a sample size calculation for categorical data was used:

$$n=\frac{p(1-p)z^2}{e^2}$$

n = required sample size, p = population variance, e = percentage maximum error, z = value corresponding to level of confidence

With a confidence level set at 95% (z = 1.96), margin of error (e) set at 5%, and variance (p) maximised at .50, a representative sample size was calculated as 385 complete responses in total (Qualtrics, 2019; Taherdoost, 2017).

This calculation assumes parent responses are representative of adolescents aged 12 to 15 years, and those aged 16 to 18 years would answer the survey themselves. Mathematical correction was not needed, as the required sample size of 385 does not exceed 5% of the UK population of adolescents with chronic pain (Gobina et al., 2019; Cochran, 1977; Kotrlik & Higgins, 2001).

Appendix B Details of questionnaires administered (Paper 2)

B.1 Pain characteristics

Pain condition was classified as per ICD-11 diagnostic categories (Treede et al., 2015) i.e., chronic primary pain, chronic cancer pain, chronic postsurgical and posttraumatic pain, chronic neuropathic pain, chronic headache and orofacial pain, chronic visceral pain, and chronic musculoskeletal pain. Multiple selections were allowed as some patients' chronic pain overlaps two or more categories, where one of the categories will be defined as the 'primary parent' diagnosis.

Participants were asked who diagnosed their chronic pain (options: GP, Consultant, Nurse, or 'Someone else'). If they selected 'Someone else' they were asked to specify whom, using a text input box.

The next question related to pain duration. Duration could be selected from \ge 3-months, \ge 6-months, \ge 1-year, \ge 3-years, or \ge 5-years. There were also options to select < 3-months or < 4-weeks. However, participants that selected these options were politely advised to exit the survey, as a pain duration of < 3-months does not match the criteria for chronic pain outlined for the ICD-11 (Treede et al., 2015).

Pain intensity was then assessed using the numerical rating scales from the Brief Pain Inventory (BPI) (Cleeland & Ryan, 1991) which ask patients to rate their pain at its worst in the last 24 hours, at its least in the last 24 hours, and 'on average' (0 = no pain to 10 = painas bad as you can imagine). The BPI, although was initially developed to assess cancer related pain it has been validated, and used widely, in non-malignant chronic pain samples (Tan et al., 2004; Keller et al., 2004). An acceptable level of internal consistency was achieved for adolescent BPI scores ($\alpha = .784$), and parent-proxy scores ($\alpha = .793$).

B.2 Health-related quality of life

Health-related quality of life (HRQL) was measured using the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory (PedsQL[™] 4.0) (Varni et al., 2003; Varni et al., 2001), which is a validated scale that measures HRQL in children and young people in different age bands, as developmentally appropriate. The Child Self-Report is available for ages 5 to 7, 8 to 12, and

13 to 18 years, and the Parent Proxy-Report is available for ages 2 to 4, 5 to 7, 8 to 12, and 13 to 18 years. The version used in the current study targeted adolescents aged 13 to 18 years, and the parent proxy-report was used for the parent branch of the survey. The adolescent PedsQL[™] contains 23 items and four subscales (physical, emotional, social, and school functioning). HRQL total scores were computed as per guidance from the PedsQL[™] 4.0. A psychosocial summary score can be computed using the emotional, social, and school functioning subscales, and the physical summary is comprised of scores from the physical subscale only. Transformed HRQL scores range from zero to 100, with a higher score indicating better HRQL. The PedsQL[™] is widely used to assess HRQL in healthy (Motamed-Gorii et al., 2019; Bazzano et al., 2018; Lam et al., 2013) and clinical populations of children and adolescents; for example in ADHD (Al-Habib et al., 2019; Erbilgin Gün & Kilincaslan, 2018; Yürümez & Kiliç, 2013) and chronic fatigue (Roma et al., 2019; Winger et al., 2015), as well as specifically in paediatric chronic pain research (Slater et al., 2012; Kalapurakkel et al., 2015; Yetwin et al., 2018; Tran et al., 2015; Simons et al., 2008; Varni et al., 2015). Adolescent and parent proxy reports from the present sample had high internal consistency (α = .895 and α = .908, respectively).

B.3 Healthcare use

Adolescents and parents were asked if they/ their child currently (at the time of taking the survey) attended an 'NHS-based pain management service or program' ('Yes' or 'No'). Participants that selected 'Yes' were additionally asked 'which healthcare professionals have been helping you to manage chronic pain?' They could select multiple options for this, which included: GP, consultant, nurse, occupational therapist, physiotherapist, and psychologist. Participants that answered 'No' to the first question were re-directed to the subsequent section.

B.4 Online resource use

The next section asked about which resources adolescents used to manage chronic pain and mental health. Adolescents and parents could select from a range of options or input something different. There were 10 different resources available to select for chronic pain, and 12 resources available to select in the mental health management; these included a variety of apps and websites, as well as social media platforms. For both chronic pain management, and mental health management, options were presented in a randomised order. An adolescent volunteer (female, 15 years old) was asked for her input about the resources available to select for mental health management before they were finalised.

B.5 Parental information-seeking

Parents were additionally asked 'As a parent/ guardian, do you use any online resources to help you understand or manage your teenager's chronic pain?' Nine options were available to select, including the option to state: 'I do not use online resources to understand/ manage my teenager's chronic pain' or 'I use a different online resource'. The other options included apps, websites, and social media resources. Options were presented in a randomised order and multiple options could be selected.

B.6 Most used pain management techniques

Following this, adolescents and parents were asked to rank their/ their child's top three most useful pain management techniques in general (as opposed to online management only). There were 19 techniques available from which participants were asked to rank their top three (1 = most helpful, $2 = 2^{nd}$ most helpful, $3 = 3^{rd}$ most helpful). A range of pain management techniques from medicine, nursing, occupational therapy, psychology, and complimentary alternative medicine (CAM) were included in this selection. The following options were presented in a randomised order:

Medication/ pain-killers	Getting good night's sleep
Getting help and support with school work	Improving my understanding of chronic pain
Improving other people's understanding of	Physiotherapy exercises
chronic pain	
Keeping active	Pacing myself
Relaxation and breathing	Mindfulness and/ or meditation
Other physical pain management methods	Psychological therapy - Cognitive
(e.g., using TENS, thermal analgesia,	Behavioural Therapy (CBT)
desensitisation)	
Hypnosis	Massage
Biofeedback (increasing awareness and	Psychological therapy - Exposure therapy
modifying physiological processes e.g.,	
heart rate)	
Art therapy	Guided imagery and/or visualization
Rest	

B.7 Needs assessment

This section begun with the question 'What are your initial thoughts about creating a new online resource that could help young people/ you manage chronic pain?' which was a text input response question (qualitative). The main section then comprised of a series of questions about preferred techniques to be included in online chronic pain management (resource content), followed by questions about features and design.

Participants first selected which techniques they believed would be helpful to include in an online pain management resource for teenagers from a randomised selection of 19 techniques. These included techniques from multiple disciplines, for which multiple options could be selected from the following list:

Advice/ guidance on pain medications	Methods to improve sleep
Support for returning to school	Advice on explaining chronic pain to others
	(e.g., friends and family)
An explanation of what chronic pain is ('pain	Physiotherapy examples
education')	
Advice on how to pace yourself in daily	Advice on how to pace yourself for
activities	exercise/ sport
Relaxation and breathing techniques	Mindfulness and/ or meditation techniques
Advice on transitioning from 'paediatric'	Examples of other physical pain
(child) to adult healthcare	management methods (e.g., using TENS,
	thermal analgesia, desensitisation)
Challenging and restructuring negative	Hypnosis
thoughts	
Massage techniques	Biofeedback (increasing awareness and
	modifying physiological processes e.g.,
	heart rate)
Exposure therapy techniques (i.e.,	Art therapy
gradually exposing yourself to situations	
that you would usually avoid)	
Guided imagery and/or visualization	

Participants were then asked if there was any technique or therapy (not yet mentioned) that would be especially useful to have access to at home (text input response). Further questions addressed resource structure and design. Participants were asked what sort of structure they would like and could select from (i) a flexible structure (can chose what

sections they want to use), (ii) set structure (to be completed over a number of days/ weeks), (iii) 'I do not mind how the resource is structured', (iv) 'I would like something else' (this contained a text input field). They were then asked if they would like professional adjunctive support whilst they/ their teenager was accessing the intervention. Questions were asked separately for telephone and online support, and scored as follows: 1 = definitely yes, 2 =probably yes, 3 =might or might not, 4 =probably not, 5 =definitely not. They were then asked if it would be appealing for the program to have a theme (for example, a travel theme), where response options were 'yes', 'maybe' and 'no'. Subsequent questions asked how important the design of an online resource directed at teenagers is, whether it was important that the new program was associated with a hospital or clinic, and whether pictures and videos are important for online pain management in teenagers (1 = extremely important, 2 =very important, 3 = moderately important, 4 = slightly important, 5 = not at all important). Participants were also asked about who should feature in video content (a healthcare professional, a (teenage) patient, or 'no preference'), and whether the person in videos should be of a particular gender (male, female or 'no preference') or ethnicity (White, Mixed/ multiple ethnicities, Asian/Asian British, Black/African/Caribbean/Black British, or 'no preference'). Comments on facilitators and barriers to using an online resource to manage chronic pain were collected in the penultimate question, which asked 'Is there anything that could motivate or prevent you/ your teenager from using an online pain programme on a regular basis?', with options to answer, 'not that I know of' or 'yes (please state)', which contained a text response box to specify. The final question was also a text entry question, which asked for any additional comments about online chronic pain management for young people.



Appendix C UK Distribution Map (Paper 2)

Appendix D Chronic pain screening tool (Paper 3)

Non-diagnostic screening tool for chronic pain research

Participant ID: Click or tap here to enter text.

PAIN DURATION

- \Box < 3-months
- $\Box \geq$ 3-months
- $\Box \geq 6$ -months
- □ ≥ 1-year
- □ ≥ 3-years
- □ ≥ 5-years

PAIN CONDITION*

Primary pain including area-specific chronic pain of unknown aetiology (e.g., back pain, chronic widespread pain, fibromyalgia, IBS)

a. Primary pain is only appropriate where pain cannot be better explained by categories2-7 and is associated with significant emotional distress or functional disability.

□ Cancer pain - pain caused by cancer itself or by cancer treatments

Post-surgical or post-traumatic pain - pain that persists beyond normal healing time following a surgical procedure or tissue injury

□ Neuropathic pain - damage to the somatosensory nervous system.

a. Demonstration using imaging, biopsy, neurophysiological, or laboratory tests, in addition to negative or positive sensory signs, must be present for definitive identification as neuropathic.

 Headache or orofacial pain including primary and secondary headaches, and TMD/TMJ.

a. Pain must be present on at least 50% of days to be classified as chronic within this category.

□ Visceral pain - pain originating from internal organs of the head and neck region and the thoracic, abdominal, and pelvic cavities

Musculoskeletal pain - pain arising as part of a disease process that affects the bones, joints, muscles, or related soft tissues. This includes conditions of persistent inflammation, such as arthritis, as well as pain resulting from structural osteoarticular changes, such as EDS and joint hypermobility syndromes.

*Tick as many as apply

DIAGNOSIS

- □ GP
- Consultant (a medical doctor, e.g., paediatrician, rheumatologist)
- □ Nurse (clinical nurse specialist or advanced nurse practitioner)
- D Physiotherapist/ physical therapist (e.g., occupational therapist)
- □ Somebody else Click or tap here to enter text.
- □ Self-diagnosed

DECISION

- □ Screening PASSED
- □ Screening FAILED

Appendix E Demographic form (Paper 3)

Participant ID: Click or tap here to enter text.

1. How old are you (in years)?

Click or tap here to enter text.

2. What sex were you assigned at birth, on your original birth certificate?

□ Male

- □ Female
- 3. What is your gender?
- □ Male
- □ Female
- □ Transgender Male
- □ Transgender Female
- □ Gender variant/ non-conforming
- \Box Other Click or tap here to enter text.
- □ Prefer not to say
- 4. What is your ethnicity?
- □ White
- □ Mixed/ Multiple ethnic groups
- □ Asian/ Asian British
- Black / African / Caribbean / Black British
- □ Other ethnic group
- 5. What is your postcode?

Click or tap here to enter text.

Appendix F Semi-structured interview topic guide (Paper 3)

Question number	Questions and prompts
1	Can you tell me a bit about your experience of persistent/ chronic pain?
	What type of chronic pain have you experienced?
	 How old were you when you first started getting pain?
	Can you tell me about what it was like when it first started?
	Can you tell me about what it has been like more recently?
	How does pain affect your school/ work/ university life?
	How does pain affect your physical abilities?
	How does pain affect your mood and emotions?
	How does pain affect your social life?
2	Can you tell me about any advice from doctors, nurses, psychologists, or physiotherapists that you have had about your pain?
	 Can you tell me about advice you have had for your pain from any other alternative therapists or specialists?
	• Can you tell me about your experience of treatments for pain?
	 In the past, when you have been trying to find out how to deal with pain, who or where have you turned to first?
	 Can you tell me about advice you have had about it from your friends and family?
3	What kinds of things do you do yourself to cope with persistent/ chronic

What kinds of things do you do yourself to cope with persistent/ chronic pain/ your pain condition? (medication/ exercise/ relaxation/ mindfulness)

- What has that been like?
- Have you used any online resources to help you cope with pain by yourself? (websites/apps/media channels)
- Have you had any problems with the coping strategies you have used to help manage your pain?
- If so, how do you overcome these problems?

Can you tell me [more] about any internet resources you have used to find information about persistent/ chronic pain/ your pain condition?

- What are you hoping to find when you search the internet?
- What are some of the things you have typed into a search to find out about pain?
- What things do you think about when you are looking for information about pain online?
- Can you tell me about any experiences you have had of using the NHS website to find out about pain?
- Have you used any other similar health advice websites (e.g., Healthline) to find out about pain, and what was this experience like?
- Can you tell me about any experiences you have had of looking for information about pain on social media (Facebook/ YouTube/ Instagram)?
- How has your use of internet resources and/or social media changed from when you were first diagnosed/ first started getting pain, compared to more recently?
- Which internet resources have you found the most helpful, and why?
- Which internet resources have you found were unhelpful, and why?

4

5 Thinking about online resources, is there anything else you think would be helpful, or would have been helpful in the past, for managing persistent/ chronic pain/ your pain condition?

Appendix G Coding manual (Paper 3)

Name	Description	Files	References
1 good doctor can make all the difference	References to a particular doctor or healthcare professional being very important in making a difference to how pain is assessed and managed. Includes references to select GPs, physios and other types of practitioners.	7	14
Academic sources - information-seeking	Information-seeking using academic sources such as Google Scholar or online journals. This could be information- seeking about the cause, symptoms, or treatment for a painful condition, which are often sought in parallel.	5	7
Accepting pain	Talking about being able to accept pain, in particular accepting the chronicity of the pain condition, and accepting some of the associated physical limitations. Some describe a sense of grief or loss associated with this, others have accepted it will always be there.	7	16
Accessing healthcare during COVID-19	References to not being able to access a variety of healthcare options during COVID-19, including face-to-face appointments, physical therapies, CAM.	9	19
Accessing NHS psychological therapies	Discussion of problems encountered when trying to access NHS psychological therapies/ talking therapies.	3	7

Name	Description	Files	References
Accessing physiotherapy	Encountering problems with access or referral to physiotherapy for pain condition. Some discussion of being sent generic physiotherapy worksheets, which have not been helpful.	3	5
Advice from friends + family with pain	References to advice sought from or given by friends/family members who have experienced similar types of pain.	6	17
Alternative health services	Use of healthcare services outside of primary/ secondary care, however not CAM or mental health. Examples: massage therapist, pharmacist, family planning, music therapy.	4	5
Anxiety-provoking content + worst-case scenarios	Anxiety-provoking content on the internet or an individual website. Includes extreme diagnoses popping up at the top of an internet search, and websites that relay worst-case scenarios for a condition. Examples of 'this could be cancer' or 'you are going to die of this illness' etc. Often associated with typing in symptoms rather than the pain condition itself.	10	21
Apps - distraction	Reference to specific apps that are used to facilitate distraction techniques.	2	4
Apps - exercise and stretching	Use of specific apps for exercising and stretching.	1	2

Name	Description	Files	References
Apps - mental health - other	References to use of other mental health apps, coded separately to the meditation and mindfulness apps (Calm, Headspace).	2	7
Apps - organisation and reminders	References to use/ desire to use organisation and reminder apps to help with pain management.	2	6
Apps - relaxation, meditation, mindfulness	Use of apps such as Calm and Headspace for relaxation, meditation and mindfulness. To help with pain or pain- related issues such as sleep.	10	29
Apps - symptom- tracking	Reference to using an unnamed pain symptom-tracking app.	1	1
Arranging pain management to reduce impact on exams	References to taking steps to ensure that pain management is up to date/ pain is minimised as much as possible in the run- up to academic exams.	2	2
Asking someone to help	References to having had to ask someone else for help, because the young person has been unable to complete a task themselves, due to pain.	4	4
Avoiding American websites because the health system is different to England	Reference to sticking to the NHS website as a primary source of information. Reasoned as the health systems are different in UK versus America and the	1	1

Name	Description	Files	References
	treatment offered might be different, plus they trust NHS sources.		
Avoiding medication where possible	References to avoiding taking medication where possible, or only taking medication when pain is severe. Usually related to worries over dependence/ tolerance or long-term impact of paracetamol/ NSAIDs.	12	17
Avoiding online groups for pain	Actively avoiding online groups for pain- related issues for a variety of reasons.	4	8
Avoiding social activities due to physical consequences	Talking about avoiding social activities, such as going out shopping, or travelling far, because of the anticipated physical consequences of increased pain. Advance planning of avoidance, as opposed to cancelling last minute.	6	7
Bad posture makes pain worse	Statement/ acknowledgement that bad posture can make pain worse.	3	3
Balancing your lifestyle at uni can be difficult	Talking about how balancing your lifestyle at university can be difficult and the impact that has on pain levels and pain management.	2	4
Becoming dependent on medication	Talking about being currently dependent or heavily reliant on medications/tablets.	3	5

Name	Description	Files	References
Before I had pain, I just didn't take people seriously	Reference specifically to not understanding others with pain or taking pain seriously, until they started experiencing pain themselves. Relates to 'lack of education and understanding of invisible illnesses'	2	3
Being aware of an injury during recovery	Reference to being 'aware' of a specific injury whilst recovering, however still keeping active.	1	2
Blogs - information- seeking	Information-seeking using online blogs. This could be information-seeking about the cause, symptoms, or treatment for a painful condition. Information sought is from the personal, experiential perspective of the writer.	2	3
Blogs - reading about others' experiences	Reading about other's personal experiences with pain via personal online blogs. These are not interactive.	1	2
Books + leaflets - information-seeking	Information-seeking using traditional paper resources such as books and leaflets. This could be information-seeking about the cause, symptoms, or treatment for a painful condition, which are often sought in parallel.	2	2

Name	Description	Files	References
Catching COVID-19 would affect me more than others	Reference to worry that catching COVID- 19 would affect them more than other healthy young people, hence avoiding going out completely.	1	1
Charity websites - information-seeking	Information-seeking on charity websites. This could be information-seeking about the cause, symptoms, or treatment for a painful condition, which are often sought in parallel. Some charity websites are linked via the NHS website.	10	16
Charity websites - unhelpful	Reference to contacting a charity website for support and the response being unhelpful.	1	1
Choosing strategies that feel familiar	Choosing pain management strategies that feel familiar e.g. I used to dance, so I use the dance stretching app.	1	1
Complementary and alternative medicine	References to complementary and alternative medicine, either that they have tried or that they wish to try/ have been recommended.	11	18
Coping with pain	References to trying to cope/ manage or deal with pain, comparably to masking it with pain medications or trying to alleviate pain completely.	18	33

Name	Description	Files	References
Creating a safe space for young people with pain	Expressions of a need for a safe space for young people with chronic pain to interact online.	3	8
Current study prompted online exploration	Expressions that the current study has prompted them to explore more online communities and website/ app options for dealing with pain.	3	5
Describing an injury	Describing a specific injury and how it occurred.	6	12
Describing pain location	Description of the location of pain on the body.	14	18
Describing pain sensation	Describing the feeling of pain or the pain sensation e.g., burning, aching, sharp etc.	13	30
Desire to improve self- management	Expressions of a desire/want to improve their self-management of pain in general.	6	10
Diagnosis is the key to finding accurate information	References to a diagnosis of pain or a painful condition being key/ crucial to finding accurate information and relevant support groups online.	11	23
Different medications for migraine vs joint pain	Reference to using different medication strategies for chronic migraine versus joint pain. Comparing the different ways of using the 2 different medicines.	1	1

Name	Description	Files	References
Distraction techniques	Use of distraction techniques/tasks to draw attention away from the pain.	5	7
Doctors can misinterpret things	Talking about misinterpretation of symptoms or wrong diagnoses given by doctors. Some overlap with 'taking online information to the GP', however more emphasis on that symptoms have previously been misinterpreted.	4	7
Doesn't use online resources for pain	Statement that the individual does not use online resources - websites/apps - for pain management.	2	4
Dropping out or delaying school or uni	References to dropping out of school or university or delaying/deferring by a year or longer due to pain-related issues. Some overlap with 'struggling to keep up with school/uni' - these are the more extreme cases.	4	4
Dyslexia and hand pain affect my ability to do exams	Specific reference to combination of dyslexia and hand pain impacting ability to succeed in school/ university exams.	1	1
Early prevention resources for chronic pain	Expression of a need for early prevention resources for chronic pain e.g., apps/ websites.	1	4

Name	Description	Files	References
EDS website - provision of resources to help others understand	Reference to the Ehlers-Danlos website providing educational resources that can be used to help other people understand the condition.	1	2
EF - feeling alone	Emotional functioning - references to feeling alone or lonely. Relates to the code 'people around me don't understand' (feeling matches with the thought).	8	12
EF - feeling anxious or stressed	Emotional functioning - references to feeling anxious, stressed or worried. Some cases state this in reference to mental health comorbidities, however some express this as a feeling on its own.	7	9
EF - feeling low, down or upset	Emotional functioning - references to feeling low, down, upset or similar.	13	15
EF - low motivation due to pain	Specific reference to having low motivation to get up and do anything when the pain is high.	1	1
'Even though I was in pain, I could have done more'	In vivo code. Talks about wishing they had put more effort into managing pain when they were younger/ at the start.	1	3
Facebook - information- seeking	Information-seeking using Facebook. Social media information-seeking often involves seeking experiential advice from	5	11

Name	Description	Files	References
	others about symptoms and/or treatments for a painful condition.		
Facebook - mainly for older adults	Reference to Facebook/ Facebook groups being for middle aged/ older adults, which has little appeal to young people.	1	1
Facebook - reading about others' experiences	Reading about other's personal experiences with pain via Facebook (pages or groups) or reading conversations/ interactions between other users about their pain experiences. Emphasis on reading/ liking/ viewing rather than sharing one's own experience.	3	7
Facebook - support groups	References to empathetic and interactive support groups on Facebook. Reading about other's experiences, rather than actively being part of a support group is coded separately.	8	24
False advertising of 'cure all' tablets	Reference to false online advertising of 'cure all' tablets.	1	2
Feeling dismissed by a consultant	Talking about a feeling of dismissal or not being taken seriously by a consultant doctor at pain-related appointments.	3	7
Feeling dismissed by a physiotherapist	Talking about a feeling of dismissal or not being taken seriously by a physiotherapist(s) at pain-related appointments.	1	3

Name	Description	Files	References
Feeling dismissed by GPs	Talking about a feeling of dismissal or not being taken seriously by GPs at pain- related appointments.	16	34
Fibro pain doesn't damage anything in the body	Statement that they know pain from fibromyalgia is not causing any physical damage in the body, and that exercise and activity is okay to participate in.	1	1
FMAUK website - outdated	Reference to Fibromyalgia UK website needing updating, more information, better layout.	1	1
Forums - information- seeking	Information-seeking using online forums or message boards. Information-seeking on forums often involves seeking experiential advice from others about symptoms and/or treatments for a painful condition (similarly to social media).	1	4
Forums - reading about other peoples' experiences	Reading about other's personal experiences with pain using online forums or reading conversations/ interactions between other users about their pain experiences. Emphasis on reading/ liking/ viewing rather than sharing one's own experience.	4	11
Giving up a sport due to pain	References to giving up a specific sport or needing to switch to an alternative, lower-	8	14

Name	Description	Files	References
	impact sport because of pain/ pain-related issues.		
Google or search engines - information- seeking	Information-seeking using Google or an alternative search engine. This could be information-seeking about the cause, symptoms, or treatment for a painful condition, which are often sought in parallel.	21	52
Google or search engines - parents information-seeking	Parental information-seeking using Google or an alternative, in replacement of the adolescent information-seeking themselves, regarding the cause, symptoms, or treatment for a painful condition.	1	1
Google or search engines - reading about others' experiences	Reading about other's personal experiences with pain via a variety of websites listed on an initial Google search, or reading conversations/ interactions between other users about their pain experiences. Emphasis on reading/ liking/ viewing rather than sharing one's own experience.	1	1
GOSH physiotherapy intensive course	Discussion about specific experience of the Great Ormond Street Hospital intensive physiotherapy course (paediatric).	1	2

Name	Description	Files	References
GP treating the immediate problem over chronic pain	Reference to GP treating acute diagnoses/ problems over addressing the chronic pain itself.	1	1
HCPs don't understand my condition	Reference to healthcare professionals not understanding EDS and proceeding to refer the individual around in a circle because they do not know how to treat.	1	4
High internet use at the start of the condition	References describing high/ much more internet use at the beginning/ onset of the pain condition compared to now. Some reference to that the information being sought about the pain condition has been found, hence there is no need to search further/ as often.	4	4
High pain during interview	Expressions of experiencing high severity of pain during the interview.	3	5
Hoping for a cure	References (often in vivo) to hoping to find a cure when searching online, or hoping to find someone that has had the same condition and been cured. Most are aware that this is an unrealistic expectation and describe it as an underlying hope. 1 or 2 references, however, state they still believe there will be a cure for their pain.	7	16

Name	Description	Files	References
I can join in by speaking to my friends online	Talking about feeling included in social interaction because they can speak to their friend online, WhatsApp, etc., even if they aren't able to meet in person.	1	1
'l can't concentrate as well as I could'	In vivo code. References to concentration levels being diminished by pain.	8	11
I can't do everything a normal teenager can do	States that pain is holding them back from being a normal teenager, and that they should be able to do everything.	1	1
'l can't go out as much as a normal 21-year-old would'	In vivo code. References to not being able to go out as much as other young people who do not experience chronic pain.	14	18
'I do worry about being consumed by constantly looking'	In vivo code. Expressing worries that online searching of symptoms, diagnoses etc. will become a mentally consuming, unhealthy habit.	2	2
I find the same online resources now as I did before	Reference to the online resources coming up when searching for information about pain online being unchanging over time/ still the same as when pain started.	1	1
I have a different circle of friends because of pain	Talking about having changed social groups/ circles entirely because of pain and associated disability.	1	1
Name	Description	Files	References
--	--	-------	------------
I have been told that this particular pain will get worse	Reference to patella alta (knee joint condition) - advised by HCP that this pain will get worse over time.	1	1
I have had to cancel plans with my friends	References to making plans with friends, which then must be cancelled at late notice due to pain.	3	5
I have met new friends online	Talking about meeting new friends via apps/websites/social media. References to meeting online friends via either pain- related and/or mental health-related issues.	3	4
I haven't been offered any pain medication	Statement that no pain medication has been offered by GP/ doctors. No medication tried.	1	2
'l just thought it was normal'	In vivo code. References to the initial belief that to experience chronic pain was normal/ a similar experience for everyone/ not abnormal.	3	9
'l just try to deal with it quietly'	In vivo code. References to not wanting other people to see that they have pain or pain-related issues. Includes using anonymous accounts or aliases.	3	4
I need stronger painkillers than what the GP can prescribe	Strong belief that UK GPs are powerless to prescribe stronger pain medication, and that they need to be taking some of the medications they have seen suggested by	1	9

Name	Description	Files	References
	people online (US etc.) to manage their pain.		
'l need to know that I'm not the only one'	In vivo code. Emphasis on searching online just to know they are not the only young person with a pain condition; that they are not alone.	1	1
I was given conflicting treatment advice	Reference to being given conflicting treatment advice, specifically about exercise (do less/ do more).	1	1
I was told it was 'stress- related', but that isn't the main trigger	Reference to someone else labelling pain as 'stress-related', and individual disagrees with this label/ believes stress is not the main trigger.	1	2
IBS-pain and period pain interacts	References to the interaction between IBS-pain and period pain e.g., period pain can worsen IBS pain and vice versa.	1	5
'lf you've got more money, you can handle illnesses better'	In vivo code. References to level of monetary income being important in enabling access to good treatments and services to help with chronic pain/illness.	2	5
I'm looking for advice that improves my QOL	Talking about looking for pain management advice with the aim to improve quality of life/ overall wellbeing (as opposed alleviating or reducing pain). Often juxtaposed with 'hoping for a cure', which is used in a humorous way.	4	6

Name	Description	Files	References
Impact of COVID-19 on general wellbeing	Discussion of the impact of COVID-19 on general wellbeing, for example discussing the emotional impact of the lockdowns, lack of access to gyms/sports facilities, not being able to use public transport etc.	6	8
Implementing new techniques is challenging	References to trying a new pain management technique that they have been recommended by either a HCP or family/friend/partner, however, finding that implementation of the new technique is challenging.	5	17
Instagram - health or gym inspo	Use of Instagram to find health and fitness or gym inspiration.	1	1
Instagram - information- seeking	Information-seeking using Instagram. Social media information-seeking often involves seeking experiential advice from others about symptoms and/or treatments for a painful condition.	7	20
Instagram - mental health inspo	Use of Instagram to find mental health inspiration and motivational/ encouraging/ positive mental health/ mental wellbeing posts.	2	3
Instagram - pain positivity	Use of Instagram to follow pages that post positive quotes and images about chronic pain.	1	2

Name	Description	Files	References
Instagram - reading about others' experiences	Reading about other's personal experiences with pain via Instagram or reading conversations/ interactions between other users about their pain experiences. Emphasis on reading/ liking/ viewing rather than sharing one's own experience.	6	20
Instagram - sharing information and experiences	Sharing one's own personal experiences about chronic pain via Instagram, using either a personal account or an account built specifically for sharing experiences with chronic pain/ illness.	2	6
Instagram - the chronic pain 'community'	Finding a sense of community and support with chronic pain via Instagram, Emphasis on exchange of informational and/or empathetic support. Includes specific references to 'community' and references to making new friends via Instagram.	4	22
Instagram - workout and stretching videos	Reference to using/ saving workout and stretching videos that are circulated via Instagram.	1	2
Invisible conditions can be made visible through social media	References to wanting young people's stories of pain/ invisible illness to be shared via social media, followed by wider sharing to others who do not have a pain condition, to improve their understanding.	2	2

Name	Description	Files	References
'It does affect my education, but I still get my work done'	Overlaps with 'struggling to keep up with education/studying'. However, in this case, pain has not affected attainment/ achievement.	1	2
'It's just the curse of being a woman'	In vivo code. Others (doctors, parents) normalizing women's severe abdominal/menstrual pain as to be expected. Refusal/ apprehension to investigate/ treat the pain.	2	4
'I've lost a lot of my friends'	Talking about the loss of certain friendships or friendship groups due to the impact of pain.	3	3
'Keep the medication perfectly consistent'	In vivo code. Reference to keeping arthritis medication consistent for it to be effective.	1	1
Lack of education and understanding of invisible illnesses	Talking about a general lack of education and public understanding of invisible illnesses, such as pain conditions. Emphasis on that there needs to be more education and resources available for others who do not understand.	3	10
Lack of pain psychology services	References to a lack of availability of, or a lack of referral to, specific services for pain psychology. These individuals express that generic talking therapies are not appropriate because emotional issues	4	9

Name	Description	Files	References
	would not be there if it weren't for chronic pain.		
Lack of social interaction during COVID-19	Talking about a lack of social interaction due to COVID-19 restrictions.	4	5
Learning from personal experience	References to learning how to manage pain/ ways to reduce pain specifically from personal experience of what has worked and what has not.	3	6
Little to no impact on studying	Reference to pain having little to no impact on studying/ education.	1	1
Looking for realistic content that is also uplifting	References to looking for social media content that strikes a balance between being realistic about the impact of pain and being uplifting/ motivational.	2	3
Lots of different doctors	References to having seen lots of different doctors or specialists over the course of several months/ years.	6	13
Making adjustments	Making physical adjustments or using support equipment e.g., braces/ cane/ migraine glasses, to help increase comfort and reduce pain.	11	25

Name	Description	Files	References
Making pain resources more aesthetically pleasing	Statement that it would be nice if pain resources were more aesthetically pleasing and print-friendly, Comparison made to mental health resources being more visually appealing.	1	2
Medical professionals don't believe in my condition	Reference to not feeling believed by medical professionals, and that there is still stigma in medicine regarding chronic pain conditions.	1	1
Medication description	Describing a medication name, label, or purpose. This includes specific pain medications, antidepressants, and any other medication taken in relation to managing the pain condition.	13	20
Medication helps with engaging in physical activity	Reference to medication being helpful to complete physical activity goals. Specific reference to Duke of Edinburgh Award.	1	1
Medications reduce pain	Statements that medications do work to reduce level of pain severity (though usually do not alleviate pain entirely).	11	21
Mental health comorbidities	Talking about mental health comorbidities that have been treated independently/ diagnosed independently by a healthcare professional. Includes anxiety, depression, stress disorders, OCD, panic attacks, and many more.	8	20

Name	Description	Files	References
Mental health support online	References to websites (sometimes in combination with apps/ social media) that are used specifically for mental health support e.g., Mind. Specific mentions of mental health apps are also coded under mental health apps - other.	4	11
Mindfulness - very difficult when pain is high	Reference to mindfulness being difficult to engage in when pain intensity is high.	1	1
Mindfulness hasn't helped me	References to have tried mindfulness and not liked it, found it a struggle to 'be mindful'. Found that mindfulness did not help them/ would not try it again.	6	9
More free mindfulness and relaxation resources	Expression of need for more free/ cheaper meditation and mindfulness resources.	1	2
More information for young people specifically	Expressions of a need for information tailoring (online) towards young people. Several references to the NHS website needing to address this issue.	5	9
More online information and support for patella alta	More online information and support is needed specifically surrounding the condition patella alta (a knee joint condition that causes pain).	1	2

Name	Description	Files	References
'My own search history has changed'	In vivo code. References to internet search history changing as pain changes, or as more information is gained about the pain condition and how to manage it.	6	7
My parent(s) panicked about potential diagnoses	Parental panic about a potential diagnosis of chronic illness (reference to chronic fatigue), having known someone else who has a diagnosis.	1	1
My school was not supportive	Reference to the school being non- supportive and seeing young person's pain as an 'excuse' not to attend.	1	1
My teacher was supportive	References to an individual teacher being supportive and helpful with pain issues. Provision of tangible and empathetic support.	2	3
My university supports me	References to the young person's university providing support with pain including access to support services, and extra time in exams.	5	5
My workplace are understanding	Reference to the workplace being understanding of physical pain condition and making adaptions for employee.	1	1
NHS waiting times	Discussion of NHS waiting times with the emphasis that there are long waiting times for appointments with primary or secondary care services. Discussion of	4	6

Name	Description	Files	References
	waiting times for psychological therapies is coded separately under 'accessing psychological therapies'.		
NHS website - COVID- 19 banners are off- putting	Reference to COVID-19 banners (yellow headers) on the NHS website being off- putting when searching surrounding different condition.	1	1
NHS website - directing friends to read information	Reference to directing friends to read information on the NHS website, which is easy for them to do.	1	1
NHS website - information-seeking	Information-seeking on the NHS website. This could be information-seeking about the cause, symptoms, or treatment for a painful condition, which are often sought in parallel.	21	55
NHS website - accessible, easy to use	References to the NHS website being easy to use/ navigate, accessible for everyone, clear to read, and easy to understand.	8	10
NHS website - basic or vague	References to the NHS website, being basic, vague, too simplistic or not providing enough information about the specified condition.	13	20
No support with the emotional impact of a pain diagnosis	Discussion about the lack of support with the emotional impact of a chronic pain diagnosis. A lack of any signposting,	1	4

Name	Description	Files	References
	information or reassurance given from the diagnosing doctor. No help with accepting pain chronicity.		
No symptoms at the Drs appt.	Reference to the irony of not showing any symptoms at the time of the medical consultation/ doctor's appointment.	1	3
No 'unhelpful' resources	No unhelpful resources if you use common sense/ avoid irrelevant websites	9	10
Normalised GP visits due to a different condition	GP visits are normalised due to attending regularly for another separate condition (heart condition).	1	1
Online GP	Using/ describing use of an online, private GP.	1	2
Online health information is readily accessible	Talking about online health information being readily accessible in instances where a face-to-face GP appoint is not available or is not immediately necessary.	2	2
Online healthcare should be freely available to everyone	Discussion that good online healthcare should be freely available to everyone, or at least discounted. References to online GPs and advanced activity tracking such as Fitbit.	1	3

Name	Description	Files	References
Online meditation classes	Taking online meditation classes that have been adapted from in-person due to COVID-19.	1	1
Online physiotherapy	Engaging with online physiotherapy, usually adapted from face-to-face physiotherapy due to COVID-19.	3	5
Online predators taking advantage of pain diagnoses	Specific references to predatory behaviour online via social media such as offering to give a massage to help pain etc.	1	2
Online psychological therapy	Engaging in online psychological therapies (talking therapy).	1	2
Other health websites - information-seeking	Information-seeking using other mentioned health websites. This could be information-seeking about the cause, symptoms, or treatment for a painful condition, which are often sought in parallel.	6	11
Other people normalise my pain	References to other people normalising the young persons' pain e.g., 'everybody experiences this' or 'I have that as well, it's normal'.	4	5
Other symptoms	Additional symptoms that relate to the pain condition - descriptions. Much of the content coded relates to Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome (a connective tissue disorder) and hypermobility, as well as the	13	36

Name	Description	Files	References
	additional symptoms of fibromyalgia, secondary headaches etc.		
Pain and fatigue	Talking about the relationship between pain or the pain condition and levels of fatigue/ energy.	11	19
Pain and sleep	References to having trouble getting to sleep or staying asleep because of physical pain. Some individuals in the fibromyalgia group talk about how they have been given medication to improve sleep, which has helped with overall pain and fatigue levels.	9	17
Pain changing over time	Long-term changes over the course of the persons' pain condition/ pain experience. The difference between pain then and pain now.	18	32
Pain is still the same	Stating that pain has stayed the same over time.	2	2
Pain sensation - allodynia	Reference to experiencing allodynia (hypersensitive pain sensation that occurs when touching the skin).	1	1
Pain-related worry	References to specific pain-related worries, which are described as worries or thoughts, usually 'what will happen if/when'.	8	9

Name	Description	Files	References
Parents go to the GP with me	Statement that parents go to the GP with young person.	1	2
Parents have a 'traditional' view of pain management	Reference to parents having a traditional view of pain management, and discouraging meditation/ mindfulness/ psychological strategies.	1	1
Parents relay online health information to me	Statement that parents look online and relay health information to the young person, rather than the young person directly accessing resources themselves.	1	3
People around me don't understand	Perceived lack of understanding that people in the young persons' life do not understand their pain and the impact it has on their life. This could be friends, family members, colleagues etc. Links with code 'select family and friends are supportive.'	10	26
People can be nasty online	References to coming across people in online forums/ groups who are generally nasty towards others or make hurtful comments/ insults.	2	3
People spread misinformation online	Reference to people spreading misinformation online. Specific reference to anti-vaxxers.	1	2

Name	Description	Files	References
PF - impact on physical activity	References to the pain conditions' impact on overall physical activity. For example, reducing physical activity due to pain or pain being a problem during regular physical activity, such as walking.	18	49
PF - routine tasks and self-care	References to the pain conditions' impact on daily tasks and self-care. For example, inability to shower, or put jeans on, or carry a bag. Struggling to write/ type is coded separately.	14	24
Physio - helpful but not tailored enough	Discussion that although aspects of physiotherapy can be helpful, the individual believes their physiotherapy programme is not tailored enough for their specific needs.	2	3
Physio - very difficult when pain is high	Discussion that engaging with physiotherapy is very difficult when pain severity is high/ pain flare present.	2	5
Physio 'a godsend'	References to physiotherapy being a really important, crucial aspect of the individuals' pain management plan. 'a godsend' coded in vivo.	3	7
Physio 'I don't gel with that'	References to physiotherapy exercises/ advice that has been given, and finding that it is not helping with pain, or making a	4	9

Name	Description	Files	References
	choice to not engage with it for specific individual reasons.		
Pinterest - information- seeking	Using Pinterest to information-seek, as well as save, pain management resources.	1	2
Pinterest - relatable quotes	Use of Pinterest to look at 'relatable' pain- related quotes.	1	1
Pop culture pain inspirations	Talk about celebrities or public figures journeys as told online/ through social media. Specifically, Lady Gaga mentioned a few times in relation to Fibromyalgia.	2	7
Popping, cracking and subluxations	References to joint popping, cracking, clicking and subluxations (often referred to as dislocations). Usually present with hypermobility/ EDS.	5	7
Presenting to A&E with pain	Experiences of presenting with pain at A&E.	3	5
Prioritising other problems over pain	References to prioritising treatment/ management of other health or mental health problems over chronic pain.	2	5
Prioritising pain over other problems	Prioritising physical pain problem over addressing issues with mental health and/ or social life.	2	2

Name	Description	Files	References
Psychological therapy	References to receiving psychological therapy/ talking therapies/ CBT.	8	15
Psychological therapy - CAMHS	Reference to receiving psychological therapy under CAMHS for pain-related issue.	2	5
Reddit - an appropriate platform for younger people	Reference to Reddit being a more age- relevant platform for younger people compared to other health forums.	1	1
Reddit - information- seeking	Information-seeking using Reddit, which is similar to online forums or message boards, however, is also considered as social media. Information-seeking on Reddit often involves seeking experiential advice from others about symptoms and/or treatments for a painful condition.	2	5
Reddit - reading about others' experiences	Reading about other's personal experiences with pain via Reddit (forum- based social media) or reading conversations/ interactions between other users about their pain experiences. Emphasis on reading/ liking/ viewing rather than sharing one's own experience.	1	4
Remote working, studying and pain COVID-19	Talking about exacerbation of pain-related difficulties as a result of working/studying from home during COVID-19.	2	4

Name	Description	Files	References
Resorting to private healthcare	Resorting to private healthcare for reasons including NHS waiting times, access to more tailored services than what the NHS can provide, or not meeting criteria for a certain service.	7	15
Rest is important	References to rest being important in terms of taking breaks and ensuring to allocate recovery time in relation to specific activities and/or generally balancing rest and activity.	8	16
Risking pain to achieve your goals	Talking about risking a backlash of pain to achieve a specific personal goal. Specific reference to Duke of Edinburgh Award.	1	1
Risking pain to do things you enjoy	Talking about risking a backlash of pain to take part in activities that bring enjoyment or to continue to take part in activities that the individual is passionate about.	3	8
Running out of options	References to running out of treatment options for pain management. Includes references to treatments not working fully and not being offered anything further, and statements that there are limited options available.	10	13
Saving useful resources for later	References to saving/pinning/storing pain management resources found online, so	4	4

Name	Description	Files	References
	that they can be returned to later/ when needed.		
Searching for a diagnosis	References to searching for a diagnosis either via medical services or online. Several descriptions of wanting answers, pushing for a diagnosis from HCPs, and emphasising that they want to know what the problem is so they can get the right treatment.	15	31
Seeing the school counsellor	References to seeing the school counsellor to talk about pain and related issues. Particularly issues they experience at school.	2	3
Select family and friends are supportive	References to select friends and/or family members being supportive around the pain condition. Often this is a partner or 1 or 2 members of a family. Sometimes discussed in contrast with other friends and family who normalise pain or are dismissive.	13	22
Self-blaming	Expressions of self-blame for pain experience. Thoughts that they might have done something to deserve to have pain, or that they were just being lazy in some way.	3	6
Self-inflicting pain in an attempt to desensitize	Attempting to desensitize the pain sensation via self-harming strategies to	1	3

Name	Description	Files	References
	create temporarily increased pain sensation in the painful limb/ area.		
Self-management - non-pharma physical	Use of heat and cool packs, massage, TENS for self-managing pain.	18	39
Self-management - relaxation, meditation, mindfulness	Use of relaxation, meditation or mindfulness to self-manage pain or issues related to pain, such as sleep and stress. Mindfulness apps are layered as a separate code.	20	42
Self-management - stretching, strengthening and yoga	References to self-managing pain by stretching, completing strengthening exercises, and several references to yoga (which can also be for relaxation and a combination of stretching/ strengthening).	11	20
Self-management sometimes helps, sometimes doesn't	Statement that self-management strategies are being used, but that they only help sometimes.	1	1
Social media is a 'highlight reel'	References to social media being a 'highlight reel' or not a portrayal of 'real life'	2	3
Social media is readily accessible	References to social media and the internet being readily accessible, and that they can always turn to the internet for support and advice for pain, or mental health, as needed.	3	4

Name	Description	Files	References
'Some people get very competitively ill'	Discussion of some individuals on social media turning pain severity and impact into a competition, particularly comparing their experience to others i.e., 'whose got it worse'.	4	10
Struggling to keep up with studying + attendance	References to struggles keeping up with school/college/university workloads. Includes references to reduced attendance	10	24
Struggling with work	Talking about pain-related issues with engaging with work/ employment. Several references to needing more breaks than colleagues, as well as not being able to take on a full-time role.	7	15
Struggling with writing + typing	References to struggling with completing tasks that involve writing or typing, due to hand and wrist pain.	6	10
Surgery can potentially make things worse	HCP advice given that surgery (knee surgery - patella alta) can potentially create more problems and make pain worse.	1	1
Taking nutritional advice from HCPs on board	Implementing nutritional advice given by healthcare professionals in relation to IBS and functional abdominal pain disorders.	2	4

Name	Description	Files	References
Taking nutritional advice from non-HCPs	References to taking nutritional advice from non-healthcare professionals online.	1	2
Taking online information to the GP	References to taking information from either the NHS website, or other alternative health websites, with them to the GP appointment. This may be physically printed out/ electronic document or may be that they have a list of specific symptoms they are planning to mention.	7	11
Targeted ads for pain relief products	Reference to online advertisements for pain relief products, usually with a link to the website where you can purchase the product. These adverts are often targeted based on internet search history.	1	6
The changing digital world	Talking about how the digital world has rapidly changed, and that there is much more information and more support resources that can be accessed online now compared to several years ago. Referenced frequently by those who have had pain for many years.	7	13
The relationship between mood and pain	Talking about the relationship between mood and pain, and how the two are inter- related. Some individuals discuss that they do not fully understand the relationship / see how the two are related, however, most emphasise the importance of this relationship.	13	29

Name	Description	Files	References
There is no treatment plan	References to there being no treatment plan, only management, with the emphasis that self-management is necessary because of this.	1	2
Tracking and recording pain	References to tracking or recording pain severity and pain-related symptoms, with the idea that it either is or could be helpful for pain management.	6	12
Transitioning from paediatric to adult healthcare	Discussion of 16-18 years transitional stage from paediatric to adult healthcare.	1	2
Traumatic experiences	Talking about pain-related traumatic experiences.	2	6
Treatment misinformation - dangerous to impressionable people	Stating that online misinformation regarding remedies and treatments for pain can be very dangerous to impressionable/ less educated people who might cause further problems for themselves by taking incorrect advice.	1	2
Treatments help, but only temporarily	References to pain management being frustrating because treatments only help temporarily, and the same strategies need to be repeated over and over.	3	3

Name	Description	Files	References
Trial and error treatment	Reference to treatment for the painful condition feeling as if it is 'trial and error' rather than a treatment plan.	1	4
Trustworthy information sources	References to a website or internet-based resource being trustworthy or reliable for health information either as a standalone or compared to other websites.	17	38
Trying to understand triggers	References to attempting to understand and avoid triggers that onset a pain flare. Frequently referenced by those experiencing chronic migraines or headaches. Triggers talked about mainly include light/ screens, and food and drinks.	7	14
Trying treatments suggested online	Trying out treatment advice/ management strategies from non-HCPs suggested online. Usually, suggestions found on forums and blogs.	7	8
Tumblr - light-hearted chronic pain humour	Reference to using Tumblr to follow light- hearted chronic pain humour. This is different to 'realistic content that is also uplifting' in the sense that this is only sought for the comedic value.	1	2
Turning to my partner first	Turning to a partner as the first point of support when experiencing high pain	1	1

Name	Description	Files	References
	levels or generally turning to them before anything/ anyone else (parents, internet).		
Turning to parents first	Turning to parents as a first line of support with pain, before other support sources (internet, partner).	5	6
Turning to the internet first	Turning to the internet as a first line of support with pain and pain-related issues. This is done before turning to anyone/ anywhere else (parents, partner, GP). Relates to code 'taking online information to the GP'.	11	11
Twitter - information- seeking	Information-seeking using Twitter, which is considered as social media. This could be information-seeking about the cause, symptoms, or treatment for a painful condition, from an experiential and/or medical/scientific perspective.	1	2
Twitter - reading about others' experiences	Reading about other's personal experiences with pain via Twitter or reading conversations/ interactions between other users about their pain experiences. Emphasis on reading/ liking/ viewing rather than sharing one's own experience.	1	2
Understanding medication by searching online	Talking about attempts to better understand pain medication the individual has been prescribed by searching online.	3	7

Name	Description	Files	References		
Understanding pre- disposing factors by searching online	Understanding pre-disposing factors e.g., genetic factors by searching online. Reference is specifically to lactose intolerance.	1	1		
Understanding that pain disorders are interlinked	Statement of understanding that having one pain disorder makes your vulnerable to others.	1	1		
Unpredictable pain	Describing pain as different on different days, ups and downs of pain on the same day, bad pain days versus good pain days	13	25		
Use of disability services	ability References to using/accessing disability services to help with pain-related issues.				
We need medical professional advocacy online	Reference to needing medical professionals to show their support and advocacy for chronic pain conditions online.	1	1		
WebMD - information- seeking	Information-seeking on WebMD. This could be information-seeking about the cause, symptoms, or treatment for a painful condition, which are often sought in parallel. WebMD has a symptom checker.	10	20		
WebMD - unhelpful	3	8			

Name	Description	Files	References
	hypermobility syndromes, or the symptom checker being anxiety-provoking.		
Websites downplayed my pain condition	References to websites downplaying or dismissing the impact of Ehlers Danlos/ hypermobility syndromes.	2	3
'what works for them might not work for me'	In vivo code. Recognition that treatments that work for one person may not work for another.	2	4
wikiHow - information- seeking	Information-seeking using wikiHow. This is usually in the form of 'how to treat' a specific ailment, using a step-by-step guide, with images.	1	1
Women understand women's pain	Reference to women understanding pain related to gynaecological issues better than a male doctor could.	1	2
Worries about medication dependence	Expression of worry about taking medication frequently/ becoming dependent.	3	4
You can't replace seeing a doctor in- person	Relates to accessing healthcare during COVID-19 code. Even though the NHS website is good, and telephone appointments are available, individual expresses that you can't replace a doctor getting a holistic view in-person, and that in-person interaction is also important to feel understood as a patient.	1	1

Name	Description	Files	References
'You have to learn to balance all your activities'	References to the importance of learning balance or pace all your activities, including physical activity, however also including establishing a general balance of e.g., work-life.	5	15
You need to be organised to manage pain	References to personal organisation being important to manage pain effectively. Includes keeping medication on-hand and creating reminders to do exercises such as physio or yoga etc.	6	8
'Young people shouldn't have pain'	References embodying the view from others' that 'young people shouldn't have pain'. Includes references to doctors thinking young people are 'exaggerating', as well as friends/ family members stating the young person is 'too young' for said pain condition. Sometimes this view is internalised.	11	18
Young people, weight- related issues and pain	Talking about how the population weight- related issues might reflect in more young people starting to have problems with joint pain (due to obesity/ being overweight).	1	2
YouTube - easy to search	Statement that YouTube is easier to search comparably to Instagram.	1	1
YouTube - information- seeking	10	16	

Name	Description	Files	References
	cause, symptoms, or treatment for a painful condition, from an experiential and/or medical/scientific perspective.		
YouTube - listening to others' experiences	Listening to other's personal experiences with pain via YouTube videos. This can overlap with information-seeking on YouTube e.g., what was someone's experience of getting a diagnosis and how did they get it?	8	13
YouTube - parent relaying advice from videos	Reference to a parent looking for informational advice on YouTube and relaying the information they find to the young person.	1	2
YouTube - relaxing soundtracks and meditation	Use of YouTube to source relaxing soundtracks and/or meditations, to facilitate self-management of pain or pain- related issues.	4	7
YouTube - yoga + stretching	Use of YouTube to source yoga and stretching videos, to facilitate self- management of pain.	5	7



University of Southampton

Faculty of Environmental and Life Sciences

Psychology

Exploring internet needs for the management of adolescent chronic pain: developing digital interventions in context

Volume 2 of 2

by

Anna Hurley-Wallace

ORCID ID 0000-0001-8790-1247

Thesis for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

July 2021

Exploring internet needs for the management of adolescent chronic pain: developing digital interventions in context

Anna Hurley-Wallace 25288849

Centre for Clinical and Community Applications of Health Psychology Faculty of Environmental and Life Sciences

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	3
Table of Tables	4
Definitions and Abbreviations	6

Table of Tables

Supplementary Table 1. Details of intervention content and design for each intervention
ncluded in the content analysis (n = 13)7
Supplementary Table 2. Details of development processes and evaluations of efficacy for
each intervention included in the content analysis (n = 35)
Supplementary Table 3. Criteria for Reporting the Development and Evaluation of Complex
Interventions in healthcare: revised guideline (CReDECI 2). Checklist for 13 identified
nterventions
Supplementary Table 4. Colour scale table indicating items on the CReDICI 2 checklist that
were 'present' or 'absent' for each intervention included in the content analysis
Supplementary Table 5. Search strategy (search terms by Higgins et al. (2018)

List of Accompanying Materials

This is Volume 2 of 2. This volume provides the online only supplementary materials that accompany Paper 1 of the main thesis, which is presented in Volume 1.

Definitions and Abbreviations

- **ACT:** Acceptance and Commitment Therapy
- **CBT:** Cognitive Behavioural Therapy

Supplementary Table 1. Details of intervention content and design for each intervention included in the content analysis (n = 13).

Intervention name	Descriptive reference(s)	Link to intervention (url)	Country	Target age (or sample age)	Target pain condition/ diagnosis	Mode of delivery	General appearance/ themes	Description of content – child/ adolescent facing	Description of content – parent- facing
Aim To Decrease Anxiety and Pain Treatment (ADAPT)	Cunningham, Nelson et al. (2018)	https://adapt.res earch.cchmc.org /Patient/Login	USA	Target range: 9 to 13 years	Functional abdominal pain disorders (FAP)	Face-to-face, plus web sessions and telephone call.	Blue and red website colours with image of a young child (female) on home screen (right) and the modules displayed (left).	All content available in English only. <u>Face-to-face sessions</u> In-person session 1 includes scripted content that covers gate control theory of pain (pain education), anxiety education, a mini- relaxation (mindful breathing), and guided imagery. There is also advice given to continue taking any medication and that the treatment is additional to care the child receives from a doctor. Both parent and child are present in the session, however the content itself is primarily child-directed, apart from instruction on how to use the parent guidelines. Child is also given a sticker diary to track how often they practice relaxation and imagery. Session 2 is directed at the child-only, where the parent joins for a review at the end of the session. Scripted content includes progressive muscle relaxation, calming statements and advice on activity pacing. Therapist also reviews the sticker diary given in session 1. The web content is also introduced. <u>Web sessions</u> Session 3: pleasant activity scheduling and problem solving; 2x tasks online - contains a problem solving guide and examples. Session 4: "Thinking like a detective: identifying and challenging automatic thoughts" – tasks emphasize focus on rationalising evidence to reduce worry and the difference between an actual event and a worry (cognitive restructuring). Session 5: fighting fears by facing fears and building social skills (how to be assertive); handout on aggression verses assertion and assertiveness quiz. Also includes stepladder handout (graded exposure) and 'facing fears' quiz. Session 6: Maintenance planning – emphasis on planning to practice	 The parent guideline is a video talk given by a therapist offering advice to help parents to deal with their child's pain and worry. It includes: Encouraging independent pain management, Praising child for using learnt skills, Encouraging normal activity (school and play) even when pain level is high, Eliminate 'status checks' e.g. stop asking about how bad their child's pain/ worry is, If pain/ worries lead to activity reduction, treat as if it is an illness, e.g. do not let child play games/ watch TV/ no treatment and ensure rest. Advised do not rearrange plans around their pain episodes, Follow doctor's guidance RE pain medications, There is also a therapist video talk for parents for each week of the child's (web) course. They explain the tasks the child has been given and their purpose. These are about 2 minutes long.
Internet CBT for children with pain- related gastrointestinal disorders (no specific name)	Lalouni, Ljótsson et al. (2017)	Not provided.	Sweden	Target range: 8 to 12 years Sample age: M = 10.7 (no SD)	Pain-related gastrointestinal disorders: FAP, irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), and functional dyspepsia (FD)	Therapist- guided internet CBT	No access to website. Images provided in Figures 1 to 4 of primary descriptive paper. Visual artwork of how the model of abdominal pain is presented to the child shown in Figure 1 is black outline with red text (this is presented as an animated film). Figures 2 to 4 are black text on a bright green background (screenshots); each screenshot has at least one image/ animation.	 skills learnt All online content available in Swedish only. <u>Child modules</u> All modules include homework exercises (reviewed following week), and case examples. Module 1: Psycho-education about abdominal symptoms (including animated film); explains brief neuroscience, hypervigilance, behavioural control and about the vicious circle of behaviour. Explanatory model of symptoms and treatment. Mapping avoidant and controlling behaviours. Goal-setting Module 2: The role of thoughts Mindfulness exercise (3-steps 'stop-observe- let go') Building an exposure hierarchy; instruction for exposure therapy. Children input exercises in order of least to most difficult on their 'ladder'. Module 3: Functional analyses. Psycho-education about exposure therapy. Exposure exercises (reference back to the hierarchy they created throughout all modules where exposure exercises are present). Module 4: Review of first exposure exercises. Toilet habits. Functional analyses (of avoidance and controlling behaviours). Exposure exercises. Module 5: Review of treatment sessions 1 to 4. Exposure exercises. Module 6: Functional analyses of goal-directed behaviours. 	 Parent modules All modules include homework exercises (reviewed following week). Main focus of parental modules is to support the child with exposure exercises. Module 1: The role of parental attention (including advice on giving privileges and how this reinforces child pain behaviours). Validating the child's experience and shifting focus. Mapping parental behaviours. Handling worry and frustration. Module 2: "Golden moments" – a focus on spending quality time with the child that is unrelated to abdominal symptoms Module 3: Supporting the child in the treatment. Introduction of token game; a printed game board where child checked off completed exposures, and received small rewards for every 4th to 8th exposure). Increasing school attendance. Module 4: How to handle parental stress. Plan for own recreational activities.

content - parent-

Structure/ completion order

Duration (time for child/ adolescent to complete)

Children

6 sessions beginning with two in-person sessions, followed by four weekly web sessions (1-6 to be completed in order)

Parents

Parents participate in faceto-face session 1, followed by 5 video talks, including 1 introductory talk, and then 4 corresponding video talk overviews of the child's web modules.

6-weeks (one session per week). Session 1 and 2 last 60-90 minutes each. Web sessions last 45 minutes followed by 15 minute telephone call with therapist.

Children

10 modules for children and to be completed in order.

Each family had a clinical psychologist that they met during an initial clinical interview. New treatment modules were provided every Friday, and the participants were instructed to complete the modules at the weekend.

Each Monday, the assigned psychologist reviewed the work and provided feedback (written) via the platform.

Psychologists sent additional reminders throughout the week if necessary.

Parents 10 corresponding modules for parents to be completed in order and in synchrony with child modules.

10 modules over 10weeks (1 module per week). Time taken to complete each module is unknown.
								 Module 7: Functional analyses of goal-directed behaviours. Review of the goals. Exposure exercises. Module 8: Positive analyses of goal-directed behaviours. Exposure to multiple stimuli (selected from hierarchy). Module 9: Quizzes. Review of achievements so far. Module 10: Review of avoidant and controlling behaviour. Maintenance and relapse prevention. 	 Module 5: Review of treatment sessions 1 to 4. Inventory of parental challenges. Module 6: Solving problems together with the child. Module 7: Functional analyses of parental behaviour with emphasis on the interaction between parent and child. Functional analysis of goal-directed behaviours. Module 8: Review of treatment – Part 1. Rewarding yourself for hard work. Module 9: Review of treatment – Part 2. Lessons learnt Review of parental challenges. Module 10: Maintenance and relapse 		
Customized CBT for adolescents with pain and emotional distress (no specific name)	Flink, Sfyrkou & Persson (2016)	Not provided.	Sweden	Sample age range: 17 to 21 years	Reccurrent pain and emotional distress	Face-to-face combined with internet CBT.	Unknown/ no access.	 All content available in Swedish only. Module 1 (face-to-face); Kick-off – includes psychoeducation, goal- setting and behavioural activation. Example: Setting up goals in terms of activities and daily functioning Module 2; Behavioural activation - scheduling activities that are positively reinforced. Module 3; Further behavioural activation, and a behavioural experiment. Module 4; Positive psychology techniques. Examples: 'Savouring' techniques Three good things' Modules 5–8 (recommended as needed/ customized): Sleep/ sleep hygiene Coping with stress/ scheduling activities for recovering from stress Dealing with pain/ self-exposure Techniques for targeting worry/ 'concreteness' training Module 9 (face-to-face); Ending - relapse prevention; identifying potential problems and maintaining improvement Daily ratings (items used) How much pain did you experience today? How stressed or tense have you felt today? To what extent have you experienced low mood today? How well did you sleep last night? 	N/A	 9 modules. Modules 1 to 4 and 9 compulsory, and to be completed in order. Modules 5 to 8 optional. Optional modules recommended to adolescents based on their daily ratings of symptoms after the initial four modules. Adolescents scoring above 5 on any symptom recommended to complete the corresponding module. Adolescents could contact a psychologist throughout the program via text message or email to request help with tasks or ask questions. Phone calls and additional face-to-face sessions arranged if necessary. Psychologists reviewed assignments each week and sent feedback (written) via the platform. Psychologists sent reminders via text or email if necessary. 	Modules intended to be completed 1 per week (log on to the site at least once per week). In the study by Flink, Sfyrkou & Persson (2016), participants took between 4 to 13 weeks to complete the program.
DARWeb	Nieto, Hernández et al. (2015) Nieto, Boixados et al. (2019) [artwork/ visuals]	https://darweb.u oc.es	Spain	Target range: 9 to 15 years	Reccurrent abdominal pain	Web-based self- management	Green/ blue text on white background. Logo is red/orange with green. Home page shows all the modules (numbered) and the top tab can be used to navigate to the message board. Programme has child, adolescent and parent animated characters.	All online content available in Spanish only. Units are composed of text, graphics, and multimedia. Each unit is divided into 5 sections: objectives, introduction, training, exercises, and a summary. Introduction sections give a theoretical overview of the topic, and the training section instructs on how to apply the skills taught in that unit. In the 'exercises' sections, small tasks are given to help consolidate the taught skills, and the units end with a short summary of the unit contents. <u>Children's units</u> A comic booklet was created to guide the children's program. The character in the comic is a child with functional abdominal pain (FAP), and the situations he experiences are used to introduce the topics on the web program. Unit 1. Information about FAP including 'what is FAP?' Characteristics, Impact and treatment.	Parent units Each week the parents also receive a brief explanation of the topic their child is going to work on that week, and they receive a file with the contents of the children's unit (pdf) by email. Unit 1: Information about FAP including 'what is FAP?' Characteristics, Impact and treatment. Unit 2. Pain and triggers, including pain mechanisms and managing triggers. Unit 3. Goal setting – SMART goals (Specific Measurable Achievable Realistic Timed).	<u>Children/ adolescents</u> 7 modules for children to be completed in order. <u>Parents</u> 7 corresponding modules for parents, to be completed in synchrony with child/ adolescent program.	7 modules over 7- weeks (1 unit per week). Units are 30- 45minutes each.

Unit 2. Pain and triggers, including pain mechanisms and managing triggers.

triggers. Unit 3. Goal setting – SMART goals (Specific Measurable Achievable Realistic Timed). Unit 4. Progressive muscle relaxation and breathing. Unit 5. Communication styles including training in assertiveness. Unit 6. Thought management; how negative thoughts can affect pain and how to change them. Unit 7. Distraction toobiques – contact on pain and attention plus a

Unit 7. Distraction techniques – content on pain and attention, plus a variety of distraction techniques offered (imagination, mental games).

Unit 4. Parental children's pain affect FAP and st positive behaviou behaviours. Unit 5. Communi including training Unit 6. Parental re own pain – the in a positive role mo Unit 7. Thought m negative thought and how to chang

Note that units 1-, mirror the child ur have a different of different content.

Rheumates@Work	Armbrust, Bos	Not provided	The	Target	Juvenile	Internet-	No access to website.	All online content available in Dutch only.	Children could ch
	et al. (2015)		Netherlan ds	range: 8 to 13 years	Idiopathic Arthritis (JIA)	based, interactive, educational and CBT program.	Primary descriptive paper provides visual 'skeleton' image of the status of joint damage in each joint (as reviewed by a physician before	Two to four weeks prior to the start of the internet program, children and teenagers undergo a rheumatologic evaluation, fittest, and physical activity is measured by filling in a daily diary and wearing an accelerometer.	participated in the themselves or tog parents.
							starting the program) (Figure 2). Joints coloured red/ orange/	Weekly content contains a mixture of film, animation, puzzles, spoken text, 'brain twisters', and assignments.	
							green to indicate damage/ limitations.	Internet programme - themes Week 0; The cartoon character (Buddy) is introduced (role model)	
							There is a cartoon figure (Buddy) to guide the program (no visual	Week 1; What is JIA and what is wrong with the immune system? Education about the immune system by means of animations. How it works in normal situations, and in case of an auto-immune disease.	
							avaliable).	Week 2; How to tackle disease-related participation problems. The schedules problematic situation, thoughts, feelings, and action are introduced. Child learns to cope with set-backs.	
								Week 3; Energy and condition. The child learns to cope with fatigue and learns to manage his or her energy level during the day and throughout the week.	
								Week 4; How to be active in a healthy way. The child learns to manage activities and to be active, and to stay active during times of active disease and during remission.	
								Week 5; Pain. How to differentiate between JIA and pain any child could experience, like muscle ache.	
								Week 6; Setting goals. The child looks at his or her own goal that was set in the first group session and is helped to formulate two SMART goals.	
								Week 7; How to increase motivation by rewarding yourself. The child learns that when you achieve a goal it is good to reward yourself.	
								Week 8; Taking responsibility. Barriers and benefits. The child learns about the barriers and benefits one meets when wanting to change activity-related behaviour. The child is made aware of the benefits of being active.	
								Week 9; Activities and chatting. Every child has to fill out an activity diary for one day. All the children will then join in a chat session led by a supervisor to discuss their experiences.	
								Week 10; Doing things together and asking for help. Being active with friends is more fun. The child learns what he or she can do with friends. And the child is stimulated to ask for help when it is difficult to do something because of JIA.	
								Week 11; Talking about JIA. Being open about JIA can be beneficial to the child.	
								Week 12; Setbacks. The child learns that JIA is a disease that can fluctuate. The child learns how to adjust his or her goal when the arthritis becomes active again.	
								Week 13; Motivation. The child learns that it is important to persevere/to 'keep it up'. One can keep up by developing motivation. The child is made aware that motivation is like a reward: when you reach your goals you have achieved something worthwhile.	

ental responses to bain – how responses and strategies to promote thaviours and reduce pain s. mmunication styles raining in assertiveness. ental responses to their the importance of being role model. bught management; how boughts can affect pain to change them. units 1-3 and 5 directly child units, and 4, 6 and 7 erent order and slightly bottent.		
buld choose whether they d in the programme by s or together with their	14 weeks to be completed in order. Four group sessions additional over the 14-weeks (weeks 1, 4/5, 10 and 14). Program starts with the first group session. On the following Monday, the first internet week was released, and new content was released each week thereafter. An email notification was sent each time a new week was released. Assignment reminders were sent each week on Wednesdays, and anyone that had not completed that week was sent an additional reminder on Friday. Participants also had the option to email therapists/	14-weeks. Estimated module completion time is not provided.
	Participants also had the option to email therapists/ clinicians if they wanted to request help or clarify anything.	

								<u>Group sessions – themes</u> 1 – What is JIA and what is wrong with the immune system? (beginning) 2 – 'Excuses' (week 4/5) 3 – Doing things together (week 10) 4 – What we have learnt and how to persevere (week 14) <i>Two-weeks after finishing program, all physiological tests/</i> <i>evaluations are re-done.</i> <i>Example assignments for each week are also described in Table 1.</i>	
Move It Now - guided interactive internet CBT for adolescents with chronic pain	Voerman, Remerie et al. (2015)	Not provided	The Netherlan ds	Target range: 12 to 17 years	Chronic pain (mixed)	Guided, interactive, CBT internet intervention.	Unknown/ no access.	All online content available in Dutch only. Adolescents are led through the online chapters by an animated female guide using a voice-over. Several interactive elements were developed to help tailor the material to their responses.	There are two onlii parents, and they a therapist at the middle and at the intervention (three
								 Background and goals. Psychoeducation about pain and its consequences Goal setting Pain killers and breathing. Pain management strategies Information about medication use Deep breathing exercise Relaxation. Education about relaxation Two relaxation exercises Thinking and feeling. ABCDE method for challenging maladaptive thoughts Helpful thinking. Challenging cognitive distortions Thought stopping exercise Distraction exercise Staying active. Behavioural activation Brief relaxation exercise Making a plan: relapse prevention At the end of each module, the adolescents are instructed to practice 	 Parent content inc Information a should handle Advice to end complete the intervention.
iCanCope with Pain™	Stinson, Lalloo et al. (2014) Lalloo, Hundert et al. (2019) [artwork/ visuals]	Not provided - currently only available to the researchers in the development team.	Canada	Target range: 14 to 18 years	Chronic pain (mixed)	Smartphone app and website combination.	No access to website. Visual material (screenshots) for the mobile app symptom tracking element available in Lalloo et al. (2019), Figures 1 & 2. Features a blue animated character, with animations reflecting the tracking element that is displayed (for example, physical activity tracker displays the character with small hand weights). Visuals are colourful (pink, blue).	their skills every day, using the audio files provided on the website. All online content available in English only. The primary descriptive reference presents a proposed intervention architecture. <u>Smartphone App</u> The smartphone app has four parts including i) symptom trackers for pain, sleep, mood, physical activity and social activity, ii) SMART goals, iii) coping skills training (CBT techniques including relaxation, guided imagery, mindfulness and breathing), and iv) social support, which features monitored discussion boards, group-based challenges, goal sharing and 'Ask An Expert'. <u>Website</u> The website contains detailed pain education and coping strategies to compliment the app content. There are seven proposed sections for the website: pain (types of pain, diagnosis and management strategies), sleep hygiene, mood (anxiety, stress and emotions), physical activity (exercise and healthy eating), social activity (communication, relationships and sexuality), health (transitional care, self-advocacy skills), and self-guided quizzes.	N/A
Interactive website for dysmenorrhea (no specific name)	Yeh, Hung, Chen, Lin & Wang (2013)	Not provided.	Taiwan	Internet intervention group: M = 16.94 years (SD 1.02). Acupressure only group: M = 17.94 years (SD 0.84)	Dysmenorrhea	Non- pharmalogical physical therapy (auricular acupressure), combined with interactive website.	Unknown/ no access.	Language of content unspecified. The interactive website is intended to compliment auricular acupressure treatment for dysmenorrhea. The website provides patients with nursing care instruction, as well as counselling. <u>Website units</u> Unit 1: Hot News; provided information on dysmenorrhea prevalence, legal rights and the health-care concerns of adolescents. Unit 2: Red Magic Book; included an online survey and menstrual e- diary. Unit 3: Understanding of Dysmenorrhea; computer-animated videos were used to describe the menstrual cycle and hormone fluctuations	N/A

Week 14; Summary.

o online modules for they have contact with the beginning, in the the end of the three times).

nt includes: tion about how parents handle the child's pain o encourage child to e the 'Move It Now' Adolescents 7 online modules in a fixed order (adolescents only have access to next module once current module is complete).

Adolescent participants are also contacted by a therapist each week via email and every other week by telephone. Therapists provide emotional support, check understanding, and answer questions.

E-mails and phone calls use a standardized protocol.

Parents 2 modules to be completed at any point during adolescent course. Unclear if these are in a set order.

11 web and smartphone components in total. It is unclear if the app and website modules are to be completed in specific order. 7-modules intended to be completed once a week (7-weeks). Each module takes approximately 30 minutes to complete.

Not specified in primary descriptive reference.

Lalloo et al. (2019) used a 55-day study period to investigate the feasibility of the symptom tracking element. One check-in per day was required.

8 modules/ units. It is unclear if the online modules are to be completed in specific order. Not specified

								 that occur throughout. Information on the differences between primary and secondary dysmenorrhea was provided, and physical and psychological symptoms of dysmenorrhea were explained in interactive format. Unit 4: Caring; incorporated the viewpoint of Chinese medicine, as well as self-care approaches (e.g. hot pack) and daily menstrual care and hygiene. Unit 5: Auricular Acupressure; photographs with word descriptions were used to introduce acupoint techniques and the theory, rationale, efficacy, advantages, and precautions associated with these techniques were explained using photographs. Unit 6: Professional Counselling; HCPs responded to posted questions through this webpage or email. Unit 7: Diet and Food Properties; content related to daily diet requirements to improve health, including the rationale of Chinese medicine, as well as general information on food properties and dietetics. Unit 8: Chat Room; a peer support chat room for dysmenorrhea. Unit 9: Linked Websites; hyperlinks to representative and authoritative websites on dysmenorrhea were provided should further learning be desired. <u>Auricular acupressure treatment</u> Auricular acupressure is a traditional, non-invasive, Chinese medicine treatment. This technique involves stimulating specific sites on the body (acupoints), and is thought to modulate physiological reactions by causing a release of neurotransmitters, which interrupts afferent signals in the central nervous system. Six auricular acupoints were used in this intervention; shenmen, kidney, liver, internal genitals, central rim, and endocrine. Researchers placed adhesive plasters containing seeds on each acupoint at the start of the menstrual cycle and removed it after 48 hours. Participants were instructed to press each acupoint for at least one minute, four times per day until experiencing pain relief. 		
Prototype website for web-based skills training for adolescents with migraine (no specific name)	Donovan, Mehringer & Zeltzer (2013)	Website decommissioned	USA	Target range: 12-17 years	Chronic migraines	CBT-based self- management website (plus additional mobile application for adolescents).	Unknown/ no access.	 All online content available in English only. A prototype website was developed based on Concept Mapping from a preceding interview study. Content includes quizzes (focus on improving self-efficacy), motivational feedback and audio/ visual tools; including relaxation podcasts and video learning. Also includes social networking/ peer support features, as well as 'ask an expert' function. Adolescent version has a 'pain toolbox' of coping strategies, as well an additional mobile application which functions as both a headache diary and provides access to the pain toolbox. <u>Adolescent program topics</u> Basics (diagnosis, aetiology, prognosis, etc.) Taking Control (emphasizing empowerment to participate fully in treatment) Causes Lifestyle (practical prevention strategies) Treatment (pharmaceutical and nonpharmaceutical; practical strategies for coping with a migraine) Communication (friends, school, health care providers, and family) 	Pa 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.	rent/ caregiver Education Parenting a migraines (e independen self-care for Causes Lifestyle Ma Treatment Communica

giver program topics

ing a child who has nes (encouraging ndent self-management; re for parents

Management

ent unication Adolescents 6 topics; it is unclear if these are to be completed in a specific order. It is also unclear whether each topic represents a separate module in the program.

Parents 6 topics to be completed concurrently with adolescent program. Not specified.

Teens taking charge:	Stinson,	https://teens.abo	Canada	Sample age:	Juvenile	Internet self-	Visuals are colourful	All online content available in either English or French.	N/A
managing arthritis online	McGrath et al. (2010)	<u>utkidshealth.ca/ji</u> ateenhub		M = 15.7 years (SD 1.5)	Idiopathic Arthritis (JIA)	management program.	(pink, blue) with SickKids logo (blue) displayed on homepage and 'Teens' highlighted	Teens taking charge has 310 content pages, including animations, images, videos, forums, surveys, and interactive forms (e.g. quizzes).	
							in bold pink. Top banner is a photograph of a happy teenager running with an adult outside. Modules are centre of	 Getting started – includes introduction section, which provides an overview of program coverage, and goal setting section (SMART goals). 	
							display and drop-down arrows can expand the modules so smaller section of content can be seen.	2. Overview of what JIA is – contains sections relating to specific types of JIA, as well as general education about JIA and its causes, including explanations of inflammation. This section also goes through common symptoms and how it will affect teens as they grow up. Possible complications, such as eye problems are also explained.	
								 Diagnosis of JIA, which explains diagnostic tests, as well as how to cope with a diagnosis –five strategies outlined including having confidence, positive thinking, knowing your limits, perusing new activities, and expressing feelings. 	
								4. Symptom management; individual sections on managing pain, fatigue, stiffness, and stress. Pain section includes 'what is pain?' explains the medications available for pain (Non-steroidal anti- inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs), steroids, biologic drugs), physical methods of treating pain (heat, cold, exercise), and coping strategies. The section for fatigue has the same structure, then the stiffness section covers 'what is stiffness?' The stress section covers 'what is stress? And explains causes, symptoms and how to manage. Section finishes with a symptom management plan including symptom monitoring and reference back to SMART goals.	
								 Coping strategies – relaxation with links to video-audio guides, distraction and managing thoughts (including restructuring). 	
								 JIA-specific medications (note: advice given in module 5 not to change medications recommended by doctor). Includes Non- NSAIDs corticosteroids, injections and DMARDs in more depth. 	
								7. Other types of care: Physiotherapy, Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENs), exercise and yoga (including written examples), and occupational therapy. Section also includes advice on nutrition for JIA, how to access psychological therapy and explains some different types of Complementary Alternative Medicine (CAM).	
								 Therapies, self-monitoring and supports. Includes how to self- monitor, how to talk to your doctor about JIA. Section also includes how to talk to your teacher and deal with bullying. 	
								9. General lifestyle. Sections on how to stay active, eat healthily and get enough sleep. Includes some general sleep advice and sleep hygiene tips. Section on puberty and relationships is also included – links provided to other sources on this topic. Final section provides an overview of potential issues with self-esteem, body image, depression, and some points on how to overcome these issues.	
								10. 'Looking ahead' – advice on transitioning through the healthcare system from paediatric rheumatologist to adult health care. More on birth control, higher education and working, and a final overview of how to cope with symptoms, stress and flare-ups moving forwards.	
In-person CBT	McCormick,	Not provided	USA	Sample age	Inflammatory	In-person	Unknown/ no access.	All content available in English only.	Parent modules
followed by 6-week online skill review for IBD (no specific name)	Reed-Knight, Lewis, Gold & Blount (2010)			range: treatment group; 12-17 years, wait-	bowel diseases (IBDs): Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis	intervention followed by 6- week web- based skill		The modules are all presented on the treatment day, in-person by a therapist, using a detailed treatment manual. This is then followed by 6-weeks of web-based skill review.	Module 1: Overv and rationale and
				list control; 11-17 years	(UC)	review.		Parents and adolescents met in separate groups.	Module 2 Introdu behavioural mod
				(note: all female sample)				Each intervention module follows a similar format; introduction of a new skill, examples, discussion about the skill, and practicing the skill (if appropriate).	change emotions physical sympton catastrophic/ ma and changing av
								Child modules Module 1: Overview of treatment and rationale and goal-setting.	Module 3: Relax muscle relaxatio deep-breathing.
								Module 2 Introduction to cognitive-behavioural model, using model to change emotions and physical symptoms, restructuring catastrophic/ maladaptive thoughts, and changing avoidant behaviour.	Module 4: Effect physical sympton distraction) vers

Not specified.

Descriptive article states 12 modules however current online version displays 10 core modules on the homepage.

Structure of online 'hub' suggests it can be completed in order however can be flexible to move back and forward between sections.

Overview of treatment e and goal-setting.

troduction to cognitivemodel, using model to otions and nptoms, restructuring

c/ maladaptive thoughts, ng avoidant behaviour.

Relaxation, progressive xation, imagery and

Effectively coping with mptoms (e.g., verses ineffectively

Adolescents 7 modules are completed in order in the 1-day intensive training. Homework assignments and the online chat are completed once a week thereafter.

Homework assignments were designed to reinforce the skills learned during the full-day intervention.

Parents 7 corresponding modules to be completed in 1-day intensive inperson intervention (approximately 6 hours), followed by 6week web-based skill review (brief assignment followed by 30-minute online chat with trained research assistants). Module 3: Relaxation, progressive muscle relaxation, imagery and deep-breathing.

Module 4: Effectively coping with physical symptoms (e.g., distraction), verses ineffectively coping with physical symptoms (e.g., focusing on the symptom).

Module 5: Distraction-based pain management techniques.

Module 6: Communication skills (e.g., nonverbal skills, active listening, "I Feel" statements)

Module 7: Application of communication skills for increasing familial cooperation and reducing stress.

Web-based components Component 1: Weekly homework assignments Component 2: Weekly chat sessions - discussion of homework assignments

Module 5: Setting appropriate limits and expectations, helpful verses unhelpful responses to children's physical symptoms (e.g., encouraging regular activities verses providing extra attention and removal of responsibilities)

Module 6: Communication skills (e.g., nonverbal skills, active listening, "I Feel" statements).

Module 7: Application of communication skills for increasing familial cooperation and reducing stress.

assignments

- discussion of

									homework assign
Internet-based self- help for paediatric recurrent headache (no specific name)	Trautmann & Kröner-Herwig (2010)	Not provided	Germany	Target range: 10 to 18 years	Recurrent primary headache: migraine, tension type headache (TTH) or combined headache.	Internet-based self-help.	Unknown/ no access.	 All online content available in German only. <u>Module topics:</u> Headache education: mechanisms, symptoms and types of headache and the role of stress as a trigger of attacks. Stress management: perception of own stress symptoms, coping with stress. Progressive relaxation techniques. * Cognitive restructuring: identification of dysfunctional cognitions regarding headache and stress, and identification of functional cognitions. Self-assurance strategies: being pro-active and sensitive to one's own needs. Problem solving. * CD with relaxation instructions provided. Includes a full relaxation protocol involving tensing and relaxing of major muscle groups, beginning with the upper body and proceeding to the lower body (body scan). Alternatively, the relaxation instructions are downloadable from the website. 	N/A
Web-MAP (Web- based Management of Adolescent Pain)/ Web-MAP2	Palermo, Wilson, Peters, Lewandowski & Somhegyi (2009)	https://webmap2 .com	USA	Sample age: M = 14.8 (SD 2.0) Target range: 11-17 years	Chronic pain (mixed)	Web-based self- management intervention.	Travel-themed website. Home screen displays a passport and a world map with one introduction module plus seven 'countries' (modules) to travel to. Navigation to profile page, reminders and message centre tabs are displayed on the right. Background colour is brown, and modules each have a different colour (colourful/ brights). Areas that users have visited change to red once the module has been completed.	 All online content available in English only. The website has three main sections – the passport page (home page), treatment modules and a daily diary. This is the same for adolescent and parent versions. Children and parents interacted with the web program through completing forms, which then tailored the instructions and assignments. Website uses animations, videos, and audio files for deep breathing and muscle relaxation. * Child Modules (main content) 1. Introduction. Includes introductory video by a specialist psychologist and structure outline for the child version. Pain education explains pain types, duration, the difference between acute and chronic pain, and some example stories from teenagers. Includes animation of the pain response. Module moves onto explaining how pain can be managed using CBT, and some examples and an explanation of goal setting. 2. Stress and bad feelings. Explains what stress is and gives some examples of daily stressors. Fight-flight response explanation of stress and explains the role of 'worry' in stress. Moves on to cover the relationship between stress and pain 3. Relaxation and distraction. Four techniques – abdominal breathing, muscle relaxation, guided imagery, and activity participation. Explains that relaxation is a skill that can help reduce pain and anxiety. Examples of success of relaxation with teenagers, followed by the four techniques, including visual/ audio guides. 4. School. Explains how pain interferes with school and that relaxation and distraction techniques can be used to help this. 	*General informat column for WebM the parent version Parent modules (n 1. Introduction. In video by a specia and structure outl version. Pain edu pain types, durati- between acute an Includes animatio response. Provide of teen chronic pa onto explaining hu managed using C examples and an setting. Outlines t parent in helping 2. Stress and bac what stress is and examples of daily flight response ey and explains the stress. Moves on relationship betw 3. Behaviour (i). E parental attention coping behaviour strategies to redu behaviours and h

coping with physical symptoms (e.g., focusing on the symptom).

synchrony with the adolescent program.

Web-based components Component 1: Weekly homework

Component 2: Weekly chat sessions

k assignments

N/A	6 modules to be completed in order.	6 modules over 6- weeks (1 module weekly).
	There are additional homework exercises and e-mail contact with therapists (graduate students) can be used to discuss the week's module topics.	Estimated module completion time is not provided.
	Two booster emails were sent at week 4 and 8 after the end of training program, to remind children/ teenagers to continue practicing coping strategies in their daily lives.	
*General information in child content	Children/ adolescents	8 modules are to be
column for WebMAP2 also relates to	Eight modules to be	completed over 8
the parent version.	completed in order (cannot move onto the next	weeks (one per week). Each module
Parent modules (main content)	module without completing the previous module	(including assignment) takes approximately
1. Introduction. Includes introductory video by a specialist psychologist and structure outline for the parent version. Pain education explains pain three duration the difference	assignment). Users can click on the passport on the homepage to see progress.	30 minutes.
between acute and chronic pain. Includes animation of the pain response. Provides example stories	Module structure (all modules) included a summary of what will be	
of teen chronic pain. Module moves onto explaining how pain can be	learned and why this information is important,	
managed using CBT, and some examples and an explanation of goal	fun facts about the destination (note: not	
setting. Outlines the role of the parent in helping teen self-manage.	included in content description), main content, and a question-and-	
2. Stress and bad feelings. Explains what stress is and gives some examples of daily stressors. Fight-	answer game to test retention.	
flight response explanation of stress	An assignment screen	
and explains the role of 'worry' in	then showed instructions	
stress. Moves on to cover the relationship between stress and pain	for carrying out a specific skill over the coming week. 'Postcards' are also	
3. Behaviour (i). Explains how to use	used as practice	
parental attention to praise positive coping behaviours, how to use	reminders from previous weeks.	
strategies to reduce child's unhelpful behaviours and how to help child get		

Additionally, explains how to seek support from the school/ teachers, peers and parents. Gives an example of planning for reaching school goals.

5. Cognitive skills. Explains automatic thoughts and how to identify negative and positive thoughts. Explains and gives an example of catastrophizing. Skill tasks to practice challenging negative thoughts by replacing thoughts or thought stopping.

6. Sleeping and lifestyle. Explains how lifestyle factors impact chronic pain. Followed by an explanation of pacing and how this can be used to balance activity. Some advice given on eating and keeping hydrated. Explains the importance of sleep and how this relates to pain, then moves through sleep hygiene advice (7 tips). Calculator provided to work out sleep-wake cycle times. Covers insomnia and further sleep hygiene advice given, plus reference back to using relaxation to aid sleep.

7. Staying active. Learning how to pace and schedule activities. Emphasis on planning to meet goals (goal setting example provided). Advice on what to do during the rest periods and some examples of pleasant activities are provided.

8. Maintenance and prevention. Success review and overview of the 'pain management toolbox'. Review of barriers to successful pain management and making plans for the future. Emphasis on that tools for managing pain need to be flexible, and to look out for pain triggers. Refers to making a plan for school and stress management strategies. Finishes with 'how you can keep practicing'.

support from friends. Explains teen relaxation content. Explains how to use positive reinforcement and provides examples of praise. Also gives guidelines to not give excessive attention, encourage normal activity, and think about the consequences on days when child's activities are interrupted by pain. Also advises to encourage independent pain management, remove pain 'focus' and try to reduce medicine dependence. Explains how to help teens get help from friends.

4. Behaviour (ii). Includes supporting child to make a school plan and how to create consistent activity programs. Advises how to involve other family members and school in supporting the child. Explains the child content on school. Sections describe how to create a rewards system for teens using a points system to encourage activity/ school participation. Emphasises that consistency is key.

5. Modelling. Explains teen content on positive thinking. Explains how to be a positive model with examples. Advice to monitor one's own distress and coping displays. Provides examples of some positive coping strategies and explains what catastrophizing is. Skill tasks to practice challenging negative thoughts by replacing thoughts or thought stopping.

6. Sleeping and Lifestyle. The importance of sleep and how to support good lifestyle choices. Explains how lifestyle factors impact pain. Advises on physical activity levels, eating habits and gives an example of the sleep-pain connection. Gives same 7 tips for sleep hygiene as in child module, plus adds scheduling sleep as tip 8. Covers insomnia with reference back to relaxation. Advises against sleep medications.

7. Communication. Emphasises importance of teen independence and how communication impacts this. Explains teen content on pacing. Advice given on supporting teens to become independent. Highlights communication barriers and gives examples of good communication. Advises on how to increase opportunities to communicate with teen, and finishes with how to communicate with teachers/ schools.

8. Maintenance and prevention. Identifies challenges that might remain and reasons for ongoing difficulties. Provides parent strategy toolbox. Encourages using strategies in flexible way and to practice good communication with teen. Advises parent to also ensure own self-care. A PhD post-doctoral therapist responded via the Centre to each assignment to review progress, encourage continued skills practice, and to assist with problem solving application.

Parents

8 modules designed to be completed in synchrony with the child program.

			Study det	ails				Intervention	development detai	ls		Evaluations of efficacy			
Intervention name	Study reference	Country	Participant details ^a	Sample pain condition/ diagnosis	Study design	Method	Theoretical framework(s)	Development approach	Healthcare professional (HCP) input	Qualitative insights based on adolescent/ parent feedback	Pain outcomes	Functional outcomes – Physical/ Social/ Emotional/ School	Additional outcomes		
Aim To Decrease Anxiety and Pain Treatment (ADAPT)	Cunningham et al. (2018)	USA	<i>N</i> = 9 Age range: 9 to 13 years Age (M) = 11.6 (SD 1.42) Male: <i>n</i> = 2 Female: <i>n</i> = 7	Functional abdominal pain disorders (FAP)	Mixed- methods (iterative)	Participants were approached by a physician for recruitment onto the study. Demographic information, and assessments of pain intensity (visual analogue scale (0-10 VAS)), screening for Child Anxiety Related Disorders (SCARED) (Birmaher et al., 1997), functional disability (FDI-C) (Walker & Greene, 1991) and the Anxiety Disorder Interview Schedule- Child Version (Silverman et al., 2001) were taken at baseline (producing a clinician severity rating for anxiety). Participants completed 2 in- person, and 4 web sessions of the ADAPT intervention, and all outcomes were re-assessed, with the addition of adherence data and qualitative feedback. <u>Interviews (semi- structured)</u> Feedback on treatment content, format, ease of use, and whether they would recommend the intervention.	ADAPT was developed from an established Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) protocol for pain management and 'Cool Kids' intervention (Hudson et al., 2009). The intervention also integrates mindfulness.	Not specified	Not specified for web session development. The in-person sessions are delivered by a licensed clinical psychologist, and web sessions followed up by a therapist.	Feedback from semi- structured interviews highlighted three domains: 1. Feasibility: participants were able to use specific skills to manage pain and anxiety indicating high perceived usability. The program integrated easily into their daily schedules, however barriers included practicing skills in front of peers. Parents mentioned that demanding schedules can be challenging for children to remember. 2. Acceptability: positive feedback on content and structure overall, as well as pace and progression. Participants commented that the format was accommodating and that phone call support was particularly beneficial to reinforce skills learnt online. Least favourite content varied by participant. 3. Outcomes: Perceived overall confidence and self- efficacy improved throughout the program. Children commented that the skills they learnt led to more effective pain management. Overall improvements in school functioning and management of pain and anxiety were seen by parents.	Pain intensity - VAS (score range: 0-10) Overall decrease. Pre-post reduction (M) = 1.72 points, Z =-1,93, p = 0.05	Functional disability (FDI-C) (score range 0-60) 56% of patients experienced improved functioning. Pre-post improvement for responders = an average 10 point reduction, improvement overall (M) = 2.22 points, Z = 0.048, p = 0.64 4 participants (44%) experienced reductions across all three primary outcomes (pain, disability, anxiety).	Anxiety (score range 0-82) 78% of patients decreased in anxiety symptoms. Pre-post symptom reduction (M) = 16.78 points, $Z = -2.20$, $p < .05$ <u>Clinician severity ratings of anxiety</u> 89% of participants had reductions in clinician-assessed anxiety. Pre- post reduction (M) = 2.33, $Z = -$ 2.539, $p < .05$ 3 out of 9 (33%) were considered free of an anxiety disorder at posttest.		
Internet CBT for children with pain-related gastrointestinal disorders (no specific name)	Bonnert et al. (2014)	Sweden	N = 29 Age range: 13 to 17 years Male: $n = 7$ (24%) Female: $n =$ 22 (76%) Two cohorts: April 2012 ($n =$ 12), and September 2012 ($n =$ 17)	Functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGID)	Pre-post	Adolescents in the trial received internet-based CBT (ICBT) with therapist support over 8 weeks. A parent of each adolescent also completed a parallel parent-training program. Adolescents completed online measures at baseline, post- treatment and 6- month follow-up. Primary measure was the Gastrointestinal Symptom	All content in the adolescent-directed intervention was based off a protocol for a successful ICBT program for adults (Ljótsson, Andréewitch, et al., 2010; Ljótsson, Falk, et al., 2010). Frameworks mentioned in the content description (Bonnert et al., 2014) included: CBT Exposure therapy techniques Antecedent– Behaviour- Consequence	Not specified	Participants could send online messages to therapists via the program, as necessary. A phone call with a therapist was conducted in the fifth and sixth weeks of treatment to provide encouragement and discuss the exposure exercises.	N/A	PRS (range 0-30) Pre (M) = 16.21 (7.26) Post (M) = 10.99 (6.83) 6-month follow-up (M) = 9.35 (5.48) Pre-post, effect size (d) = 0.74 [Cls: 0.39, 1.09] Pre- 6-month follow-up; d = 1.05 [Cls: 0.59, 1.59] PII (range 0-36) Pre (M) = 13.97 (8.91) Post (M) = 10.77 (8.90) 6-month follow-up (M) = 7.48 (7.92) Pre-post, effect size (d) = 0.36 [Cls: 0.11, 0.61] Pre- 6-month follow-up; d = 0.76 [Cls: 0.41, 1.12]	FDI (range 15-75) Pre (M) = 23.59 (7.30) Post (M) = 21.32 (5.69) 6-month follow-up (M) = 19.99 (4.90) Pre-post, effect size (d) = 0.34 [Cls: -0.06, 0.74] Pre- 6-month follow-up; d = 0.57 [Cls: 0.10, 1.04]	$\frac{\text{GSRS-IBS (range 13-91)}}{\text{Pre (M)} = 33.72 (13.62)}$ $\frac{\text{Post (M)} = 27.25 (12.00)}{6\text{-month follow-up (M)} = 25.90}$ (10.47) $\frac{\text{Pre-post, effect size (d)} = 0.50 [\text{CIs:} 0.16, 0.84]$ $\frac{\text{Pre- 6-month follow-up; d} = 0.63 [\text{CIs:} 0.24, 1.02]$ $\frac{\text{CASI (range 18-54)}}{\text{Pre (M)} = 32.24 (7.23)}$ $\frac{\text{Post (M)} = 32.24 (7.23)}{8000000000000000000000000000000000000$		

		Rating Scale-IBS version (GSRS-IBS) (Wiklund et al., 2003). Secondary outcomes included the Pain Reactivity Scale (PRS) and Pain Interference Index (PII) (Wicksell et al., 2011), functional disability (FDI), Childhood Anxiety Sensitivity Index (CASI) (Silverman et al., 1991), Child Depression Inventory (CDI) (Kovacs, 1992), and the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS 4) (Cohen et al., 1983).	model (ABC model) Acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) Mindfulness		
Internet CBT for children with pain-related gastrointestinal disorders (no specific name)	N = 101Irritable Bowel Syndrome (IBS)Rar ed conAge range: 13 to 17 yearscon trialAge (M) = 15.54 (SD 1.56)1.56)Male: 39 (39%)Female: 62 (61%)	ndomis Adolescents were randomized to either ICBT (<i>n</i> = 47) or a wait-list control group (<i>n</i> = 54). The ICBT intervention was 10- weeks duration in this trial, and all measures were taken at baseline, post-treatment and 6-month follow-up. The primary outcome was completed on a weekly basis (GRSR-IBS). Other measures included: pain intensity (pain faces – revised), frequency (Hicks et al., 2001), quality of life/ functioning (PedsQL; child and parent- proxy) (Varni et al., 2003), medication use, school absence, avoidance behaviour (IBS- BRQ) (Reme et al., 2010), fear and worry (Visceral Sensitivity index (VSI) (Labus et al., 2004), PSS, Anxiety, SCAS-C/P (Spence Children's Anxiety Scale) (Spence et al., 2003), and a client satisfaction questionnaire (CSQ) (Nguyen et al., 1983). Parents also completed PedsQL- gastro (Varni et al., 2014), and Children's somatization	 CBT Not specified Exposure therapy techniques No other frameworks were mentioned in this paper. ICBT in this study was adapted for children and tested as a face-to-face treatment prior to trialling. 	Clinical N/A psychologists provided online support to those in the ICBT group and had weekly contact with the same psychologist throughout. Text message and phone call reminders were also sent to participants by therapists.	Pain intensity (pain faces scale - revised) ICBT - pre (M) = 5.85 ICBT - post (M) = 4.53 ICBT follow-up (M) = 4.41 control - pre (M) = 5.72 control - post (M) = 5.53 pre-post between-group effec size (d) = 0.46, $p = .011^*$ Pain frequency ICBT - pre (M) = 4.25 ICBT - post (M) = 3.19 ICBT follow-up (M) = 2.59 control - pre (M) = 4.04 control - post (M) = 3.66 pre-post between-group effec size (d) = 0.34, $p = .009^{**}$ * $p < .05$ ** $p < .01$

		Pre- 6-month follow-up; d = 0.44 [CIs: 0.08, 0.81]
		<u>CDI (range 0-54)</u> Pre (M) = 9.00 (5.57) Post (M) = 8.44 (6.28)
		6-month follow-up (M) = 8.00 (6.68)
		Pre-post, effect size (d) = 0.09 [CIs: -0.15, 0.33]
		Pre- 6-month follow-up; d = 0.16 [Cls: −0.14, 0.46]
		PSS 4 (range 0-16) Pre (M) = 6.28 (3.14) Post (M) = 5.18 (3.19) 6-month follow-up (M) = 5.25 (3.42)
		Pre-post, effect size (d) = 0.35 [CIs: 0.02, 0.69]
		Pre- 6-month follow-up; d = 0.31 [Cls: −0.10, 0.73]
		<u>Completion rates</u> 76% of adolescents completed the main part f the ICBT program (4 to 6 modules)
	$\frac{\text{PedsQL (child)}}{\text{ICBT} - \text{pre (M)} = 71.28}$ $\frac{\text{ICBT} - \text{post (M)} = 76.92}{\text{ICBT follow-up (M)} = 81.63}$	$\frac{GRSR-IBS}{ICBT - pre (M) = 43.19}$ $ICBT - post (M) = 32.05$ $ICBT follow-up (M) = 30.87$
	control – pre (M) = 74.90 control – post (M) = 74.89	control – pre (M) = 42.40 control – post (M) = 37.67
ffect	pre-post between-group effect size (d) = 0.40 , $p = .005^{**}$	pre-post between-group effect size (d) = 0.45, $p = .006^{**}$
	PedsQL (parent-proxy)	School absence
	ICBT - post (M) = 77.55 ICBT follow-up (M) = 77.79	ICBT - post (M) = 1.03 ICBT - post (M) = 1.04 ICBT follow-up (M) = 0.82
	control – pre (M) = 79.42 control – post (M) = 78.15	control - pre (M) = 1.43 control - post (M) = 1.31
ffect	pre-post between-group effect size (d) = 0.34, $p = .009^{**}$	pre-post between-group effect size (d) =0.37, $p = .021^*$
	PedsQL Gastro (parent only)	School absence (parent rating)
	ICBT – pre (M) = 54.43 ICBT – post (M) = 63.17	ICBT – pre (M) = 1.73 ICBT – post (M) = 1.22
	ICBT follow-up (M) = 64.11	ICBT follow-up (M) = 0.99
	control – pre (M) = 53.06 control – post (M) = 57.28	control - pre (M) = 1.58 control - post (M) = 1.45
	pre-post between-group effect size (d) = 0.32 , $p = .032^*$	pre-post between-group effect size (d) = 0.36, $p = .015^*$
	* p <.05 ** p <.01	$\frac{\text{Medication use}}{\text{ICBT} - \text{pre (M)} = 0.77}$ $\frac{\text{ICBT} - \text{post (M)} = 0.41}{\text{ICBT follow-up (M)} = 0.34}$
		control – pre (M) = 0.67 control – post (M) = 0.75
		pre-post between-group effect size (d) = 0.41, $p = .008^{**}$
		$\frac{\text{Medication use (parent rating)}}{\text{ICBT} - \text{pre (M)} = 0.73}$ $\frac{\text{ICBT} - \text{post (M)} = 0.49}{\text{ICBT} - \text{post (M)} = 0.49}$
		ICBT follow-up (M) = 0.47
		control – pre (M) = 0.54 control – post (M) = 0.72

Higher Could Market And													
Image calls Zoord of all all accord of all accord of a range of a rang							Inventory (CSI-24) (Walker et al., 2008).						
Interest CT for Laccen et al. Seeder A-27 Peoplement Provided Texaster et al. Pool Provided P							The wait-list control						
Hind Law of a law of							group were free to						
TRUE CAST 10 C							but not initiate						
the left considered and the second of the se							psychological treatment throughout						
Trend School and Schoo							the trial (cross-over						
Promotion double in the second of the second							in this paper).						
resered CH for Labourd stat. Seedan H+ 31 For reside Pre poor Te thatmant contrast of the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended and the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the management of the state angeing NA. Been extended to the state angeing													
Provid CHT for specific ramping Sounds M-2 31 Provide ramping M-2 31													
TWINTER OF To Tabulate at Sweden Are 31 Percentant Provided Provided Area at a second of a													
Trippret CRT 101 Labouri et al. Source N=31 Premetelled Pre-sour The reservoir dictore with 2017 and a source of the source of t													
Truerret CPT for Labour et al. Sweden N= 51 Perventead Pre-soc: The resement calculation of the calculation													
Intervit CST (or discrete vita) Laborit et al. Sweden N - 51 Patricelated Pre-post The element All content in the childs Not specified There was origing N-4 Eacl laterate - child (pain Pacified childen with childen with genometeral genometeral genometeral specific rame All content in the childs Not specified There was origing N-4 Eacl laterate - child (pain Pacified discrete vita (2017) FGID constated of tim man contacts or pactor for specific rame There was origing N-4 Eacl laterate - child (pain Pacified genometeral specific rame 4 to 100 There was origing N-4 Eacl laterate - child (pain Pacified genometeral specific rame 4 to 100 There was origing N-4 Eacl laterate - child (pain Pacified genometeral specific rame 4 to 100 There was origing N-4 Eacl laterate - child (pain Pacified specific rame 4 to 100 There was origing N-4 Eacl laterate - child (pain Pacified specific rame 4 to 100 There was origing N-4 Eacl laterate - t													
Insmore CET for Labouri et al. Swegen 1/51 Pen-veaged Pre-goal The treatment militare with (2017) Contraction of al. Swegen 1/51 Pen-veaged Pre-goal militare with (2017) Contraction of a program finitaria models for an instantia of an instantia of a program penditaria models for a program. Program program for date is a program program for an instantia of a													
Instrat CST for Laborn in Ed. Sweden N - 31 Pain-referied Pre-port The treatment control with 2017 A Period Science Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre- port No - 5:0 Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre- port No - 5:0 Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre- port No - 5:0 Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre- port Difference Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre-port Pre- port Difference Pre-port													
Interre CB1 for Lacouni et al. Swedan N=31 Pan-related Pre-post conditivo vin conditivo vin conditiv													
Informat CBT for Laburu et al. Sweden N=31 Pen-related Pre-post The treatment citization and an incode for on a program. NA Base meansure.citization and base on a program. Base status - project (Bar and base on a program. Pen (M) = 5.0 g Pen (M) = 5													
Interner GDT for Lakueri et al. Sweden N= 31 Pain-reduted Pre-post The treatment All contrart in the child. Not specified There was anging N/A. Buin tatapole, child tata Post All contrart in the child. Not specified There was anging N/A. Buin tatapole, child tata Post All contrart in the child. Not specified There was anging N/A. Buin tatapole, child tata Post All contrart in the child. Not specified There was anging N/A. Buin tatapole, child tata Post All contrart in the child. Not specified There was anging N/A. Buin tatapole, child tata Post All contrart in the													
Interved DST for patient dST for address rule gendre nump specific nump specific nump N=01 Patientediate Preposit Preposit The treatment consistent of inn and constraint of patiented address preposition Alticontent in the childs Not specified to the specified patiented address preposition NA Data intervalue, relation preposition Preposition Preposition Intervent DST for patient dST for pati													
Interest CBT for Lalouni et al. Sweden N= 31 Pain-related Pre-post The tearment children with children with consisted of the pain-related gate-otted gate of transport space in any space i													
Intervent CDT for Labouri et al. Sweden N31 Pain-related Pre-post The teatment children with (2017) Age range. Bartonices for all content in the child-Not specified There was anapping NAA Per (N) = 500 monumulation with sea based of a the modules for children genotes frame was based of a the termination of the post the teatment concerning to the teatment concerning to the teatment protocol for a protocol for a specified number of a protocol for a sp													
Internet CBT for Laiouni et al. Sweden VI=31 Pain-related Pre-post The treatment childfor with (2017) Age range: part-related Age range: part-related Bio 12 consisted of the construction with the program. Biologies for children and train mobiles for a the partial state biology of a ST Pre-post for a start specific name) M = 10.7 10-vreists. Program for addustand addusted for any program. Program for addustand addusted for any program for addustand addusted for a program. Program for addustand addusted for any program for addustand addusted for any program for addustand addusted for any program for addustand addusted for a program for addustand addusted for program for addusted for any program for addusted for any program for addusted for any program for addusted for a program for addusted for a program for addusted for a program for addusted													
Internet CBT for phildren with children with genotes role N = 31 Pain-related Pre-post Follow The treatment consisted of the modules for children aspected role All content in the child- modules for children was based of a paragent. There was ongoing NA NA Pain microality - child (pain here scale - revised) Pre-follow genotes role Age range: based of a paragent. All content in the child- modules for children aspected role Na Pain microality - child (pain here scale - revised) Pain here (Ma Pein Ma Pein Ma Pe													
Internet CBT for Lidoum et al. Sweden N=31 Pain-related Pre-post The treatment children with (2017) Age range: The treatment pain-velated of team consisted of team of the treatment consisted of team of the treatment and the treatment of the treatment and the treatment of the tr													
Internet CBT for bildrom with childrom with (2017) Aprenge: The free mass ongoing N/A particulated of ten modules for hildrom specific name (2017) Aprenge: The treatment consisted of ten modules for hildrom specific name (2017) Aprenge: The treatment consisted of ten modules for hildrom specific name (2017) Aprenge: The treatment specific name (2017) Aprenge: The treatmen													
Internet GBT for Lalouri et al. Sweden N=31 Pain-related Pre-post The treatment consisted of tom consisted of tampits to take to the consisted of tom consisted													
Internet CBT for Lalouni et al. Sweden N = 31 Pain-related Pre-post The treatment difference intervention difference intervention difference intervention with (2017) Ape range: Consisted of land communication with Batea caller - trivial (call Pereloc) and the communication with Batea caller - trivial (call Pereloc) and the communication with Batea caller - trivial (call Pereloc) Pre-post (free tail intervention difference intervention difference intervention difference intervention program. Pre-post and the communication with Batea caller - trivial Perelocy Pre-post and the mobiles for program. Pre-post and the communication of the program. Pre-post and the communication of the program. Pre-post affect size (d) = 0.74, p. <001 Pre-post affect size (d) = 0.74, p. <001													
Internet CBT for Labourni et al. Sweden N=31 Pain-related Pre-poet The treatment children with (2017) FGID Pre-poet The treatment consisted of ten modules for children with agatorintestinal B to 12 and the child for expected for a program. B approximation with M 10.7 years (no year))) and the state of the s													
Internet CBT for Labouri et al. Sweden N=31 Pain-related Pre-post The treatment consisted of ten consisted of ten modules for allocation with the repits via the program. Park 10 - Pre-for Pr													
Internet CBT for children with children with gastrointestinal N = 31 Pain-related FoID Pre-post consisted of fan modules for full agastrointestinal All content in the child- directed intervention There was ongoing communication with directed intervention NA Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) PedsD gastrointestinal geschict name) Age range: M = 10.7 and ten modules for years (no SD) NI faces scale - revised) Per (M) = 6.87 Post (M) Pre (M) = 5.99 Post (M) Pre (M) = 5.91 Post (M													
Internet CBT for Lalouni et al. Sweden N = 31 Pain-related Pre-post The treatment children with (2017) FGID consisted of ten modules for to the modules for the modules for the modules for the modules for the specified the spec													
Intermet CBT for children with pain-related N= 31 Pain-related Pre-post The treatment children with pain-related G2017) FGID consisted of ten modules for children gastorintestinal All content in the child- was based off a Not specified therapists via the program. There was ongoing communication with N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) PedsOL Pre (M) = Pre (M)													
Internet CBT for Lalouni et al. Sweden N = 31 Pain-related Pre-post The treatment consisted of ten gain-related M and the consisted of ten gain-related Age range: modules for consisted of fan modules for specific fon years per file years for years for years for years for years for specific discusses and the specific discusses and ten modules for specific discusses for years													
Internet CBT for Lalouni et al. Sweden N=31 Pain-related Pre-post The treatment children with (2017) FGID consisted of ten consisted of ten consisted of ten consisted of ten modules for hildren with 36 to 12 modules for hildren with a faces scale - revised) Pre (M) = for (M) = 50 Prost (M)													
Internet CBT for children with (2017) FGID aspecifican specific name) M = 10.7 SD) Lalouni et al. SD N/A Pain-related Pre-post FGID Pre-post													
Internet CBT for Lalouni et al. Sweden N = 31 Pain-related Pre-post The treatment consisted of the consisted of the consisted of the consisted of the pain-related Pre-post modules for children with (2017) FGID consisted of the pain-related Age range: modules for children with (2017) B to 12 consisted of the pain-related B to 12 consisted of the protocol for a protocol for a protocol for a protocol for a program. Post (M) = 5.09 Follow-up (M) = 3.74 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post pain-related protocol for a program for adults and adolescents. Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post effect													
Internet CBT for children with pain-related N = 31 Pain-related Pre-post The treatment consisted of ten modules for children gastrointestinal All content in the child- consisted of ten modules for children was based off a There was ongoing communication with therapists via the N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) PedsQL gastrointestinal disorders (no specific name) Age range: modules for children and ten modules for specific name) All content in the child- consisted of ten modules for children and ten modules for specific name) N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) PedsQL gastrointestinal disorders (no SD) Age range: modules for and ten modules for program for adults and adolescents. Not specified thereable There was ongoing thereable N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) PedsQL gastrointestinal disorders (no SD Age range: and ten modules for and ten modules for program for adults and adolescents. Not specified thereable Not specified thereable N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) Pre-(M) = follow-up program. Pre-follow-up program. Pre-follow-up program. Pre-follow-up program. Pre-post program. Pre-post program. Pre-post program. Pre-post program. Pre-post program. Pre-post program. Pre-post program. Pre-post program. Pre-post program. Pre-post pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, program. <td></td>													
Internet CBT for children with pain-related N = 31 Pain-related Pre-post The treatment consisted of ten modules for children gastrointestial All content in the child- directed intervention There was ongoing communication with N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) PedsQL gastrointestial Age range: 8 to 12 modules for children was based off a All content in the child- directed intervention Not specified communication with There was ongoing faces scale - revised) Pre (M) = Pre (M) = 6.87 Post (M) Post (M) = 5.09 specific name) years M = 10.7 parents. Duration: years (no SD) program for adults and adolescents. program. Pre-post pre-post													
Internet CBT for Lalouni et al. Sweden N = 31 Pain-related Pre-post The treatment All content in the child- Not specified There was ongoing N/A Pain intensity - child (pain pressult) PedsQL children with (2017) FGID consisted of ten pain-related Age range: modules for children modules for children modules for children pastrointestial All content in the child- Not specified There was ongoing N/A Pain intensity - child (pain free pressult) PedsQL gastrointestial 8 to 12 and ten modules for children gastrointestion: modules for children protocol for a successful ICBT program. Post (M) = 3.74 Pore pre-post felow-up for adults and adolescents. Pre-post ffect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001 Pre-post ffect size (d) = 0.74, , p <.001													
Internet CBT for children with pain-related N = 31 Pain-related FGID Pre-post consisted of ten modules for parents. Duration: All content in the child- directed intervention Not specified communication with There was ongoing faces scale – revised) Pre- Pre (M) = 6.87 PedsQL gastrointestinal disorders (no specific name) 8 to 12 and ten modules for years modules for parents. Duration: specific name) not even. program. program. Post (M) = 3.74 Pre-post program for adults and adolescents. Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, SD) program.													
Internet CBT for children with pain-related gastrointestinal N = 31 Pain-related FGID Pre-post consisted of ten modules for children and ten modules for parents. Duration: All content in the child- directed intervention was based off a protocol for a successful CBT program for adults and adolescents. There was ongoing communication with therapists via the program. N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) Pre (M) = Prevised) PedSQL faces scale - revised) Pre (M) = 6.87 N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) PedSQL faces scale - revised) Pre (M) = Prevised) N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) Pre (M) = Prevised) N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) Pre (M) = Prevised) N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) Pre (M) = Pre (M) = 6.87 Post (M) 9.09 Follow-up Follow-up adolescents. Pre-post adolescents.													
Internet CBT for children with pain-related gastrointestinal disorders (no specific name) Lalouni et al. (2017) Sweden N = 31 N = 31 Pain-related FGID Pre-post consisted of ten modules for children and ten modules for parents. Duration: SD) All content in the child- directed intervention was based off a protocol for a successful ICBT N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) protocol for a protocol for a protocol for a successful ICBT Pere was ongoing communication with therapists via the program. N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) Pre (M) = 6.87 PedsQL faces scale - revised) Pre (M) = 6.87 M = 10.7 years (no SD) M = 10.7 years (no SD) N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) protocol for a protocol for a protocol for a successful ICBT N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) protocol for a protocol for a successful ICBT Pre-post program for adults and adolescents. Pre-post protocol for a successful ICBT N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) Protocol for a successful ICBT Pre-post program for adults and adolescents. Pre-post p<.001 Pre-post p<.001													
Internet CBT for children with gastrointestinal disorders (no specific name) Lalouni et al. (2017) Sweden (2017) N = 31 FGID Pain-related FGID Pre-post consisted of ten modules for parents. Duration: parents. Duration: SD) All content in the child- directed intervention was based off a protocol for a successful ICBT Not specified communication with therapists via the program. N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) Pre (M) = 6.87 PedSQL (M) = Pre (M) = Pre (M) = Pre (M) = 6.87 M = 10.7 (years (no SD) M = 10.7 (years (no SD) M = 10.7 (years (no SD) 10-weeks. 10-weeks. Pre-post adolescents. Pre-post adolescents. Pre-post adolescents. Pre-post post Pre-post post Pre-post post													
Internet CBT for children with pain-related gastrointestinal disorders (no specific name) Lalouni et al. (2017) Sweden (2017) N = 31 Pain-related FGID Pre-post fGID The treatment consisted of ten modules for children and ten modules for parents. Duration: specific name) Not specified faces scale - revised) protocol for a specific name) N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) protocol for a successful ICBT Pein (metastrophic) faces scale - revised) protocol for a successful ICBT Not specified therapists via the program. N/A Pain intensity - child (pain faces scale - revised) Pre (M) = 6.87 PedsQL (faces scale - revised) Pre (M) = 6.87 PedsQL (faces scale - revised) Pre (M) = 6.87 Pre (M) = follow-up Follow-up (M) = 3.74 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, SD M = 10.7 10-weeks. 10-weeks. program for adults and adolescents. adolescents. Pre-post adolescents. Pre-post p <.001 Pre-post p <.001 Pre-post p <.001													
Contraction with pain-relatedAge range: modules for children modules for children gastrointestinal disorders (no specific name)Age range: modules for children and ten modules for parents. Duration: successful ICBTConfinitivitient therapists via the protocol for a successful ICBTConfinitivitient therapists via the program.Pre (M) = 6.87 Post (M)Post (M) Post (M) = 5.09Post (M) Follow-up Follow-up Follow-up M = 10.7 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, program for adults and adolescents.Pre (M) = 6.87 program.Post (M) Post (M) = 5.09 Pre-post Pre-post Pre-post Pre-post Pre-post Pre-post Pre-postPre (M) = 6.87 Post (M) Post (M) = 5.09 Pre-post Pre-post Pre-post Pre-post Pre-post Pre-postPre (M) = 6.87 Post (M) Post (M) = 5.09 Pre-post Pre-post Pre-post Pre-post	Internet CBT for	Lalouni et al.	Sweden	<i>N</i> = 31	Pain-related	Pre-post	The treatment	All content in the child-	Not specified	There was ongoing	N/A	Pain intensity - child (pain	PedsQL (
gastrointestinal disorders (no specific name)8 to 12 yearsand ten modules for parents. Duration: 10-weeks.protocol for a successful ICBTprogram.Post (M) = 5.09 Follow-up (M) = 3.74Follow-up Pre-postM = 10.7 years (no SD)10-weeks.program for adults and adolescents.program.Post (M) = 5.09 successful ICBTPost (M) = 3.74Pre-post pogram for adults and adolescents.program for adults and adolescents.Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.74, program.Pre-post program for adults and adolescents.	pain-related	(2017)		Age range:			modules for children	was based off a		therapists via the		Pre (M) = 6.87	Post (M)
specific name)M = 10.710-weeks.program for adults and adolescents.Pre-postyears (no SD)SD $program for adults andadolescents.program for adults andadolescents.program for adults andadolescents.$	gastrointestinal disorders (no			8 to 12 years			and ten modules for parents. Duration:	protocol for a successful ICBT		program.		Post (M) = 5.09 Follow-up (M) = 3.74	⊢ollow-up
SD) $p < .001$	specific name)			M = 10.7 years (no			10-weeks.	program for adults and adolescents				Pre-post effect size $(d) = 0.74$	Pre-post
				SD)								p <.001	, 7 3.001

pre-post between-group effect size (d) = 0.51, $p = .003^{**}$

<u>IBS-BRQ</u> ICBT – pre (M) = 79.80 ICBT – post (M) = 58.70 ICBT follow-up (M) = 54.50

control - pre (M) = 73.55control - post (M) = 65.27

pre-post between-group effect size (d) = 0.54, $p = .003^{**}$

 $\frac{VSI}{ICBT - pre (M)} = 32.28 \\ ICBT - post (M) = 22.72 \\ ICBT follow-up (M) = 16.63 \\ \end{cases}$

control - pre (M) = 28.30control - post (M) = 27.49

pre-post between-group effect size (d) = 0.50, $p = .001^{***}$

<u>SCAS-C</u> ICBT – pre (M) = 28.45 ICBT – post (M) = 25.23 ICBT follow-up (M) = 21.05

control - pre (M) = 22.87control - post (M) = 22.62

pre-post between-group effect size (d) = 0.19, p = .081

<u>SCAS-P (parent rating)</u> ICBT – pre (M) = 17.87 ICBT – post (M) = 13.75 ICBT follow-up (M) = 13.80

control - pre (M) = 14.21control - post (M) = 12.27

between-group effect size (d) = 0.21, $p = .033^*$

<u>PSS</u> ICBT – pre (M) = 16.23 ICBT – post (M) = 13.68 ICBT follow-up (M) = 12.91

control - pre (M) = 16.11control - post (M) = 13.14

pre-post between-group effect size (d) = 0.06, p = .724

 $\frac{\text{CSI-24 (parent only)}}{\text{ICBT} - \text{pre (M)} = 17.78}$ ICBT - post (M) = 12.42ICBT follow-up (M) = 13.47

control - pre (M) = 17.08control - post (M) = 16.36

pre-post between-group effect size (d) = 0.49, $p = .001^{***}$

* p <.05 ** p <.01 *** p < .001

PedsQL (child) Pre (M) = 72.48 Post (M) = 85.75 Follow-up (M) = 87.56

Follow-up (M) = 87.56Pre-post effect size (d) = 1.26 <u>CDI-S</u> Pre (M) = 2.90 Post (M) = 1.92 Follow-up (M) = 1.86

Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.43, p = .006

Male: (39%) Femal 19 (61

	New treatment	ICBT in this study was	
n = 12	modules were	adapted for children	Pre- 6 month follow-up; d =
	provided every	and tested as a face-	1.30. p <.001
	Friday to be	to-face treatment prior	
e. n =	completed over the	to trialling	Pain intensity - parent (pain
%)	weekend		faces scale – revised)
,		Frameworks	Pre(M) = 6.19
	All measures were	mentioned in the	Post(M) = 3.91
	completed online	contant description	Follow-up (M) = 3.03
	pre-treatment post-		
	treatment and at 6-	included	Pre-post effect size $(d) = 0.93$
	month follow up. The		1 = 0.33, $n < 0.01$
	RedeOL gestre poin		p < .001
		Exposure therapy	Dro. 6 month follow up: d -
	frequency and IDC	tecnniques	Fie- 6 monul ionow-up, $u =$
	Requercy and IBS-	Mindfulness	1.29, <i>p</i> <.001
	DRQ were laken		Dain fraguanay, shild (no
	weekly. Other		Pain frequency - child (no.
	measures included		pain free days/ week)
	the CDI (short		Pre(N) = 2.45
	version) (Aligaler et		POSt(M) = 3.84
	al., 2012), SCAS		Follow-up (IVI) = 4.35
	(unpublished short		
	version – 18 items),		Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.70 ,
	vəl, Cəl-24,		p = .002
	catastrophizing		
	response scale of		Pre- 6 month follow-up; $d =$
	the pain response		0.95, <i>p</i> <.001
	inventory (Walker et		
	al., 1997), Insomnia		Pain frequency - parent (no.
	Severity (ISI-C)		pain free days/ week)
	(Kanstrup et al.,		Pre (M) = 2.32
	2014), Pressure		Post (M) = 3.71
	Activation Stress		Follow-up (M) = 5.20
	(PAS) (Lindblad et		
	al., 2008), school		Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.67,
	absence, client		p <.001
	satisfaction		
	questionnaire (CSQ-		Pre- 6 month follow-up; d =
	8) (Larsen et al.,		1.38, <i>p</i> <.001
	1979), and a		
	subjective		Catastrophizing (pain
	assessment		response inventory - child
	questionnaire (SAQ)		report)
	(Gonsalkorale et al.,		Pre (M) = 6.81
	2003).		Post (M) = 4.61
			Follow-up (M) = 2.04
	Additional parent		
	outcomes were work		Pre-post effect size $(d) = 0.59$,
	absence, adult		p = .002
	responses to child		
	symptoms (ARCS)		Pre- 6 month follow-up; d =
	(Van Slyke &		1.29, <i>p</i> <.001
	Walker, 2006),		
	patient health		
	, questionnaire (PHQ-		
	9) (Kroenke et al.,		
	2001), generalized		
	anxiety disorder		
	assessment (GAD-7)		
	(Spitzer et al., 2006),		
	and adverse events		
	(AE).		
	()		

Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 1.43, *p* <.001 .005 PedsQL Gastro (child) SCAS (short) Pre (M) = 60.30 Post (M) = 75.63Follow-up (M) = 79.08 Pre-post effect size (d) = 1.14, p <.001 .04 Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 1.40, *p* <.001 .002 PedsQL (parent-proxy) Pre (M) = 69.57 Post (M) = 82.79 Follow-up (M) = 85.95 Pre-post effect size (d) = 1.16, p <.001 <.001 Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 1.44, *p* <.001 <.001 PedsQL Gastro (parent-proxy) IBS-BRQ Pre (M) = 57.62 Post (M) = 74.54 Follow-up (M) = 77.46 Pre-post effect size (d) = 1.37 , *p* <.001 <.00¹ Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 1.60, *p* <.001 <.001. .005 <.001 .001 <.001 <.001

Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 0.45, p =

Pre (M) = 12.45 Post (M) = 10.27 Follow-up (M) = 9.13

Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.29, p =

Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 0.44, p =

<u>VSI</u> Pre (M) = 10.74 Post (M) = 5.33 Follow-up (M) = 3.45

Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.92, p

Pre- 6 month follow-up; d =1.24, p

Pre (M) = 29.87 Post (M) = 18.91 Follow-up (M) = 17.96

Pre-post effect size (d) = 1.18, p

Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 1.28, p

<u>CSI-24 (child)</u> Pre (M) = 15.48 Post (M) = 11.78 Follow-up (M) = 9.17

Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.41, p =

Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 0.69, p

CSI-24 – Gastro (child) Pre (M) = 7.74 Post (M) = 4.88Follow-up (M) = 3.50

Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.82 , p <

Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 1.22, p

<u>CSI-24 (parent)</u> Pre (M) = 13.97 Post (M) = 8.46Follow-up (M) = 6.95

Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.92, p

Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 1.17, p <.001

CSI-24 – Gastro (parent) Pre (M) = 8.55 Post (M) = 5.29Follow-up (M) = 3.55

Pre-post effect size (d) = 1.02, p <.001.

Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 1.56, p <.001

<u>ISI-C</u> Pre (M) = 6.03 Post (M) = 5.19

18 | Page



Follow-up (M) = 3.97Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.18, p =.31 Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 0.44, p =.01 <u>PAS</u> Pre (M) = 11.65 Post (M) = 10.28Follow-up (M) = 6.48Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.20, p =.31 Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 0.77, p <.001 School absence (child report) Pre (M) = 1.45 Post (M) = 0.40Follow-up (M) = 0.59Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.62, p<.001 Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 0.84, p <.001 $\frac{School \ absence \ (parent \ report)}{Pre \ (M) = 1.58}$ $Post \ (M) = 1.01$ Follow-up (M) = 0.55 Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.55, p<.001 Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 0.99, p<.001 Parental work absence (days $\frac{\text{home/month}}{\text{Pre (M)} = 0.65}$ Post (M) = 0.34Follow-up (M) = 0.05Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.55, p =.01 Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 1.07, p <.001 ARCS - protective behaviour <u>(parents)</u> Pre (M) = 11.35 Post (M) = 5.16Follow-up (M) = 4.41Pre-post effect size (d) = 1.26, p<.001 Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 1.41, p <.001 ARCS - monitoring behaviour $\frac{(\text{parents})}{(\text{parents})}$ Pre (M) = 10.10 Post (M) = 4.82 Follow-up (M) = 3.99Pre-post effect size (d) = 1.65, p<.001 Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 1.91, p <.001 $\frac{\text{PHQ-9 (parental mental health)}}{\text{Pre (M)} = 4.29}$ Post (M) = 3.45Follow-up (M) = 2.40

2BT for Sampaio et Sweden N = 101 IBS with al. (2019) Age range: estinal 13 to 17 s (no years name)	RCTSecondary analysis of a web-based[Secondar y data analysis (Bonnert et al., 2016)]reducing symptoms of IBS and improving quality of life. Treatment lasted 10- weeks (weekly modules for adolescents, 5 	Not specified in this paper. See Lalouni et al (2017).	N/A

	Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.21, p = .16
	Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 0.46, <i>p</i> = .002
	$\frac{GAD-7 \text{ (parental mental health)}}{Pre (M) = 3.26}$ $Post (M) = 1.90$ Follow-up (M) = 1.83
	Pre-post effect size (d) = 0.50, p = .004
	Pre- 6 month follow-up; d = 0.52, <i>p</i> = .003
PedsQL Adolescents in the CBT group showed an average improvement of 5.647 points compared with the waitlist.	<u>Resource use and costs</u> Average cost per participant to deliver the intervention = US\$178.36 (SD=US\$46.70).
There was a significant time X group interaction (M = 5.647, SE = 1.972, $t = 2.864$, $p = .005$).	Significant incremental mean difference (CBT vs. waitlist) in total mean societal costs = US 163.81 (95% CI 48.85 to 332.55, <i>p</i> = .002).
PedsQL: cost-effectiveness Incremental cost-effectiveness	Bootstrapped estimate was US\$170.24 (95% CI 63.14 to 315.04).
per one point improvement on the PedsQL.	Full breakdown of costs between groups available in Table 3 of original paper.
At a WTP value of approximately US\$50 and above for one point improvement on the PedsQL, CBT has a greater probability of being a cost-effective option, compared to waitlist.	<u>Frequency of resource use by</u> <u>adolescents and parents in the trial</u> CBT group (pre, post) Healthcare visits (n), by: General practitioner; 20, 9
The probability of CBT being cost-effective was approaching 100% at a WTP value of US\$175 for one point improvement on the PedsQL.	Nurse; 4, 4.5 Counsellor; 5.5, 2 Physiotherapist; 9, 8 Specialist (gastroenterology); 21, 1 Other medical practitioner; 6, 2 Complementary alternative medicine (CAM); 1, 2.5 Psychologist (community); 1, 0 Psychologist (CAMHS); 4, 3 Dietitian; 3, 2
	Medication (units) (n): 1207, 391
	Productivity losses at school (n): School absence (days); 163, 84 Reduced efficiency at school (days; 268, 166
	Productivity losses at work (n): Absence from paid work (hrs); 0, 0 Reduced efficiency at work (hrs); 298.96, 106.28
	Productivity losses from unpaid housework (parents) (n): Absence from unpaid housework (hrs); 6.43, 1.14 reduced efficiency unpaid housework (hrs); 57.54, 10.69
	Frequency of resource use by adolescents and parents in the trial Waitlist (pre, post)
	Healthcare visits (n), by: General practitioner; 24, 7 General practitioner (telephone consult); - , 1 Nurse; 10, 4 Counsellor; 5, 2 Physiotherapist; 2, 4 Specialist (gastroenterology); 14, 6

r							1				1
						direct medical costs (intervention costs; including therapist salary and platform maintenance, healthcare resources and medication use [services by unit, see Table 1 in original paper]), and indirect costs accrued to adolescents and parents (productivity losses due to absenteeism, including school absenteeism, and reduced efficiency in performance for paid and unpaid work. Data were collected at baseline and at post-treatment using Trimbos and Institute of Medical Technology Assessment Cost Questionnaire for Psychiatry (TIC-P) (Bouwmans et al., 2013). Only one parent per child was included in the analysis (mother as default).					
Internet CBT for children with pain-related gastrointestinal disorders (no specific name)	Bonnert et al. (2019)	Sweden	N = 31[adolesce nt-parent dyads] ^a Age, M (SD) = 15.2 (1.3) Age range: 12 to 17	FAP and Functional Dyspepsia (FD)	Pre-post	This study was an open feasibility trial. 10 weekly online exposure-based CBT-based modules completed by 31 adolescents with FAP or FD, who were not currently	See Lalouni et al (2017).	Not specified	Authors of this study adapted the intervention described in detail in Lalouni et al. (2017), based on clinical experience. Adaptions made includo that	N/A	Pain intensity (Faces Pain Rating Scale – Revised) (range: 0-10, 0 = no pain, 10 worst pain) Pre, M (SE): 7.03 (0.40) Post, M (SE): 4.56 (0.55) 6-month FU, M (SE): 3.56 (0.57)
			years			psychological or			examples and		$[95\%CI] = 1.20^{***} [0.49, 2.0]$

Other medical practitioner; 1, 0 Complementary alternative medicine (CAM); 0, 0 Psychologist (community); 1, 0 Psychologist (CAMHS); 4, 1 Dietitian; 7, 1

Medication (units) (n): 1265, 694.50

Productivity losses at school (n): School absence (days); 145, 102 Reduced efficiency at school (days); 208, 115

Productivity losses at work (n): Absence from paid work (hrs); 46.60, 24.00 Reduced efficiency at work (hrs); 291.76, 251.65

Productivity losses from unpaid housework (parents) (n): Absence from unpaid housework (hrs); 14.00, 14.29 reduced efficiency unpaid housework (hrs); 33.26, 12.46

Health outcomes QALYs Significant gain in QALYs (0.0032 QALYs) for adolescents in the CBT group (95% CI 0.0001 to 0.0063, *p* = .043) over the treatment period compared with waitlist.

Bootstrapped estimate was 0.0031 QALYs (95% CI 0.0003 to 0.0061).

Cost-effectiveness analysis

QALYs The probability of CBT being costeffective was approximated at 74% given the Swedish WTP threshold of approximately US\$80 000 per additional QALY.

Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER): 54916

See Figures 1 & 2 in original paper for visualisations.

<u>Sensitivity analysis</u> Includes participants with complete cost and QALY data, compared to base-case intention-to-treat analysis.

Higher QALY gains and lower costs of CBT in 'complete' cases analysis. Higher probability of costeffectiveness: 81% (ICER: 42945)

Probability of cost-effectiveness was also increased by taking a health perspective: 81% (ICER: 48384)

Increasing intervention-related costs by 20% decreased likelihood of cost-effectiveness: 68% (ICER: 62703)

1	PedsQL (range: 0-100)	CSI-24 (Gastro) (somatic symptoms,
	Pre, M (SE): 68.65 (2.60)	0-4) – child report
10 =	Post, M (SE): 80.81 (2.67)	Pre, M (SE): 9.06 (0.72)
	6-month FU, M (SE): 83.58	Post, M (SE): 5.25 (0.76)
	(2.73)	6-month FU, M (SE): 3.19 (0.79)
	Pre-post effect size (d)	Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] =
	[95%CI] = 0.84*** [0.55, 1.18]	0.84*** [0.48, 1.25]
	Post-FU effect size (d)	Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] =
2.01]	[95%CI] = 0.19 [-0.07, 0.46]	0.45* [0.16, 0.80]

Male, n = 11(35%)

Female, n = 20 (65%)

psychiatric treatment. Parents participated in 5 modules (1 every other week alongside adolescent program).

All participants underwent online screening prior to enrolment. This was followed by an assessment interview by a clinical psychologist to assess psychosocial and psychiatric problems before starting the intervention.

Outcome measures included acceptability of treatment (credibility rating scale (Borkovec & Nau, 1972)), Working Alliance Inventory (WAI) (Falkenström et al., 2015), client satisfaction questionnaire (CSQ-8), Faces Pain Rating Scale, quality of life (PedsQL and PedsQL-GI), CSI-24, GI-specific avoidant behaviour (IBS-BRQ), and VSI. Parent-rated outcomes were collected for the PedsQL, CSI-24, and parents rated their perceptions of child's symptoms and quality of life on the SCAS, and their own behaviour on the ARCS.

exposure exercises in this version were based on adolescents with FAP/ FD, and symptom 'labelling' was added. Psychoeducation was delivered by video instead of text. 2 optional modules with additional vignettes were added. Parents were both educated and instructed on reinforcement methods. Participants received weekly feedback from therapists (written) This included feedback on questions and homework reports and providing support and guidance. Suggestions on individual exercises were given if needed. Automated SMS reminders were sent once a week to prompt login, and customised SMS messages could be

created if necessary.

Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.48 [-0.15, 1.23]

Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%C = 1.69*** [0.78, 2.53]

Clinically significant change (≥ 30% improvement on pain intensity) in 17 (55%) of the participants at posttreatment and at 6- month follow-up after treatment completion.

*p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p <.001.

	Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.03*** [0.61, 1.46]	Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.29*** [0.90, 1.73]				
1]	PedsQL – parent-proxy Pre, M (SE): 72.01 (11.25) Post, M (SE): 83.22 (10.58) 6-month FU, M (SE): 84.94 (11.65)	<u>CSI-24 (Gastro) (somatic symptoms,</u> <u>0-4) – parent report</u> Pre, M (SE): 7.48 (0.73) Post, M (SE): 3.83 (0.43) 6-month FU, M (SE): 3.82 (0.46)				
er	Pre-post effect size (d) [95%Cl] = 0.96*** [-0.79, 1.33]	Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.87*** [0.58, 1.04]				
	Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.18 [-0.11, 0.46]	Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.00 [-0.29, 0.26]				
	Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.14**' [0.89, 1.60]	Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.87*** [0.54, 1.04]				
	<u>PedsQL- GI - child</u> <u>Pain-related symptoms</u> Pre, M (SE): 49.60 (3.13) Post, M (SE): 67.64 (3.27) 6 month ELL M (SE): 77.96	<u>VSI (11-items, answer range: 0-5)</u> Pre, M (SE): 20.23 (1.48) Post, M (SE): 9.66 (1.55) 6-month FU, M (SE): 6.98 (1.59)				
	(3.43)	Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.09*** [0.79, 1.43]				
	Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.60*** [0.88, 2.59]	Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.28 [0.02, 0.64]				
	Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.91** [0.13, 1.57]	Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.37*** [0.90, 1.80]				
	Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 2.51*** [1.57, 3.59]	IBS-BRQ: avoidance (answer range:				
	<u>Nausea</u> Pre, M (SE): 85.28 (2.88) Post, M (SE): 85.87 (2.98)	Pre, M (SE): 43.39 (1.87) Post, M (SE): 30.32 (1.96) 6-month FU, M (SE) : 27.16 (2.02)				
	(3.08)	Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.08*** [0.63, 1.61]				
	Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = = 0.04 [-0.04 0.42]	Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.26 [0.06, 0.58]				
	Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.54** [0.21, 0.92]	Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = .34*** [0.87, 1.87]				
	Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.58** [0.32, 0.89]	Adherence ≥ 70% for feasibility				
	Eating-induced symptoms Pre, M (SE): 82.32 (3.58) Post, M (SE): 74.68 (3.48)	Average 72% of total treatment completed (7.2 modules out of 10)				
	6-month FU, M (SE): 88.82 (3.68) Pre-post effect size (d)	Acceptability (Credibility Rating Scale) (6 items, range: $0.10, 0 = not$ at all $10 = verv$)				
	[95%Cl] = -0.43* [-0.11, -0.85]	M, (SD) = 30.97 (10.04)				
	Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.79*** [0.39, 1.28]	WAI (36 items, scored 1-7; 1 = never, 7 = always)				
	Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.36* [0.03, 0.72]	Overall, M (SD) = 32.6 (10.0)				
	*p < .05, ** p .01, *** p < .001.	Trusted therapist to help, M (SD) = 5.7 (1.8)				
		Feel valued by therapist, M (SD) = 5.6 (1.8)				
		<u>CSQ-8 (1-4; very bad – very good)</u>				
		Overall, M (SD) = 25.4 (4.7)				
		Adolescents helped to deal more effectively with their problems, M $(SD) = 3.4 (0.6)$				
		Adolescents only helped with a few or none of their needs, M (SD) = 2.7 (0.9)				

Internet CBT for children with pain-related gastrointestinal disorders (no specific name)	N = 90 FAP RCT Age, M (SD) = 10.2 (1.4) Age range: 8 to 12 years Male, n: 28 (31%) Female, n: 62 (69%)	Trial assessing the efficacy and cost- effectiveness of CBT doe FAP, delivered online. Group randomisation was to either therapist- guided internet-CBT (n = 46) (10-weeks) or treatment as usual (n = 44). Treatment protocol was adapted from Bonnert et al. (2016). Detailed description of the 	ified. Ongoing therapist support (licensed psychologists) via the program. Messages were sent as reminders or to answer questions. If the participants' answers indicated that they had misunderstood some crucial aspect of the treatment or if they did not log-in on a regular basis, therapists provided additional support via telephone (to parents) The therapists of period additional support via telephone (to parents)	Pain faces scale (FACES) pain-free days were collect no data reported.

		Satisfied overall with intervention, M (SD) = 3.3 (0.8)
		<u>ARCS – monitoring</u> Pre, M (SE): 9.82 (0.52) Post, M (SE): 6.17 (0.52) 6-month FU, M (SE): 6.36 (0.56)
		Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.11*** [0.71, 1.35]
		Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = - 0.06 [-0.37, 0.24]
		Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.05*** [0.56, 1.33]
		ARCS - protective Pre, M (SE): 6.49 (0.57) Post, M (SE): 3.69 (0.57) 6-month FU, M (SE): 3.20 (0.61)
		Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.72*** [0.40, 1.12]
		Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.13 [-0.19, 0.42]
		Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.84*** [0.30, 1.33]
		<u>SCAS: anxiety</u> Pre, M (SE): 14.05 (1.79) Post, M (SE): 11.16 (1.45) 6-month FU, M (SE): 10.06 (1.50)
		Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.26* [0.11, 0.42]
		Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.10 [-0.08, 0.29]
		Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = = 0.36** [0.17,0.56]
		p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001.
S) and lected;	PedsQL- GI - child <u>CBT group</u> Pre, M (SE): 60.62 (2.16) Post, M (SE): 75.99 (2.20) 36-week FU, M (SE): 77.87 (2.13)	Adherance At 36-week follow-up, 87% of children and parents in the treatment group had completed the assessments.
	Pre-post effect size (d) [95%Cl] = 1.11 [0.82–1.42]	<u>IBS-BRQ: avoidance (child) (range:</u> <u>1-7)</u> <u>CBT group</u> Pre, M (SE): 32.44 (1.72)
	Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.17 [-0.17 to 0.56]	Post, M (SE): 16.73 (1.75) 36-week FU, M (SE): 17.99 (1.54)
	Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.38 [1.00–1.77]	Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.23 [0.95–1.51]
	<u>Control group</u> Pre, M (SE): 54.86 (2.18) Post M (SE): 63.80 (2.21)	Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = - 0.10 [-0.25 to 0.08]
	Pre-post effect size (d) [95%Cl] = 0.64 [0.35–0.96]	Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.09 [0.82–1.38]
	Between-groups effect size pre-post: (d) [95%CI] =0.46 [0.05-0.88]	<u>Control group</u> Pre, M (SE): 30.48 (1.74) Post, M (SE): 25.05 (1.76)
	Mean difference = 6.43 , $p = .022$	Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.43 [0.25–0.60]
	Mean difference post-FU = $2.10, p = .28$	Between-groups effect size pre- post: (d) [95%CI] = 0.81 [0.48–1.14] Mean difference = -10.28, <i>p</i> < .001
	<u>CBT group</u> Pre, M (SE): 59.90 (2.06) Post, M (SE): 75.11 (2.09)	Mean difference post-FU = 1.26, p =.452

(VSI), avoidance (IBS-BRQ), and parental responses to child symptoms (ARCS). An assessment overview is included, however not all outcomes are reported on for efficacy.

The cost analysis is conducted in US dollars, based on 2016 pricing. GLMs were used to calculate cumulative costs betweengroups over the treatment period. Linear mixed-models were used to calculate mean differences in **QALYs** Incremental cost effectiveness ratio (ICER) was calculated using the difference in costs divided by the difference in QALYs

to as reminders. The children and parents were instructed to log-in to the new modules during the weekend. 36-week FU, M (SE): 79.85 (1.81)

Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.21 [0.94–1.49]

Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.41 [0.00–0.84]

Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.97 [1.50–2.46]

<u>Control group</u> Pre, M (SE): 55.74 (2.11) Post, M (SE): 62.86 (2.12)

Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.56 [0.30–0.85]

Between-groups effect size pre-post: (d) [95%CI] =0.64 [0.26–1.03] Mean difference = 8.09, *p* < .001

Mean difference post-FU = 4.20, p = .019

<u>Clinical signifiance</u> 26 of 45 (58%) of children in the CBT group reported ≥30% improvement of their gastrointestinal symptom severity at the 10-week followup evaluation, verses 14 of 44 (32%) of children in the treatment-as-usual group.

RR = 1.8 (*p* = .019) NNT= 3.8, favouring CBT

PedsQL (range: 0-100) <u>CBT group</u> Pre, M (SE): 76.73 (1.91) Post, M (SE): 86.39 (1.96) 36-week FU, M (SE): 87.76 (1.82)

Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.73 [0.46–1.01]

Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.11 [-0.10 to 0.31]

Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%Cl] = 0.82 [0.58–1.03]

<u>Control group</u> Pre, M (SE): 73.87 (1.94) Post, M (SE): 77.04 (1.96)

Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.24 [-0.06 to 0.46]

Between-groups effect size pre-post: (d) [95%CI] = 0.49[0.13-0.89]Mean difference = 6.49, p=.008

Mean difference post-FU = 1.49, p = .34

PedsQL – parent-proxy <u>CBT group</u> Pre, M (SE): 74.51 (2.03) Post, M (SE): 84.48 (2.05) 36-week FU, M (SE): 89.02 (1.89)

Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.73 [0.51–0.97] VSI-C (7-items, range: 0-35) <u>CBT group</u> Pre, M (SE): 13.93 (1.05) Post, M (SE): 4.97 (1.08) 36-week FU, M (SE): 4.55 (0.96)

Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.14 [0.85–1.45]

Post-FU effect size (d) [95%Cl] = 0.05 [-0.15 to 0.27]

Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.16 [0.88–1.45]

<u>Control group</u> Pre, M (SE): 14.55 (1.06) Post, M (SE): 9.88 (1.08)

Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.59 [0.34–0.87]

Between-groups effect size prepost: (d) [95%CI] = 0.55 [0.15-0.92]Mean difference = -4.29, p = .008

Mean difference post-FU = 0.41, p =.711

<u>ARCS – protective</u> <u>CBT group</u> Pre, M (SE): 10.11 (0.93) Post, M (SE): 2.52 (0.94) 36-week FU, M (SE): 1.77 (0.78)

Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.10 [0.87–1.33]

Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.09 [-0.02 to 0.24]

Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.11 [0.80–1.42]

<u>Control group</u> Pre, M (SE): 11.55 (0.95) Post, M (SE): 7.11 (0.95)

Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.64 [0.40–0.92]

Between-groups effect size prepost: (d) [95%CI] = 0.46 [0.12-0.79]Mean difference = -3.16, p = .015

Mean difference post-FU = -0.66, p =.474

ARCS – monitoring <u>CBT group</u> Pre, M (SE): 10.83 (0.50) Post, M (SE): 3.56 (0.51) 36-week FU, M (SE): 3.85 (0.53)

Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 2.13 [1.64–2.70]

Post-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = -0.07 [-0.27 to 0.14]

Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.80 [1.35–2.33]

Mean difference post-FU = 0.27, p =.608

<u>Control group</u> Pre, M (SE): 12.23 (0.51) Post, M (SE): 8.58 (0.51)

Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.07 [0.71–1.43]

Customized CBT for	Flink et al. (2016)	Sweden	<i>N</i> = 6	Reccurrent pain and emotional	Pre-post	Single-case experimental with	CBT Mention of	Not specified	Not specified	N/A	Daily symptom ratings are given in graphs in Figure 3 of
			Male: <i>n</i> = 1 Female: <i>n</i> = 5			were randomized to begin the intervention on either day 11 or day 14. Daily reports contained 5 items; levels of pain, perceived stress, depressive symptoms, sleep difficulties, and worry and/or rumination.					Px.1 Pre: 31 Px 1 Post: 26 Px 1 Follow-up: 25 Px.2 Pre: 28 Px 2 Post: 28 Px 2 Follow-up: 13 Px.3 Pre: 5 Px 3 Post: 11 Px 3 Follow-up: 25 Px.4 Pre: 32
						The internet-based CBT intervention consisted of 5 to 9 modules of CBT. Four optional modules were recommended based on daily symptom ratings at					Px 4 Post: 28 Px 4 Follow-up: 30 Px.5 Pre: 21 Px 5 Post: 22 Px 5 Follow-up: 17 Px.6 Pre: 19 Px 6 Post: 7 Px 6 Follow-up: not given
						week 5.					

Post-FU effect size (d) Between-groups effect size prepost: (d) [95%CI] = 1.06 [0.55–1.59] [95%CI] = 0.32 [0.07-0.57] Mean difference = -3.62, p < .001Pre-FU effect size (d) [95%CI] = 1.02 [0.76–1.32] Cost effectiveness Resource use <u>Control group</u> Pre, M (SE): 73.36 (2.07) Significant incremental cost Post, M (SE): 74.60 (2.08) differences (mean differences) between-groups for: Pre-post effect size (d) [95%CI] = 0.09 [-0.12 to 0.32] Therapist time, M = 117.40 (99.39–135.42), *p* <.001 Between-groups effect size Internet-CBT total cost, M = pre-post: (d) [95%CI] = 0.64 183.60 (168.37–204.40), p [0.33-0.94] <.001 Mean difference = 8.73, p Health care resources, M = -• <.001 118.08 (-155.24 to -37.67), p = .011 Mean difference post-FU = Total healthcare consumption, . 4.59, *p* =.009 M =-136.94 (-182.90 to -52.90), p = .006See Supplementary Table 3 in original paper for breakdown of all between-groups costs. Receiving internet-CBT resulted in 0.0181 QALYs gained compared with decreased QALYs in the treatment-as-usual group (-0.0006 QALYs). Mean incremental health gain of 0.0187 QALYs (95% CI, 0.0102– $0.0271; p \le .001$) See Figures 1 and 2 in original paper for visualisations. The probability that the intervention was cost saving was 92%. <u>FDI</u> Px.1 Pre: 38 Daily symptom ratings are given in graphs in Figure 3 of this paper and uld Px 1 Post: 38 therefore could not be extracted Px 1 Follow-up: 41 (pain, stress, depressive symptoms, sleep difficulties and worry). Px.2 Pre: 10 HADS - Anxiety Px.1 Pre: 10 Px 2 Post: 0 Px 2 Follow-up: 0 Px 1 Post: 6 Px.3 Pre: 3 Px 1 Follow-up: 14 Px 3 Post: 2 Px 3 Follow-up: 0 Px.2 Pre: 9 Px 2 Post: 10 Px.4 Pre: 20 Px 2 Follow-up: 7 Px 4 Post: 5 Px 4 Follow-up: 14 Px.3 Pre: 8 Px 3 Post: 4 Px.5 Pre: 35 Px 3 Follow-up: 8 Px 5 Post: 30 Px 5 Follow-up: 23 Px.4 Pre: 19 Px 4 Post: 18 Px.6 Pre: 30 Px 4 Follow-up: 21 Px 6 Post: 3 Px.5 Pre: 8 Px 6 Follow-up: not given Px 5 Post: 7

> Px.6 Pre: 14 Px 6 Post: 4 Px 6 Follow-up: not given

HADS - Depression Px.1 Pre: 6 Px 1 Post: 4 Px 1 Follow-up: 9

Px 5 Follow-up: 7

Px.2 Pre: 2 Px 2 Post: 2 Px 2 Follow-up: 2

						reminders via SMS or email. Participants also could contact psychologists by SMS or email as necessary (face-to- face sessions offered in some cases). Participants were paid €10 for completing each weekly questionnaire (returned by post). Assessments were also completed at pretest, posttest and 6-month follow-up. These were the Pain catastrophizing scale (children) (PCS-C) (Crombez et al., 2003), functional disability inventory (FDI), Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) (Lisspers et al., 1997; Zigmond & Snaith, 1983), Perseverative thinking questionnaire (PTQ) (Ehring et al., 2011) and the Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) (Yang et al., 2009).					
DARWeb	Nieto et al. (2015)	Spain	N = 15 Age range: 9 to 14 years Median = 11 years Male: $n = 6$ (40%) Female: $n = 9$ (60%)	Reccurrent abdominal pain	Mixed- methods (evaluatio n)	Parents and children completed a psychosocial online intervention (7 units), separately, over 7- weeks. Units were schedules weekly and participants could not access the next unit until the previous unit had been completed. Parents had the option to participate in the parent program as a couple or one parent could	Psychosocial	Not specified	Not specified	Interview data was analysed using Atlas.ti 6.2, and an inductive content analysis was performed (please see main article for participant quotes). 40 codes were generated, and grouped into 5 categories: <u>1. Satisfaction with DARWeb.</u> Positives ; generally satisfied with DARWeb, recommend DARWeb,	Pain-related information was collected at pre-test only.

	Px.3 Pre: 7
	Px 3 Post: 2 Px 3 Follow-up: 6
	Px.4 Pre: 9 Px 4 Post: 8 Px 4 Follow-up: 11
	Px.5 Pre: 7 Px 5 Post: 3 Px 5 Follow-up: 7
	Px.6 Pre: 11 Px 6 Post: 0 Px 6 Follow-up: not given
	<u>PTQ</u> Px.1 Pre: 52 Px 1 Post: 49 Px 1 Follow-up: 45
	Px.2 Pre: 32 Px 2 Post: 29 Px 2 Follow-up: 19
	Px.3 Pre: 26 Px 3 Post: 25 Px 3 Follow-up: 27
	Px.4 Pre: 40 Px 4 Post: 46 Px 4 Follow-up: 55
	Px.5 Pre: 33 Px 5 Post: 31 Px 5 Follow-up: 34
	Px.6 Pre: 34 Px 6 Post: 15 Px 6 Follow-up: not given
	<u>ISI</u> Px.1 Pre: 20 Px 1 Post: 11 Px 1 Follow-up: 12
	Px.2 Pre: 5 Px 2 Post: 8 Px 2 Follow-up: 7
	Px.3 Pre: 7 Px 3 Post: 4 Px 3 Follow-up: 7
	Px.4 Pre: 13 Px 4 Post: 12 Px 4 Follow-up: 10
	Px.5 Pre: 20 Px 5 Post: 18 Px 5 Follow-up: 21
	Px.6 Pre: 11 Px 6 Post: 2 Px 6 Follow-up: not given
Functional information (PedsQL) was collected at pre-test only.	Satisfaction with DARWeb (range 0- 10) Results based on the 9 families that completed the full program.
	Parent ratings on all aspects of all modules were 8 or higher (usefulness, interest, design, learning, satisfaction).
	Child ratings on all aspects of most modules were 8 or higher, with the exception of unit 1 which was rated a median of 6 for usefulness, 5 for interest, and 7 for design.

		complete the program individually All participants were asked to complete a pre-treatment online survey which asked about demographic and pain-related information. A simila survey was completed at posttest, which included questions about overall perceptions of the program. Posttreatment interviews were also conducted in family groups; the interviews lasted approximately 30 minutes. Satisfaction and time measures were also taken electronically throughout the intervention.		DARWeb is useful, comic's vignettes and pictures, comic's stories, videos, would participate again, relaxation techniques, reiterating main ideas, feeling reflected, reassurance of positive behaviours, SMART goals. Negatives ; difficult to understand, comic's vignettes and pictures, too much reading, not feeling reflected, not users' first language, boring and repetitive, DARWeb is not useful, SMART goals. 2. Ideas for improving <u>DARWeb</u> Adding exercises or games, adding forums, adding videos, adding face-to-face sessions, reducing units' lengths, reducing units' lengths, reducing text for children. 3. <u>Burden</u> Positives ; time established correctly Negatives ; time supervision, lack of time 4. Pain perception and <u>skills</u> Positives ; relaxation techniques, giving less importance to pain, coping strategies, distraction techniques, pain reduction, communication techniques. Negatives ; no pain reduction. 5. <u>General perceptions</u> <u>about online</u> interventions Positives ; technology, flexibility and comfort, online method satisfaction, Negatives ; technology	
DARWeb Nieto et al. Spain (2019)	N = 37 familiesRecurrent abdominal pain/ FAPAge range (target) = 9 to 15 yearsMage (children who completed the program = 11.23 yearsAge range (actual) = 9- 14 yearsAge range (actual) = 9- 14 years	Mixed- methods Evaluation of the effects of DARWeb (evaluatio on a variety of outcomes. post and interviews interviews The intervention included parallel content for parents and children and includes 7-units, each broken down into 5 sections. Each takes 30mins to complete, and they must be completed in order. Families were recruited via collaborating bealthcare	CBT Not specified N	Not specified Authors state that the intention is to integrate qualitative findings from this paper with feasibility study findings (Nieto et al., 2015) Inductive content analysis % = percentage of families cited Positive aspects Relaxation techniques (94%) Giving less importance to pain (76%) Coping Strategies (71%) Distraction techniques (65%)	<u>API – global rating of pain</u> <u>severity (0 to 4)</u> <u>Children, M (SD)</u> Pre: 1.5 (0.9) Post: 0.9(0.9) 3-month FU: 1.1 (1.1) Children's improvement on the API was statistically significant from pre-post $t(13) = 2.33$, p =.03. Effect size (d) = .57 No significant differences in children's scores pre-FU; $t(13)$ = 1.7, p = .12, or post-FU; t(13) = .53, p =.62 <u>Parents, M (SD)</u> Pre: 1.9 (1.1)

There were significant differences between parent and children's ratings on the following:

- Usefulness of unit 1 (Mann-Whitney *U*: 18.50; p = .04) interest of unit 1 (Mann-Whitney *U*: 17.5; p = .04) Design of unit 2 (Mann-Whitney *U*: 18.5; p = .05). -
- -
- -

There were no significant differences found in global ratings of the program overall.

	PedsQL (short) (0-100) – total scores only	Treatment satisfaction (post- treatment only), 11-point NRS
	<u>Children, M (SD)</u> Pre: 75.7 (12.9) Post: 79.9 (14.3) 3-month FU: 79.6 (19.7)	<u>Children, M (SD)</u> General satisfaction: 8.53 (2,3) Helping to cope with pain: 8.47 (2.4) Improving the overall situation: 8.41
n the icant	No significant differences in child self-reports pre-post:	(2.6)
p	t(16) =97, p = 0.35, post-FU; t(13) = .16, p = 0.87, or pre-FU; t(13) = 1.30, p = .21.	<u>Parents, M (SD)</u> General satisfaction: 9.24 (0.7) Helping to cope with pain: 9.06 (1.7)
in <i>t</i> (13)	<u>Parents, M (SD)</u> Pre: 70.5 (16.7) Post: 77.8 (12.7) 3-month FU: 79.2 (13.8)	Improving the overall situation: 8.24 (2.4)
	No significant differences in parent-proxy scores pre-post;	

	Female = 64.7%		Spain and using websites. When families were referred the study was explained initially by telephone, and if interest expressed, details were given in person or by video call. Participants were given a pre- treatment, online, survey to collect demographic information related to study outcomes. The same survey was given 2-weeks after completing the intervention (post- treatment), and at 3- months follow-up. Children and parents were asked to complete surveys separately. Measures included the PedsQL (short; 12-item) (Huguet & Miró, 2007), pain severity, frequency and intensity (Abdominal Pain Index - API) (Walker et al., 1991), and treatment satisfaction (11-point numerical rating scale (NRS), post- treatment only). After post-treatment surveys were completed, families (parents and children together were also interviewed (semi- structured). Interviews covered 2 main topics: (1) impressions about the program and online interventions and (2) perceived effects of DARWeb on their pain situation learned skills. Out of 37 families, 15 did not complete the program, 17 completed the post- test measures and 14 completed the follow-up measures				Pain reduction (53%) Communication techniques (30%) <u>Negative aspects</u> No pain reduction (6%) Participant quotes available in original paper.	3-month FU: 1.1 (1.2) There were significant differences in parent scores of their child's abdominal pain from pre-post $t(16) = 2.56$; $p =$.02; effect size (d) = .63 There were also significant differences in parent scores or the API from pre-FU $t(13) =$ 2.6; $p = .023$; effect size (d) = .68. There were no significant differences post-FU $t(13) =$.77; $p = .45$.
Rheumates@W Lelieveld et The ork al. (2010) Netherlan ds	N = 33Juvenile IdiopathiIntervention group: Age (M) = 10.6 years (SD 1.5)Arthritis (M)Control group: Age (M) = 10.8	RCT (JIA)	All participants were randomized into either the intervention group (n = 17) or wait-list control (n = 16). The intervention version used in this study focused on improving physical activity (PA), using a	 Elements of behaviour change theory are mentioned in introduction (modelling, social support, self- efficacy) Health education SMART – creating specific, measurable 	Not specified	Paediatric rheumatologist monitored disease progression and could update the personal page in the program with joint status etc.	N/A	N/A

t(16) = 1.86, *p* = .08, or post-FU; *t*(13) = .96, *p* = .35

of	Significant difference in
=	parent-proxy scores pre-FU, t t(13) = 2.8, p = .015. Effect size (d) = .76

ores on

N/A

Physical activity (M, SD)

<u>AEE (megajoules/ day)</u> Control T0: 2.07, 0.59 Control T1: 2.95, 0.86 Within-group difference (t) = 0.88**

Intervention T0: 2.38, 0.85 Intervention T1: 3.62, 1.27 Within group difference (t): = 1.24**

<u>PA level</u>

			years (SD			17-week internet-	achievable, realistic						Control T0: 1.57, 0.12
			1.4)			based program,	and timed goals						Control T1: 1.76, 0.17
						which was combined							Within-group difference (t) = 0.19**
			Male: $n = 4$			with 4 group-							
			Fomalo: n -			sessions (initial							Intervention T0: 1.63, 0.16
			20			session also							Intervention T1: 1.89, 0.25
			25			included parents).							Within group difference (t): = 0.26**
						Elements included:							Moderate to vigorous activity (hours
						1) health education,							<u>per day)</u>
						2) barriers to PA are							Control T0: 1.19, 0.44
						identified, 3) self-							Control T1: 1.77, 0.79
						efficacy and							Within-group difference (t) = 0.58*
						perceived effect of							
						PA are identified and							Intervention T0: 1.30, 0.68
						reinforced, 4) family							Intervention T1: 2.30, 1.04
						and school							Within group difference (t): = 1.00^{**}
						influences, 5) PA							
						options in daily life							No. of days with ≥1 hour moderate
						are explored and							to vigorous activity
						encouraged, and 6)							Control T0: 3.87, 1.51
						SMART goal-setting.							Control T1: 4.87, 1.85
						enn itt gear eennig.							Within-group difference $(t) = 1.00^*$
						PA fitness and joint							
						status were all							Intervention T0: 3.87, 1.64
						measured at							Intervention T1: 5 07 1 22
						baseline and input							Within aroun difference (t): $= 1.20^{*}$
						into the program							
						(individualieed							Aerobic capacity (M SD)
						nage) Patiente							
						received normal							Resting HR (hpm)
						treatment for IIA							Control TO: 89, 10
						throughout							Control T1: 78, 10
						(rheumatologist							Control 11. 78, 10
						intermittently) and							Intervention TO: 00, 12
						wore allowed to							Intervention T1: 80, 13
						were allowed to							
						sport and loisuro							Max HP (hpm)
													Max. HR (DpIII) Control TO: 200, 0
						CPT training focused							Control T1: 102, 12
													Control 11, 195, 12
						on PA was not							Intervention To: 201 11
						permitted.							Intervention T0. 201, 11
						Domindoro woro							Intervention 11: 200, 8
													Max and grange (accorde)
						sent by email if							Max endurance (seconds)
						weekly assignments							Control 10: 608, 83
						were not completed.							
						Manager and fair this							within-group difference $(t) = -5$
						Measures for this							later vertice To: 570 74
						trial included a 7-day							Intervention 10: 579, 74
						physical activity							Intervention 11: 605, 64
						diary (pre & post);							Within group difference (t): = 26°
						PA is shown as PA							
						ievei, activity-related							A
						energy expenditure							Adherence
						(AEE) (Bratteby et							14 out of 33 patients (82%)
						al., 1997), time spent							completed the full internet program
						on moderate to							
						vigorous PA, and							3 patients completed the majority of
						number of days with							the program (18%)
						Thour or more of							* = 05
						moderate to							[™] p <.05
						vigorous PA. Other							^^ <i>p</i> < .01
						measures included							
						aerobic capacity,							
						adherence							
						(measured by							
						participation in							
						weekly							
						assignments), and							
						disease activity							
						(recorded by							
						rheumatologist).							
Phoumatas @14/	Armhnister	The	N ₋ CA	11.6	DOT	All porticipants	Lleakh anti- d	Notoposition	A physiotheresist -	Cotiofaction /witter	Catiofaction (pain advection)	N/A	Commitmont
rtieumates@W	ATTIDIUST ET	Notharlan	10 = 04	JIA	KUI (accortor	All participants were	 Health education 	not specified	A physiotherapist, a	Sausiactions)	Salislaction (pain education)	IN/A	Durinini III Completed the week's
UIK	al. (2015)	de			(acceptan	divided Into SIX	and nealth		paeulatric	suggestions)	04% UI CIIIIdren that		Fallicipants completed the Weekly
		us	Age (IVI) =			groups and were	promotion model		neumalologist, and	Poronta positivas	participated tell they had learnt		assignments by Monday: $M = 53.0$
					oniy)	nanuomized into	 Social cognitive 		a psychologist	<u>raienis – positives</u>	something about pain.		(5.0 US)
			(50 1.4)			enner me	theory		ueveloped the	- The children	Soo loot oolumn for a different		Completed in completely
			Moles n 00			mervention group or	• CB1		program content.	experienced that they	See last column for additional		(portigipante per week): M = 0.0 (00
			iviale: $n = 23$			wait-list control. The				were not the only ones	education outcomes.		(participants per week): $M = 8.3$ (SD
L						analysis in this paper							(.0)

Female:	<i>n</i> =
41	

Move It Now -

internet CBT for

adolescents with chronic pain

guided

interactive

The

ds

Netherlan

Voerman et

al. (2015)

Female: n =			takes into account				with arthritis and that it		
14			data from all				halped to talk about it		
41			data from all				neiped to talk about it.		
			participants that				 To talk about arthritis 		
			received the				in a positive manner		
			intervention over two				 To have peer contact. 		
			2.5 vears, without				 To receive education 		
			accounting for				and information		
			accounting for						
			randomization				 To be understood by 		
							other parents and		
			This version of the				coachos		
			This version of the				coaches.		
			program was 14-				 To share experiences, 		
			weeks long, with an				and		
			average bing purpage				to reacive tipe		
			overarching purpose				to receive tips.		
			to achieve health-						
			promoting behaviour				Parents – areas for		
			in IIA There were				improvement		
			in JIA. There were				Improvement		
			an additional 4				 Classification by age 		
			aroun-sessions				(8 to 10 and 10 to 12)		
							(o to ro and ro to rz).		
			additional to the				- More assignments for		
			internet-based				physical activities.		
			modules				- More involvement of		
			modules.						
							the parents during the		
			Elements included:				program		
			1) Health education				- Make the assignmente		
							- wave the assignments		
			Emotions and				less childish for the		
			affect in JIA. 3)				older kids and easier for		
			Barriers to and				the young ones		
			penetits of being				 Create the possibility 		
			physically active				for the children to chat		
			1) Solf-officery and				without the supervisors		
							without the supervisors		
			perceived effect of				listening in.		
			physical activity				- Fewer aroup sessions		
			including fatigue and				Children nositivos		
			including langue and				<u>Crinicien – positives</u>		
			pain coping.				 I liked it very much. 		
			5) Peer support, 6)				 I made a new friend. 		
			SMART gool potting				Liked Buddy yory		
			SWART goal-setting				- Tilked Buddy very		
			Setbacks 8) 'Keep				much.		
			it up' (continuation						
			and paraguarance)				Children areas for		
			and perseverance).				Children- areas lor		
							improvement		
			The program was				 It was too childish 		
			nere enelies a based				Duddu waa nat		
			personalised based				- Buddy was not		
			on each patient's				original.		
			nhysical activity level				- I would like more		
			as measured by a 7-				physical assignments.		
			day activity diary and						
			an accelerometer						
			Factors including						
			gender age disease						
			activity, joint damage						
			(assessed by a						
			rheumatologist) and						
			fine at a shall a shall to						
			functional disability						
			were measured pre-						
			test and used for						
			personalisation.						
			The main outcomes						
			described are to						
			described are to						
			evaluate acceptance						
			of the program by						
			or the program by						
			monitoring						
			commitment.						
			technical program						
			lecinical program						
			aspects, levels of						
			interaction and						
			enticipaction with the						
			Sausiaction with the						
			program and costs.						
			E moil romindare						
			□-mail reminders						
			were sent by the						
			program to promot						
			took completion of						
			lask completion as						
			necessary.						
			2						
NL 00	Chronic	Des sect	Adologenete		Not an ea'f' - d	Not Creative 1	NI/A		-
N = 69	Chronic pain	Pre-post	Adolescents were	 CBT – focus on 	Not specified	Not Specified	N/A	<u>vas – current pain (0-100)</u>	Pe
	(mixed)		initially randomised	copina				T0: M = 44.22	0-
Ade rande:	/	Nota this	into a treatment					$T1 \cdot M = 44.56$	T
								11.101 - 44.00	
12-17 years		study	group or wait-list					12: M = 33.86	T1
		started as	control.					T3: M = 39.79	T2
		an RCT							Т
			Destisiants					Effect all a	
14.9 years		but the	Participants were					Effect sizes	
(SD 1.1)		design	asked to log-in once					T0-T1: .01	E

Caught up and fulfilled assignments completely by Monday: M = 54.5 (SD 8.2)

At the end of the program, 60 participants (93.8 %) had completely fulfilled all assignments for the 14weeks program.

<u>Technical Aspects</u> M = 1.7 (2.7 %) participants per week sent an email about technical aspects.

Level of interaction Number of participants per week that sent an email: M = 6.9 (SD 4.6)

- <u>Email topics M (SD)</u> Technical 1.7 (2.5) Something not clearly -
- understood 1.1 (1.1)
- Friendly communication 2.6 -(1.7)
- Parents 0.5 (0.8) -
- -Response to a reminder 1.1 (1.3)

Only 26.6 % of the participants took part in the chat sessions.

Satisfaction

81% of the participants and 99% of the parents liked the program.

The level of the program and the assignments were perceived as adequate or too easy by 89 to 97% of the participants.

85% of the participants and 75 % of the parents indicated that they had learnt something, or quite a lot.

84% of participants felt they had learnt something about energy management.

87% felt they had learnt something about arthritis.

Group sessions were appreciated by 97% of the parents and by 82 % of the children.

edMIDAS (disability) (range <u>)-50)</u> 0: M =26.43 1: M = 26.36 2: M = 18.74 3: M = 24.05

Effect sizes

<u>Treatment satisfaction (n = 21)</u> Satisfaction (1 to 5) 57% satisfied

Recommend (1 = yes, 2 = no)76% of adolescents would recommend the program to other adolescents in pain.

Male: 23%

required

altering

attrition

(52%).

Female: 77%

a week to complete a module (7 modules). They were after high instructed to practice learnt skills every day using supplementary audio files. Participants were contacted by a therapist weekly by e-mail and every 2weeks by telephone to provide support. E-mails and phone calls were standardized using a protocol. Parents also worked through 2 online modules and had contact with the therapist 3 times throughout. Measures were taken 7-weeks before the program, as well as pre & post-treatment and 3-month follow-up. This included pain location, pain intensity using a VAS (0-100) diary (averaged over 7 days: current pain, worst pain - severity & interference). An adapted version of the paediatric migraine disability assessment was used to measure disability (PedMIDAS) (Hershey et al., 2001). The study also used the Child Health Questionnaire (CHQ- CF87) Landgraf et al., 1996) to measure quality of life, the Pain Coping Questionnaire (PCQ) (Reid et al., 1998). pain catastrophizing (PCS-C), a single item sleep question, and measured treatment satisfaction. Parental pain rewarding behaviour was also measured using the Illness Behaviour Encouragement Scale - Child (IBES-CF) (Walker & Zeman, 1992). Analysis used multilevel modelling in addition to mean

values and effect

sizes (see Table 3).

T1-T2:42 T2-T3: .23
VAS – worst pain – severity (0-100) T0: M = 58.88 T1: M = 57.36 T2: M = 46.69 T3: M = 46.98
<u>Effect sizes</u> T0-T1:06 T1-T2:43 T2-T3: .01
VAS – worst pain – interference (0-100) T0: M = 42.49 T1: M = 41.86 T2: M = 30.69 T3: M = 30.94
<u>Effect sizes</u> T0-T1:03 T1-T2:46 T2-T3: .01
PCQ (range 14-70) (coping)* Approach T0: M = 49.04 T1: M = 50.09 T2: M = 51.71 T3: M = 49.08
Effect sizes T0-T1: .09 T1-T2: .14 T2-T3:23
Problem-focused avoidance T0: M = 38.02 T1: M = 38.57 T2: M = 43.00 T3: M = 42.91
Effect sizes T0-T1: .06 T1-T2: .45 T2-T3:01
Emotion-focused avoidance T0: M = 21.10 T1: M = 21.46 T2: M = 20.14 T3: M = 19.30
Effect sizes T0-T1: .05 T1-T2:19 T2-T3:12
PCS-C (range 0-52) (catastrophizing) T0: M = 23.81 T1: M = 23.42 T2: M = 21.43 T3: M = 15.79
<u>Effect sizes</u> T0-T1:04 T1-T2:18 T2-T3:52
*Additional data for information seeking, problem solving, seeking social support, positive self-statements, behavioural distraction, cognitive distraction, externalizing and internalizing

on the PCQ are available in Table 4 of this paper.

T0-T1: .00 T1-T2: -.36 T2-T3: .25 CHQ- CF87 (range 0-100)* Physical functioning T0: M = 70.88 T1: M = 73.76 T2: M = 6.46 T3: M = 78.18 Effect sizes T0-T1: .14 T1-T2: .13 T2-T3: .08 Role functioning - emotional T0: M = 68.16 T1: M = 73.22 T2: M = 78.29 T3: M = 85.63 Effect sizes T0-T1: .17 T1-T2: .17 T2-T3: .25 Role functioning behaviour T0: M = 84.64 T1: M = 85.23 T2: M = 83.98 T3: M = 94.07 Effect sizes T0-T1: .03 T1-T2: -.05 T2-T3: .43 Role functioning physical T0: M = 63.42 T1: M = 61.76 T2: M = 72.56 T3: M = 67.56 Effect sizes T0-T1: -.05 T1-T2: .35 T2-T3: -.16 Bodily pain T0: M = 57.64 T1: M = 54.41 T2: M = 41.07 T3: M = 50.29 Effect sizes T1-T2: -.55 T2-T3: .38 Sleep problems (0 = no, 1 = yes) T0: M = .63 T1: M = .65 T2: M = .37 T3: M = .25 Effect sizes T0-T1: .04 T1-T2: -.60 T2-T3: -.24 *Additional data for mental health, self-esteem, health perceptions, changes in health, family activities, and family cohesion on the CHQ are available in Table 4 of this paper.

Goal attainment (VAS 0-100) M = 50.1, SD = 30.0

Adolescents achieved on average half of their goals.

Improvement - dealing with problems (1 to 5) 57% of adolescents reported improved ability to deal with problems.

Improvement - daily activities (1 to <u>5)</u> 38% improved in carrying out daily activities.

IBES-CF (range 0-48) (parental rewarding pain behaviour) T0: M = 20.54 T1: M = 23.08

T2: M = 19.00 T3: M = 19.95

Effect sizes T0-T1: .57 T1-T2: -.91 T2-T3: .21

iCanCope with Pain™	Stinson et al. (2014)	Canada	N = 23 Age range: 14 to 18 years Male: n = 5 (21.7%) Female: n = 17 (73.9%)	Chronic pain (mixed)	Qualitative (explorato ry & iterative)	Three focus-groups were conducted with adolescents ($n = 16$) & one focus group was conducted with HCPs (separately) ($n = 7$) A proposed architecture for iCanCope was developed based on the focus groups, as well as current theories for pain self- management. Interviews were conducted with a new sample of adolescents ($n = 7$); the proposed architecture was presented to adolescents to collect feedback on the acceptability/ perceived value of the features.	 Theory of behavioural activation SMART framework – creating specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and timed goals CBT; self- management strategies such as muscle relaxation, guided imagery, mindfulness and belly breathing, as well as problem- solving and communication skills training Social Learning Theory; encouraging sharing coping strategies as a form of peer support 	User-centred needs assessment	Adolescent and HCP focus group data was analysed in combination. Four major themes were identified from the focus groups (initial needs assessment): (i) pain impact (sub-themes; physical impact, role functioning, social and emotional impact, future), (ii) barriers to care (sub-themes; healthcare system, patient specific barriers, societal barriers), (iii) pain management strategies (sub-themes; support system, pharmalogical strategies, physical strategies, psychological strategies), and (iv) transition from pediatric to adult care (sub-themes; disconnect between paediatric and adult health services, skills needed to transition, parental role, fear/anxiety). Based on the identified needs (as well as practice guidelines, and theory) a core intervention architecture for iCanCope was created. Individual interviews were then conducted with newly recruited adolescents to gain feedback on the core architecture. The majority of adolescents (6 out of 7) endorsed the iCanCope with Pain TM architecture as acceptable for meeting their needs. One adolescent indicated that they were not interested in learning self-management. Feedback regarding the value of each individual feature of the intervention architecture is provided in Table 4, using participant quotes.	N/A	N/A	N/A
iCanCope with Pain™ (symptom- tracking only)	Lalloo et al. (2019)	Canada	N = 60 Age (M) = 16.4 years (SD 0.9) Male: n = 7 (12%) Female: n = 53 (88%)	Chronic pain (mixed)	RCT (parallel groups)	Participants were randomized allocation to one of two possible versions of the iCanCope app; version A (<i>n</i> = 27) and B (<i>n</i> = 33). Versions A and B both included a symptom reporting function; version B also included content on goal setting, pain coping, and social support. Participants were instructed to complete one symptom 'check-in' per day for a 55-day duration. Pain intensity was measured using a numerical rating scale (NRS, 0-10), and pain interference, as well as mood, physical activity, sleep quality and energy were measured using 1-5 pictorial scales.	Not specified	Not specified	N/A N/A	Pain intensity (0-10 NRS) M = 5.5 (SD 2.4) Pain interference (1-5 pictorial Likert scale) M = 2.9 (SD 1.0)	All functional outcomes measured using a 1-5 pictorial Likert scale. <u>Mood</u> M = 2.6 (SD 1.0) <u>Physical activity</u> M = 2.8 (SD 1.1) <u>Sleep quality</u> M = 2.8 (SD 1.1) <u>Energy</u> M = 2.9 (1.0)	FeasibilitySuccessful deployment of mobileapp in 98% of devices.Adherence to symptom trackingVersion A: check-ins (M) = 36.0 (SD13.9)Low (adherence) (7%), low-moderate (19%), high-moderate(26%), high (48%)Version B: check-ins (M)= 33.8(13.6)Low (adherence) (6%), low-moderate (28%), high-moderate(28%), high (38%)Participant interaction with symptomhistory data83% of participants accessed theirprevious symptom data at leastonce throughout the study period.
Interactive website for dysmenorrhea (No specific name)	Yeh et al. (2013)	Taiwan	N = 107 (female only) Internet intervention group: Age (M) = 16.94 years (SD: 1.02)	Dysmenorrhea	Non- randomise d controlled trial (NRCT)	Participants were divided into two groups, receiving either auricular acupressure only or auricular acupressure plus the internet intervention. Six acupoints were used: shenmen, kidney, liver, internal	Not specified	Not specified	All website N/A content was assessed for validity (between objectives and content) by two experts in obstetrics and gynaecology.	There were no significant differences between the internet intervention group and the acupressure only group pre-to posttest on pain and physiological measures. Within-group pre- to posttest improvements in pain and physiological symptoms were significant.	N/A	The combination of the auricular acupressure treatment with the website elicited greater improvements in self-care in adolescent girls compared to using acupressure alone. <u>Adolescent dysmenorrheic self-care scale (ADSCS)</u> Internet intervention:

All functional outcomes
measured using a 1-5 pictorial
Likert scale.

	A	and the land set of set	1		The second li		Molillaria		
	Acupressure	genitals, central rim,			The overall		McGill pain questionnaire		Improvement in self-care, $M = 50.54$
	only group:	and endocrine.			content validity		(range : 0-33)		(SD = 30.16)
	Age (M) =	Adhesive plasters			index was 0.95.		Internet intervention:		
	17.94 vears	containing seeds					Improvement, M = 11.98 (SD		Acupressure only: Improvement in
	(SD: 0.84)	were placed on each			Auricular		- 8 46)		self-care $M = 5.76$ (SD = 18.80)
	(65: 0.04)	acupaint at the start					- 0.40)		Sen Bare, M = 6.76 (BB = 10.00)
							A		
		of menstrual			I wo experts		Acupressure only:		Between group difference $F = 46.92$,
		bleeding and			licensed in		Improvement, $M = 13.44$ (SD		p < .001
		removed after pain			traditional		= 8.62)		
		relief 48 hours later.			Chinese				MDQ
		All participants were			medicine		Between aroup difference $F =$		Internet intervention:
		told to press each			confirmed the		$0.06 \ n < 81$		Improvement $M = 7.42$ (SD = 9.28)
		acupaint for at least			accuracy and		0.00, p < .01		
		acupoint for at least			accuracy and		λ/AC (represe 0.10)		Agustossure only Improvement M
		one minute, iour			precision of the		VAS (range: 0-10)		Acupressure only. Improvement, M
		times per day until			techniques.		Internet intervention:		= 10.72 (SD = 6.85)
		experiencing pain					Improvement, M = 4.59 (SD =		
		relief.					1.93)		Between group difference $F = 1.18$,
									p < .28
		The website					Acupressure only:		<i>p</i> · · · _ ·
		contained pursing					Improvement $M = 5.14$ (SD		
		contained nursing					1100000000000000000000000000000000000		
		care and instruction					= 2.32)		
		specific to							
		dysmenorrhea and					Between group difference F =		
		was separated into					0.11, p < .75		
		nine units. It is							
		unclear whether							
		these units were							
		completed in a							
		specific time-frame							
		or if they should be							
		completed a specific							
		order. The study flow							
		diagram indicatos							
		the intervention was							
		only completed for a							
		duration of one							
		menstrual cycle.							
		Pre and posttest							
		measures included							
		measures included							
		the Adolescent							
		dysmenorrheic self-							
		care scale (ADSCS)							
		(Ching-Hsing et al.,							
		2004) monstrual							
		2004), mensudal							
		distress							
		questionnaire (MDQ)							
		(Wang, 1991), pain							
		intensity (VAS 0-10).							
		and the McGill Pain							
		Questionnaire (SF-							
		MPQ, 11 items							
		scored 0-3)							
		(Melzack, 1987).							
Prototype Donovan et USA	Group 1 Chronic	Mixed- Adolescents in	References to:	Concept	12 specialist	Interviews	N/A	N/A	Acceptance testing
wobsite for wob al. (2012)	Ago rango: migrainos	mothode Group 1 and their		Monning	dinicione	Adelescents reported			Adolosconts
	Age range. Inigrames		• CB1	wapping	cinicians	Addiescents reported			Audiescents
based skills	12 to 17	(iterative) caregivers, were	 Current evidence 		(adolescent	barriers to			
training for	years	asked about barriers	base for migraine		migraines) were	pain self-management,			Adolescents were likely to use a
adolescents with	M = 14	to self-management	interventions		recruited and	including:			range of features when:
migraine (no	vears (no	of adolescent	(including		participated in the	 Perceiving lifestyle 			i) they felt a migraine coming on: M
specific name)	SD)	migraines using a	Troutmann 8		interviews and	changes as			= 2.50 SD $= 1.38$
specific flame)	3D)	appi atructured	Haumann &			interfering with			= 2.50, 5D = 1.50
	10	semi-structured	Kroner-Herwig,		concept mapping.	Interfering with			ii) they had a migraine, $W = 2.50$,
	n = 12	interview.	2010)			favourite activities			SD = 1.62
					Interviews were	Difficulty			
	Female: n =	Concept mapping			coded usina	communicating			Adolescents stated they were less
	6	was utilised to			arounded theory	about migraines			likely to use the features on a pain
	~	annorate content			The most common	about migranes.			free day: $M = 2.00$ SD = 1.04
		yenerale content			thomas ware	0			100 uay, W = 3.00, SD = 1.04
	Group Z	topics for the			unemes were:	Caregivers reported			A delessante de la companya de
	Age range:	planned program,			 Difficulty making 	barriers including:			Adolescents were very likely to use
	12 to 17	along with			lifestyle changes	Difficulties			the 'ask an expert' feature; M =
	years	theoretical			within busy	associated with			2.17, SD = 1.19
	M = 15	frameworks			adolescent	prostiging solf			,
	vears (no	nameworks.			schadulas	practicing self-			Adolescents wore open to video
					Schedules,	management			Addressents were open to video-
	SD)	Adolescents and			2. Difficulties	within the			based information; M = 1.33, SD =
		caregivers were			associated	demands of the			0.49
	n = 7	interviewed			balancing parental	school schedule			
		separately (60			involvement.	Difficulty			The most popular reasons stated for
	Female: n -	minutes) and				- Difficulty			returning to the program were to
	7	niniuco), anu			In the concept	communicating			focurring to the program were to
	1	clinician Interviews			in the concept	about migraines.			ask an expert (91.7%), and to track
		were conducted by			mapping, clinicians				neadaches and learn about triggers
		telephone. All			rated self-	Concept Mapping			(91.7%).
		participants were			management skills				
		· · ·							

						asked to generate 10 content ideas at the end of the interview, and later asked to group them and rate their importance using an online program. Adolescents in Group 2, and their parents, completed a 30-minute acceptance testing of the prototype website by telephone. Each participant downloaded the program for free and shared their screen with the interviewer during this test stage. The acceptance test contained 18 items rated on a 1 to 5- point Likert scale (1= extremely, 5 = not at all).			training, parental self-care, and communication skill building as most important.	 8 conceptual clusters were generated for both the adolescent and caregiver programs. Disagreement between adolescents and clinicians about the relative importance of the content areas, including diet and exercise, was apparent (adolescents rated as not important, whilst clinicians rated these areas as important). Managing migraines away from home (i.e. socially, at school) was rated as extremely important by both adolescents and clinicians. Disagreement between clinicians and caregivers was even greater, where caregivers perceived self-management skills training, parental self- care, and communication skill building as less important than diagnostic information and triggers. 	
Teens taking charge: managing arthritis online	Stinson, Toomey, et al. (2008)	Canada	N = 36 English- speaking: Age (M) = 15.4 years (SD 1.7) French- speaking: Age (M) = 16 years (SD 1.2) Male: $n = 12$ (33.3%) Female: $n =$ 24 (66.7%)	JIA	Qualitative (explorato ry)	Individual interviews (n = 25) and focus- groups (n = 11) were conducted across four sites over 9- months. Individual interviews followed a semi- structured schedule, and focused on gaining insight into JIA self- management issues, as well as preferences for intermet-based self- management (schedule available in Table 1 of this research paper). Focus groups were conducted to confirm insights. Some demographic information was collected immediately prior to the interviews, as well as information about computer-use. Information was also gathered from medical charts, and physicians' global assessment ratings were obtained. The interview sample was stratified for disease severity based on this rating. Whether adolescents	Not specified	Not specified in this paper (see Stinson et al. 2010a)	N/A	 Adolescents explained how they developed effective JIA self- management strategies, and reported various levels of proficiency in JIA management. There were two key strategies (two key themes) used to develop self- management skills: <u>1. Acquiring knowledge</u> and skill to manage the disease (5 subthemes) Listening to & challenging care providers; <i>importance of</i> developing collaborative partnerships with HCPs. Acquiring skills to communicate with the doctor; recognised need for learning skills to accurately communicate health status. Some adolescents preferred presence of a parent in consultations, whereas others preferred independence. Managing pain and discomfort; leaning about more ways to manage pain 	N/A

Caregivers

Caregivers reported they would be most likely to use the 'ask an expert' feature; M = 2.08, SD = 1.24

The main motivation reported for returning to the program was to help them learn more about parenting a child with migraines (58%).

50% stated that talking with other caregivers about their experiences would motivate them to return.

<u>Clinicians</u>

Clinicians were extremely interested in adopting the program for use in practice; M = 1.42, SD = 0.52

They also reported that it fit well with their treatment approach (1 to 4 point scale); M = 1.42, SD = 0.52, and that it would fit well into their practice; M = 1.17, SD = 0.39

83.3% of clinicians state they would prefer a nurse or school to deliver the program.

Clinicians reported it would be extremely helpful for them to have access to symptom tracking data/ headache diary; M = 1.08, SD = 0.29

N/A

N/A

individual interviews or a focus group was their decision. Individual interviews lasted between 20-40 minutes, and focus groups lasted 40 to 75 minutes. All interviews were audiotaped and transcribed verbatim (interviews in French were transcribed directly into English by a bilingual transcriptionist) with the addition of field notes. Qualitative analysis was done within the NUD*IST 6.0 program. Initially these were coded and organised into themes by one experienced researcher, and two team members reviewed the transcripts. Codes were identified and revised iteratively throughout data collection, where individual and focus group data were eventually triangulated together to create one set of themes (as the data was similar).

participated in

when severe, side effects of medications. Adolescents referenced physiotherapy, exercise, and heat/ ice to manage pain. Some . experienced . trouble with motivation to exercise. Managing • emotions; managing isolation and distress related to physical symptoms, as well as self-esteem related issues. Mention of distraction techniques and 'self-talk' (thought challenging) Acquiring ٠ knowledge and awareness about arthritis; primarily learnt from doctors however some adolescents used educational resources – this learning was cited as a way of becoming more independent. 2. Experiencing understanding through social support Including family, peer, teacher, and HCP support. Emphasis on understanding and compassion regarding obstacles faced in JIA management. Finding and communicating with other adolescents with JIA was important to alleviate feelings of isolation. Some of the adolescents mentioned peer pressure and temptation to give into risky behaviours, however they did not due to potential adverse reactions of substances with medication. Additional insight: views on web-based approach to learning and selfmanagement. Adolescents believed having a web-based approach to learning

about arthritis would be useful. This would provide easily accessible information on self-management from trustworthy sources. Emphasised enthusiasm towards a chat room or discussion board for social support.

							 Adolescents outlined 7 essential website components (specific examples listed in Table 3 of this paper): Information about arthritis, Treatments for JIA. Procedures and Tests associated with JIA, Managing symptoms, Managing Emotions, Lifestyle, Social Support. 	
charge: (2010a) managing arthritis online	N = 19 JIA Age (M) = 15.7 years (SD 1.5) French Speaking: n = 8 (M age = 16.0 (1.2)) English Speaking: n = 11 (M age = 15.4 (1.7)) Male: $n = 5$ (26%) Female: $n =$ 14 (74%) The second se	(iterative)	semi-structured usability testing interviews were conducted with adolescents with JIA and one of their caregivers. Participants were asked demographic questions and about level of comfort with computers immediately prior to the interviews. Additional medical information was gathered from their chart, along with a rheumatologists' global assessment of disease severity (10cm VAS). Adolescents and parents participated separately and interviews lasted 30- 45 minutes. A brief explanation of the program was given first, and then participants were asked to 'think- aloud' as they worked through a live version. Interviews were audio recorded and the research assistant also took observational field notes. This version had 12 modules, was available in both English and French. Content included JIA-specific education, self- management strategies (including dealing with pain and stories from There were two parent modules to promote encouragement of healthy teens	JIA education, self-management and social support are mentioned however no reference to specific theoretical base.	sequential phased approach Study design based on 'hermeneutical circle' (Snodgrass & Coyne, 1992)	content was developed by a team of experts in JIA from across Canada. Content was written at a grade 6 to 7 reading level. Information was also developed to suit the needs identified in the initial exploratory study (Stinson et al., 2008).	User Satisfaction (5) themes) Aesthetics (design) Participants felt aesthetics were a critical factor in enhancing engagement. Four subthemes were identified: 1. Layout 2. Navigation 3. Visual assets 4. Visual appeal Adolescents advised the large amount of texts should be "chunked up" with additional visuals. Parents advised they wanted larger font (42%), whereas most adolescents did not see this a problem (only 15%). 16% of French- speaking participants suggested labelling medical diagrams. Quote examples for aesthetics are available in Table 3 of this research paper. Content Overall comments were jositive. Four subthemes were identified: 1. Completeness 2. Understandability 3. Q	

N/A

Usability

<u>Ease of use</u> All of the adolescents were able to navigate through with little to no guidance.

27% of parents required several minutes' orientation.

Learning

All participants were able to complete standardized tasks in 25 minutes or less (as predicted).

Errors 10% of adolescents and 21% of parents experienced navigation errors.

26% of adolescents and 58% of parents experienced presentation errors (for example trouble understanding labels/ selecting desired section). These were only made on the medication module homepage, which was edited for the 2^{nd} cycle of qualitative feedback.

These presentation errors did not occur in the 2nd cycle.

42% of adolescents and 26% of parents experienced control usage errors (for example, improper field entry). Functional input fields were adjusted for the 2nd cycle of feedback.

Control usage errors did not occur in the 2nd cycle.

						After completing the think-aloud procedure, additional questions on program satisfaction were asked using a semi-structured schedule. Initial interviews were conducted with English-speaking participants, iterative changes were made, and the revised interface was evaluated in the same way by French-speaking participants.				explanation of medical terminology (including a glossary) to be helpful in furthering their understanding. <i>Quote examples for</i> <i>content are available in</i> <i>Table 4 of this research</i> <i>paper.</i> <u>Functionality/ features</u> Refers to adaptive and interactive website features. Examples include quizzes, the symptom diary, and the 'ask an expert' feature. All participants felt that the adaptive features enabled personalisation to meet individual needs, and enhanced motivation to engage with the program. <u>Sociability</u> Adolescents commented that the peer support features within the program (i.e. discussion boards & example stories) helped with feelings of isolation/ hopelessness. 95% of adolescents indicated they would like to use the discussion board, however this was only endorsed by 42% of parents. <u>Future use</u> 84% of all participants advised they would like t use the program in the future. Additional comments that the program would have been helpful in the context of an initial diagnosis.	
										Participants also liked the focus on self- management, improving quality of life, and the promotion of transitional care management (paediatric to adult health).	
Teens taking charge: managing arthritis online	Stinson et al. (2010b)	Canada	N = 46 Age range: 12 to 18 years Median age = 14.5 (SD 1.48) Male: $n = 15$ (32.6%) Female: $n =$ 31 (67.4%)	JIA	RCT	Adolescents and their parents (1 parent/ caregiver per adolescent) were randomised into either an internet intervention with telephone support or a control group that received attention- control phone calls only. Both groups also continued to receive usual rheumatology care. Adolescents in the treatment group were asked to log on	 JIA education, self- management and social support are mentioned however no reference to specific theoretical base. 	Not specified in this paper (see Stinson et al. 2010a)	Telephone coaches were non-HCPs with an undergraduate degree in psychology. HCP input is indicated in Stinson et al. (2010a).	N/A	Pain Intensity (RPI – weekly average – 47 items, 11-point scale)Intervention group (M, SD)Pre: 2.73 (1.93)Post: 2.17 (1.34)Control group (M, SD)Pre: 3.00 (2.00)Post: 3.47 (2.12) $F = 5.04, p = .03$ Effect size (d) = 0.78F-values given are baseline adjusted ANCOVAs.

HRQL outcomes

<u>Gross motor function</u> <u>Intervention group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 3.16 (1.94) Post: 2.32 (1.51)

<u>Control group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 3.79 (2.08) Post: 3.02 (1.78)

F = 0.12, p = .73Effect size (d) = 0.21

<u>Fine motor function</u> <u>Intervention group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 1.91 (1.91) Post: 1.33 (1.48) <u>Stress - PSQ (30 item, 4-point</u> <u>scale)</u> <u>Intervention group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 1.98 (0.39) Post: 1.98 (0.42)

<u>Control group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 2.09 (0.36) Post: 2.13 (0.42)

F = 0.20, p = .65Effect size (d) = 0.20

<u>Knowledge</u> <u>Intervention group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 4.34 (2.17) Post: 6.98 (1.08)

once a week to complete a module (approximately 20-30 minutes). This version of teens taking charge consisted of a 12week internet-based self-management program; content included JIA-specific information (diagnosis. medications, and symptoms), selfmanagement strategies (e.g. managing stress, relaxation, exercise, nutrition) and social support. Also included a module on transitional care looking ahead), and a journal to track progress based on goals. There were two separate modules for parents to help them encourage healthy teen behaviours. All content (teen and parents) was available in English or French. Telephone support consisted of coached contact once weekly using a standardized script; the purpose of this was to review progress, answer questions and provide guidance. Research assistants additional obtained demographic and disease-related data from medical charts Intervention aim was to reduce physical and emotional symptoms and improve healthrelated quality of life (HRQL). Measures were assessed pre and posttest, including the Juvenile Arthritis Quality of Life Questionnaire (JAQQ) (Duffy et al., 1997), the recalled pain inventory (RPI) (Stinson, Stevens, et al., 2008), and perceived stress (PSQ) (Kocalevent et al., 2007). Medical Issues, Exercise, Pain and Social Support (MEPS) (André et al., 1999), Children's arthritis

self-efficacy (CASE)

<u>Control group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 2.30 (2.07) Post: 1.94 (1.64)

F = 0.00, p = .97Effect size (d) = 0.06

<u>Psychosocial function</u> <u>Intervention group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 1.82 (1.28) Post: 1.88 (1.81)

<u>Control group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 2.14 (1.62) Post: 1.95 (1.32)

F = 0.41, p = .53Effect size (d) = 0.22

<u>General symptoms</u> <u>Intervention group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 2.53 (1.77) Post: 2.26 (1.45)

<u>Control group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 2.72 (2.72) Post: 2.17 (2.17)

F = 0.14, p = .71Effect size (d) = 0.06

<u>JAQQ</u> <u>Intervention group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 2.35 (1.34) Post: 1.95 (1.40)

<u>Control group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 2.74 (1.36) Post: 2.27 (1.21)

F = 0.25, p = .62Effect size (d) = 0.20

F-values given are baseline adjusted ANCOVAs.

<u>Control group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 3.70 (1.98) Post: 4.16 (1.96)

 $F = 19.64, p = .001^*$ Effect size (d) = 1.32

Adherence – medication Intervention group (M, SD) Pre: 7.28 (3.01) Post: 8.14 (8.14)

<u>Control group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 7.30 (2.63) Post: 7.50 (2.96)

F = 0.42, p = .52Effect size (d) = 0.26

Adherence – exercise Intervention group (M, SD) Pre: 7.00 (2.78) Post: 5.05 (3.78)

<u>Control group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 4.16 (2.99) Post: 4.68 (3.26)

F = 3.31, p = .09Effect size (d) = 1.11

<u>Self-efficacy – symptoms</u> <u>Intervention group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 6.14 (1.67) Post: 7.47 (1.89)

<u>Control group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 5.39 (2.85) Post: 6.55 (2.75)

F = 0.08, p = .78Effect size (d) = 0.11

Self-efficacy- emotions Intervention group (M, SD) Pre: 7.42 (2.39) Post: 7.96 (2.38)

<u>Control group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 7.43 (2.82) Post: 8.11 (2.22)

F = 0.07, p = .79Effect size (d) = 0.31

Self-efficacy – activities Intervention group (M, SD) Pre: 6.85 (2.28) Post: 7.88 (2.42)

<u>Control group (M, SD)</u> Pre: 6.99 (2.81) Post: 7.60 (2.72)

F = 0.63, p = .43Effect size (d) = 0.16

F-values given are baseline adjusted ANCOVAs.

Teens taking	Connelly at		N - 280	IIA	RCT	All content was	Not specified in this	Not specified	Content of Teens	N/A	Pain intensity (0-10 NPS)	PedsOL (3.0) (range: 0-100)	No preference (21%)
						(Lingley-Pottle & McGrath, 2007). Research assistants administering assessments had no prior association with participants.				going on who aren't your friends, parents or doctor." <u>Advantages and disadvantages</u> Key cited advantages of phone contact were convenience (43%) and anonymity (36%). Disinhibition was also mentioned as an advantage of distance treatment (14%). Example quote: "You don't know the person and you never meet them face-to-face.so it is not embarrassing." Key disadvantages of distance treatment mentioned were inability to use visual cues (43%), unable to meet coach (21%), inclination to lie (14%). 86% of participants indicated that in hindsight they would choose distance treatment over face-to- face treatment.			the face-to-face comparator (t = 1.37, p = .18, 95Cls: -2.83, 14.07) or the distance treatment comparator (t = 1.51, p = .15, 95%Cls: -2.01, 12.97) DEQ – participant ratings <u>Relationship rating (5-point scale, 5</u> <u>= very strong</u>) M = 4.2, SD = 0.6 <u>Level of comfort rating (5-point scale, 5</u> <u>= very strong</u>) M = 4.2, SD = 0.6 <u>Level of comfort rating (5-point scale, 5</u> <u>= very comfortable</u> M = 4.4, SD = 0.8 <u>DEQ – quantitative data (%)</u> <u>Could talk to coach versus someone</u> <u>face-to-face</u> Less than (7%) Same as (57%) More than (36%) <u>Treatment preference if starting over</u> Over the phone (86%) In clinic face-to-face (14%) <u>Coach gender preference</u> Female (36%) Male (0%) No preference (64%) <u>Coach role preference</u> Trained non-healthcare professional (43%)
Teens taking charge: managing arthritis online	White et al. (2012)	Canada	N = 14 Age range: 12 to 18 years Age (M) = 14.6 years (SD 1.2) Male: $n = 4$ (28.6%) Female: $n =$ 10 (71.4%) Intervention group from RCT (Stinson et al., 2010b)	JIA	Mixed- methods (evaluatio n)	(Barlow et al., 2001), and adherence (CARQ/ PARQ) (April et al., 2006) were measured as mediating variables. Participants were from the intervention arm, described in Stinson et al. (2010b) (14 out of 22). Outcome measures in this study were taken to explore the therapeutic alliance between the telephone support coach and the participants that were completing the 12-week online intervention – Teens taking charge. All data was collected by telephone at the end of the RCT. This included the working alliance inventory scale (WAI-C) (Horvath & Greenberg, 1989), and the distance experience questionnaire (DEQ) (Lingley-Pottie &	Not specified in this research paper.	Not specified in this paper (see Stinson et al. 2010a)	HCP input to the intervention is indicated in Stinson et al. (2010a).	DEQ – qualitative outcomes – 'exploring the distance experience' Relationship The most common descriptors of the relationship with the coach were "really great" (36%) and "understanding" (21%). Example quote: "It was a good relationship. We understood what we wanted to do and worked well together to accomplish that." Level of comfort Overall comments were positive about sharing things with the therapist. Key phrases used were "good/nice" (36%), "easy" (21%), "comfortable" (21%), and "understanding"(14%). Example quote: "Helpful, it was kind of nice being able to talk to someone about things going on who aren't	Reported pain (RPI) and WAI- C global scores were negatively correlated, based on outcome data from the RCT ($r = 0.625$, $p = .03$).	N/A	WAI-C (7-point scales) Global scoreM = 230.52 (SD = 10.95) 95%CIs: 224.79, 236.26Task Agreement M = 77 (SD = 4.43) 95%CIs: 74.83, 79.47Goal Agreement M = 75 (SD = 4.46) 95%CIs: 72.27, 76.93Bond M = 79 (SD = 3.79) 95%CIs: 72.27, 76.93The WAI-C scores were also compared to a face-to face study of adolescents (n = 13) with haematological disorders, who were rating their relationship with their physician (Ely, Alexander & Reed, 2005). Scores were also compared to scores from children participating in a 'family help' (distance) treatment (n = 55) for anxiety or recurrent headache (Lingley-Pottie & McGrath, 2008)There were no significant differences between this study and the face-to-face comparator (t =

Male (n, %): 34 (23)

Female (n, %): 111 (77)

Intervention group Age, M (SD) = 14.6 (1.8)

Male (n, %): 46 (32)

Female (n, %): 98 (68)

Participants in the Teens Taking Charge (intervention) group (n =144) were assigned to the 12-week program (12 modules, of which no more than 2 could be completed per week). Access was password protected. Participants in the online education aroup (control) (n = 144) accessed a separate study website that contained links to 12 educational websites (pre-vetted for quality). They were instructed to view 1 per week. There was no CBT or opportunity for social interaction on these websites. Access was password protected. Participants in the intervention group received brief monthly telephone support calls by bilingual "health coaches" for 3-months. The health coach calls were scripted and used prompts to discuss content and review answers to modular knowledge quizzes. Calls were also received from health coaches in the online education group, to discuss the health information accessed. Separate groups of coaches were assigned to each group. Measures were computer administered self reports, assessed at baseline. posttreatment (3months after randomisation), 6months and 12months, Clinical data was also manually entered at these time points. \$50 stipend awarded for completed health assessment visits. Pain intensity (past 2-weeks was measured using an 11-point NRS, pain interference was also measured across 5 categories (activities, mood

the areas of pediatric rheumatology, pediatric psychology, pain, and adolescent development.

Trial version

description: The first few modules provided psychoeducation about arthritis and introduced the biopsychosocial model of pain. The next several modules were focused on cognitive and behavioural strategies; including managing stress, relaxation training, distraction methods. and cognitive coping skills. The final modules included additional content on optimizing health habits e.g., physical activity, healthy eating, and sleep habits), additional therapies and preventing and overcoming setbacks. Parents/ caregivers

Parents/ caregivers of the adolescent participants also were asked to complete two online modules about facilitating their child's selfmanagement skills. <u>Control (M, SD)</u> Baseline: 3.3 (2.4) Post: 2.9 (2.5) 6-month FU: 3.0 (2.3) 12-month FU: 2.7 (2.4)

Time

b = -.04 (SE = .01), *β* = -.04, *t* =-3.47* Effect size (d) = -.19 (95%CI: -.24)

Group X Time

b = -.01(SE = .02), β = -.02, t =.67 Effect size (d) = -.09 (95%CI: -.01)

Pain interference (0-10; 0 = doesn't get in the way at all',10 = 'totally gets in the way')Intervention group (M, SD)Baseline: 2.6 (2.3)Post: 2.2 (2.4)6-month FU: 2.2 (2.2)12-month FU: 2.0 (2.2)

<u>Control (M, SD)</u> Baseline: 2.5 (2.3) Post: 1.7 (2.2) 6-month FU: 1.8 (2.0) 12-month FU: 1.9 (2.2)

Time

 $\begin{array}{l} b = -.04 \; ({\sf SE} = .01), \; \beta = -.09, \; t \\ = -3.99^{*} \\ {\sf Effect \; size \; (d) = -.21 \; (95\%{\sf CI: -} .25)} \end{array}$

Group X Time

b = -.00 (SE = .02), $\beta = -.01$, t = -.19Effect size (d) = -.09 (95%CI: - .02)

PCQ (range: 1-5, higher scores = high frequency of use) Approach coping Intervention group (M, SD)

Baseline: 2.6 (0.7) Post: 2.8 (0.9) 6-month FU: 2.8 (0.9) 12-month FU: 3.8 (1.0)

<u>Control (M, SD)</u> Baseline: 2.6 (0.7) Post: 2.7 (0.8) 6-month FU: 2.5 (0.9) 12-month FU: 2.5 (0.9)

Time

 $b = .00 (SE = .01), \beta = .00, t = .05$ Effect size (d) = .14 (95%CI: .16)

Group X Time

 $\begin{array}{l} b = .01 \; ({\rm SE} = .01), \, \beta = .01, \; t \\ = .69 \\ {\rm Effect \; size \; (d) = .14 \; (95\%{\rm CI:} \\ .16) \end{array}$

Emotion-focused avoidance coping Intervention group (M, SD) <u>Control (M, SD)</u> Baseline: 72.4 (15.8) Post: 77.8 (16.2) 6-month FU: 77.1 (14.4) 12-month FU: 78.0 (14.3)

Time

- t b = .37 (SE = .05), $\beta = .13$, t =7.27*
- Effect size (d) = .21 (95%Cl: .41)

Group X Time

- t $b = .06 (SE = .10), \beta = .01, t$ =.55
- Effect size (d) = -.16 (95%Cl: .24)

PROMIS

T-scores calculated from 8items on a 5 point scale ('never' to 'almost always') regarding their experience over the past 7-days.

Scores >50 indicate higher than average symptoms of anxiety and depression.

<u>Anxiety</u>

Intervention group (M, SD) Baseline: 48.6 (11.8) Post: 46.8 (11.3) 6-month FU: 45.1 (12.1) 12-month FU: 45.3 (12.0)

Control (M, SD) - Baseline: 47.6 (10.7) Post: 45.5 (11.0) 6-month FU: 46.0 (10.8) 12-month FU: 46.0 (11.4)

t Time

- b = -.18 (SE = .04), β = -.07, t = -3.95* Effect size (d) = -.12 (95%CI: -.29)

Group X Time

b = -.13 (SE = .09), $\beta = -.03$, t = -1.43Effect size (d) = -.33 (95%Cl: .03)

Depression

Intervention group (M. SD) Baseline: 47.2 (11.6) Post: 46.4 (11.2) 6-month FU: 45.6 (11.2) 12-month FU: 45.5 (11.0)

<u>Control (M, SD)</u> Baseline: 46.5 (11.7) Post: 45.2(12.1) 6-month FU: 45.1 (11.4) 12-month FU: 45.0 (11.4)

Time

b = -.12 (SE = .05), β = -.05, t = 2.56* Effect size (d) = -.05 (95%CI: -.23)

Group X Time

b = -.02 (SE = .09), $\beta = -.01$, t = -.24

6-month FU: 3.8 (1.0) 12-month FU: 3.8 (1.0)

<u>Control (M, SD)</u> Baseline: 3.3 (1.0) Post: 3.7 (0.9) 6-month FU: 3.7 (0.9) 12-month FU: 3.8 (1.0)

Time

b = .03 (SE = .01), $\beta = .17$, $t = 7.67^*$ Effect size (d) = .38 (95%CI: .40)

Group X Time

b = -.01 (SE = .01), $\beta = -.01$, t = -.44Effect size (d) = -1.5 (95%CI: -.12)

<u>Disease knowledge (MEPS) (range:</u> 0-10, 0 = 'none at all', 10 = 'enough') <u>Intervention group (M, SD)</u> Baseline: 4.8 (2.0) Post: 6.3 (2.0) 6-month FU: 6.6 (2.4) 12-month FU: 6.5 (2.3)

<u>Control (M, SD)</u> Baseline: 4.6 (2.3) Post: 6.5 (2.3) 6-month FU: 6.4 (2.5) 12-month FU: 6.6 (2.6)

Time

b = .12 (SE = .01), $\beta = .25$, $t = 11.43^{*}$ Effect size (d) = .60 (95%CI: .66)

Group X Time

b = -.01 (SE = .02), $\beta = -.01$, t = -.45Effect size (d) = -.09 (95%CI: -.01)

Adherence (websites use) Considered adherent if viewed at least 75% of the assigned content, and completed at least 2 health coach calls.

73% of the sample met the criteria for adherence

A significantly higher proportion in the control condition (82%) compared to intervention (64%met adherence criteria, $X^2(1, N = 289) =$ 12.12, p < .01).

Adverse events (AEs)(n) AEs = 72 participants SAEs (hospitalisation) = 9 participants

<u>Most common</u> infections = 18 arthritis flares = 17

suicidal thoughts = 4 participants (3 intervention group, 1 control)

*p < .05.

	walking, sleeping, enjoyment of life) using an 11-point NRS. Quality of life was measures using the PedsQL 3.0. Process outcomes included Self- efficacy (children's arthritis self-efficacy scale; CASE), pain coping questionnaire (PCQ) using 2 subscales, emotional adjustment (PROMIS: Pediatric Anxiety and Depression Short Forms (Irwin et al., 2010)), and disease knowledge (MEPS: Medical Issues, Exercise, Pain and Social Support questionnaire). Multilevel growth models (MLMs) were used to analyse the changes in primary outcomes and process outcomes. Two effects were estimated: average monthly rate of change since baseline through end of study, regardless of group assignment (time), and relative increase or decrease to the average monthly rate of change associated with being in the treatment condition (group X time). Regression coefficients were compared against a <i>t</i> -sampling distribution at $p < .05$ significance level. Moderators included age, sex, disease subtype, baseline disease severity, medication type and ethnicity.		Baseline: 2.1 (0.8) Post: 2.0 (0.8) 6-month FU: 1.9 (0.8) 12-month FU: 2.0 (0.9) Control (M. SD) Baseline: 2.0 (0.8) Post: 1.9 (0.8) 6-month FU: 1.9 (0.8) 12-month FU: 1.9 (0.8) Time $b = 0.01$ (SE = .01), $\beta =04$, t = -1.60 Effect size (d) =15 (95%CI:17) Group X Time $b = .01$ (SE = .01), $\beta = .02$, t =.94 Effect size (d) = .15 (95%CI: .17) * $p < .05$.	Effect size (d) =20 (95%CI: .16) 'p < .05.
In-person CBT McCormick et al. (2010) USA N = 24 (female only) Inflammatory bowel diseases disease and ulcerative colitis (IBDs): Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis (UC) NRCT name) Intervention group, age range: 12-17 years Intervention UCC) UCC) Wait-list control, age range: 11-17 years Vait-list control, age range: 11-17 Vait-list	Participants were allocated into either the intervention group (n = 13), or to the wait-list control (n = 11). • CBT Not specified The intervention group took part in an intensive one day, in-person, course followed by a 6-week online skill review. • The day session was a skills-based CBT- based intervention (7 modules for adolescents and parents). Information on the content of the in-person sessions are summarized in	Web sessions were N/A facilitated by research assistants, however HCP input is not specified.	No significant between-group differences pre-post on the primary variables (API and CSI) API (abdominal pain) – child <u>Intervention (M, SD)</u> Pre: 9.96, 5.26 Post: 8.88, 5.92 Follow-up: 6.77, 5.72 Pre-post comparison: $F =$ 0.62, $p = .224$ Pre-FU comparison: $F = 3.12$, p = .054 <u>Control (M, SD)</u> Pre: 11.95, 8.33 Post: 10.86, 6.53 <u>API (abdominal pain) – parent</u> <u>Intervention (M, SD)</u>	N/AARCS - protective behaviour (parents) Intervention (M, SD) Pre: 25.62 8.82 Post: 21.35 9.59 Follow-up: 20.18 8.64Pre-post comparison: $F = 4.346, p =$.030*Pre-FU comparison: $F = 7.69, p =$.010**Control (M, SD) Pre: 27.00, 14.64 Post: 25.60, 6.85 ** $p \le .05$ ** $p \le .01$

Pre: 10.31, 7.19 Post: 11.54, 6.48 Follow-up: 8.10, 6.45 Pre-post comparison: F = 0.32, p = .292Pre-FU comparison: F =0.88, p = .186 <u>Control (M, SD)</u> Pre: 12.40, 9.49 Post: 10.20, 7.02 CSI - child (somatic symptoms) <u>Intervention (M, SD)</u> Pre: 16.92, 15.28 Post: 11.42, 9.21 Follow-up: 15.00, 13.85 Pre-post comparison: F = 8.32, *p* = .007** Pre-FU comparison: F = 0.69, p = .213 <u>Control (M, SD)</u> Pre: 22.00, 19.30 Post: 17.91, 13.35 CSI - parent (somatic symptoms) Intervention (M, SD) Pre: 17.62, 10.35 Post: 12.38, 9.27 Follow-up: 14.32, 10.91 Pre-post comparison: F = 7.48, *p* = .009** Pre-FU comparison: F = 5.48, p = .021* <u>Control (M, SD)</u> Pre: 19.90, 11.88 Post: 20.50, 16.60 PCQ - child (approach) <u>Intervention (M, SD)</u> Pre: 2.89, 0.72 Post: 2.64, 0.97

Pre-post comparison: F = 1.38, p = .133

Follow-up: 2.68, 0.86

Pre-FU comparison: F = 0.893, *p* = .184

<u>Control (M, SD)</u> Pre: 2.87, 0.97 Post: 2.82, 0.88

PCQ - parent (approach) Intervention (M, SD) Pre: 2.59, 0.76 Post: 3.06, 0.54 Follow-up: 2.96, 0.83

Pre-post comparison: F = 9.11, *p* = .006**

Pre-FU comparison: F = 1.75, p = .108

<u>Control (M, SD)</u> Pre: 2.97, 0.32 Post: 2.75, 0.43

Following Bonferroni corrections, the intervention group had higher scores on

Table 1 of this paper. The web sessions were delivered via

separate parent and adolescent sites. Homework assignments were completed online and followed up in a monitored group web-chat (30 minutes). Facilitators helped with problem

solving skills.

Measures were taken pre and posttest, and at 6month follow up for the intervention group. Wait-list group was only measured pre-test at time-points 1 and 2. This was done by telephone questionnaire or by paper if requested. These included; PCQ (parent and child), CSI-24, abdominal pain index (API parent and child (Walker et al., 1995)), PCS-C and PCS-P (catastrophising), and ARCS (protective scale önly).

Incentives: \$20 gift cards were issued after each round of data collection, as well as a \$25 gift certificate at end of the study.

	the 'approach' scale of the PCQ compared to the control condition at the end of the treatment period, $F(1, 20) = 7.87$, $p = .005$ (parent-report only).										
	PCQ – child (distraction) Intervention (M, SD) Pre: 3.18 0.54 Post: 2.82 1.03 Follow-up: 3.53 0.58										
	Pre-post comparison: F=										
	3.21, <i>p</i> = .051 Pre-FU comparison: <i>F</i> = 1.91 <i>p</i> = .099										
	<u>Control (M, SD)</u> Pre: 3.30, 0.87 Post: 3.63, 0.72										
	<u>PCQ – parent (distraction)</u> <u>Intervention (M, SD)</u> Pre: 2.72, 0.80 Post: 3.13, 0.69 Follow-up: 3.07, 0.53										
	Pre-post comparison: $F = 6.44$, $p = .013^*$										
	Pre-FU comparison: $F = 0.69$ p = .213										
	<u>Control (M, SD)</u> Pre: 3.45, 0.66 Post: 2.99, 1.02										
	<u>PCQ – child (avoidance)</u> <u>Intervention (M, SD)</u> Pre: 1.60 0.48 Post: 1.38 0.38 Follow-up: 1.44 0.44										
	Pre-post comparison: $F = 3.63$, $p = .042^{***}$										
	Pre-FU comparison: $F = 0.21$ p = .330										
	<u>Control (M, SD)</u> Pre: 1.85, 0.66 Post: 1.62, 0.42										
	<u>PCQ – parent (avoidance)</u> <u>Intervention (M, SD)</u> Pre: 2.17, 0.64 Post: 2.06, 0.79 Follow-up: 1.74, 0.51										
	Pre-post comparison: $F = 0.63$, $p = .220$										
	Pre-FU comparison: $F = 4.78$ $p = .027^{***}$										
	<u>Control (M, SD)</u> Pre: 2.31, 0.88 Post: 2.21, 0.62										
	PCS-C (catastrophizing) Intervention (M, SD) Pre: 14.23, 11.43 Post: 12.54, 9.88 Follow-up: 8.55, 7.30										
	Pre-post comparison: $F = 1.02$, $p = .116$										
	Pre-FU comparison: $F = 2.15$ p = .087										
									Control (M, SD) Pre: 20.20, 15.79 Post: 17.90, 12.90 PCS-P (catastrophizing) Intervention (M, SD) Pre: 19.69, 11.17 Post: 15.85, 6.84 Follow-up: 15.82, 10.22 Pre-post comparison: $F =$ 3.25, $p = .048^*$ Pre-FU comparison: $F = 2.61$, $p = .069$ Control (M, SD) Pre: 19.55, 11.28 Post: 15.20, 8.44 * $p \le .05$ ** $p \le .01$ **** p -value became non-significant after Bonferroni corrections		
--	--	--	---	-----	--	----------------------------------	-----	---	--	-----	---
Internet-based Tra self-help for an paediatric He recurrent (20 headache (no specific name)	Germany d Kröner- erwig 2008)	N = 18 Age range: 10 to 18 years Age (M) = 13.4 years (SD 2.6)	Recurrent headache: migraine or tension type headache (TTH)	RCT	Participants were randomly assigned to either the intervention group (CBT) or an education-only alternative. Both were internet-based. CBT included 6 self- help sessions focused on headache education, stress management, relaxation, cognitive restructuring, self- assurance, and problem solving. Sessions could be downloaded on a weekly basis and combined with weekly chat sessions with a trainer (see HCP input). Downloads and handouts also available. The education-only control group received the same first session, as well as the chat communication, focused on diary records (used for outcome assessment). Both groups had 2 additional chat booster sessions (weeks 4 and 8). Headache frequency, duration, and intensity (VAS 0-10) was assessed by an internet-based 4-week diary. This included the PCS-C in addition (pre-post and 6-month follow- up). Post-treatment satisfaction was also measured using a	• CBT • Headache education	N/A	3 clinical psychology graduates served as 'trainers' supporting participants (via the chat).Intensive training for this was provided by PhD students/ psychotherapist in training. Input from fully- qualified HCPs is not evident.	Headache frequency (M, SD) CBTPre: 15.2 (10.9)Post: 8.1 (8.0)Follow-up: 8.0 (7.8)Within-group pre-post: $t = 2.480, p < .05^*$ Education-only: Pre: 13.8 (10.1)Post: 12.3 (8.6)Within-group pre-post: $t = 1.016, p > .05$ Clinical significance (defined as a reduction of 50% or more in headache frequency, pre-post) - CBT; $n = 5$ - Education; $n = 1$ No significant difference between-groups (post- treatment); $t = 0.239, p > .05$ Duration (median, range) CBT Pre: 3.8 (2-24) Pollow-up: 3.3 (1-23)Within-group pre-post: $z = -0.681, p > .05$ Education-only: Pre: 6.0 (5-24) Post: 5.1 (2-23)Within-group significance: $z = 1.483, p > .05$ No significant difference between-groups (post- treatment); $t = -0.995, p > .05$ Intensity - VAS (M, SD) CBT Pre: 4.7 (0.8) Post: 4.7 (1.3) Follow-up: 4.2 (1.9)Within-group pre-post: $t = -0.708, p > .05$	N/A	Treatment satisfaction (overall) $[0= not satisfied, 3 = very satisfied]$ CBT group:Child rating; Median = 3.0, range 2-3Parent rating; Median = 2.0, range 1-3Education-only group:Child rating; Median = 2.0, range 1-3 $U = 16.0, p > .05$ No significant differencesPatient-therapist alliance (0-3)CBT: Median = 2.8, range 2-3Education-only: Median = 2.7, range: 2-3 $U = 21.0, p > .05$ No significant differencesCoping with problems (0-3)CBT: Median = 2.0, range 1-3Education-only: Median = 1.0, range 0-2 $U = 6.0, p < .05$ Significant between-group differences

1				posted questionnaire.					Pre: 5.8 (1.5) Post: 5.0 (1.3)
									Within-group significance: $t = 0.881$, $p > .05$
									No significant difference between-groups (post-treatment); $U = 27.0$, $p > .05$
									PCS-C (catastrophizing; M, SD) CBT Pre: 33.0 (6.5) Post: 30.0 (5.9) Follow-up: 28.3 (5.8)
									Within-group pre-post: $t = 2.427$, $p < .05^*$
									<u>Education-only:</u> Pre: 36.4 (9.7) Post: 37.3 (7.9)
									Within-group significance: $t = 0.010$, $p > .05$
									No significant difference between-groups (post- treatment); $t = -2.051$, $p > .05$
									* statistically significant note: treatment effects were maintained at follow-up
Internet-based T self-help for a paediatric H recurrent (2 headache (no specific name)	Trautmann Germar and Kröner- Herwig (2010)	hy $N = 65$ Age (M) = 12.7 years (SD 2.2) Male: $n = 30$ Female: $n = 36$	Recurrent RC primary headache: migraine, TTH or combined headache	 Participants were split into three groups: 1) multimodal CBT, 2) applied relaxation (AR) (progressive relaxation, cue-controlled relaxation, and differential relaxation), 3) education only (EDU). CBT addressed headache education, stress management/ coping, relaxation, cognitive restructuring self-assurance and problem solving. In CBT and AR, weekly e-mails with therapists responded to the assigned exercises and to discuss diary records. EDU received the same first session and then had the same amount of email contact to discuss diary records only. All groups had 2 additional email boosters (weeks 4 and 8). CDs with relaxation instructions was offered to the CBT 	CBT Headache education	Not specified	7 clinical psychology graduates served as therapists supporting children and adolescents via e-mail. The graduate students were extensively trained in both treatments and the EDU condition and were provided with detailed treatment manuals. Therapists attended weekly group supervision, with a psychotherapist in training. Input from fully- qualified HCPs is not evident.	N/A	All effect sizes given in Hedges g. For time x group interactions, see Table 3 within this paper. Headache frequency (M, SD) CBT Pre: 11.5 (8.2) Post: 4.9 (4.3) Effect size (90% CIs): 0.96 (0.49; 1.42) Follow-up: 6.0 (4.8) Effect size (90% CIs): -0.24 (-0.72; 0.26) AR Pre:10.3 (7.8) Post: 7.4 (7.6) Effect size (90% CIs): 0.37 (-0.03; 0.77) Follow-up: 5.3 (6.6) Effect size (90% CIs): 0.29 (-0.03; 0.77) Follow-up: 5.3 (6.6) Effect size (90% CIs): 0.29 (-0.03; 0.77) Follow-up: 5.3 (6.6) Effect size (90% CIs): 0.29 (-0.03; 0.77) Follow-up: 7.3 (8.4) Effect size (90% CIs): 0.56 (0.12; 0.99) Follow-up: 7.3 (8.4) Effect size (90% CIs): -0.08 (-0.61; 0.44) Between-groups pre-post: F (2, 47) = 0.45, p =.64 Between-groups post-FU: F (1, 34) = 0.20, p = .00 Within groups pre-post: F (1, 47)

<u>KINDL-R</u> <u>CBT</u> Pre: 3.6 (0.5) Post: 3.6 (0.4) Effect size (95% CIs): 0 <u>D)</u> (-0.42; 0.42)

> Follow-up: 3.9 (0.4) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.72 (0.22; 1.22)

<u>AR</u> Pre: 3.8 (0.6) Post: 3.8 (0.6) Effect size (95% Cls): 0 (-0.39; 0.39)

Follow-up: 4.0 (0.5) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.40 (-0.06; 0.76)

<u>EDU</u>

Pre: 3.8 (0.3) Post: 3.9 (0.3) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.24 (-0.66; 0.19)

Follow-up: 3.8 (0.3) Effect size (95% Cls): -0.32 (-0.83; 0.18)

Between-groups pre-post: *F* (2, 51) = 1.57, *p* = .22 Between-groups post-FU: F (2, 36) = 0.04, p = .96

Within groups pre-post: F(1, 51) = 0.13, *p* = .72 Within-groups post-FU: F(1, 36) = 1.02, p = .32

<u>CDI</u> <u>CBT</u> Pre: 10.2 (6.6) Post: 11.0 (9.2) Effect size (95% Cls): -0.10 (-0.52; 0.32)

Follow-up: 7.7 (7.1) Effect size (95% Cls):0.38 (-0.13; 0.89)

<u>AR</u> Pre: 8.5 (4.8) Post: 8.1 (9.0) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.06 (-0.34; 0.45)

Follow-up: 6.8 (5.2) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.17 (-0.26; 0.59)

<u>EDU</u> Pre: 9.2 (4.8) Post: 7.7 (5.2) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.29 (-0.13; 0.72)

Follow-up: 6.6 (3.7) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.22 (-0.30; 0.74)

Between-groups pre-post: F (2, 50) = 0.68, *p* = .51 Between-groups post-FU: F(2, 31) = 0.25, p = .78

Within groups pre-post: F(1, 50) =0.30, *p* = .56 Within-groups post-FU: F(1, 31) = 0.69, p = .41

<u>SDQ</u> <u>CBT</u> Pre: 11.8 (3.5) Post: 11.2 (4.3) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.15 (-0.27; 0.58)

exercises, including (defined as a reduction of 50% that delivered to the or more in headache CBT group). frequency, pre-post) Headache frequency CBT: 63% (10/16) (yes/ no, daily), AR: 32% (6/19) duration (hours) and intensity (VAS 0-10) EDU: 19% (2/16) Kruskal-Wallis test revealed a was assessed by a 4-week diary significant difference between (paper). Diary also the three groups ($X^2 = 6.83$, df asked about = 2, *p* = .03). Pairwise medication. comparisons showed a significant difference between Additional pre-post CBT and EDU only (U = 72.00, and 6-month followp = .03) up measures Intensity - VAS (M, SD) CBT included the PCS-C, CDI, health-related quality of life Pre: 5.0 (1.8) Post: 5.0 (2.4) Effect size (90% Cls): 0 (German; KINDL-R (Ravens-Sieberer & Bullinger, 1998)); (-0.46; 0.46) these were all Follow-up: 4.9 (1.4) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.05 postal. Patienttherapist alliance was assessed using (-0.46; 0.56) an internet <u>AR</u> Pre: 5.1 (1.7) questionnaire (Krampen & Wald, 2001), and treatment Post: 5.6 (1.9) satisfaction was Effect size (95% CIs): -0.27 (-0.69; 0.15) measured using a posted form. Follow-up: 5.5 (1.9) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.05 (-0.38; 0.48) <u>EDU</u> Pre: 5.2 (1.7) Post: 5.4 (2.0) Effect size (95% Cls): -0.11 (-0.57; 0.36) Follow-up: 5.5 (1.6) Effect size (95% Cls): -0.05 (-0.65; 0.55) Between-groups pre-post: F (2, 39) = 0.07, p = .93Between-groups post-FU: F (2, 29) = 1.01, p = .38Within groups pre-post: F (1, 39) = 1.34, *p* = .25 Within-groups post-FU: F(1, 29) = 0.29, *p* = .59 <u>Duration (M, SD)</u> <u>CBT</u> Pre: 6.8 (4.0) Post: 4.8 (2.9) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.54 (0.07; 1.01) Follow-up: 5.5 (2.5) Effect size (95% Cls): -0.25 (-0.76; 26) <u>AR</u> Pre: 8.1 (6.7) Post: 6.2 (3.9) Effect size (95% CIs):0.34 (-0.08; 0.76) Follow-up: 7.7 (5.3) Effect size (95% Cls): -0.32 (-0.75; 0.11) <u>EDU</u> Pre: 7.8 (5.8) Post: 6.1 (5.1) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.30

Follow-up: 9.3 (3.7) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.45 (-0.05; 0.96)
<u>AR</u> Pre: 8.9 (4.5) Post: 9.5 (4.2) Effect size (95% Cls): -0.13 (-0.53; 0.26)
Follow-up: 7.1 (4.8) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.54 (0.09; 0.94)
<u>EDU</u> Pre: 10.7 (3.9) Post: 10.0 (4.9) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.16 (-0.26; 0.57)
Follow-up: 8.4 (4.8) Effect size (95% CIs): 0.32 (-0.20; 0.84)
Between-groups pre-post: $F(2, 49)$ = 1.60, p =.21 Between-groups post-FU: $F(2, 33)$ = 0.40, p =.67
Within groups pre-post: $F(1, 49) = 0.42$, $p = .52$ Within-groups post-FU: $F(1, 33) = 1.97$, $p = .17$
Treatment satisfaction (overall) [0= not satisfied, 3 = very satisfied]
Significant between-group differences (child report).
CBT (M) = 2.3 (0.60) AR (M) = 2.7 (0.57) EDU (M) = 2.0 (0.90)
F(2,48) = 3.49, p = .03
Post hoc comparisons indicated significant differences between the AR and EDU groups ($p = .04$); AR reported more satisfaction. No significant differences were found for CBT vs. EDU ($p = .53$) or CBT vs. AR ($p = .32$)
<u>.</u> <u>Patient-therapist alliance (0-3)</u> No significant differences
CBT (M) = 2.6 (0.51) AR (M) = 2.6 (0.48) EDU (M) = 2.4 (0.79)
<i>F</i> (2,46) = 0.98, <i>p</i> = .38
Coping with problems (0-3) Significant between-group differences.
CBT (M) = 2.1 (0.42) AR (M) = 2.2 (0.43) EDU (M) = 1.2 (0.53)
<i>F</i> (2,45) = 13.20, <i>p</i> = .00
Pairwise comparisons indicated that differences were between CBT and EDU ($p = .00$) and AR compared to EDU ($p = .00$). No significant

differences were found between the two treatment groups (CBT vs. AR; p = .90).

							1				
											(-0.14; 0.75) Follow-up: 7.1 (5.3) Effect size (95% Cls):-0.19 (-0.47; 0.37) Between-groups pre-post: <i>F</i> (2, 39) = 0.42, $p = .66$ Between-groups post-FU: <i>F</i> (2, 29) = 0.56, $p = .58$ Within groups pre-post: <i>F</i> (1 39) = 5.22, $p = 0.02$ Within-groups post-FU: <i>F</i> (1 29) = 2.88, $p = .10$ PCS-C (M, SD) <u>CBT</u> Pre: 32.5 (8.5) Post: 27.1 (7.1) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.67 (0.24; 1.10) Follow-up: 23.6 (4.3) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.55 (0.07; 1.04)
											<u>AR</u> Pre: 34.9 (7.8) Post: 34.7 (8.8) Effect size (95% Cls): 0.02 (-0.37; 0.41) Folow-up: 26.3 (9.7) Effect size (05% Cls): 0.80
											Effect size (95% Cis): 0.09 (0.46; 1.32) <u>EDU</u> Pre: 32.2 (10.4) Post: 31.7 (8.3) Effect size (95% Cis): 0.05 (-0.36; 0.47)
											Follow-up: 28.1 (9.9) Effect size (95% CIs):0.39 (-0.12; 0.90)
											Between-groups pre-post: F (2, 52) = 1.93, $p = .15$ Between-groups post-FU: F (2, 37) = 2.66, $p = .08$
											Within groups pre-post: $F(1 52) = 4.45$, $p = .04$ Within-groups post-FU: $F(1 37) = 10.13$, $p = .00$
Web-MAP (Web-based Management of Adolescent Pain)	Long and Palermo (2008)	USA	N = 11 [adolescent- parent dyads] ^a $\frac{\text{Recovered}}{\text{adolescents:}}$ $n = 5 \text{ dyads}$ Age range; 13 to 17 years, M = 15.8 (SD 1.2) Male: $n = 2$ Female: $n = 3$ $\frac{\text{Treatment-}}{\text{seeking}}$ $\frac{\text{adolescents:}}{n = 6 \text{ dyads}}$	Chronic pain (mixed)	Mixed- methods (iterative)	Website usability ratings were obtained during two evaluation stages from two separate groups of patients. In stage one, recovered patients (n = 5) were given access to preliminary program content for 2-weeks. Participants rated the content of each module and basic website function. Module content was adjusted based on feedback from stage one. In stage two, treatment-seeking	The adolescent program contains topics which are considered core components of evidence-based CBT for chronic pain, including: • Education, • Relaxation training • Other cognitive- behavioural strategies that fall under this framework (coping, thought challenging, mindfulness) Also derived from existing evidence- based treatments, the parent program includes:	Three phase program evaluation model (Rand, 2004) (see page 512).	Intervention content was reviewed by an independent expert in CBT for adolescents with chronic pain, and several experts in paediatric pain from the fields of nursing, psychology and medicine (paediatrics and anaesthesiology).	Responses to open-ended questionnaire questions Parents (Stage 1) reported that the content was helpful, particularly content about pain and stress, instructions for reinforcing positive coping, modelling, and information about lifestyle factors. Adolescents (Stage 1) reported that content was helpful; particularly information about the pain pathway, stress and worry, and instructions for using relaxation and distraction strategies. Users also provided suggestions for improvement, including removal of certain images, and hisblichted humon	N/A

N/A	<u>Stage 1 results</u> Perceived usefulness & ease of use (0-5 Likert) Moderate to high; range: 3.20- 4.80
	<u>Appearance rating (0-5 Likert)</u> High; M = 4.60 (SD 0.52)
	<u>Theme (0-5 Likert)</u> High; M = 4.65 (SD 0.67)
	$\frac{Stage 2 results}{Perceived usefulness \& ease of use}$ $\frac{(0-5 Likert)}{Ease of use: high (M = 4.50, SD = 0.64).$ Usefulness: moderate (M = 3.58, SD = 1.62).
	Appearance rating (0-5 Likert) Moderate; M = 3.67 (SD 1.30)
	$\frac{\text{Theme (0-5 Likert)}}{\text{Moderate; M} = 3.42 \text{ (SD 1.56)}}$

	Age range: 12 to 16 years, M = 14.6 (SD 1.6) Male: <i>n</i> = 2 Female: <i>n</i> = 4	given access to the full website for 8- weeks and provided overall ratings of content. Data regarding their interaction with the program was also collected.	 Training on reinforcement of positive coping, Reward systems for activity participation, Modelling positive coping, Communicating with teenagers 	content that were too difficult, lengthy, or repetitive. The intervention was altered based on these comments prior to Stage 2.	
Web-MAP Palermo et USA al. (2009)	N = 48 Chronic pain RCT [adolescent- parent dyads] ^a (mixed) RCT Age range: 11 to 17 years Age (M) = 14.8 years (SD 2.0) Male: n = 13 (27.1%) Female: n = 35 (72.9%)	Children were randomly assigned to a wait-list control group (<i>n</i> = 22) or internet treatment group (<i>n</i> = 26). Wait- list received usual medical care. The intervention group received usual medical care plus 8 -weeks of online modules (covering: relaxation, cognitive strategies, sleep, daily activities, communication. Parent modules were accessed via a separate website and covered similar topics, as well as operant reinforcement of child behaviours and modelling. The program was travel themed. Children and parents were asked to log in once a week to complete a module (each contained an assignment). 'Postcard' reminders were sent in some weeks as a reminder to practice previously learnt skills. Participants could not proceed to the next module without completing the current one. An online therapist (postdoctoral fellow) responded via a message centre to assignments, and to offer encouragement and help problem solve. Participants	CBT See Long and Palermo (2008).	See Long and N/A Palermo (2008). Online therapist was a postdoctoral fellow with a PhD – 1 year experience in face-to- face CBT for children with chronic pain.	Pain intensity (0-10; 10 = worst pain) Intervention group (M, SD) Pre (diary): 5.45 (2.25) Post (diary): 3.54 (2.42) Pre (retrospective): 6.63 (1.8; Post (retrospective): 4.96 (2.18) Follow-up (retrospective): 4.2 (2.00) Control (M, SD) Pre (diary): 5.17 (1.65) Post (diary: 4.76 (1.84) Pre (retrospective): 6.16 (1.84) Pre (retrospective): 5.45 (2.04) Between group difference prepost (diary): F(1, 45) = 5.28, p = .03 n ² = .11 Between group difference prepost (retro.): F(1, 45) = 5.28, p = .03 n ² = .01 Within-group effect (intervention) F(2, 24) = 15.02, p < .001

		While treatment-seeking patients' (Stage 2) ratings were lower than those of recovered patients (Stage 1), differences were not statistically significant.
		Interactivity and engagement Completion time; M = 10.26 weeks (SD 2.33)
		Interactive fields completed – teens: M = 30.17 (SD 4.40) out of 35 Total word count of assignments: range: 121 to 280 (M = 187.33, SD = 53.14). Message system usage: range = 1 to 7 messages (M = 3.00; SD = 2.10).
		Interactive fields completed – parents: M = 26.17 (SD 5.88) out of 44
		Total word count of assignments: range: 204 to 879 (M = 497.50, SD = 241.93). Message system usage: range = 1 to 11 messages (M = 4.00 ; SD =
		3.90).
=	Child Activity Limitations	Depressive symptoms
וחצ	Interview (range; 0-32)	Intervention group (M, SD) Pre: 56.08 (13.65)
<u>, uc</u>	activities from a list of 21,	Post: 58.96 (13.10)
	according to which are most	Follow-up: 53.45 (16.16)
3 (1 87)	difficult due to pain. Importance of each activity is	Control (M_SD)
6	measured on a 5-point scale	Pre: 57.91 (15.04)
	(0-4; 4 = extremely important)	Post: 61.59 (18.67)
e): 4.27	Intervention aroun (M, SD)	No significant between group
	Pre (diary): 5.89 (4.92) Post (diary): 3.60 (2.86)	difference
	Pre (retrospective): 20.54	$\frac{Within-group effect (Intervention)}{F(2, 24) = 3.47, p = .05}$
	(5.80)	T2–T3: significant ($p = .04$)
6 (1.84) 5	Post (retrospective): 12.69 (6.29)	$n^2 = .07$
00 Pro	Follow-up (retrospective): 10.27 (8.04)	<u>ARCS – parent report</u> <u>Intervention group (M, SD)</u> Dro: 28 77 (8 11)
<u>ce pre-</u>	Control (M. SD)	Post: 19.91 (9.76)
	Pre (diary): 6.30 (4.61)	Follow-up: 15.54 (8.57)
	1 OSt (diary): 0.02 (4.70)	Control (M, SD)
ce pre-	Pre (retrospective): 18.82	Pre: 24.55 (7.88)
	(6.59) Post (retrospective): 16.00	Post: 19.11 (10.15)
	(6.34)	No significant between group
	Between aroup difference pre-	difference
	post (diary):	Within-group effect (intervention)
)1 ()2)	F(1, 45) = 9.25, p = .004 $p^2 = .17$	F(2, 24) = 19.71, p < .001 T1-T2: significant (p < .001)
001)		T1–T3: significant ($p < .001$)
	Between group difference pre-	T2–T3 : significant ($p = .04$)
n ² :	$\frac{post (retro)}{F(1, 45)} = 4.20, p = .05$	<i>n</i> ² = .54
lium	$n^2 = .09$	ARCS – child report
effect	Within-group offoot	Intervention group (M, SD)
	(intervention)	Post: 22.91 (8.28)
	$\overline{F(2, 24)} = 14.03, p < .001$	Follow-up: 19.86 (12.36)
ction in	11-12: significant ($p < .001$) T1-T3: significant ($p < .001$)	Control (M. SD)
nsity –	$n^2 = .43$	Pre: 23.18 (8.97)
	Cffeet since manual 2	Post: 21.45 (11.83)
	Enect sizes reported as n^2 ; small effect = 0.01. medium	No significant between group
er in	effect size = 0.06 , large effect	difference
atrol	≥ 0.13	Within-group effect (intervention)
		F(2, 24) = 3.52, p = .05
		T1–T2: significant ($p = .05$)

Web-MAP Murphy et :	al 1154 N= 26	6 Chronic pain	Pre-nost	were not allowed to initiate additional psychotherapy treatment whilst taking part in the study. Outcomes were recorded using an online diary (daily), and included pain intensity (0-10 NRS), activity limitations (Child Activity Limitations Interview (Palermo et al., 2004)). Secondary measures were depressive symptoms (Major Depressive Disorder subscale of the Revised Child and Anxiety depression Scale) (Chorpita et al., 2005), parental response (ARCS) Comparisons were made pre, post and at 3-month follow-up.	• CBT	See Long and	See Long and	Ν/Δ	X ² (1) = 3.72, <i>p</i> = .05 NNT: 3.4
	All COA IN 220 [adole parent dyads] Age ra 11 to years Age (I 14.3 y (SD 2.) Male: (23.19 Femal 20 (76 Interva group RCT (Paler al., 20	c c c (mixed) escent (mixed) (mixed) ange: 17 (M) = years 2.1) : n = 6 (%) ule: $n =$ (6.9%) rention from rmo et (000)		treatment participation in the intervention group from Palermo et al. (2009). An analysis was completed investigating associations between the content of messages from participants to the online therapist. And treatment outcomes. Participation measures included number of logins, and number of sent messages, completion of interactive fields, and weekly assignments.	• Social Learning Theory	Palermo (2008).	Palermo (2008).		Significant association between messages initiated adolescents, in the category 'treatment content' & intensi β =.20, <i>p</i> =.002 No relationship found betwee initiating messages in the 'rapport' category & intensity β = .15, <i>p</i> = .04 No relationship between the content of messages sent by parents and pain intensity. β .0307, <i>p</i> >.01 <i>Controlled for age, gender,</i> <i>number of logins and baselit</i> <i>pain intensity. Significance s</i> <i>at p</i> < .01.

T1-T3: significant (p =.04) n^2 = .19 Effect sizes reported as n^2 ; small effect = 0.01, medium effect size = 0.06, large effect ≥ 0.13 <u>Acceptability and satisfaction (1- 5;</u> <u>5 = strongly agree)</u> <u>Acceptable way of dealing with pain</u> Child report: M = 3.55, SD = .80 Parent report: M = 3.82, SD = .50 Reports positively correlated: r = .50, p = .02 <u>Global satisfaction (positivity</u> Child report M = 3.68, SD = .84 Parent report M = 4.09, SD = .61 Reports positively correlated: r = .53, p = .01

<u>bist</u> S	Relationship between therapist support & activity limitations (Child Activity Limitations Interview)	Program usage <u>Adolescents</u> 77% of adolescents completed all 8 treatment modules.
by of	Significant association between messages initiated by	Number of logins; M = 24.50 (15.52)
ty:	adolescents and global activity limitation scores. These were in the categories of 'rapport' (β	Number of messages sent; M = 1.23 (1.70)
en /.	=.18, p = .005) and 'treatment content' (β =.17, p = .006).	% complete interactive fields: M = 75.51 (25.66)
v	No relationship between the content of messages sent by parents and activity limitations. $\beta = .0207$, $p > .24$	% complete assignments: M = 89.10 (24.92)
=	Controlled for age gender	81% completed all the assignments
ne set	number of logins and baseline activity limitations scores. Significance set at p < .01.	Higher baseline pain intensity was associated with more frequent use of messaging by adolescents ($r = .38$, $p = .05$).
		Category of message (M, SD): Rapport; 0.42 (.86) Treatment; 0.35 (.89) Technical issue; 0.77 (1.31)
		<u>Parents</u> 54% of parents completed all 8 treatment modules.
		Number of logins; M = 13.65 (9.02)
		Number of messages sent; M = 1.88 (2.63)
		% complete interactive fields: M = 56.94 (27.31)
		% complete assignments: M = 84.07 (26.90)
		62% completed all the assignments
		Category of message (M, SD): Rapport; 0.42 (1.10) Treatment; 0.54 (1.10) Technical issue; 1.62 (2.28)

Differences between action of the second	Headache pain intensity (0-10; 10 = worst pain) Internet CBT (M, SD)ARCS – parent protection Interview (range 0-32) Children are asked to pick 8 activities from a list of 232 Children are asked to pick 8 activities from a list of 232 Pre: 4.37 (2.47) according to which are most difficult due to pain. Importance of each activity is measured on a 5-point scale (Pre: 4.35 (2.15) Pre: 4.35 (2.26) 3-month FU: 3.70 (2.54)ARCS – parent protection (A) SD Pre: 1.46 (.48) Specialised treatment (M, SD) Pre: 6.12 (4.79) Pre: 6.12 (4.71)ARCS – parent protection (A) SD Pre: 1.46 (.48) Specialised treatment (M, SD) Pre: 6.12 (4.73) Pre: 6.12 (4.74)ARCS – parent protection (A) SD Specialised treatment (M, SD) Pre: 6.12 (4.73) Pre: 6.12 (4.74)ARCS – parent protection (A) SD Specialised treatment (M, SD) Pre: 6.12 (4.79) Pre: 6.12 (4.74)ARCS – parent protection (A) SD Specialised treatment (M, SD) Pre: 6.12 (4.74)Pre-Post d = -07 Pre-FU: d = .26Pre: 6.12 (4.74) Pre: 6.12 (4.74)Pre: 6.12 (4.74) Pre: 7.12 (4.74)Pre: 7.16 (M, SD) Pre: 6.12 (4.74) Pre: 7.16 (4.70)Pre-Post d = -07 Pre-FU: d = .26Pre: 6.12 (4.24) Pre: 6.12 (4.24)Pre: 6.12 (4.24) Pre: 7.12 (4.26) (10.33) Pre: 7.14 (4.60)Pre-FU: d = .26Specialised treatment (M, SD) Pre: 7.14 (4.60)Pre: 7.14 (4.76) (5.76) Pre: 7.14 (4.60, 50) Pre: 7.14 (4.60, 50) Pre: 7.14 (4.60, 50) Pre: 7.14 (4.60, 50) Pre: 4.32 (10.31)Pre-FU: d = .04 Pre: 7.19 (4.60, 70)Pre: 4.03 (10.03) Pre: 4.32 (10.31)Pre-FU: d = .04 Pre: 7.19 (4.60, 71)Pre: 7.14 (4.67) Pre: 4.03 (10.06) Pre: 4.33 (10.61)Pre-FU: d =
	Headache pain intensi $10 = worst pain)$ Internet CBT (M, SD)Pre: 4.97 (2.47)Post: 4.13 (2.42)3-month FU: 4.19 (2.4Specialised treatmentPre: 4.35 (2.15)Post: 3.83 (2.26)3-month FU: 3.70 (2.54)Between group differenttime: $F(2, 129) = .59, p$ Effect sizes [group differenttime: $F(2, 129) = .59, p$ Effect sizes [group differentover time!Pre-Post: $d = .07$ Pre-FU: $d = .26$ Clinically significant reentin headache - intensityDefined as 50% reduciheadache intensity fromtreatment to posttreatingpre-treatment to follow(dichotomous).Internet CBT (post): 22improvedInternet CBT (post): 22improvedSpecialised treatment to23.1% improvedSpecialised treatment to23.1% improvedPosttest comparison non-significant; X^2 (1) = .38Headache days (frequeInternet CBT (M, SD)Pre: 5.82 (1.72)Post: 4.63 (2.14)3-month FU: 3.91 (2.33)Between group differentime: $F(2, 134) = .94, p$ Effect sizes [group diffover time!Pre-Post: $d = .40$ Pre-FU: $d = .34$ Clinically significant reein headache - frequenceDefined as 50% reduciheadache days from ptreatment to postiredpre-FU: $d = .34$
	N/A
	See Long and Palermo (2008). Online therapist (assignment assessor for internet CBT) for this study was a postdoctoral fellow with a PhD, experienced in face- to-face CBT for children with chronic pain.
	Not specified in this research paper
	 CBT Social Learning Theory
	Adolescents were randomly allocated to either internet CBT adjunctive to specialized headache treatment alone (<i>n</i> = 39). All patients were new to the specialised treatment program. See description of internet intervention content in Palermo et al. (2009). Participants in the specialised headache treatment only group received medication management (<i>n</i> = 21), psychological therapy [CBT/ biofeedback] (<i>n</i> = 6) and physical therapy (<i>n</i> = 11). Participants in the internet CBT group received medication management (<i>n</i> = 27), psychological therapy [CBT/ biofeedback] (<i>n</i> = 10), and physical therapy [CBT/ biofeedback] (<i>n</i> = 10), and physical therapy [CBT/ biofeedback] (<i>n</i> = 10), and physical therapy (<i>n</i> = 12). Primary outcome assessed was number of headache days via a 7-day online diary (completed pretest and posttest.); diary was also used to assess pain intensity (0-10 NRS), and activity limitations (Child Activity Limitations Interview). Other measures sent by post included: depressive symptoms (CDI), anxiety (revised children's manifest anxiety scale: RCMAS-2 (Reynolds & Richmond, 2008)) and parent protective behaviours (ARCS).
	RCT e
	Chro - head
	N = 83 [adolescent- parent dyads] ^a Age range: 11 to 17 years Age (M) = 14.5 years (SD 1.7) Male: n = 15 Female: n = 68
	USA
	Law et al. (2015)
	Web-MAP

Differences between adolescents t difference in and between ts: *F*(3,48) =

cantly more s (p <.01)

ive responses

<u>(M, SD)</u>

nce over time:

erence over

52)

(<u>M, SD)</u> 5)

nce over time:

erence over

.96)

<u>(M, SD)</u> 90)

nce over time:

erence over

<u>s)</u>

<u>(M, SD)</u>

nce over time:

erence over

						monitor. 53 participants enrolled in the sleep assessment (26 in intervention group; 27 in standalone treatment)					Internet CBT (post): 27.3% improved Internet CBT (FU): 43.2% improved Specialised treatment (post): 17.9% improved Specialised treatment (FU): 25.6% improved Posttest comparison non- significant; X^2 (1) = .90, p = .34 FU comparison non- significant; X^2 (1) = 2.54, p = .11
Web-MAP2	Palermo et al. (2015)	USA & Canada	N = 135 Age range: 11 to 17 years Age (M) = 14.7 years (SD 1.6) Male <i>n</i> = 30 (22.2%) Female <i>n</i> = 105 (77.8%) Intervention group from RCT (Palermo et al., 2016)	Chronic pain (mixed)	Pre-post	Immediate post-test analysis conducted on data from the RCT by Palermo et al. (2016). New paediatric chronic pain patients were recruited over a 3-year period from 14 participating multidisciplinary pain clinics. Random-effects growth mixture models were used to establish pain and functional disability trajectories over the course of 8-weeks internet CBT treatment (see	 CBT Social Learning Theory Family Systems 	Not specified in this research paper	HCP input to original version of intervention is described in Long and Palermo (2008).	N/A	Pain intensity (0-10; 10 = worst pain)Pre (M, SD): 5.72, 2.24Post (M, SD): 4.53, 3.05within-subject change: paired $t(134) = 5.66, p < .001$ Effect size (d) = 0.45 (marked improvement)Trajectories A class 4 solution was the best fit for the data. Data was grouped as follows:No or little improvement; weak trend, linear (n = 84, 62.2%). Pain dropped at a rate of 0.08 units per week (p < .05).

		Pre- FU: d = incomplete
		<u>Sleep efficiency</u> Calculated as the ratio of estimated total sleep time divided by the sleep period. % values closer to 100 indicate more time asleep and less time awake in bed.
		<u>Internet CBT (M, SD)</u> Pre: 75.89 (9.53) Post: 75.79 (12.42)
		<u>Specialised treatment (M, SD)</u> Pre: 76.50 (11.60) Post: 78.33 (9.30)
		Between group difference over time: $F(1, 44) = 1.09$, $p = .30$
		<u>Effect sizes [group difference over</u> <u>time]</u> Pre-Post: d =34 Pre- FU: d = incomplete
		Treatment engagement, satisfaction, acceptability.
		High engagement; average of 7 out of 8 modules completed by adolescents (SD = 1.42); average of 6 out of 8 modules completed by parents (SD = 2.78)
		<u>Posttreatment</u> Satisfaction (1-5) (adolescents): M = 3.6 (.50)
		Satisfaction (1-5) (parents): M = 3.73 (.47)
		Acceptable (1-5) (adolescents): M = 3.38 (.74)
		Acceptable (1-5) (parents): M = 3.89 (.55)
		<u>Follow-up</u> Satisfaction (1-5) (adolescents): M = 3.33 (.59)
		Satisfaction (1-5) (parents): M = 4.18 (.65)
		Acceptable (1-5) (adolescents): M = 3.43 (.63)
		Acceptable (1-5) (parents): M = 3.89 (.65)
	Functional limitations (scale 0- 8 for this analysis)	N/A
J	Pre (M, SD): 3.95, 2.15 Post (M, SD): 2.81, 2.07	
נ	within-subject change: paired $t(100) = 5.40$, $p < .001$	
	Effect size (d) = 0.52 (marked improvement)	
est	<u>Trajectories</u> A class 5 solution was the best fit for functioning data. This was grouped as follows:	

No or little improvement; weak
trend, linear (n = 77, 57.0%).
Pain dropped at a rate of 0.16 units per week (p <.001).

		Palermo et al., 2016).		 17.0%). Pain dropped at a rate of 0.82 units per week (<i>p</i> <.001). Moderate improvement; moderate trend, linear (<i>n</i> = 22, 16.3%). Pain dropped at a rate of 0.46 units per week (<i>p</i> <.001). Upward quadratic trend (<i>n</i> = 6, 4.4%) Baseline pain and pain location were predictive of subsequent intensity ratings. 	Substantial improvement; strong trend, linear ($n = 14$, 10.4%). Disability levels dropped at a rate of 0.63 units per week ($p < .001$). Moderate improvement; moderate trend, linear ($n = 31$, 23.0%). Disability levels dropped at a rate of 0.43 units per week ($p < .001$). Downward quadratic trend ($n = 7, 5.2\%$) Upward quadratic trend ($n = 6$, 4.4%) Baseline functional disability, age, sex, and pain location were predictive of subsequent functioning scores. Pain & functioning changes relative to baseline No differences in rate of change in pain and disability after module 1. Changes in pain and function occur concurrently throughout treatment (see Figure 3 of this research paper).
Web-MAP2 Palermo et al. (2016)	USA & $N = 273$ Chronic pain RCT [adolescent- parent dyads] Adolescents Age range: 11 to 17 years Age (M) = 14.7 years (SD 1.6) Male $n = 68$ (24.9%) Female $n =$ 205 (75.1%) Parents Parent age range/ mean not reported. Female: $n =$ 257 (94.1%)	 New paediatric chronic pain patients were recruited over a 3-year period from 14 participating multidisciplinary pain clinics. Adolescents were randomly assigned to either internet- delivered CBT (<i>n</i> = 138) or internet- delivered education (<i>n</i> = 135). The CBT group received access to the full Web-MAP2 program. The new iteration of the program has five components (1) treatment modules (x8), (2) daily diaries and assessments (3) audio files for relaxation (compass), (4) a progress tracker ('passport'), and (5 message centre for communication with online therapist (standardised manual for therapist reference). Website remained travel themed. Participants were asked to log in to complete 1 module per week (30min each). Skills were also encouraged to be practiced throughout. CBT Social Learnin Theory Family Syster Social Learnin Theory Family Syster Social Learnin Theory Family Syster Social Learnin Theory Family Syster Social Learnin Theory Family Syster Family Syster Family Syster Family Syster Social Learnin Theory Family Syster Family Syster F	Not specified in this research ns Online assignments were reviewed by 5 study coaches, one had a master's degree and 4 were PhD level psychology postdoctoral fellows. All coaches had previous experience in CBT. All coaches supervised by licensed clinical psychologist throughout study. HCP input to original version of intervention is described in Long and Palermo (2008).	Pain intensity (0-10; 10 = worst pain) $CBT (M, SD)$ Pre: 6.23 (1.72) Post: 5.87 (2.05) 6-month FU: 5.85 (1.97)Education (M, SD) Pre: 5.78 (1.94) Post: 5.59 (2.15) 6-month FU: 5.55 (2.02)Between group difference pre- post: b = -0.28, $p = .24$ Between group difference pre-FU: b = -0.30, $p = .07$.	Child Activity Limitations Interview (range 0-32)TInterview (range 0-32)NChildren are asked to pick 8 activities from a list of 21, according to which are most difficult due to pain. Importance of each activity is measured on a 5-point scale $(0-4; 4 = extremely important)$ A $CBT (M, SD)$ Pre: 7.42 (4.52)PPost: 5.68 (4.38) 6-month FU: 5.46 (4.32)BEducation (M, SD) Pre: 7.01 (4.56)PPost: 5.65 (4.69) 6-month FU: 6.16 (5.04)BBetween group difference pre- post: b = -0.43, $p = .39$ BBetween group difference pre- post: b = -1.13, $p = .03^*$, effect size (d) = -0.25ABAPQ - depression (range 0- 30) CBT (M, SD) Pre: 11.31 (4.95) Post: 9.71 (5.10) 6-month FU: 9.48 (0.80) Post: 9.32 (5.37) 6-month FU: 9.49 (5.58)BBetween group difference pre- post: 9.32 (5.37) 6-month FU: 9.49 (5.58)BBetween group difference pre- post: b = -0.59, $p = .04^*$, effect size (d) = -0.09BBetween group difference pre- post: b = -0.93, $p = .08$. BAPQ - anxiety (pain-related) (range 0 to 28)A

Treatment expectancy No significant difference between internet CBT and education groups;

Adolescents: *t*(265) = 1.22, *p* = .23

Parents: t(266) = 0.64, p = .52

<u>Sleep quality (ASWS; range 1-6)</u> <u>CBT (M, SD)</u> Pre: 3.49 (0.80) Post: 3.75 (0.76) 6-month FU: 3.76 (0.80)

<u>Education (M, SD)</u> Pre: 3.63 (0.80) Post: 3.77 (0.84) 6-month FU: 3.76 (0.77)

Between group difference pre-post: b = 0.13, p = .07

Between group difference pre-FU: b = 0.14, $p = .04^*$, effect size (d) = 0.16

ARCS – protect <u>CBT (M, SD)</u> Pre: 1.44 (0.56) Post: 1.05 (0.57) 6-month FU: 1.00 (0.58)

<u>Education (M, SD)</u> Pre: 1.41 (0.62) Post: 1.29 (0.60) 6-month FU: 1.17 (0.63)

Between group difference pre-post: b = -0.26, $p < .001^*$, effect size (d) = -0.49

Between group difference pre-FU: b = -0.19, p = .001, effect size (d) = -0.40

<u>ARCS – minimise</u> <u>CBT (M, SD)</u> Pre: 0.96 (0.51)

Adolescent program was separate from parent version. Adolescent modules: (1) chronic pain education, (2) recognizing stress and negative emotions, (3) deep breathing and relaxation, (4) implementing coping skills at school, (5) cognitive skills, (6) sleep hygiene and lifestyle, (7) staying active, and (8) relapse prevention. Parent modules: (1) education about chronic pain, (2) recognizing stress and negative emotions, (3) operant strategies i (4) operant strategies ii, (5) modelling, (6) sleep hygiene and lifestyle, (7) communication. and (8) relapse prevention. Message centre allowed communication between participants and coach about weekly assignments however participants could also initiate messages as needed. Control version contained: (1) modules with information from publicly available educational web sites about pediatric chronic pain management (e.g. National Headache Foundation), and (2) diarv and assessments. Measures were assessed at pretreatment, posttreatment and 6-. month follow-up. All data was collected online. All participants completed a pretreatment measure of expectancy (10 questions, 5-point scales). The primary outcome was activity limitations (Child Activity Limitations Interview - diary). Secondary outcomes included pain intensity (0-10 NRS). Emotional functioning was measured using the

<u>CBT (M, SD)</u> Pre: 13.79 (6.04) Post: 10.56 (5.91) 6-month FU: 10.35 (6.12)

Education (M, SD) Pre: 12.66 (5.28) Post: 10.85 (6.10) 6-month FU: 10.23 (5.45)

Between group difference prepost: b = -1.33, $p = .04^*$, effect size (d) = -0.13

Between group difference pre-FU: b = -0.89, p = .17).

*Statistical significance at p <.05

Post: 0.95 (0.47) 6-month FU: 0.95 (0.49)

<u>Education (M, SD)</u> Pre: 0.99 (0.65) Post: 0.99 (0.68) 6-month FU: 0.97 (0.68)

Between group difference pre-post: b = -0.02, p = .79

Between group difference pre-FU: b = 0.06, p = .93

ARCS - distract <u>CBT (M, SD)</u> Pre: 2.74 (0.56) Post: 2.46 (0.68 6-month FU: 2.39 (0.71)

<u>Education (M, SD)</u> Pre: 2.69 (0.61) Post: 2.51 (0.63) 6-month FU: 2.47 (0.67)

Between group difference pre-post: b = -0.09, p = .16

Between group difference pre-FU: b = -0.13, p = .06

<u>HHI-pain (child)</u> <u>CBT (M, SD)</u> Pre: 33.86 (9.86) Post: 31.41 (8.30) 6-month FU: 31.69 (9.26)

Education (M, SD) Pre: 33.52 (9.41) Post: 34.24 (9.10) 6-month FU: 34.13 (8.83)

Between group difference pre-post: b = -3.06, $p = .002^*$, effect size (d) = -0.30

Between group difference pre-FU: b = -2.66, $p = .007^*$, effect size (d) = -0.26

HHI-pain (parent) <u>CBT (M, SD)</u> Pre: 32.99 (8.57) Post: 31.64 (9.04) 6-month FU: 31.52 (9.08)

<u>Education (M, SD)</u> Pre: 33.01 (9.48) Post: 33.38 (9.20) 6-month FU: 33.12 (9.10)

Between group difference pre-post: b = -1.59, p = .08

Between group difference pre-FU: b = -1.52, p = .09

BAPQ-PIQ (impact of parenting a child with pain) Treatment produced many positive changes in parent pain-related impact. These included:

Anxiety symptomatology; pre- FU: b = -1.37, p =.02*, effect size (d) = -0.39 [no significant effect pre-post]

Depressive symptomatology; prepost: b = -1.44, $p = .05^*$, effect size (d) = 0.27. This effect increased over time. Pre-FU: b =-2.25, p =.002*, effect size (d) =0.44

Bath Adolescent pain Questionnaire (BAPQ) - painrelated anxiety and depression subscales (Eccleston et al., 2005). Sleep quality was measured using the adolescent sleep wake scale (ASWS (LeBourgeois et al., 2005)). ARCS parental response to pain behaviour; protect minimise and distract scales used (full measure), and miscarried helping (HHI-Pain - child & parents report (Harris et al., 2008)) were assessed. Treatment acceptability, satisfaction and engagement (TEI-SF (Kelley et al., 1989)) was also evaluated.

Behaviour responses to adolescent pain; pre-post: b = -2.55, $p = .001^*$, effect size (d) = -0.45 [not maintained at follow-up]

Reduction in self-blame; pre-post: b = -1.72, $p = .03^*$, effect size (d) = 0.31. Pre-FU; b = -2.24, $p - .003^*$, effect size (d) = -0.34

*Statistical significance at p < .05

Treatment acceptability & satisfaction (TEI-SF) (score range: 9 -45) Moderate satisfaction and acceptability overall for the education group.

Posttreatment: youth: M = 29.9, SD = 5.0; parent: M = 30.2, SD = 4.9

Follow-up: youth, M = 29.7, SD = 5.9; parent, M = 29.6, SD = 6.0

There was significantly higher acceptability and satisfaction in the CBT group;

Posttreatment: youth: M = 32.2, SD = 4.7, t(253) = 3.84, p < .001; parent: M = 33.0, SD = 4.5, t(254) = 4.89, p <.001

Follow-up: youth: M = 31.9, SD = 4.9, t(246) = 3.25, p < .001; parent: M = 32.8, SD = 5.2, t(243) = 4.48, p < .001

Satisfaction (website) Moderate satisfaction overall.

Adolescents in the CBT group rated higher preference for the appearance of the program, the theme, and rated the overall usefulness as higher. Results were similar for parent groups.

Adolescents – appearance; CBT: M = 4.1, SD = 0.8 vs education: M = 3.8, SD = 1.0, *t*(252) = 2.31, *p* = .02

Adolescents – theme; CBT: M = 4.2, SD = 1.0 vs education: M = 3.9, SD = 1.1, t(255) = 2.60, p = .01

Adolescents – usefulness; CBT: M = 4.1, SD = 0.8 vs education: M = 3.8, SD = 1.0, t(253) = 2.13, p = .03

Parents – appearance; CBT: M = 4.4, SD = 0.7 vs education: M = 4.1, SD = 0.8, t(251) = 3.89, p < .0001

Parents– theme; CBT: M = 4.3, SD = 0.9 vs education: M = 4.0, SD = 0.9, *t*(252) = 2.95, *p* = .003

Parents – usefulness; CBT: M = 4.5, SD = 0.7 vs education: M = 4.0, SD = 0.9, t(245) = 4.46, *p* < .0001

Engagement

Participants completed an average of 7 to 8 modules in both groups (high engagement) – this includes adolescents and parents.

67% of families in the CBT group completed all modules.

													group completed all modules.
Web-MAP2	Fisher et al. (2017)	USA & Canada	N = 122 [adolescent- parent dyads] ^a Age range = 11 to 17 years Age (M) = 14.6 years (SD = 1.6) Male: 21.7% Female: 78.3 % Intervention group from RCT (Palermo et al., 2016)	Chronic pain (mixed)	Pre-post	Secondary analysis conducted on data from the RCT by Palermo et al. (2016). Adolescents and parents from the CBT arm of the study selected two treatment goals each. These were selected in the web- based program: " Here is a list of activities that you said are difficult for you because of pain. Read through this list and pick two activities that you would like to try and do more of during this program." A similar statement was given to parents on their version of the website, regarding activities they would like their child to increase. Pain intensity and functioning were measured at baseline, posttest, 6 and 12-month follow- up; dyads that agreed on goals were compared to dyads that no agreement in this analysis. To measure goal agreement, a dichotomous variable was created; 'in agreement' was categorized as those who has one or matching goal, and 'no agreement' was coded for those who had no matching goals. Goals had three categories; active, routine and other activities – the other activities category was highly heterogeneous and hence excluded from the analyses. Three final groups were thereby created: 1. agreement on (physically) active treatment goals; 2. agreement on (physically) active treatment goals; 3. no agreement.	 CBT Social Learning Theory Family Systems 	Not specified in this research paper.	HCP input to original version of intervention is described in Long and Palermo (2008).	N/A	Pain intensity (0-10; 10 = worst pain)Comparisons made between dyads who agreed on goals verses no agreement.Dyads that had agreement on any goal reported significantly reduced pain at each time point, compared to those with no agreement.Posttreatment: $F(1,88) = 8.00$, $n^2 = 0.08$, $p = .006$ Agreement M = 5.59, SD = 2.05; No agreement M = 6.64, SD = 1.736-month FU: $F(1,88) = 5.15$, n^2 $= 0.55$, $p = .026$ Agreement M = 5.58, SD = 1.98; No agreement M = 6.43, SD = 1.62and 12-month FU: $F(1,88) =$ 4.94, $n^2 = 0.05$, $p = .029$ Agreement M = 5.52, SD = 1.91; No agreement M = 6.40, SD = 1.73Baseline pain levels used as covariate.Routine verses active goals MANCOVAs used to investigate whether goal type (routine/ active) were associated with pain intensity.Significantly reduced pain intensity was found in dyads that agreed on active treatment goals compared to those who agreed on routine goals and those who had no agreement at posttest; $F(2,84) = 4.95$, $n^2 = 0.11$, $p = .009$ Significantly reduced pain intensity was found in dyads that agreed on active treatment goals compared to those who had no agreement an 6 and 12-month follow-up;6-month FU: $F(2,84) = 3.56$, $n^2 = 0.08$, $p = .033$ 12-month FU: $F(2,84) = 3.56$, $n^2 = 0.08$, $p = .032$ Baseline pain levels controlled for.	Child Activity Limitations Interview (range 0-32)Children are asked to pick 8 activities from a list of 21, according to which are most difficult due to pain. Importance of each activity is measured on a 5-point scale $(0-4; 4 = extremely important)$ Comparisons made between dyads who agreed on goals verses no agreement.Dyads that had goal agreement did not differ in functioning scores at any time point, compared to those with no agreement.Posttreatment: $F(1,102) =$ $3.40, n^2 = 0.03, p = .068Agreement M = 5.11, SD =3.92;No agreement M = 6.50, SD =4.746-month FU: F(1,102) = 3.23,n^2 = 0.03, p = .075Agreement M = 4.90, SD =4.27;No agreement M = 6.11,SD = 4.30and 12-month FU: F(1,102) =0.24, n^2 < 0.01, p = .623Agreement M = 4.50, SD =4.11;No agreement M = 4.86, SD =3.86Baseline functioning used ascovariate.Routine verses active goalsMANCOVAs used toinvestigate whether goal type(routine/ active) wereassociated with levels offunctioning.Improved functioning wasfound in dyads that agreed onan active treatment goalcompared to dyads that hadno agreement. This effect wasonly significant at 6-monthfollow-up;F(2,97) = 3.07, n2 = 0.06, p =.051MANCOVAs at posttest and12-month follow-up were notsignificant at 6-monthfollow-up;F(2,97) = 3.07, n2 = 0.06, p =.051MANCOVAs at posttest and12-month follow-up wer$	group completed all modules. Treatment goal concordance Overall moderate agreement of goals (at least 1 goal) within the sample; K = .520, <i>p</i> <.001. However, there was little agreement on two matching treatment goals; K =008, <i>p</i> =.720 Goal agreement (n (%)) No agreement on one or more goals: 74 (61) Agreement on active goals: 28 (23) Agreement on other goals: 5 (4) Most frequently selected goal by adolescents and parents was 'going to school', followed by 'sports' for adolescents, and 'sleep' for parents.
Web-MAP2	Law et al. (2018)	USA	N = 228 [adolescent-	Chronic pain (mixed)	RCT	Secondary data analysis examining	CBT Social Learning	Not specified in this	HCP input to original version of intervention	N/A	N/A	controlled for. N/A	Health Care Cost Outcomes (USD \$: M, (SD))

	Canadian participant s were removed from this analysis.	parent dyads] ^a Age range: 11 to 17 years Age (M) = 14.7 years (SD = 1.7) Male: 25.1% Female: 74.9%	[Secondar y data analysis (Palermo et al., 2016)]	adolescent participation in the RCT of Web-Map2 on longitudinal health care costs. The intervention and procedure for the main study is provided in Palermo et al. (2016). This study analysed 112 participants from the CBT internet treatment group, and 116 participants from the parallel internet education group (EDU). Health care cost outcomes were measured at pre- treatment and 12- month follow-up using the Client Service Receipt Inventory; this is a parent report measure of health care costs over 12 months retrospectively, Analyses were broken down into direct medical costs, direct non-medical costs (i.e. out-of- pocket expenses) and indirect costs (i.e. productivity loco)	Family Systems	research paper.	is described in Long and Palermo (2008).		
Web-MAP2 Cher (201	n et al. USA & 9) Canada	N = 123 [adolescent- parent dyads]aChronic p (mixed)Age range: 11 to 17 yearsAge range: 14.7 years (SD = 1.6)Male, n(%) = 26 (21.1)Eemale, n (%) = 97 (78.9)	pain RCT (interventi on group only) [Secondar y data analysis (Palermo et al., 2016)]	Textual and visual analytic approach to investigate participant engagement with Web-MAP2. Data analysis focused on understanding the content of messages between coaches and participants. Topic modelling (Latent Dirichlet Allocation within the MAchine Learning for LanguagE Toolkit (MALLET)) was used to identify topics discussed, followed by cluster analysis, using the Communication History Analysis Interface (CHAI, via Python), to identify subgroups of participants with similarities. Clusters are compared using ANOVAs and Chi- squared where appropriate. Comparisons include number of messages, message length, module completion rates, and percentage of interactive fields completed.	 CBT Social Learning Theory Family Systems 	Not specified in this research paper.	HCP input to original version of intervention is described in Long and Palermo (2008). All assignments throughout the study were reviewed by 1 of 5 coaches. Coaches used the message centre to provide participants with feedback on behavioural tasks throughout the study. Adolescents and parents could also initiate conversations. A manual was used to standardise messages and coaches were supervised by a licenced clinical psychologist.	/Α	N/A

The reduction in total costs was not statistically different between the CBT group and the EDU group (b = .77, p= .32, 95%CI = .46–1.29)

<u>Direct medical costs</u> CBT (pre): 12,291 (17,566) CBT (12mnth FU): 10,529 (20,383)

EDU (pre): 9,965 (9,841) EDU (12mnth FU): 7,743 (13,358)

No significant difference between groups in change in costs over time: (b = .84, p = .50, 95%Cl = .51-1.39)

<u>Direct non-medical costs</u> CBT (pre): 929 (2,732) CBT (12mnth FU): 815 (2,518)

EDU (pre): 1,397 (4,546) EDU (12mnth FU): 1,048 (5,899)

No significant difference between groups in change in costs over time: (b = .45, p = .09, 95%CI = .18-1.12)

<u>Indirect costs</u> CBT (pre): 3,791 (13,071) CBT (12mnth FU): 2,487 (9,748)

EDU (pre): 4,543 (13,310) EDU (12mnth FU): 1,518 (4,391)

No significant difference between groups in change in costs over time: (b = .36, p = .07, 95%CI = .12-1.07)

Message data (n) All messages = 3426 Coaches = 2692 Parents = 347 Adolescents = 387 Topic modelling 15-topic solution chosen to establish a balance between topic diversity and ease of interpretability. See original paper for quoted examples of each topic & visualisations. Coaches: Topics and themes identified: Theme 1: Treatment content Topics (and proportion of messages assigned, %): 1. reinforcing behaviours in parents (4.6) 2. relaxation skills (3.8) 3. working toward goals (8.9)
 6. encouraging parents to share their coping strategies (4.3) 8. thought replacement/ stopping (6.9) 10. encouragement and strategies of how to utilise the program (7.4)12. lifestyle changes (8.7) 13. touching base on progress (8.2) Theme 2: Administrative and Technical Topics: 5. reminders to complete the webbased diary (10.3) 7. responding to questions and information about assignments (7.5)

N/A

Demographic variables were also compared by cluster using ANOVA and Fisher Exact tests. This study excluded 15 participants from the original CBT intervention group (n = 138) who did not send any messages. 1 participant was excluded as they "did not meet the eligibility criteria for the main study".

9. first greeting and general instructions (11.2) 11. introduction to Web-MAP2 and general instructions (5.4) Theme 3: Rapport building Topics: 4. responding to participants descriptions of activities, interests, family (8.0) 14. expressing empathy, followed by constructive feedback (3.2) 15: asking for updates about life and general treatment progress (1.6) Adolescents and parents: Topics and themes identified: Theme 1: Health Management and Treatment Content Topics (and proportion of messages assigned, %): 3. progress in learning pain and stress management techniques (11.8) 4. pain (16.1) 5. medications, nutrients and lab results (0.5) 11. rewards system, coping and achieving goals (3.3) 14. fatigues, sleep, relaxation techniques (4.6) Theme 2: Questions and concerns Topics: 1. references to assignments (13.6) 2. suggestions (2.2) 8. questions (3.8) Theme 3: Activities and interests Topics: 15. fun with friends and family (16.6) 6. creative arts (3.3) 7. music, sports and school (1.5) 10. drama and reading 2.4) 13. trips (1.9) Theme 4: Other topics: 9. family (2.2) 12. time (16.6) Cluster analysis k-means clustering: 4-cluster solution See original paper for visualisation. Cluster 1: assignment focused (n = 16) Cluster 2: short-message histories (n = 62) Cluster 3: Pain-focused (n = 20)Cluster 4: Activity focused (n = 25) There were statistically significant differences in participation and demographic variables betweenclusters for: adolescent age, F(3, 119) = • 3.1, p = .03number of messages (adolescents), F(3, 119) =16.2, p < .001 number of messages (parents), •

- F(3, 119) = 8.7, p < .001module completion rate (adolescents), F(3, 119) = 2.8, p = .05
- interactive fields completed (adolescents), F(3, 119) = 3.8, p = .01

Web-MAP2	Murray et al. (2019)	USA & Canada	N = 273 [adolescent- parent dyads] ^a Age range = 11 to 17 years Age (M) = 14.71 years (SD = 1.62) Male = 24.9% Female = 75.1%	Chronic pain (mixed)	RCT [Secondar y data analysis (Palermo et al., 2016)]	This study aimed to identify individual characteristics for which CBT yielded the greatest clinical benefit among adolescents participating in the Web-MAP2 trial at 12-month follow up. Note that the original trial reported 6- month follow-up (Palermo et al., 2016). Intervention group (CBT), n = 138 dyads allocated. Control group (pain education), n = 135 dyads allocated. Final sample consisted of 269 dyads; CBT n = 134, pain education n = 135. Multilevel growth modelling (MLM), guided by the Fournier Approach, was used to test adolescent- and parent-level moderators and 'general predictors' of change in pain- related disability (primary outcome). Adolescent moderators: adolescent age, sex, pain intensity (NRS 0 to 10), emotional distress (BAPQ), and sleep quality (ASWS). Parent moderators: 2) parent education level, and protective parenting behaviour (ARCS). Separate multilevel models were developed for each domain of functional disability. Effect sizes presented using Cohen's ds (d = .20, d = .50, and d = .80 are interpreted as small, moderate, and large effects). Posts- were performed for the most complex model.	 CBT Social Learning Theory Family Systems 	Not specified in this research paper.	HCP input to original version of intervention is described in Long and Palermo (2008).	N/A	N/A

Engagement <u>Modules completed, M (SD)</u> Adolescents = 7.5 (1.3) Parents = 7.3 (1.5)

Interactive fields completed, M(SD) Adolescents = 79.6 (15.4) Parents = 72.8 (19.6)

Predictors and moderators of changes in disability

Only slopes that reached significance in Step 4 are reported.

 $\label{eq:pre-6-month slopes} \\ \hline \underline{Child-level \ model} \\ \hline Treatment X \ Time: \ b = 2.29 \ , t = 3.13, \ p = .002 \\ \hline Pain \ intensity X \ Time: \ b = -1.16, \ t = -4.41, \ p < .001 \\ \hline Sleep \ Quality X \ Time: \ b = -.52 \ , t = -1.94 \ , \ p = .052 \\ \hline Adolescent \ age X \ time: \ b = 1.55, \ t = 2.15, \ p = .032 \\ \hline Adolescent \ age X \ Treatment X \\ \hline Time: \ b = -2.82, \ t = 2.81, \ p = .005 \\ \hline \end{array}$

Parent-level model

Treatment X Time: b = 1.16, t = 2.18, p = .030Distress X Time: b = .79, t = 1.71, p = .087Distress X Treatment X Time: b = -.69, t = 2.18, p = .261

<u>Combined (final) model</u> Treatment X Time: b = 2.29, t =

Treatment X Time: b = 2.29, t = 3.13, p = .002Pain intensity X Time: b = -1.22, t = -4.65, p < .001Sleep Quality X Time: b = -46, t = -1.76, p = .079Adolescent age X time: b = 1.39, t = 1.94, p = .053Distress (parent) X Time: b = .79, t = -1.79, p = .074Adolescent age X Treatment X Time: b = -2.85, t = 2.77, p = .006Distress (parent) X Treatment X Time: b = -.42, t = -.70, p = .486

Pre- to 12-month slopes Child-level model Treatment X Time: b = 1.36, t = 1.86, p = .063Pain intensity X Time: b = - 1.73, t = -6.62, *p* < .001 Sleep Quality X Time: b = -.83, t = -3.12, *p* = .002 Adolescent age X time: b = 1.75, t = 2.42, p = .016Adolescent age X Treatment X Time: b = -2.13, t = -2.06, p = .040Parent-level model Treatment X Time: b = .90, t = 1.69, p = .092Distress X Time: b = 1.47, t = 3.19,p = .001Distress X Treatment X Time: b = -1.25, t = -2.02, p = .044 Combined (final) model Treatment X Time: b = 1.40, t = 1.93, p = .054Pain intensity X Time: b = -1.84, t = -7.04, p < .001Sleep Quality X Time: b = -2.86, t = -7.04, p = .004

Adolescent age X time: b = 1.60, t = 2.20, p = .028

<u>Pain-related disability</u> <u>Pre-treatment:</u> CBT: M= 7.4, SD = 4.4; Education: M= 7.0; SD = 4.6

 $\frac{6\text{-month follow-up}}{\text{CBT: } M= 5.5, \text{ SD} = 4.3;}$ Education: M= 6.2, SD = 5.0

Adolescents in the CBT group achieved statistically greater reductions in disability than the education group from pretreatment to 6-month follow-up (b = 2.29, p = .002, d = -.25)

Clinical significance: CBT group; 27.2% improved or recovered, education group; 21.8 % (X^2 (2) = 1.36, p = .507)

 $\frac{12\text{-month follow-up}}{\text{CBT: M= 5.0, SD = 4.3}}$ Education: M= 5.3, SD = 4.5

There were not significant differences in disability from pre-treatment to 12-month follow-up (b = 1.40, p = .054, d = -.16)

Clinical significance: CBT group; 35.0% improved or recovered, education group; 27.3 % (X² (2) = 2.27, p = .321)

^a Age and sex of parents (within adolescent-parent dyads) was not reported in this paper

Distress (parent) X Time: b = 1.57, t = 3.53, p <. 001 Adolescent age X Treatment X Time: b = -2.07, t = -2.02, p = .044Distress (parent) X Treatment X Time: b = -1.20, t = -2.00, p =.046

Post-hoc analyses of significant moderators

Adolescent age X treatment X time

CBT was associated with improvements in disability only for younger adolescents (aged 11-14 years) and not for older adolescents (aged 15-17 years) [see Figure 2. in original paper].

Younger adolescents

Pre- 6months: CBT: b = -2.92, SE = .51, *p* < .001; Education: b = -.46, SE = .53, p = .388

t[755] = -4.84, *p* < .001 effect size (d) = -.50

Pre- 12months:

CBT: b = -3.34, SE = .51 p < .001; Education: b = -1.81, SE = .53, p = .001

t[755] = -3.10, *p* = .001 effect size (d) = -.20

Older adolescents Pre- 6months:

t[755] = -.73, *p* = .234, effect size (d) = .01

Pre- 12months: t[755] = -.47, p = .320,effect size (d) = .04

Parent distress X treatment X time

CBT was associated with significant improvements in disability at 12month follow-up only where parents had low levels of distress at pretreatment [see Figure 3. in original paper].

Low parent distress Pre-12months: CBT: b= -4.15, SE = .62, *p* < .001 Education: b = -2.07, SE = .47, p = .001

t[755] = 2.79, p = .003,effect size (d) = -.45

<u>High parent distress</u> **Pre- 12months:** t [755] = .78, p = .219, effect size (d) = -.09

Supplementary Table 3. Criteria for Reporting the Development and Evaluation of Complex Interventions in healthcare: revised guideline (CReDECI 2). Checklist for 13 identified interventions

Aim To Decrease Anxiety and Pain Treatment (ADAPT)	
Item	Reported on page or in publication
First stage: Development	
 Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis 	Cunningham et al. (2018), pp. 2
2. Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions	Cunningham et al. (2018), pp. 3, 13
3. Illustration of any intended interactions between different components	Cunningham et al. (2018), pp. 3
4. Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling	Cunningham et al. (2018), pp. 2
Second stage: Feasibility and piloting	
5. Description of the pilot test and its impact on the definite intervention	Cunningham et al. (2018)
Third stage: Evaluation	
6. Description of the control condition (comparator) and reasons for the selection	Not reported
7. Description of the strategy for delivering the intervention within the study context	Not reported
8. Description of all materials or tools used delivery the intervention	Not reported
9. Description of fidelity of the delivery process compared the study protocol	Not reported
10. Description of a process evaluation and its underlying theoretical basis	Not reported
11. Description of internal facilitators and barriers potentially influencing the delivery of the intervention as revealed by the process evaluation	Not reported
12. Description of external conditions or factors occurring during the study which might have influenced the delivery of the intervention or mode of action (how it works)	Not reported
13. Description of costs or required resources for the delivery of the intervention	Not reported
Internet CBT for children with pain-related gastrointest	inal disorders (no specific name)
Item	Reported on page or in publication
First stage: Development	
1. Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis	Bonnert et al. (2014), pp. 142
2. Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions	Lalouni et al. (2017)
3. Illustration of any intended interactions between	Lalouni et al. (2017)

4. Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling

Lalouni et al. (2017), pp. 2

Second stage: Feasibility and piloting

5. Description of the pilot test and its impact on the
definite interventionBonnert et al. (2019);Lalouni et al.
(2017); Bonnert et al. (2014)

Third stage: Evaluation

different components

6. Description of the control condition (comparator) and Bonnert et al. (2016), pp. 153 reasons for the selection

7. Description of the strategy for delivering the intervention Bonnert et al. (2016), pp. 153 within the study context

8. Description of all materials or tools used delivery the intervention	Bonnert et al. (2016), pp. 153-154
9. Description of fidelity of the delivery process compared the study protocol	Bonnert et al. (2016), pp. 154, 156
10. Description of a process evaluation and its underlying theoretical basis	Not reported
11. Description of internal facilitators and barriers potentially influencing the delivery of the intervention as revealed by the process evaluation	Not reported
12. Description of external conditions or factors occurring during the study which might have influenced the delivery of the intervention or mode of action (how it works)	Bonnert et al. (2016), pp. 160
13. Description of costs or required resources for the delivery of the intervention	Lalouni et al. (2019); Sampaio et al. (2019)
Customized CBT for adolescents with pain and emotion	al distress (no specific name)
Item	Reported on page or in publication
First stage: Development	
1. Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis	Flink et al. (2016), pp. 43-44
2. Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions	Flink et al. (2016), pp.44-46
3. Illustration of any intended interactions between different components	Flink et al. (2016), pp.44-45
4. Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling	Flink et al. (2016), pp.44
Second stage: Feasibility and piloting	
5. Description of the pilot test and its impact on the definite intervention	Flink et al. (2016)
Third stage: Evaluation	
6. Description of the control condition (comparator) and reasons for the selection	Not reported
7. Description of the strategy for delivering the intervention within the study context	Not reported
8. Description of all materials or tools used delivery the intervention	Not reported
9. Description of fidelity of the delivery process compared the study protocol	Not reported
10. Description of a process evaluation and its underlying theoretical basis	Not reported
11. Description of internal facilitators and barriers potentially influencing the delivery of the intervention as revealed by the process evaluation	Not reported
12. Description of external conditions or factors occurring during the study which might have influenced the delivery of the intervention or mode of action (how it works)	Not reported
13. Description of costs or required resources for the delivery of the intervention	Not reported

DARWeb

ltem

Reported on page or in publication

First stage: Development

1. Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical Nieto et al. (2015), pp. 494 basis

2. Description of all intervention components,	Nieto et al. (2015), pp. 494-495
including the reasons for their selection as well as their	
aims / essential functions	

3. Illustration of any intended interactions between
different componentsNieto et al. (2015), pp. 494-495

4. Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling

Nieto et al. (2015), pp. 494

Second stage: Feasibility and piloting	
Second stage. Feasibility and photing	
5. Description of the pilot test and its impact on the definite intervention	Nieto et al. (2015)
Third stage: Evaluation	
6. Description of the control condition (comparator) and reasons for the selection	Not reported
7. Description of the strategy for delivering the intervention within the study context	Nieto et al. (2019), pp. 1513-1514
8. Description of all materials or tools used delivery the intervention	Nieto et al. (2019), pp. 1514
9. Description of fidelity of the delivery process compared the study protocol	Not reported
10. Description of a process evaluation and its underlying theoretical basis	Not reported
11. Description of internal facilitators and barriers potentially influencing the delivery of the intervention as revealed by the process evaluation	Not reported
12. Description of external conditions or factors occurring during the study which might have influenced the delivery of the intervention or mode of action (how it works)	Not reported
13. Description of costs or required resources for the delivery of the intervention	Not reported
Rheumates@Work	
ltem	Reported on page or in publication
First stage: Development	
1. Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis	Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3
 Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions 	Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-6
 Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions Illustration of any intended interactions between different components 	Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-6 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-5
 Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions Illustration of any intended interactions between different components Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling 	Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-6 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-5 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 2
 Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions Illustration of any intended interactions between different components Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling Second stage: Feasibility and piloting 	Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-6 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-5 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 2
 Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions Illustration of any intended interactions between different components Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling Second stage: Feasibility and piloting Description of the pilot test and its impact on the definite intervention 	Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-6 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-5 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 2 Armbrust et al. (2015)
 Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions Illustration of any intended interactions between different components Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling Second stage: Feasibility and piloting Description of the pilot test and its impact on the definite intervention 	Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-6 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-5 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 2 Armbrust et al. (2015)
 Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions Illustration of any intended interactions between different components Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling Description of the pilot test and its impact on the definite intervention Third stage: Evaluation Description of the control condition (comparator) and reasons for the selection 	Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-6 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-5 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 2 Armbrust et al. (2015) Lelieveld et al. (2010), pp. 698
 Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions Illustration of any intended interactions between different components Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling Second stage: Feasibility and piloting Description of the pilot test and its impact on the definite intervention Third stage: Evaluation Description of the control condition (comparator) and reasons for the selection Description of the strategy for delivering the intervention within the study context 	Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-6 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-5 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 2 Armbrust et al. (2015) Lelieveld et al. (2010), pp. 698 Lelieveld et al. (2010), pp. 698-699
 Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions Illustration of any intended interactions between different components Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling Second stage: Feasibility and piloting Description of the pilot test and its impact on the definite intervention Third stage: Evaluation Description of the control condition (comparator) and reasons for the selection Description of all materials or tools used delivery the intervention 	Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-6 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 3-5 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 2 Armbrust et al. (2015), pp. 2 Lelieveld et al. (2010), pp. 698 Lelieveld et al. (2010), pp. 698-699 Lelieveld et al. (2010), pp. 698-699

10. Description of a process evaluation and its underlying Not reported theoretical basis

11. Description of internal facilitators and barriers potentially influencing the delivery of the intervention as revealed by the process evaluation

12. Description of external conditions or factors occurring during the study which might have influenced the delivery of the intervention or mode of action (how it works)

13. Description of costs or required resources for the delivery of the intervention

Not reported

Not reported

Move It Now - guided interactive internet	CBT for adolescents with chronic pain
---	---------------------------------------

ltem

Reported on page or in publication

First stage: Development

the study protocol

1. Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis	Voerman et al. (2015), pp. 1115- 1116
2. Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions	Voerman et al. (2015), pp. 1117- 1118
3. Illustration of any intended interactions between different components	Voerman et al. (2015), pp. 1117- 1118
4. Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling	Voerman et al. (2015), pp. 1116
Second stage: Feasibility and piloting	
5. Description of the pilot test and its impact on the definite intervention	Voerman et al. (2015)
Third stage: Evaluation	
6. Description of the control condition (comparator) and reasons for the selection	Not reported
7. Description of the strategy for delivering the intervention within the study context	Not reported
8. Description of all materials or tools used delivery the intervention	Not reported
9. Description of fidelity of the delivery process compared the study protocol	Voerman et al. (2015), pp. 1117
10. Description of a process evaluation and its underlying theoretical basis	Not reported
11. Description of internal facilitators and barriers potentially influencing the delivery of the intervention as revealed by the process evaluation	Not reported
12. Description of external conditions or factors occurring during the study which might have influenced the delivery of the intervention or mode of action (how it works)	Not reported
13. Description of costs or required resources for the delivery of the intervention	Not reported
iCanCope with Pain™	
Item	Reported on page or in publication
First stage: Development	
1. Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis	Stinson et al. (2014)
2. Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions	Stinson et al. (2014)
3. Illustration of any intended interactions between different components	Stinson et al. (2014), pp.261
4. Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling	Stinson et al. (2014)
Second stage: Feasibility and piloting	
5. Description of the pilot test and its impact on the	Lalloo et al. (2019)
definite intervention	

Third stage: Evaluation

6. Description of the control condition (comparator) and Lalloo et al. (2019), pp. 3 reasons for the selection

7. Description of the strategy for delivering the intervention Lalloo et al. (2019), pp. 3 within the study context

8. Description of all materials or tools used delivery the Lalloo et al. (2019), pp. 3-4 intervention

9. Description of fidelity of the delivery process compared Not reported the study protocol

10. Description of a process evaluation and its underlying Not reported theoretical basis

11. Description of internal facilitators and barriers	Not reported
potentially influencing the delivery of the intervention as revealed by the process evaluation	
12. Description of external conditions or factors occurring during the study which might have influenced the delivery of the intervention or mode of action (how it works)	Lalloo et al. (2019), pp. 10-11
13. Description of costs or required resources for the delivery of the intervention	Not reported
Interactive website for dysmenorrhea (no specific name	
Item	Reported on page or in publication
First stage: Development	
1. Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis	Yeh et al. (2013), pp. 2
2. Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions	Yeh et al. (2013), pp. 2-3
3. Illustration of any intended interactions between different components	Yeh et al. (2013), pp. 2-3
4. Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling	Yeh et al. (2013), pp. 2
Second stage: Feasibility and piloting	
5. Description of the pilot test and its impact on the definite intervention	Not reported
Third stage: Evaluation	
6. Description of the control condition (comparator) and reasons for the selection	Yeh et al. (2013), pp. 2
7. Description of the strategy for delivering the intervention within the study context	Not reported
8. Description of all materials or tools used delivery the intervention	Yeh et al. (2013), pp. 2-3
9. Description of fidelity of the delivery process compared the study protocol	Yeh et al. (2013), pp. 3-4
10. Description of a process evaluation and its underlying theoretical basis	Not reported
11. Description of internal facilitators and barriers potentially influencing the delivery of the intervention as revealed by the process evaluation	Not reported
12. Description of external conditions or factors occurring during the study which might have influenced the delivery of the intervention or mode of action (how it works)	Not reported
13. Description of costs or required resources for the delivery of the intervention	Not reported
Prototype website for web-based skills training for adol name)	escents with migraine (no specific
Item	
First stars, Development	Reported on page or in publication
First stage: Development	Reported on page or in publication

2. Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions

3. Illustration of any intended interactions between different components Donovan et al. (2013), pp. 667-668

4. Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling

Second stage: Feasibility and piloting

5. Description of the pilot test and its impact on the definite intervention

Donovan et al. (2013)

Donovan et al. (2013), pp. 667-668

Donovan et al. (2013), pp. 667

Third stage: Evaluation

basis

Description of the control condition (comparator) and reasons for the selection	Not reported
7. Description of the strategy for delivering the intervention within the study context	Not reported
8. Description of all materials or tools used delivery the intervention	Not reported
9. Description of fidelity of the delivery process compared the study protocol	Not reported
10. Description of a process evaluation and its underlying theoretical basis	Not reported
11. Description of internal facilitators and barriers potentially influencing the delivery of the intervention as revealed by the process evaluation	Not reported
12. Description of external conditions or factors occurring during the study which might have influenced the delivery of the intervention or mode of action (how it works)	Not reported
13. Description of costs or required resources for the delivery of the intervention	Not reported

65 | Page

	Poported on page or in publication
Rem First stage: Dovelopment	Reported on page or in publication
First stage: Development	
1. Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis	Stinson, Toomey, et al. (2008)
 Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions 	Stinson et al. (2010a)
3. Illustration of any intended interactions between different components	Stinson et al. (2010a)
4. Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling	Stinson, Toomey, et al. (2008)
Second stage: Feasibility and piloting	
5. Description of the pilot test and its impact on the definite intervention	Stinson et al. (2010a); Stinson et al (2010b)
Third stage: Evaluation	
6. Description of the control condition (comparator) and reasons for the selection	Connelly et al. (2019), pp. 365-366
7. Description of the strategy for delivering the intervention within the study context	Connelly et al. (2019), pp. 364-365
8. Description of all materials or tools used delivery the intervention	Connelly et al. (2019), pp. 364-365
9. Description of fidelity of the delivery process compared the study protocol	Connelly et al. (2019), pp. 367-368
10. Description of a process evaluation and its underlying theoretical basis	Not reported
11. Description of internal facilitators and barriers potentially influencing the delivery of the intervention as revealed by the process evaluation	Not reported
12. Description of external conditions or factors occurring during the study which might have influenced the delivery of the intervention or mode of action (how it works)	Not reported
13. Description of costs or required resources for the delivery of the intervention	Not reported
In-person CBT followed by 6-week online skill review fo	r IBD (no specific name)
Item	Reported on page or in publication
First stage: Development	
1. Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis	McCormick et al. (2010), pp. 3
 Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions 	McCormick et al. (2010), pp. 4
3. Illustration of any intended interactions between different components	McCormick et al. (2010), pp. 3-4
4. Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling	McCormick et al. (2010), pp. 2

Second stage: Feasibility and piloting

5. Description of the pilot test and its impact on the Not reported definite intervention

Third stage: Evaluation

6. Description of the control condition (comparator) and McCormick et al. (2010), pp. 2 reasons for the selection

7. Description of the strategy for delivering the intervention McCormick et al. (2010), pp. 3 within the study context

8. Description of all materials or tools used delivery the McCormick et al. (2010), pp. 3-4 intervention

9. Description of fidelity of the delivery process compared McCormick et al. (2010), pp. 5 the study protocol

10. Description of a process evaluation and its underlying theoretical basis	Not reported
11. Description of internal facilitators and barriers potentially influencing the delivery of the intervention as revealed by the process evaluation	Not reported
12. Description of external conditions or factors occurring during the study which might have influenced the delivery of the intervention or mode of action (how it works)	McCormick et al. (2010), pp. 9
13. Description of costs or required resources for the delivery of the intervention	Not reported
Internet-based self-help for paediatric recurrent headac	he (no specific name)
Item	Reported on page or in publication
First stage: Development	
1. Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis	Trautmann and Kröner-Herwig (2008), pp. 241-242
2. Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions	Trautmann and Kröner-Herwig (2010), pp. 31
 Illustration of any intended interactions between different components 	Trautmann and Kröner-Herwig (2010), pp. 31
 Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling 	Trautmann and Kröner-Herwig (2010), pp. 28
Second stage: Feasibility and piloting	
 Description of the pilot test and its impact on the definite intervention 	Trautmann and Kröner-Herwig (2008)
Third stage: Evaluation	
6. Description of the control condition (comparator) and reasons for the selection	Trautmann and Kröner-Herwig (2010), pp. 29
7. Description of the strategy for delivering the intervention within the study context	Trautmann and Kröner-Herwig (2010), pp. 32
8. Description of all materials or tools used delivery the intervention	Trautmann and Kröner-Herwig (2010), pp. 31
9. Description of fidelity of the delivery process compared the study protocol	Trautmann and Kröner-Herwig (2010), pp. 33, 36
10. Description of a process evaluation and its underlying theoretical basis	Not reported
11. Description of internal facilitators and barriers potentially influencing the delivery of the intervention as revealed by the process evaluation	Not reported
12. Description of external conditions or factors occurring during the study which might have influenced the delivery of the intervention or mode of action (how it works)	Trautmann and Kröner-Herwig (2010), pp. 36
13. Description of costs or required resources for the delivery of the intervention	Trautmann and Kröner-Herwig (2010), pp. 35
Web-MAP (Web-based Management of Adolescent Pain)/ Web-MAP2
Item	Reported on page or in publication
First stage: Development	
1 Description of the intervention's up to be the section.	
1. Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical	Palermo et al. (2009), pp. 209

2. Description of all intervention components, including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions	Palermo et al. (2009), pp. 208-209
3. Illustration of any intended interactions between different components	Palermo et al. (2009), pp. 208-209
4. Description and consideration of the context's characteristics in intervention modelling	Palermo et al. (2009), pp. 208
Second stage: Feasibility and piloting	
5. Description of the pilot test and its impact on the definite intervention	Long and Palermo (2008)

Third stage: Evaluation	
6. Description of the control condition (comparator) and reasons for the selection	Palermo et al. (2016), pp.175
7. Description of the strategy for delivering the intervention within the study context	Palermo et al. (2016), pp. 175
8. Description of all materials or tools used delivery the intervention	Palermo et al. (2016), pp. 176-177
9. Description of fidelity of the delivery process compared the study protocol	Palermo et al. (2016), pp.179
10. Description of a process evaluation and its underlying theoretical basis	Murray et al. (2019)
11. Description of internal facilitators and barriers potentially influencing the delivery of the intervention as revealed by the process evaluation	Murray et al. (2019)
12. Description of external conditions or factors occurring during the study which might have influenced the delivery of the intervention or mode of action (how it works)	Fisher et al. (2017); Palermo et al. (2016), pp. 183
13. Description of costs or required resources for the delivery of the intervention	Not reported

68 | Page

Supplementary	Table 4. Colour scale table indicating items on the	CReDICI 2 checklist that were 'present' or 'absen	t' for each intervention included in the content analysis
	······································		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

CReDICI 2 items	1.Description of the intervention's underlying theoretical basis	 Description of all intervention components, 	including the reasons for their selection as well as their aims / essential functions	 Illustration of any intended interactions between different components 	 Description and consideration of the context¹ s characteristics in intervention modelling 	 Description of the pilot test and its impact on the definite intervention 	 Description of the control condition (comparator) and reasons for the selection 	7. Description of the strategy for delivering the intervention within the study context	 Bescription of all materials or tools used delivery the intervention 	 Description of fidelity of the delivery process compared the study protocol 	 Description of a process evaluation and its underlying theoretical basis 	11. Description of internal facilitators and barriers potentially influencing the delivery of the intervention as revealed by the process evaluation
ADAPT												
CBT for children with gastrointestinal disorders (no specific name)												
Customized CBT for adolescents with pain (no specific name)												
DARWeb												
Rheumates@Work												
Move It Now												
iCanCope with Pain™												
Website for dysmenorrhea (no specific name)												
Web-based skills training for adolescents with migraine (no specific name)												
Teens Taking Charge												
CBT with 6-week online skill review for IBD (no specific name)												
Self-help for paediatric recurrent headache (no specific name)												
Web-MAP/ Web-MAP2												

Key:	
Present	Absent



Supplementary Table 5. Search strategy (search terms by Higgins et al. (2018).

PubMed. Search in: Title, Abstract

Online	Ehealth OR e-health OR Mobile health OR mhealth OR m-health OR ICT OR e-pain OR computer* OR technolog* OR software OR internet* OR world wide web OR web-based OR email OR e-mail OR online OR phone* OR mobile* cellphone* OR cell phone* OR apps smartphone* OR smart phone* OR text messag* OR texting OR SMS
	AND
Pain	Pain* OR Fibromyalgia OR Irritable bowel syndrome OR Arthrit* OR Osteoarthrit* OR Headache* OR Migraine* OR Neuralgi* OR Neuropath* OR Complex regional pain syndrome OR Needle* OR inject* OR immuni* OR vaccin* OR Blood draw
	AND
Intervention	Intervention* OR Therap* OR Psychotherap* OR Selfmanag* OR self-manag* OR Assist* OR Treat* OR Assess* OR Measure* OR Monitor* OR Track*
	AND
Paediatric	Child* OR Adolescen* OR Teen* OR Youth* OR Infant* OR Pediatric* OR Paediatric* OR Newborn OR New-born OR Baby OR Toddler* OR Minors OR Boy* OR Girl* OR Kid* OR Schoolchild* OR Juvenil*

PsycINFO. Search in: Abstract

Online	Ehealth OR e-health OR Mobile health OR mhealth OR m-health OR ICT OR e-pain OR computer* OR technolog* OR software OR internet* OR world wide web OR web-based OR email OR e-mail OR online OR phone* OR mobile* cellphone* OR cell phone* OR apps smartphone* OR smart phone* OR text messag* OR texting OR SMS
	AND
Pain	Pain* OR Fibromyalgia OR Irritable bowel syndrome OR Arthrit* OR Osteoarthrit* OR Headache* OR Migraine* OR Neuralgi* OR Neuropath* OR Complex regional pain syndrome OR Needle* OR inject* OR immuni* OR vaccin* OR Blood draw
	AND
Intervention	Intervention* OR Therap* OR Psychotherap* OR Selfmanag* OR self-manag* OR Assist* OR Treat* OR Assess* OR Measure* OR Monitor* OR Track*
	AND
Paediatric	Child* OR Adolescen* OR Teen* OR Youth* OR Infant* OR Pediatric* OR Paediatric* OR Newborn OR New-born OR Baby OR Toddler* OR Minors OR Boy* OR Girl* OR Kid* OR Schoolchild* OR Juvenil*

CINAHL. Search in: Abstract

Online	Ehealth OR e-health OR Mobile health OR mhealth OR m-health OR ICT OR e-pain OR computer* OR technolog* OR software OR internet* OR world wide web OR web-based OR email OR e-mail OR online OR phone* OR mobile* cellphone* OR cell phone* OR apps smartphone* OR smart phone* OR text messag* OR texting OR SMS
	AND
Pain	Pain* OR Fibromyalgia OR Irritable bowel syndrome OR Arthrit* OR Osteoarthrit* OR Headache* OR Migraine* OR Neuralgi* OR Neuropath* OR Complex regional pain syndrome OR Needle* OR inject* OR immuni* OR vaccin* OR Blood draw
	AND
Intervention	Intervention* OR Therap* OR Psychotherap* OR Selfmanag* OR self-manag* OR Assist* OR Treat* OR Assess* OR Measure* OR Monitor* OR Track*
	AND
Paediatric	Child* OR Adolescen* OR Teen* OR Youth* OR Infant* OR Pediatric* OR Paediatric* OR Newborn OR New-born OR Baby OR Toddler* OR Minors OR Boy* OR Girl* OR Kid* OR Schoolchild* OR Juvenil*

EMBASE. Search in: Title. Limit to: English Language

Online	Ehealth OR e-health OR Mobile health OR mhealth OR m-health OR ICT OR e-pain OR computer* OR technolog* OR software OR internet* OR world wide web OR web-based OR email OR e-mail OR online OR phone* OR mobile* cellphone* OR cell phone* OR apps smartphone* OR smart phone* OR text messag* OR texting OR SMS
	AND
Pain	Pain* OR Fibromyalgia OR Irritable bowel syndrome OR Arthrit* OR Osteoarthrit* OR Headache* OR Migraine* OR Neuralgi* OR Neuropath* OR Complex regional pain syndrome OR Needle* OR inject* OR immuni* OR vaccin* OR Blood draw
	AND
Intervention	Intervention* OR Therap* OR Psychotherap* OR Selfmanag* OR self-manag* OR Assist* OR Treat* OR Assess* OR Measure* OR Monitor* OR Track*
	AND
Paediatric	Child* OR Adolescen* OR Teen* OR Youth* OR Infant* OR Pediatric* OR Paediatric* OR Newborn OR New-born OR Baby OR Toddler* OR Minors OR Boy* OR Girl* OR Kid* OR Schoolchild* OR Juvenil*

References

- Allgaier, A.-K., Frühe, B., Pietsch, K., Saravo, B., Baethmann, M., & Schulte-Körne, G. (2012). Is the Children's Depression Inventory Short version a valid screening tool in pediatric care? A comparison to its full-length version. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 73(5), 369-374. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2012.08.016</u>
- André, M., Hedengren, E., Hagelberg, S., & Stenström, C. H. (1999). Perceived ability to manage juvenile chronic arthritis among adolescents and parents: Development of a questionnaire to assess medical issues, exercise, pain, and social support. *Arthritis Care & Research*, 12(4), 229-237. doi:10.1002/1529-0131(199908)12:4<229::AID-ART1>3.0.CO;2-J
- April, K. T., Feldman, D. E., Platt, R. W., & Duffy, C. M. (2006). Comparison between Children with Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis (JIA) and their Parents Concerning Perceived Quality of Life. *Quality of Life Research*, *15*(4), 655-661. doi:10.1007/s11136-005-3690-1
- Armbrust, W., Bos, J. J. F. J., Cappon, J., van Rossum, M. A. J. J., Sauer, P. J. J., Wulffraat, N., van Wijnen, V. K., ... (2015). Design and acceptance of Rheumates@Work, a combined internet-based and in person instruction model, an interactive, educational, and cognitive behavioral program for children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Pediatric Rheumatology, 13*(1), 31. doi:10.1186/s12969-015-0029-5
- Barlow, J. H., Shaw, K. L., & Wright, C. C. (2001). Development and preliminary validation of a Children's Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale. Arthritis Care & Research, 45(2), 159-166. doi:10.1002/1529-0131(200104)45:2<159::AID-ANR169>3.0.CO;2-2
- Birmaher, B., Khetarpal, S., Brent, D., Cully, M., Balach, L., Kaufman, J., & Neer, S. M. (1997). The screen for child anxiety related emotional disorders (SCARED): Scale construction and psychometric characteristics. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *36*(4), 545-553.
- Bonnert, M., Ljótsson, B., Hedman, E., Andersson, J., Arnell, H., Benninga, M. A., Simrén, M., ... (2014). Internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy for adolescents with functional gastrointestinal disorders — An open trial. *Internet Interventions*, 1(3), 141-148. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.invent.2014.07.002</u>
- Bonnert, M., Olén, O., Lalouni, M., Benninga, M. A., Bottai, M., Engelbrektsson, J., Hedman, E., ... (2016). Internet-Delivered Cognitive Behavior Therapy for Adolescents With Irritable Bowel Syndrome: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *The American Journal Of Gastroenterology*, *112*, 152. doi:10.1038/ajg.2016.503

https://www.nature.com/articles/ajg2016503#supplementary-information

- Bonnert, M., Olen, O., Lalouni, M., Hedman-Lagerlof, E., Sarnholm, J., Serlachius, E., & Ljotsson, B. (2019). Internet-Delivered Exposure-Based Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy for Adolescents With Functional Abdominal Pain or Functional Dyspepsia: A Feasibility Study. *Behavior Therapy, 50*(1), 177-188. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2018.05.002</u>
- Borkovec, T. D., & Nau, S. D. (1972). Credibility of analogue therapy rationales. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry, 3*(4), 257-260. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-7916(72)90045-6</u>
- Bouwmans, C., De Jong, K., Timman, R., Zijlstra-Vlasveld, M., Van der Feltz-Cornelis, C., Tan, S. S., & Hakkaart-van Roijen, L. (2013). Feasibility, reliability and validity of a questionnaire on healthcare consumption and productivity loss in patients with a psychiatric disorder (TiC-P). *BMC Health Services Research*, *13*(1), 217. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-13-217
- Bratteby, L. E., Sandhagen, B., Fan, H., & Samuelson, G. (1997). A 7-day activity diary for assessment of daily energy expenditure validated by the doubly labelled water method in adolescents. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *51*(9), 585-591. doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1600449
- Chen, A. T., Swaminathan, A., Kearns, W. R., Alberts, N. M., Law, E. F., & Palermo, T. M. (2019). Understanding User Experience: Exploring Participants' Messages With a Web-Based Behavioral Health Intervention for Adolescents With Chronic Pain. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 21*(4), N.PAG-N.PAG. doi:10.2196/11756
- Ching-Hsing, H., Meei-Ling, G., Hsin-Chun, M., & Chung-Yi, L. (2004). The development and psychometric testing of a self-care scale for dysmenorrhic adolescents. *The journal of nursing research : JNR, 12*(2), 119-130. doi:10.1097/01.jnr.0000387495.01557.aa
- Chorpita, B. F., Moffitt, C. E., & Gray, J. (2005). Psychometric properties of the Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale in a clinical sample. *Behaviour Research and Therapy, 43*(3), 309-322. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2004.02.004</u>
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A Global Measure of Perceived Stress. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 24*(4), 385-396. doi:10.2307/2136404
- Connelly, M., Schanberg, L. E., Ardoin, S., Blakley, M., Carrasco, R., Chira, P., Hayward, K., ... (2019). Multisite randomized clinical trial evaluating an online self-management program for adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 44*(3), 363-374. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsy066
- Crombez, G., Bijttebier, P., Eccleston, C., Mascagni, T., Mertens, G., Goubert, L., & Verstraeten, K. (2003). The child version of the pain
 - catastrophizing scale (PCS-C): a preliminary validation. PAIN, 104(3), 639-646. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(03)00121-0
- Cunningham, N. R., Nelson, S., Jagpal, A., Moorman, E., Farrell, M., Pentiuk, S., & Kashikar-Zuck, S. (2018). Development of the Aim to Decrease Anxiety and Pain Treatment for Pediatric Functional Abdominal Pain Disorders. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology & Nutrition, 66*(1), 16-20. doi:10.1097/MPG.0000000001714
- Donovan, E., Mehringer, S., & Zeltzer, L. K. (2013). Assessing the Feasibility of a Web-Based Self-Management Program for Adolescents With Migraines and Their Caregivers. *Clin Pediatr (Phila), 52*(7), 667-670. doi:10.1177/0009922812447679
- Duffy, C. M., Arsenault, L., Duffy, K. N., Paquin, J. D., & Strawczynski, H. (1997). The Juvenile Arthritis Quality of Life Questionnaire-development of a new responsive index for juvenile rheumatoid arthritis and juvenile spondyloarthritides. *The Journal of Rheumatology*, 24(4), 738-746.
- Eccleston, C., Jordan, A., McCracken, L. M., Sleed, M., Connell, H., & Clinch, J. (2005). The Bath Adolescent Pain Questionnaire (BAPQ): Development and preliminary psychometric evaluation of an instrument to assess the impact of chronic pain on adolescents. *PAIN*, 118(1), 263-270. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2005.08.025</u>

- Ehring, T., Zetsche, U., Weidacker, K., Wahl, K., Schönfeld, S., & Ehlers, A. (2011). The Perseverative Thinking Questionnaire (PTQ): Validation of a content-independent measure of repetitive negative thinking. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 42(2), 225-232. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.jbtep.2010.12.003</u>
- Falkenström, F., Hatcher, R. L., Skjulsvik, T., Larsson, M. H., & Holmqvist, R. (2015). Development and validation of a 6-item working alliance questionnaire for repeated administrations during psychotherapy. *Psychological assessment, 27*(1), 169-183. doi:10.1037/pas0000038
- Fisher, E., Bromberg, M. H., Tai, G., & Palermo, T. M. (2017). Adolescent and parent treatment goals in an Internet-delivered chronic pain selfmanagement program: Does agreement of treatment goals matter? *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *42*(6), 657-666.
- Flink, I. K., Sfyrkou, C., & Persson, B. (2016). Customized CBT via internet for adolescents with pain and emotional distress: A pilot study. Internet Interventions, 4, 43-50. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.invent.2016.03.002
- Gonsalkorale, W. M., Miller, V., Afzal, A., & Whorwell, P. J. (2003). Long term benefits of hypnotherapy for irritable bowel syndrome. *Gut, 52*(11), 1623. doi:10.1136/gut.52.11.1623
- Harris, M. A., Antal, H., Oelbaum, R., Buckloh, L. M., White, N. H., & Wysocki, T. (2008). Good intentions gone awry: Assessing parental "miscarried helping" in diabetes. In (pp. 393-403): Educational Publishing Foundation.
- Hershey, A. D., Powers, S. W., Vockell, A. L. B., LeCates, S., Kabbouche, M. A., & Maynard, M. K. (2001). PedMIDAS. *Neurology*, *57*(11), 2034. doi:10.1212/WNL.57.11.2034
- Hicks, C. L., von Baeyer, C. L., Spafford, P. A., van Korlaar, I., & Goodenough, B. (2001). The Faces Pain Scale Revised: toward a common metric in pediatric pain measurement. *PAIN*, *93*(2), 173-183. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(01)00314-1</u>
- Higgins, K. S., Tutelman, P. R., Chambers, C. T., Witteman, H. O., Barwick, M., Corkum, P., Grant, D., ... (2018). Availability of researcher-led eHealth tools for pain assessment and management: barriers, facilitators, costs, and design. *Pain Rep, 3*(Suppl 1), e686. doi:10.1097/PR9.00000000000686
- Horvath, A. O., & Greenberg, L. S. (1989). Development and validation of the Working Alliance Inventory. *Journal of counseling psychology*, 36(2), 223.
- Hudson, J. L., Rapee, R. M., Deveney, C., Schniering, C. A., Lyneham, H. J., & Bovopoulos, N. (2009). Cognitive-Behavioral Treatment Versus an Active Control for Children and Adolescents With Anxiety Disorders: A Randomized Trial. *Journal of the American Academy of Child* & Adolescent Psychiatry, 48(5), 533-544. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e31819c2401</u>
- Huguet, A., & Miró, J. (2007). Development and Psychometric Evaluation of a Catalan Self- and Interviewer-Administered Version of the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory[™] Version 4.0. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 33*(1), 63-79. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsm040
- Irwin, D. E., Stucky, B., Langer, M. M., Thissen, D., DeWitt, E. M., Lai, J.-S., Varni, J. W., ... (2010). An item response analysis of the pediatric PROMIS anxiety and depressive symptoms scales. *Quality of Life Research*, *19*(4), 595-607. doi:10.1007/s11136-010-9619-3
- Kanstrup, M., Holmström, L., Ringström, R., & Wicksell, R. K. (2014). Insomnia in paediatric chronic pain and its impact on depression and functional disability. *European Journal of Pain, 18*(8), 1094-1102. doi:10.1002/j.1532-2149.2013.00450.x
- Kelley, M. L., Heffer, R. W., Gresham, F. M., & Elliott, S. N. (1989). Development of a modified treatment evaluation inventory. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 11*(3), 235-247.
- Khan, K. A., Petrou, S., Rivero-Arias, O., Walters, S. J., & Boyle, S. E. (2014). Mapping EQ-5D utility scores from the PedsQL[™] generic core scales. *Pharmacoeconomics*, *32*(7), 693-706. doi: 10.1007/s40273-014-0153-y
- Kocalevent, R.-D., Levenstein, S., Fliege, H., Schmid, G., Hinz, A., Brähler, E., & Klapp, B. F. (2007). Contribution to the construct validity of the Perceived Stress Questionnaire from a population-based survey. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 63*(1), 71-81. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2007.02.010
- Kovacs, M. (1992). Children's Depression Inventory Manual. North Tonawanda, NY.
- Krampen, G., & Wald, B. (2001). Kurzinstrumente für die Prozessevaluation und adaptive Indikation in der Allgemeinen und Differentiellen Psychotherapie und Beratung. *Diagnostica*, 47(1), 43-50. doi:10.1026//0012-1924.47.1.43
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L., & Williams, J. B. W. (2001). The PHQ-9. *Journal of General Internal Medicine, 16*(9), 606-613. doi:10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x
- Labus, J. S., Bolus, R., Chang, L., Wiklund, I., Naesdal, J., Mayer, E. A., & Naliboff, B. D. (2004). The Visceral Sensitivity Index: development and validation of a gastrointestinal symptom-specific anxiety scale. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics, 20*(1), 89-97. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2036.2004.02007.x
- Lalloo, C., Hundert, A., Harris, L., Pham, Q., Campbell, F., Chorney, J., Dick, B., ... (2019). Capturing Daily Disease Experiences of Adolescents With Chronic Pain: mHealth-Mediated Symptom Tracking. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth, 7*(1), e11838. doi:10.2196/11838
- Lalouni, M., Ljótsson, B., Bonnert, M., Hedman-Lagerlöf, E., Högström, J., Serlachius, E., & Olén, O. (2017). Internet-Delivered Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Children With Pain-Related Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders: Feasibility Study. *JMIR mental health, 4*(3), e32-e32. doi:10.2196/mental.7985
- Lalouni, M., Ljotsson, B., Bonnert, M., Ssegonja, R., Benninga, M., Bjureberg, J., Hogstrom, J., ... (2019). Clinical and Cost Effectiveness of Online Cognitive Behavioral Therapy in Children With Functional Abdominal Pain Disorders. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, *17*(11), 2236. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2018.11.043</u>

Landgraf, J., Abetz, L., & Ware, J. (1996). The CHQ User's Manual. In: Boston, The Health Institute, New England Medical Center.

- Larsen, D. L., Attkisson, C. C., Hargreaves, W. A., & Nguyen, T. D. (1979). Assessment of client/patient satisfaction: Development of a general scale. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 2(3), 197-207. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0149-7189(79)90094-6</u>
- Law, E. F., Beals-Erickson, S. E., Noel, M., Claar, R., & Palermo, T. M. (2015). Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial of Internet-Delivered Cognitive-Behavioral Treatment for Pediatric Headache. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain, 55*(10), 1410-1425. doi:doi:10.1111/head.12635

- Law, E. F., Groenewald, C. B., Zhou, C., & Palermo, T. M. (2018). Effect on health care costs for adolescents receiving adjunctive internetdelivered cognitive-behavioral therapy: Results of a randomized controlled trial. *The Journal of Pain*. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2018.03.004
- LeBourgeois, M. K., Giannotti, F., Cortesi, F., Wolfson, A. R., & Harsh, J. (2005). The Relationship Between Reported Sleep Quality and Sleep Hygiene in Italian and American Adolescents. *PEDIATRICS*, *115*(Supplement 1), 257. doi:10.1542/peds.2004-0815H
- Lelieveld, O. T. H. M., Armbrust, W., Geertzen, J. H. B., de Graaf, I., van Leeuwen, M. A., Sauer, P. J. J., van Weert, E., ... (2010). Promoting physical activity in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis through an internet-based program: Results of a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Arthritis Care & Research, 62*(5), 697-703. doi:doi:10.1002/acr.20085
- Lindblad, F., Backman, L., & Åkerstedt, T. (2008). Immigrant girls perceive less stress. Acta Paediatrica, 97(7), 889-893. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.2008.00857.x
- Lingley-Pottie, P., & McGrath, P. J. (2007). Distance Therapeutic Alliance: The Participant's Experience. Advances in Nursing Science, 30(4).
- Lisspers, J., Nygren, A., & Söderman, E. (1997). Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HAD): some psychometric data for a Swedish sample. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *96*(4), 281-286. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.1997.tb10164.x
- Ljótsson, B., Andréewitch, S., Hedman, E., Rück, C., Andersson, G., & Lindefors, N. (2010). Exposure and mindfulness based therapy for irritable bowel syndrome An open pilot study. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry, 41*(3), 185-190. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2010.01.001</u>
- Ljótsson, B., Falk, L., Vesterlund, A. W., Hedman, E., Lindfors, P., Rück, C., Hursti, T., ... (2010). Internet-delivered exposure and mindfulness based therapy for irritable bowel syndrome A randomized controlled trial. *Behaviour Research and Therapy, 48*(6), 531-539. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2010.03.003</u>
- Long, A. C., & Palermo, T. M. (2008). Brief Report: Web-based Management of Adolescent Chronic Pain: Development and Usability Testing of an Online Family Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Program. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 34(5), 511-516. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsn082
- McCormick, M., Reed-Knight, B., Lewis, J. D., Gold, B. D., & Blount, R. L. (2010). Coping skills for reducing pain and somatic symptoms in adolescents with IBD. *Inflamm Bowel Dis*, *16*(12), 2148-2157. doi:10.1002/ibd.21302
- Melzack, R. (1987). The short-form McGill pain questionnaire. PAIN, 30(2), 191-197.
- Murphy, L. K., Law, E. F., & Palermo, T. M. (2012). Evaluating Treatment Participation in an Internet-Based Behavioral Intervention for Pediatric Chronic Pain. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 37*(8), 893-903. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jss057
- Murray, C. B., de la Vega, R., Loren, D. M., & Palermo, T. M. (2019). Moderators of internet-delivered cognitive-behavioral therapy for adolescents with chronic pain: Who benefits from treatment at long-term follow-up? *The Journal of Pain*. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2019.10.001
- Nguyen, T. D., Attkisson, C. C., & Stegner, B. L. (1983). Assessment of patient satisfaction: Development and refinement of a Service Evaluation Questionnaire. *Evaluation and Program Planning, 6*(3), 299-313. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0149-7189(83)90010-1</u>
- Nieto, R., Boixados, M., Hernandez, E., Beneitez, I., Huguet, A., & McGrath, P. (2019). Quantitative and qualitative testing of DARWeb: An online self-guided intervention for children with functional abdominal pain and their parents. *Health informatics journal, 25*(4), 1511-1527. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1460458218779113</u>
- Nieto, R., Hernandez, E., Boixados, M., Huguet, A., Beneitez, I., & McGrath, P. (2015). Testing the Feasibility of DARWeb: An Online Intervention for Children With Functional Abdominal Pain and Their Parents. *Clin J Pain, 31*(6), 493-503. doi:10.1097/AJP.00000000000199
- Palermo, T. M., Law, E. F., Fales, J., Bromberg, M. H., Jessen-Fiddick, T., & Tai, G. (2016). Internet-delivered cognitive-behavioral treatment for adolescents with chronic pain and their parents: a randomized controlled multicenter trial. *PAIN, 157*(1), 174-185. doi:10.1097/j.pain.0000000000348
- Palermo, T. M., Law, E. F., Zhou, C., Holley, A. L., Logan, D., & Tai, G. (2015). Trajectories of change during a randomized controlled trial of internet-delivered psychological treatment for adolescent chronic pain: how does change in pain and function relate? *PAIN*, 156(4), 626-634. doi:10.1097/01.j.pain.0000460355.17246.6c
- Palermo, T. M., Wilson, A. C., Peters, M., Lewandowski, A., & Somhegyi, H. (2009). Randomized controlled trial of an Internet-delivered family cognitive-behavioral therapy intervention for children and adolescents with chronic pain. *PAIN*, *146*(1), 205-213. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2009.07.034
- Palermo, T. M., Witherspoon, D., Valenzuela, D., & Drotar, D. D. (2004). Development and validation of the Child Activity Limitations Interview: a measure of pain-related functional impairment in school-age children and adolescents. *PAIN, 109*(3), 461-470. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2004.02.023
- Ravens-Sieberer, U., & Bullinger, M. (1998). Assessing health-related quality of life in chronically ill children with the German KINDL: first psychometric and content analytical results. *Quality of Life Research, 7*(5), 399-407. doi:10.1023/A:1008853819715

Reid, G. J., Gilbert, C. A., & McGrath, P. J. (1998). The Pain Coping Questionnaire: preliminary validation. *PAIN, 76*(1), 83-96. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(98)00029-3</u>

- Reme, S. E., Darnley, S., Kennedy, T., & Chalder, T. (2010). The development of the irritable bowel syndrome-behavioral responses questionnaire. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 69*(3), 319-325. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2010.01.025</u>
- Reynolds, C. R., & Richmond, B. O. (2008). *Revised children's manifest anxiety scale, Second Edition (RCMAS-2): Manual.* Torrance, CA: Western Psychological Services.
- Sampaio, F., Bonnert, M., Olen, O., Hedman, E., Lalouni, M., Lenhard, F., Ljotsson, B., ... (2019). Cost-effectiveness of internet-delivered cognitive-behavioural therapy for adolescents with irritable bowel syndrome. *BMJ Open, 9*(1), e023881. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023881
- Silverman, W. K., Fleisig, W., Rabian, B., & Peterson, R. A. (1991). Childhood Anxiety Sensitivity Index. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 20(2), 162-168. doi:10.1207/s15374424jccp2002_7

- Silverman, W. K., Saavedra, L. M., & Pina, A. A. (2001). Test-Retest Reliability of Anxiety Symptoms and Diagnoses With the Anxiety Disorders Interview Schedule for DSM-IV: Child and Parent Versions. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 40*(8), 937-944. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200108000-00016</u>
- Spence, S. H., Barrett, P. M., & Turner, C. M. (2003). Psychometric properties of the Spence Children's Anxiety Scale with young adolescents. Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 17(6), 605-625. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0887-6185(02)00236-0</u>
- Spitzer, R. L., Kroenke, K., Williams, J. B. W., & Löwe, B. (2006). A Brief Measure for Assessing Generalized Anxiety Disorder: The GAD-7. Archives of Internal Medicine, 166(10), 1092-1097. doi:10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092
- Stinson, J. N., Lalloo, C., Harris, L., Isaac, L., Campbell, F., Brown, S., Ruskin, D., ... (2014). iCanCope with Pain[™]: User-Centred Design of a Web- and Mobile-Based Self-Management Program for Youth with Chronic Pain Based on Identified Health Care Needs. *Pain Research* and Management, 19(5). doi:10.1155/2014/935278
- Stinson, J. N., McGrath, P., Hodnett, E., Feldman, B., Duffy, C., Huber, A., Tucker, L., ... (2010a). Usability testing of an online selfmanagement program for adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *J Med Internet Res, 12*(3), e30. doi:10.2196/jmir.1349
- Stinson, J. N., McGrath, P. J., Hodnett, E. D., Feldman, B. M., Duffy, C. M., Huber, A. M., Tucker, L. B., ... (2010b). An internet-based selfmanagement program with telephone support for adolescents with arthritis: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *J Rheumatol, 37*(9), 1944-1952. doi:10.3899/jrheum.091327
- Stinson, J. N., Stevens, B. J., Feldman, B. M., Streiner, D., McGrath, P. J., Dupuis, A., Gill, N., ... (2008). Construct validity of a multidimensional electronic pain diary for adolescents with arthritis. *PAIN*, *136*(3), 281-292. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2007.07.002</u>
- Stinson, J. N., Toomey, P. C., Stevens, B. J., Kagan, S., Duffy, C. M., Huber, A., Malleson, P., ... (2008). Asking the experts: Exploring the selfmanagement needs of adolescents with arthritis. *Arthritis Care & Research, 59*(1), 65-72. doi:doi:10.1002/art.23244
- Trautmann, E., & Kröner-Herwig, B. (2008). Internet-Based Self-Help Training for Children and Adolescents with Recurrent Headache: A Pilot Study. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, *36*(2), 241-245. doi:10.1017/S1352465808004219
- Trautmann, E., & Kröner-Herwig, B. (2010). A randomized controlled trial of Internet-based self-help training for recurrent headache in childhood and adolescence. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 48(1), 28-37. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2009.09.004</u>
- Van Slyke, D. A., & Walker, L. S. (2006). Mothers' Responses to Children's Pain. The Clinical Journal of Pain, 22(4).
- Varni, J. W., Bendo, C. B., Denham, J., Shulman, R. J., Self, M. M., Neigut, D. A., Nurko, S., ... (2014). PedsQL Gastrointestinal Symptoms Module: Feasibility, Reliability, and Validity. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, *59*(3).
- Varni, J. W., Burwinkle, T. M., Seid, M., & Skarr, D. (2003). The PedsQL[™] 4.0 as a Pediatric Population Health Measure: Feasibility, Reliability, and Validity. *Ambulatory Pediatrics*, *3*(6), 329-341. doi:10.1367/1539-4409(2003)003<0329:tpaapp>2.0.co;2
- Voerman, J. S., Remerie, S., Westendorp, T., Timman, R., Busschbach, J. J. V., Passchier, J., & de Klerk, C. (2015). Effects of a Guided Internet-Delivered Self-Help Intervention for Adolescents With Chronic Pain. *The Journal of Pain, 16*(11), 1115-1126. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2015.07.011</u>
- Walker, L. S., Beck, J. E., Garber, J., & Lambert, W. (2008). Children's Somatization Inventory: Psychometric Properties of the Revised Form (CSI-24). *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *34*(4), 430-440. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsn093
- Walker, L. S., Garber, J., & Greene, J. W. (1991). Somatization symptoms in pediatric abdominal pain patients: relation to chronicity of abdominal pain and parent somatization. *Journal of abnormal child psychology, 19*(4), 379-394.
- Walker, L. S., Garber, J., Van Slyke, D. A., & Greene, J. W. (1995). Long-term health outcomes in patients with recurrent abdominal pain. *J Pediatr Psychol, 20*(2), 233-245. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/20.2.233
- Walker, L. S., & Greene, J. W. (1991). The Functional Disability Inventory: Measuring a Neglected Dimension of Child Health Status. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *16*(1), 39-58. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/16.1.39
- Walker, L. S., Smith, C. A., Garber, J., & Van Slyke, D. A. (1997). Development and validation of the pain response inventory for children. *Psychological assessment*, *9*(4), 392.
- Walker, L. S., & Zeman, J. L. (1992). Parental Response to Child Illness Behavior. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 17*(1), 49-71. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/17.1.49
- Wang, H. (1991). Study on the factors of menstrual physiological distress of junior and senior high school female students in Hsin-chu City. Unpublished Master's Thesis, National Yang-Ming Medical College Institute of Public Health, Taipei, Taiwan, 1-135.
- White, M., Stinson, J. N., Lingley-Pottie, P., McGrath, P. J., Gill, N., & Vijenthira, A. (2012). Exploring therapeutic alliance with an internet-based self-management program with brief telephone support for youth with arthritis: a pilot study. *Telemed J E Health, 18*(4), 271-276. doi:10.1089/tmi.2011.0150

- Wicksell, R. K., Olsson, G. L., & Hayes, S. C. (2011). Mediators of change in Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for pediatric chronic pain. *PAIN*, 152(12), 2792-2801. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2011.09.003</u>
- Wiklund, I. K., Fullerton, S., Hawkey, C. J., Jones, R. H., Longstreth, G. F., Mayer, E. A., Peacock, R. A., ... (2003). An irritable bowel syndrome-specific symptom questionnaire: development and validation. *Scand J Gastroenterol, 38*(9), 947-954. doi:10.1080/00365520310004209
- Yang, M., Morin, C. M., Schaefer, K., & Wallenstein, G. V. (2009). Interpreting score differences in the Insomnia Severity Index: using healthrelated outcomes to define the minimally important difference. *Current Medical Research and Opinion, 25*(10), 2487-2494. doi:10.1185/03007990903167415
- Yeh, M. L., Hung, Y. L., Chen, H. H., Lin, J. G., & Wang, Y. J. (2013). Auricular acupressure combined with an internet-based intervention or alone for primary dysmenorrhea: a control study. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med*, 2013, 316212. doi:10.1155/2013/316212

Zigmond, A. S., & Snaith, R. P. (1983). The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 67(6), 361-370.